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In 1737, Cornelis van Lanschot founded a trading house in
’s-Hertogenbosch that dealt in colonial products. Subsequent
generations expanded the business, creating the highly respected
bank, F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV.

Although we are not a family business any more, we still embrace
the qualities of personal attention, ambition and commitment
that the Van Lanschot family stood for. Van Lanschot today is
an ambitious private bank with a clear focus. Independent and
professional. With the same critical eye it has always had.
We are open to change and we adapt where necessary, and we
will continue to do so in future.
This year Van Lanschot celebrates its 275th anniversary. We are not
only the oldest independent bank in the Netherlands and Belgium,
we are also one of the oldest financial institutions in the world. In
order to survive this long, it is essential that the confidence of
clients, business contacts and employees is earned and maintained.
Our success is down to this, and so in return we are giving
something back. We are going to install 275 benches – one for
each year since our foundation – each with its own inspiring story,
in special places where people meet. Typically Dutch places or places
overlooking cultural heritage sites. Where you can enjoy the
surroundings or even meeting places where you can have a good
conversation with the person sitting next to you.

www.275bankjes.nl
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profile
private banking pur sang

banking with care and attention

Van Lanschot is the oldest independent private bank in the
Netherlands with a history dating back to 1737. Van Lanschot
offers a full range of banking and asset management services
to high net-worth individuals in the Netherlands and Belgium,
as well as entrepreneurs and their businesses in the Netherlands.
In the institutional market, we focus on asset management
mandates, increasingly through full-service fiduciary investment
solutions.

Van Lanschot has made a conscious choice to remain of a size
that strikes the right balance between offering comprehensive,
high-quality advisory services and ensuring a personal approach,
with short communication lines. We are attentive and responsive
to our clients’ needs, while also offering a high degree of
professionalism and discretion. Personal relationships are
paramount. Our people are ambitious, committed, independent
and professional. That is how they make the difference for our
clients. Independence forms the basis of our business model.

We provide our Private Banking services in close collaboration
with our subsidiary Kempen & Co. Kempen is a Dutch merchant
bank which provides financial services in the fields of institutional
asset management, securities brokerage and corporate finance.
Thanks to the close collaboration between the two banks, the
high-quality investment solutions and other services for
institutional clients are also available to our private clients.

The client is key, but Van Lanschot also serves the interests of
other stakeholders. We maintain close contacts with our own
employees, shareholders, other providers of capital and nongovernmental organisations. These contacts form an essential
aspect of our corporate responsibility policy, with which we aim
to be a trustworthy and reliable bank for all stakeholders.

Private & Business Banking

services

Private clients
t
t

t

Asset management and investment advice
International private banking solutions

t

Trust activities

t

High net-worth private individuals in the Netherlands and Belgium with
freely investable assets in excess of € 250,000

t

Entrepreneurs and their businesses (family
businesses with revenues of € 5 million or more)

t

Directors-owners
Business executives
Business professionals
Foundations and associations

t

Entrepreneurs in the healthcare sector

Wealth creation and asset protection form the basis for the service offering
Wealth planning

t

Focus on both the business and private
interests of an entrepreneur

State of the art investment concepts
Open architecture and transparent fee structure
Sustainable investments/asset management based on strategy of
engagement

t

In-house Business Transfer training
programme

t

target groups

t
t
t

characteristics

Full range of financial services
Financial planning and wealth planning

Business clients
t (International) payment services
t Corporate loans

t
t
t
t
t

t
t
t
t

Close to the client with 28 branches in the Netherlands and 7 in Belgium
International presence in Switzerland, Luxembourg, Curacao
Institutional investment solutions also accessible to Private Banking clients
Duty of care integrated into advisory process

t
t

Advice on sale and transfer of businesses
Shareholdings
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Operational group structure

VAN LANSCHOT

VAN LANSCHOT
THE NETHERLANDS

VAN LANSCHOT
BELGIUM

VAN LANSCHOT
INTERNATIONAL
PRIVATE BANKING

KEMPEN & CO

Asset Management
and Corporate Finance
& Securities

Private & Business Banking

More information on the segments Private & Business Banking, Asset Management and Corporate Finance & Securities, can be found
in the table below (pages 2 and 3). For a list of the principal subsidiaries, reference is made to page 204.

Assetmanagement
Asset
Management

Corporate Finance & Corporate
Securities Finance & Securities

Corporate Finance
Institutional asset management
Compilation of investment portfolios of
private clients

t

t

Management of investment funds

t

t

Fiduciary asset management
Development of investment products
and solutions

t
t

t

t
t
t
t
t

Institutional investors
Pension funds/insurance companies

t
t

Independent advice and support in mergers,
acquisitions, capital market transactions and
financial restructurings
Advisory services in collaboration with Private
& Business Banking for large and mediumsized family businesses

Listed and unlisted companies
Corporate clients of Van Lanschot

Financial institutions
Semi-public and public institutions
Foundations and associations

Securities
t Securities research
t Securities brokerage
t

Roadshows
Investment products

t

Retail desk for private clients

t
t

Professional investors
Private & Business Banking clients

t

Listed companies

t

t

Niche strategy: European small caps, listed
property funds, high dividend shares,
investment grade (government) bonds and
absolute-return strategies

t

Specialisation in five sectors: property,
utilities, renewables & cleantech, financial
institutions, life sciences & healthcare and
construction, maritime & offshore

t

Niche player with focus on Benelux
countries, listed companies, listed
(European) life-sciences companies and
listed pan-European property companies

t

Client Solutions: full-scope investment solutions
for clients (fiduciary management)

t

Independent intermediary without conflicting
interests

t

Offices in Amsterdam and New York

t

Sustainable investments based on strategy of
engagement

t

Asset management based on long-term vision
and entrepreneurship
Offices in Amsterdam and Edinburgh

t

4

key data
2011

2010

Notes

539.2
412.3
64.3
41.9

613.3
422.3
86.5
65.7

Decision to focus on solidity put income under pressure

14,278
13,100
18,430
1,565

15,710
13,546
19,590
1,785

Client assets
– Assets under management*
– Savings & deposits

49,796
36,696
13,100

48,035
34,489
13,546

Assets under management*
– Discretionary
– Non-discretionary

36,696
24,293
12,403

34,489
19,695
14,794

Net inflow of new money +10%

10,996

11,695

Stricter use of capital for the target group clients

0.56

0.66

Lower addition to loan loss provision thanks to gradual recovery of economy

Efficiency ratio (%)
Interest margin (%)
Earnings per share (€)
Return on average
Core Tier I capital (%)

77
1.57
0.81

69
1.68
1.45

Higher efficiency ratio due to lower income

2.9

5.5

Funding ratio (%)
Leverage
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (pro forma, %)***
Net Stable Funding Ratio (pro forma, %)***

92
12.2
149
104

86
13.4
130
105

High funding ratio, a distinguishing feature of a private bank

Core Tier I ratio (%)
Tier I ratio (%)
BIS total capital ratio (%)

10.9
10.9
11.9

9.6
12.1
14.2

Growth thanks to reduction in RWA, repurchase of perpetuals and retained earnings

2,009
8.7
4.9
3.4
39
61
57

2,043
10.5
4.3
3.2
15
67
54

In millions of euros unless indicated otherwise
Exclusive of non-strategic investments
Results

Income from operating activities
Operating expenses
Addition to loan loss provision
Net profit

Strict focus on cost control
Strong decline in addition to loan loss provision
Lower net profit due to volatile market conditions

financial position

Loans
Savings & deposits
Total assets
Equity

Stricter focus on target group clients and more early repayment of mortgage debts
Stable base of client savings and deposits
77% of the balance sheet consists of the loan book
Conversion and repurchase of perpetuals led to reduction in equity

off balance sheet
Growth in assets under management, in particular in institutional mandates

Assets under discretionary management for private clients up from 27% to 33%

other financial data

Risk-weighted assets (RWA)**
Addition to loan loss provision
as a % of average RWA

Conscious decision to focus on solidity and diversification of funding mix

Lower net profit and higher Core Tier I capital

Low leverage, the balance sheet is primarily for the benefit of clients
LCR above the Basel III requirement
NSFR above the Basel III requirement

other non-financial data

Number of FTEs (year-end)
Staff turnover rate (progressive)
Investments in education & training
Absenteeism (%)
Assets under engagement (%)
Loyalty index private clients****
Benchmark loyalty index****

*

**

Efficiency measures mainly concern the Private & Business Banking segment
Continually investing in service quality
Existing investment policy applied to more asset classes
Loyalty score of private clients outperforms the benchmark

In 2011, the definition of assets under management was refined. The comparative figures

***

Inclusive of non-strategic investments.

have been restated accordingly.

****

Figures relate to index scores on a scale from 0 to 100 and concern

As at 31/12/2010 based on the retail Internal Ratings Based and non-retail Standardised
Approach, as at 31/12/2011 non-retail partially based on Standardised Approach and
partially Internal Ratings Based.

Van Lanschot Bankiers Netherlands.
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Balance sheet at 31 December 2011 (€ billion)

Funding mix at 31 December 2011
5%

Total assets 18.4
9%
Cash and balances
withdrawable with banks

1.7

Financial instruments

1.4

Due to banks

0.4

2%

13%
Savings and deposits

Loans

13.1

14.3

Other

71%

1.0

Debt securities

2.3

Other

1.0

Equity

1.6

Assets

Q Savings and deposits
Q Debt securities &
subordinated loans
Q Interbank funding
Q Equity
Q Other funding

Liabilities

Loan portfolio at 31 December 2011

Development of Core Tier I ratio

20%
0.7%

0.3%

51%

0.2%

0.1%

2%
4%

10.9%

9.6%

2%
3%
Q
Q
Q
Q
Q
Q
Q

18%

Mortgages
Property
Financial holdings
Healthcare
Services
Retail
Other sectors

31/12/2010

*

-1.2

3.4

30

20

10

34.5

Other

31/12/2011

36.7
12.4

18.2

14.1

Retained
earnings

Assets under discretionary management and non-discretionary
management (€ billion)

36.7

34.5

Decrease
in RWA

The 2004 bonds were redeemed for a cash payment of 75% of the nominal amount.
The 2005 bonds were redeemed for a cash payment of 82.5% of the nominal amount.

Development of assets under management by segment (€ billion)

30

Gain on
repurchase of
perpetuals*

14.8
20

10

20.4

19.7

18.5

0

24.3

0
31/12/2010

Net inflow

Q Private & Business Banking

Market
performance

Q Asset Management

31/12/2011

31/12/2010
Q Discretionary

Q Non-discretionary

31/12/2011
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the van lanschot share
Issued share capital

The issued share capital of Van Lanschot NV at 31 December
2011 consisted of 41,016,668 ordinary shares (in the form of
ordinary A shares and ordinary B shares) with a nominal value of
€ 1 each. In 2011, the principal shareholders Friesland Bank,
Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP and LDDM each converted part of
their interests held in the form of ordinary B shares into ordinary
A shares. Thus, the composition of the issued capital changed:
there are more ordinary A shares and fewer ordinary B shares
compared with 31 December 2010. If these principal shareholders
convert the remaining ordinary B shares held by them in accordance
with the announced conversion policy, the issued share capital
will solely comprise ordinary A shares from mid-2013 onwards.
For more information about this conversion, the relevant
conditions and the capital structure of Van Lanschot, reference is
made to the chapter Corporate Governance under the heading
Capital structure and shares on page 55.

The Van Lanschot share

Depositary receipts have been issued for the ordinary A shares
of Van Lanschot. For more information about the depositary
receipts, reference is made to the chapter Corporate Governance
under the heading Depositary receipts for shares on page 55.
The depositary receipts for ordinary A shares are publicly traded
on NYSE Euronext Amsterdam (ISIN Code: NL0000302636;
ticker: LANS.NA). The ordinary B shares are not listed.
The Van Lanschot share was covered by six sell-side analysts
(ABN AMRO, ING, KBC Securities, Keefe, Bruyette & Woods,
Rabo Securities, RBS) in the year under review.
The market capitalisation of Van Lanschot was € 0.9 billion at
year-end 2011.

Credit ratings
Long-term

Short-term

Standard & Poor’s

A-, Stable outlook

A-2

Fitch Ratings

A-, Stable outlook

F2

Credit ratings

Credit ratings are indicators of the probability of timely and full
repayment of interest and the principal amount of fixed-income
securities. In 2011, rating agencies Standard & Poor’s and Fitch
Ratings reconfirmed Van Lanschot’s credit ratings. Both agencies
awarded Van Lanschot an A- rating (Single A minus) with a stable
outlook. In this period, which is characterised by major pressure
on the credit ratings of banks, the affirmation of the credit ratings
of Van Lanschot can be regarded as a sign of its strength.

Dividend and dividend policy

Van Lanschot aims to distribute to the shareholders of ordinary
shares between 40% and 50% of net profit, adjusted for the
interest on perpetual loans. Van Lanschot pursues a solid and
steady course, as demonstrated by its undiminished capital
strength and liquidity position. Net profit amounted to
€ 43.1 million. It will be proposed to the General Meeting of
Shareholders that a dividend of € 0.40 per ordinary share be
distributed, corresponding with a pay-out ratio of 47.3% of
the earnings per ordinary share.

Investor Relations policy
Share buy-back programme

In 2011, Van Lanschot repurchased 188,124 depositary receipts for
ordinary A shares for an average price of € 25.33. The share buy-back
programme was carried out in order to cover the shares to be awarded
to employees within the scope of the existing remuneration policy
and the employee share plan. For more information about this share
buy-back programme, reference is made to the chapter Corporate
Governance under the heading Repurchase of shares on page 58.

Van Lanschot’s Investor Relations policy focuses on informing the
financial stakeholders as adequately and timely as possible about
the developments in the company, with the aim of providing
sufficient information for any investment decisions regarding
Van Lanschot. We seek an active dialogue with all financial
stakeholders, including the credit rating agencies, through for
example press releases, the annual report, meetings and oneon-one discussions with existing and prospective investors.

Shareholders at 31 December 2011

Stichting Administratiekantoor van gewone aandelen A Van Lanschot

Ordinary A shares
34,159,225

Shareholding (%)
83.28

Friesland Bank NV
Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP
LDDM Holding BV

Ordinary B shares
2,236,101
1,960,582
2,660,760

5.45
4.78
6.49

41,016,668

100.00

Total
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Key figures on ordinary shares
2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

Share price (€):
High
Low
Closing

32.49
18.95
21.74

36.37
29.47
30.05

48.00
35.00
36.84

74.49
41.75
48.00

75.50
65.00
73.50

Average daily trading volume in depositary receipts
for Van Lanschot NV shares
Market capitalisation (€ billion, year-end 2011)
Intrinsic value per share (€)
Price-earnings ratio

2,944
0.9
36.93
25.9

4,432
1.2
35.32
20.4

3,548
1.4
35.50
n.a.

6,485
1.8
35.20
87.3

9,452
2.6
39.65
12.4

Information about the dividend
per ordinary share

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

Earnings per ordinary share (€)
Dividend per ordinary share (€)
Dividend yield (%)
Pay-out ratio (%)
Total return for holders of ordinary shares (%)

0.84
0.40
1.8
47.3
– 25

1.47
0.70
2.3
50.5
– 17

– 0.75
–
–
–
– 23

0.55
0.28
0.60
50.6
– 31

5.94
3.00
4.08
49.7
6

Van Lanschot’s share price compared with MSCI World Bank Index
(ten years)

Earnings per ordinary share (€)
6

200

5
4

150

3
2

100

1
50

0
–1
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

0

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Van Lanschot

After publication of the interim and full-year figures, a press
conference is held for journalists and a separate presentation
for analysts. These meetings can be followed live online via
video webcasts on the corporate website of Van Lanschot.
All documents and relevant information are available on the
corporate website (www.vanlanschot.nl/aboutvanlanschot).

More information

The Investor Relations department welcomes questions from
investors and their advisers on +31 (0)73 548 33 50. Questions
may also be sent by e-mail to investorrelations@vanlanschot.com.

MSCI World Banks

Important dates

Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders 2012
Publication of trading update
first quarter of 2012
Ex-dividend date
Record date
Dividend 2011 available for payment
Publication of 2012 half-year results

10 May 2012
10 May 2012
14 May 2012
16 May 2012
25 May 2012
14 August 2012
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van lanschot’s strategy
mission
To offer high-quality financial services to high net-worth
individuals, entrepreneurs and other select client groups,
whereby the interest of our clients is leading.

vision

strategy
1 focus on private banking
We focus on wealthy private individuals in the Netherlands and
Belgium and entrepreneurs and their businesses in the
Netherlands. We offer these target groups a full range of services,
centring around wealth planning. All other activities are ancillary
to private banking.

Van Lanschot aims to be the best Private Bank in the Netherlands
and Belgium.

2 enhance commercial effectiveness

core values
ambitious
committed
independent
professional
Our core values reflect the way in which we aim to achieve our
objectives. They provide employees with a framework to use
when making commercial and other decisions, and also give
clients an impression of the services they can expect from us.
For our stakeholders, they serve as a frame of reference for
dialogue. Our core values are applied consistently to help
develop a culture that appeals to clients and employees and
at the same time respects the interests of other stakeholders.

We focus our efforts on our main target group clients.
In connection with this, we invest in the commercial skills of
our employees, in our brand name and in an effective support
organisation for the bank’s activities.

3 invest continually in service quality
We invest in recruiting, developing and retaining the best
employees for every position in our bank. In addition, we
continually search to find the best-in-class products that we offer
under a full open architecture policy and aim for operational
excellence. Furthermore, we pursue the highest levels of customer
care.

4 maintain a solid profile
We maintain a strong capital base and liquidity position at all times.
We take only those risks that we can understand, quantify and
manage. We implement reliable risk management processes and
improve these on an on-going basis. A credit rating of at least
Single A in more normal market circumstances would be in line
with this profile.
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achievements in 2011

priorities for 2012 - 2015

1 focus on private banking

1 focus on private banking

– Net inflow of new money (excluding market performance)
€ 3.4 billion, i.e. 10%
– Further rise in discretionary mandates: 33% of total assets
under management of Private & Business Banking are under
discretionary management
– Client assets up to € 49.8 billion

– Concentration of (specialist) know-how in teams serving a
market region
– Expansion and intensification of relationship model of the
private bank
– Stricter focus of business bank on director-owners and their
businesses and on healthcare entrepreneurs

2 enhance commercial effectiveness

2 enhance commercial effectiveness

– Further enhancement of service model
– Concentration and broadening of expertise in branch offices
– Net profit of Private & Business Banking +7% in 2011

– Investment in a more entrepreneurial culture supported
by training and education
– Outsourcing of payment services
– Migration of securities to Kempen platform

3 invest continually in service quality

3 invest continually in service quality

– Preparations for securities services and new payment system
in connection with SEPA
– Risk profiles for securities
– Investments in the skills of private bankers:
foundation of the Van Lanschot Academy
– Corporate Finance: winner of the Incompany 100 Award
– Kempen Securities again scored high in the Thomson Reuters
Extel survey
– The first employee survey was held
– Adjustment of New Product Approval process within the
scope of putting the client’s interests first

– Investment in improvement of online services, for instance
VIPAdvies and online order entry
– Investment in systems, including new securities
administration

4 maintain a solid profile

4 maintain a solid profile

– Further diversification of the funding mix, inter alia by the
issue of € 500 million in senior bonds
– Reconfirmation of the single A minus rating (stable outlook)
by Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings
– Strong results in the European stress test
– Increase in solvency; Core Tier I ratio 10.9%
– Further strengthening of core capital thanks to successful
repurchase of perpetuals
– Improved liquidity position of the bank; liquidity buffer of
over € 3 billion
– Funding need already met for the coming years

– Scale-down of property and small-sized client loan portfolios
– Cost savings through, among other things, efficiency measures
and reduction in number of FTEs
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targets
In order to be able to measure the achievement of its vision,
Van Lanschot has formulated targets concerning clients,
employees and key financials. Van Lanschot aims to achieve these
targets in harmony with all its stakeholders.

financials*
The rate at which Van Lanschot returns to normalised profit
levels will be determined by the pace and extent of the economic
recovery, among other things. Given the uncertainty of the
current economic crisis, Van Lanschot does not expect to achieve
the profitability targets before 2015.

clients
Capital ratios & leverage
To be achieved through retained earnings, dividend policy and
balance sheet management
Core Tier I ratio: at least 10%, aim for 12% in 12 to 18 months

Client satisfaction
Continue to outperform the benchmark in the loyalty index
(client satisfaction index is measured annually).
Loyalty index score of 61 (benchmark 57) in 2011.

Leverage (total assets/equity attributable to shareholders) < 20
Funding & liquidity
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR): pro forma above the Basel III
requirements, at least 100%

Customer care
Adopt and continuously improve a customer care policy that
sets the tone for the sector and goes beyond the statutory
framework.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR): pro forma above the Basel III
requirements, at least 100%

In 2011, the customer care policy was further integrated
into the processes.

Credit rating
Single A rating from at least two rating agencies

Market share
Achievement of a higher growth in our target group markets.
We aim for € 50 billion in assets under management, including
market performance.

Return on average Core Tier I capital
Within 12 to 18 months about 10%, in the medium term
higher than 12%

In 2011, total assets under management increased again to
€ 36.7 billion.

Growth in earnings per share
At least 5% per annum, after reaching normal profit levels
Dividend policy
Pay-out ratio of 40% - 50%

Investment performance
Achieve a higher risk-weighted investment performance than
the benchmark.

Proposed dividend for 2011: € 0.40, representing a pay-out
ratio of 47.3%.

In 2011, a lower investment performance was achieved
in asset management compared with the benchmark than in
prior years. However, performance in the longer term is still
positive compared with the benchmark.

employees
Employer status
Be an employer of choice for top talent in the financial sector.
Employee survey (response 86%) shows areas for
improvement and demonstrates that employees are highly
committed to and proud of Van Lanschot.

*

Excluding non-strategic investments.
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achievement of financial targets in 2011*
Assets under management (€ billion)

Core Tier I ratio (%)
50.0

34.5

12.0
10.9

36.7

9.6

28.6
6.6
10.0

2009

2010

2011

Leverage

Target

< 20

2009

2010

2011

Target

Funding & liquidity (pro forma, Basel III, %)

16.6
13.4

12.2

LCR
NSFR
2009

2010

2011

Credit rating

Target

A
A-

A-

Minimum 100

104

149

31/12/2011

31/12/2011

Return on average Core Tier I capital (%)

A-

10.0
5.5
2.9

2009

2010

2011

Target
– 2.7
2009

Earnings per ordinary share (€)

1.45

4.00

0.81

– 0.72
2009
*

2010

Excluding non-strategic investments.

2011

Target

2010

2011

Target
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message from the chairman
of the board of managing
directors
It is impossible to exist for 275 years without weathering difficult
times and crises, and 2011 was another extraordinary year that
will go down in history. There was a marked recovery in general
public confidence, and hence confidence in the economy, during
the first six months of the year, but after the summer Van Lanschot
was not alone in being forced to contend with the rapidly escalating
eurozone debt crisis.
This new crisis also hit the economy and financial markets, which
had been experiencing a hesitant recovery. But in contrast to the
financial crisis of 2008 and 2009, which was caused by banks that
were overexposed, for which they were quite rightly castigated,
this time round it was primarily Europe’s politicians who were to
blame, having failed to respond soon enough, or quickly enough,
to the European Union’s macro-economic problems in a classic
case of too little, too late.

solidity in the interests of our clients
The turmoil on the financial markets also affected the
profitability of our bank. When the first signs of deteriorating
economic conditions appeared, we consciously decided to put
security before profitability when weighing up risks and returns,
as we also did in 2008 and 2009. This is in keeping with our low
risk profile, our approach and our service model. The interests of
clients come first at private banks such as Van Lanschot, just as
they have done for the past 275 years and in future years too.
The challenge we face is to be the best private bank while showing
healthy profitability. In our view, these two concepts are related.
Van Lanschot has a solid, stable starting position, and our core
capital of 10.9% puts us at the top end of the market. Our aim is
that in time we will achieve returns of 12% and see earnings per
share recover to € 4 at normalised profit levels.
We continued to work on strengthening our solvency and
liquidity in 2011. In recent years, Van Lanschot managed to raise
funding on the capital market on several occasions and create
a highly diversified funding profile. In the year under review,
for instance, Van Lanschot placed € 500 million in senior bonds
with institutional investors.

As part of our efforts in the area of capital management, we
were one of the first banks in the Netherlands to offer holders
of our perpetual loans the opportunity to exchange them for
cash or a new loan. Most holders responded enthusiastically and
the vast majority of them tendered their securities. In addition,
we reduced risk-weighted assets and credit limits for non-target
group clients. As a result, our Core Tier I ratio has improved and
we more than fully comply with the new capital, leverage and
liquidity requirements of Basel III. Van Lanschot has a credit
rating with a stable outlook, and funding for the years to come
has been covered.

further improvements in quality and
efficiency
The bank’s ability to survive crises and turbulent times in good
shape can be put down to its robust, tenacious, independent
approach. However, it is also the result of making choices and,
perhaps even more importantly, taking a critical look, not least
where the bank itself is concerned.
Today, given the radical change in market conditions, it is once
again time to take a critical look. The amount of legislation and
rules and regulations we have to contend with keeps growing.
Moreover, capital requirements have become much tougher,
competition is increasing and the wishes and demands of clients
are also changing.
Our principle of conservative banking – banking as it should
be – is just as important to us today as it has been for the past
275 years. Van Lanschot is a strong brand with a strong mindset.
Our service model focuses on paying personal attention to the
client combined with delivering performance, based in large part
on exceptional asset management skills. This is reflected in the
relatively high level of client satisfaction. The principle we adhere
to is evidently in line with what clients expect from their bank
today.
Van Lanschot aims to be the best private bank in the Netherlands
and Belgium, providing excellent quality for the top end of the
market.
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We aim to be an innovative bank that provides superior quality
services, employs top professionals, is proactive and ambitious,
has a hands-on approach to business and focuses on solving
problems. And all the while retaining the solid, exclusive profile
and the personal touch that we have built into our services; but at
the same time working more effectively and more efficiently for
clients, who not only have the right, but also an obligation, to
be demanding.

cost reductions

This will lead to additional investments in the quality of our
services, the organisation, our people and systems in the next
few years. We realise, for instance, that our online services could
be improved, and so we are increasing the possibilities for clients
who want to make their own investments. This does not mean
that we are dropping our traditional services and leaving clients
to arrange matters for themselves, but rather that we are offering
new possibilities to our clients. In addition, a new securities
administration will be introduced in 2012, which will lead to
improvements in the reports produced by our systems. We will
also make further investments in our investment proposition.

For this reason, we will have to reduce costs drastically at the
same time as we improve quality and efficiency. We have decided
that the cost savings planned for the next three to four years
will be implemented ahead of schedule. Among other things,
we will modify our branch network, simplify and make more
effective use of IT, and step up collaboration between Van Lanschot
and Kempen. Inevitably, this will lead to a reduction in the workforce.

Furthermore, we will take steps to ensure our private bankers are
closer to our clients, literally. We are going to move away from
the ‘branch office’ concept to some extent. We want our private
bankers to be active in the market and to be based in places where
our clients live, where they can create a profile for themselves.
Close, personal relationships with clients are at all times key to
our service model. We expect that these measures will enable us
to provide an even better service to clients in future.
Products are often not easy to understand for everybody.
This means we need to be even better at explaining them and
making them intelligible to clients. We therefore need to improve
our communication with clients, provide them with better
information, and set higher standards for the professional
competence of our private bankers and all other employees.
We also need to be better able to anticipate questions from our
clients. The challenge we face is to obtain all the information we
require on our clients in the most customer-friendly way possible,
so that we will be able to provide clients with the most appropriate
advice and satisfy all compliance requirements set by the
government.

Thanks to our business model, we have not been forced or
encouraged to take excessive risks. This does not detract from the
fact that 2011 was a difficult year for Van Lanschot too. For the
second time in four years we saw income fall sharply. We believe
that 2012 will be another tough year, not just for banks, but for
businesses, individuals and the government as well.

This is the last time that I will write a message for the annual
report. Our programme of investments and cost reductions
covers a period of three years and reflects a number of decisions
that are quite conventional, such as cost control and investments
in systems and processes. However, the investments in the
knowledge, expertise, independence and conduct of our
employees are much more significant. This part of the programme
will, to a large extent, determine Van Lanschot’s next phase. In
view of the period covered by the programme and since I am due
to turn 62 this year, I will have to leave this up to my successor.
I hope that my successor, whoever he or she may be, will work for
this special bank, with its highly committed, ambitious employees,
and all of its fascinating clients with just as much pleasure and
energy as I have had the privilege to do for the past eight years.
’s-Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands, 8 March 2012
Floris Deckers
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personal details of members
of the board of managing
directors

arjan huisman (1971)
floris deckers (1950)
chairman
Nationality
Dutch
Nationality
Dutch

Appointed
6 May 2010

Appointed
1 January 2004 (Chairman since 1 May 2004)

Areas of responsibility
Securities Service Centre, Client Affairs & Payments
Service Centre, Loans & Savings Service Centre, Corporate
Purchasing Management, Corporate Facility Management,
Information Technology Management and Online Services

Reappointed
1 January 2008 and 1 January 2012
Areas of responsibility
Secretariat to the Board of Managing Directors,
Legal Affairs, Corporate Office, Compliance & Supervision,
Human Resources Management, Group Audit,
Van Lanschot Belgium, Corporate Marketing and
Corporate Communication

Current other position
Member of the Supervisory Board of Van Lanschot
Chabot Holding BV

Current other positions
Member of the Supervisory Board of SBM Offshore NV,
member of the Supervisory Board of IBM Nederland BV,
member of the Supervisory Committee of Stichting
Alzheimer Nederland, member of the Board of Stichting
Jan Schroederfonds

The members of the Board of Managing Directors jointly form the Supervisory Board of Kempen & Co. The schedule for reappointment/
retirement of the Board of Managing Directors has been posted on the corporate website (www.vanlanschot.nl/aboutvanlanschot).
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constant korthout (1962)
ieko sevinga (1966)
Nationality
Dutch
Appointed
27 October 2010
Areas of responsibility
Risk Management, Financial Control, Tax Affairs,
Asset & Liability Management and Treasury
Current other positions
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Vidomes,
member of the Supervisory Council of Sint Franciscus Gasthuis,
member of the Supervisory Council of Stichting HCO

Nationality
Dutch
Appointed
22 January 2007
Reappointed
1 January 2011
Areas of responsibility
Kempen, Van Lanschot Private Office, Private & Business
Banking Netherlands, Private Investments and international
operations (Curacao, Luxembourg and Switzerland)
Current other positions
Treasurer of the KNHS (Royal Dutch Equine Sports
Federation), member of the Supervisory Board of
Van Lanschot Chabot Holding BV, non-executive director
of De Persgroep NV
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financial performance
During the first half of 2011, it seemed that the recovery of the
financial markets was set to continue. However, the escalation
of the European debt crisis led to renewed uncertainty among
investors and clients. The continued uncertainty on the financial
markets subdued the bank’s income in the second half of the year.
Against this backdrop, Van Lanschot again succeeded in recording
a healthy inflow of new money.

Results
(€ million)

2011

2011
core*

2010
core

%

Interest
Income from securities and associates
Commission
Profit on financial transactions
Other income

295.2
10.9
230.5
– 0.2
16.0

297.5
11.4
230.5
– 0.2
–

336.9
14.0
232.2
30.2
–

– 12
– 19
–1
–
–

Income from operating activities

552.4

539.2

613.3

– 12

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

224.8
164.7
37.0

216.7
159.0
36.6

226.4
159.9
36.0

–4
–1
2

Operating expenses

426.5

412.3

422.3

–2

Gross result

125.9

126.9

191.0

– 34

Addition to loan loss provision
Other impairments

61.1
18.3

64.3
14.0

86.5
16.0

– 26
– 13

Operating profit before tax

46.5

48.6

88.5

– 45

6.2
2.8

6.7
–

22.8
–

– 71
–

43.1

41.9

65.7

– 36

Income tax
Discontinued operations
Net profit

*

As it did in 2010, Van Lanschot achieved a 10% net inflow of new
assets under management in 2011. This solid inflow reflects the
trust placed by clients in the bank and the quality of its service
offering. In 2011, as it has since 2008, Van Lanschot gave priority
to further reinforcing its capital and liquidity position instead of
focusing on profit maximisation.

In order to allow an adequate comparison of Van Lanschot’s core activities, the figures
have been restated for non-strategic investments.
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Development of operating profit before tax (core activities, € million)

80
– 39.4

60

40

88.5

– 1.7

2.0
22.2

– 33.0
20

48.6

10.0
0
2010

Lower
interest

Lower
commission

Lower
other
income

income from operating activities
Interest

Interest income in 2011 totalled € 297.5 million, a 12%
decline on 2010, due to the following factors:
– The portfolio of client loans decreased by € 1.1 billion in 2011
on account of private clients opting for early repayment of
their mortgage debts and a stricter lending policy increasing
the focus on the bank’s target group clients.
– When considering risks versus returns, the bank consciously
opted for solidity, for example by placing the substantial
excess liquidity at the European Central Bank, which had an
adverse effect on the interest margin.
– Higher funding costs were incurred as a result of raising
wholesale funding in 2010 and 2011, with a view to further
diversifying the bank’s funding mix.
In 2011, the interest margin was 1.57% (2010: 1.68%).

Lower
operating
expenses

Lower
loan loss
provision

Lower
other
provisions

2011

Due to the economic conditions, a negative valuation result of
€ 9.9 million was posted (2010: € 5.4 million negative). The valuation
result, which chiefly concerns an interest in Ducatus, is sensitive
to financial market fluctuations. Of the valuation result,
€ 0.2 million negative relates to 49% of the net profit (exclusive
of dividend) of Van Lanschot Chabot (2010: € 0.7 million). Gains
on sales totalled € 5.2 million in 2011 (2010: € 1.4 million), among
other things achieved on the sale of an investment fund from the
investment portfolio.

Commission

Securities commission totalled € 171.9 million in 2011 (2010:
€ 173.4 million). Owing to the bearish sentiment on the stock
exchange, trading volumes were lower than in 2010, which
resulted in lower transaction fees. This decline was offset by an
increase in management fees, which was, in turn, the result of
an increase in assets under discretionary management. In 2011,
the share of management fees compared with total securities
commission rose further to 72% (2010: 60%).

Income from securities and associates

This item comprises dividends, valuation results and gains
and losses on sales of minority shareholdings held by the bank.
Dividends received in 2011 totalled € 16.1 million (2010:
€ 18.0 million).

*

Other commission amounted to € 58.6 million (2010:
€ 58.8 million). This included corporate finance commission for
an amount of € 24.3 million (2010: € 22.0 million).

Commission
(€ million)

2011

2011
core

2010
core

%

Securities commission
– transaction fees
– management fee*
– performance fee
Other commission

171.9
47.1
124.4
0.4
58.6

171.9
47.1
124.4
0.4
58.6

173.4
61.6
104.4
7.4
58.8

–1
– 24
19
– 95
–

Commission

230.5

230.5

232.2

–1

Management fee inclusive of portfolio commission and custody fee.
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2011

2011
core

2010
core

%

Profit on securities
Profit on currency trading
Profit on investment portfolio
Profit on interest hedges
Other income

– 5.6
13.0
14.5
– 23.1
1.0

– 5.6
13.0
14.5
– 23.1
1.0

10.5
11.4
21.0
– 13.7
1.0

–
14
– 31
– 69
–

Profit on financial transactions

– 0.2

– 0.2

30.2

–

Profit on financial transactions
(€ million)

Proﬁt on ﬁnancial transactions

The profit on securities concerns the result on the trading
portfolio and own positions in several in-house funds of Kempen
& Co. Given the negative stock market sentiment, this result was
negative in 2011.
The profit on the investment portfolio of € 14.5 million (2010:
€ 21.0 million) was the result of, among other things, a Markedto-Market (MtM) portfolio. In 2011, this portfolio comprised
in particular government bonds and other bonds guaranteed by
the Dutch state, covered bonds and securitisations of residential
mortgage loans. The interest rate risk on this portfolio has been
hedged. However, due to widening credit spreads, the result on
this investment portfolio was € 5.1 million negative in 2011.
Furthermore, in 2011 a positive result of € 19.6 million was
recorded on the sale of bonds from the investment portfolio
(2010: € 21.0 million).
Van Lanschot applies hedge accounting to a number of swaps.
These swaps serve to cover the interest rate risk of fixed-interest
mortgages in particular. Imperfections in these hedges and
changing interest rate curves cause ineffectiveness. In 2011, the
decline in the long-term interest rate led to ineffectiveness on
current hedges and thus to a negative result.

expenses

The 2009 recovery plan resulted from the deficient coverage
ratio according to the requirements defined in the Financial
Assessment Framework of the Dutch Central Bank. In 2011, an
extension of the 2009 recovery plan was agreed. The extended
recovery plan led to an additional payment of € 41.4 million
in 2011 and two conditional recovery payments of at most
€ 8.9 million each at year-end 2012 and 2013. These payments
depend on the actual coverage ratios at year-end 2012 and 2013.
The amended pension scheme and additional payment within
the scope of the 2009 recovery plan on balance had a marginal
effect on the net profit for 2011.

Other administrative expenses

The other administrative expenses totalled € 159.0 million,
more or less in line with 2010. In 2011, € 1.4 million additional
expenses were incurred for compliance and supervision and IT
project costs rose by € 3.8 million. In addition, the expenses on
account of the deposit guarantee scheme were higher in 2011
than in 2010. While 2010 saw a release of € 1.1 million (DSB),
2011 saw an allocation of € 0.8 million. This addition comprised
an expense of € 1.6 million for DSB and income of € 0.8 million
representing the liquidation distribution for Icesave. A further
reduction in costs was achieved at Van Lanschot Bankiers in 2011
(€ 4.7 million), thanks in part to savings on accommodation and
marketing and communication expenses.

Staff costs

Staff costs were down 4% on 2010 to € 216.7 million (2010:
€ 226.4 million). This decline is mainly attributable to lower
variable pay. In addition, the number of FTEs in 2011 decreased
by 34 to 2,009 (2010: 2,043); at Asset Management the workforce
rose by 17 FTEs, while the other segments experienced a 51 FTE
decline. Pension costs in 2011 showed a € 2.1 million increase,
due to the low interest rates and higher life expectancy.
In addition, in the year under review, Van Lanschot’s pension scheme
was amended and an additional payment was made within the
scope of the 2009 recovery plan.
The amended pension scheme, which is administered by Stichting
Pensioenfonds F. van Lanschot, became effective on 1 January 2012.
The new scheme is based on average earnings up to a certain
threshold. Above this threshold, pension is accrued based on a
defined contribution scheme. Prior to this amendment, the scheme
was a (partial) final pay scheme.

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation totalled € 36.6 million which is
in line with 2010. Of this amount, € 12.7 million concerned the
amortisation of intangible assets as a result of the acquisitions
of Kempen & Co and CenE Bankiers.

Efﬁciency ratio

The efficiency ratio (the ratio of operating expenses to income
from operating activities) showed a negative trend at 76.5% due
to lower income from operating activities (2010: 68.9%).
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2011

2011
core

2010
core

%

Addition to loan loss provision

61.1

64.3

86.5

– 26

Impairment of investments and shareholdings
Capital loss on buildings
Other

11.3
3.2
3.8

10.8
3.2
–

15.7
0.3
–

– 31
–
–

Other impairments

18.3

14.0

16.0

– 13

Impairments

79.4

78.3

102.5

– 24

Impairments
(€ million)

Addition to loan loss provision

earnings per ordinary share

The addition to the loan loss provision declined by 26% to
€ 64.3 million in 2011 (2010: € 86.5 million). After the peak in
2009, the addition to the loan loss provision showed a downward
trend. In 2011, the addition largely concerned increases in loans
already transferred to the Recovery Section.

Earnings per ordinary share for the year 2011 were € 0.84
(2010: € 1.47). Adjusted for non-strategic investments, earnings
per ordinary share were € 0.81 (2010: € 1.45).

Other impairments

In 2011, several shareholdings from the participations portfolio
were written down by a total amount of € 9.6 million. On balance,
the market value of the participations portfolio was up. In addition,
an investment fund was written down (€ 1.2 million). In line with
the prescribed accounting method for available-for-sale
investments and the participations portfolio, an unrealised
negative value change is directly taken to profit or loss, whereas
an unrealised positive value change is only taken to profit or loss
when realised.
In 2011, a capital loss on buildings was recognised of € 3.2 million.
Of this amount, € 2.8 million relates to own office buildings for
sale, whose expected sales proceeds are lower than their carrying
value.

Income tax

Income tax for 2011 amounted to € 6.7 million (2010: € 22.8 million),
representing a tax burden of 13.8% (2010: 25.8%). The low tax
burden for 2011 is caused by the fact that the equity holding
exemption applies to part of the revenue. The high tax burden in
2010 was caused by non-deductible expenses such as impairments
on shareholdings to which the equity holding exemption applies
and the conversion premium of the preference shares.

Earnings per ordinary share
(€ million)

2011

2011
core

2010
core

Net profit
Net interest on perpetual loans
Share of other minority interests

43.1
– 7.6
– 1.0

41.9
– 7.6
– 1.0

65.7
– 9.7
– 0.5

Net profit for calculation of
earnings per ordinary share

34.5

33.3

55.6

Earnings per ordinary share (€)

0.84

0.81

1.45

40,870

40,870

38,367

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding
(x 1,000)

Of the profit attributable to the shareholders of Van Lanschot NV,
€ 18.2 million will be reserved and it will be proposed that
€ 16.3 million be distributed in the form of dividend. A dividend
for 2011 of € 0.40 per share will be proposed to the shareholders
of Van Lanschot NV, representing a 47% pay-out ratio.
The dividend will be made payable in cash.

Profit appropriation (€ million)

2011

2010

profit appropriation

Net profit

43.1

66.7

The appropriation of the consolidated profit (including
non-strategic investments) for 2011 is set out in the table.
The profit attributable to other minority interests mainly
concerns the Management Investment Plan for key staff of
Kempen & Co, as introduced in 2010.

Of which attributable to:
– shareholders of Van Lanschot NV
– holders of perpetual loans
– other minority interests

34.5
7.6
1.0

56.5
9.7
0.5

20

balance sheet and capital management
Total assets at 31 December 2011 were 6% below the level of
31 December 2010 and came to € 18.4 billion. This decline was
mainly caused by the € 1.1 billion decrease in the portfolio of
client loans. Risk-weighted assets were down to € 11.0 billion at
the end of 2011 (year-end 2010: € 11.7 billion). This is the result,
on the one hand, of the strict focus on the target group clients of
the private bank, and, on the other hand, of the trend among
private clients to repay their mortgage debts.
Equity totalled € 1,565 million at the end of 2011 (year-end 2010:
€ 1,785 million). Equity attributable to minority interests declined
from € 323 million to € 59 million. This decline was caused by the
conversion or repurchase of perpetuals loans in October 2011. Of
the € 315 million in perpetual loans, € 89.4 million was converted
into new senior bonds and € 170.8 million was repurchased for
cash. This transaction was carried out by Van Lanschot with a
view to the new Basel III rules.
The Core Tier I ratio was 10.9% at the end of 2011, compared
with 9.6% at year-end 2010. This increase was the result of the
decline in risk-weighted assets, the gain (through equity) recorded
on the repurchase of perpetual loans and the retained earnings.
The Tier I ratio was down to 10.9% at year-end 2011 (year-end
2010: 12.1%) and the BIS total capital ratio decreased to 11.9% at
year-end 2011 (year-end 2010: 14.2%). This decrease was caused
by the repurchase and conversion of perpetual loans (€ 260 million)
in October 2011 and the repayment of a subordinated loan
(€ 100 million) in February 2011.
The return on the average Core Tier I capital was 2.9% for 2011
(2010: 5.5%).

Development of Core Tier I ratio
10

0.2
0.3

8

In the past few years, Van Lanschot put much effort into the
professionalisation of credit risk management. For this purpose,
Internal Ratings Based (IRB) models were developed for the
calculation of the minimum capital required to be held for credit
risk. Van Lanschot’s loan portfolio can roughly be split up into
two portfolios, i.e. a retail portfolio comprising mainly mortgages
and a non-retail portfolio with customised financing. Since 1 July
2010, the minimum capital requirement of the retail portfolio has
been calculated according to the IRB approach. In 2011, the Dutch
Central Bank additionally granted its approval for application of
the IRB approach for two non-retail models. The most important
approval concerns the model for commercial property clients.
At the end of 2011, approximately 73% of the loan portfolio was
calculated according to the IRB approach. The models approved
by the Dutch Central Bank were used to determine the capital
ratios for 2011.
Van Lanschot expects to finalise the implementation of F-IRB
(application of internal rating models to determine the capital for
credit risk) in the course of 2012. At the same time, the phased
implementation of Basel III will commence as from 1 January
2013. Van Lanschot estimates that the combined initial impact of
both developments will on balance lead to a decline in the Core
Tier I ratio of approx. 80 to 100 basis points. With this, the bank’s
capital remains well above the minimum requirement of Basel III
of 7.0% and the European Banking Association standard of 9.0%.
Two new liquidity ratios will be introduced, which both have a
minimum requirement of 100%, i.e. the Liquidity Coverage Ratio
(LCR) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR). The LCR indicates
the extent to which a bank maintains liquidity buffers sufficient
to cover its short-term obligations during a 30-day period under
a severe stress scenario. The NSFR indicates the extent to which
the available stable funding sources cover the required amount
of stable funding. The table below shows that Van Lanschot has
an excellent liquidity position and leverage under the new Basel III
rules.

0.1

0.7

6
10.9
4

Introduction of F-IRB and Basel III

9.6

31/12/2011
pro forma

Minimum
requirement

149.4
103.6
19.4

> 100
> 100
< 33

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (%)
Net Stable Funding Ratio (%)
Leverage

2
0
31/12/2010 Gain on Decrease
repurchase in RWA
of perpetuals*

*

Retained
earnings

Other 31/12/2011

The 2004 bonds were redeemed for a cash payment of 75% of the nominal amount.
The 2005 bonds were redeemed for a cash payment of 82.5% of the nominal amount.

assets under management
Total assets under management were up 6% from € 34.5 billion
at year-end 2010 to € 36.7 billion at year-end 2011. Of this
€ 2.2 billion increase, € 3.4 billion (10%) resulted from the net
inflow of new money and € 1.2 billion from negative market
performance.
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Assets under management *
(€ billion)

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

%

Assets under management
Assets under discretionary management
Assets under non-discretionary management

36.7
24.3
12.4

34.5
19.7
14.8

6
23
– 16

Assets under management
Private & Business Banking
Asset Management

36.7
18.5
18.2

34.5
20.4
14.1

6
–9
29

In 2011, the definition of assets under management was refined.
The comparative figures have been restated accordingly.

*

Private & Business Banking

Assets under management of Private & Business Banking
decreased in 2011 by € 1.9 billion to € 18.5 billion. This decrease
can be attributed to a € 1.0 billion outflow of assets and
€ 0.9 billion of negative market performance. Of this outflow,
€ 0.6 billion concerned two large custody clients.
In 2011, the trend to opt for the benefits of a discretionary
mandate continued; the share of discretionary assets was up
from 27% to 33%.

Development of assets under management
Asset Management (€ billion)
20
15

4.4

– 0.3

10
18.2
5

14.1

0
31/12/2010

Net inflow

Development of assets under management
Private & Business Banking (€ billion)
20
15

20.4
5.6

– 1.0

non-strategic investments

6.1

The figures presented for core activities are exclusive of nonstrategic investments.

12.4

Robein Leven

– 0.9

14.8

0
31/12/2010
Q Non-discretionary

Net inflow

Market
performance

31/12/2011

18.5

10
5

Market
performance

31/12/2011

Q Discretionary

In July 2011, Van Lanschot finalised the sale of Robein Leven to
investment institution Ophen. The actual transfer of the shares
followed from the sales agreement signed in December 2010. The
movements in the fair value of Robein Leven (€ 2.8 million) have
been included under Discontinued operations in the 2011
statement of income.

Asset Management

Other non-strategic investments

Assets under management at the segment Asset Management
were up 29% from € 14.1 billion to € 18.2 billion. This increase
can nearly entirely be attributed to the inflow of new money
(€ 4.4 billion). Kempen Capital Management won a number of
new institutional mandates, including Stichting Bedrijfstakpensioenfonds voor het Levensmiddelenbedrijf (€ 2.0 billion),
Yarden (€ 0.7 billion) and a major private client (€ 0.5 billion).

The annual figures for 2011 reflect the impact of a number of
non-strategic investments. The results of these investments are
fully consolidated. Van Lanschot has stated that it wishes to sell
these investments in due course as their activities are not in line
with the bank’s private banking strategy.
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market trends in 2011
The private banking market has changed considerably since the 2008 credit crunch. For financial
services providers, the legal requirements that need to be satisfied have become much more
stringent and compliance and regulation costs have increased. This has put margins under greater
pressure. In addition, clients have become more discerning. They are demanding greater
transparency when it comes to product terms and conditions and costs, and there is growing
customer demand for services that are based on new technological applications. Moreover, we
have noted that independent advisers and family offices are playing an increasingly prominent
role and that major banks are becoming more and more interested in the private banking market.

laws and regulations
The 2008 credit crunch prompted a wave of new laws and
regulations for financial institutions, both at an international and
national level, in order to tackle the weaknesses in the system and
restore the public’s confidence. And the end does not seem to be
in sight. New changes are being announced almost every day. Part
of them concerns the protection of the client, such as Basel III and
the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wft); another part concerns
the know your customer rules, such as Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act (FACTA) and Customer Due Diligence (CDD).
This not only puts a huge additional burden on banks, clients also
have to make extra efforts. Within the scope of customer care,
clients have to provide much more information.

clients demand more
The confidence that clients have in the sector has not yet fully
returned. Clients are demanding more from their banks. They
have become more discerning when it comes to advice, products
and services, they are asking for more, better reports, and they
are seeking out information themselves to a growing extent.
Moreover, they expect to be able to access this information online.
Demand for transparency, lower costs and less complex products
has grown, as has demand for independent advice. Clients also
want transparent information when it comes to costs and returns,
such as details of the actual performance of their portfolios and
information on the fees charged. For this reason, further progress
will be made in the next few years on how banks pass distribution
fees on to clients and even the potential end of payments of such
distribution fees to banks by fund managers.

Van Lanschot has passed on net distribution fees received from
fund operators to its asset management clients since October
2009, and it intends to pass on such fees to its investment advice
clients too.
Many clients actively seek out a sparring partner to provide them
with an overview and an understanding of the situation. They
often consult more than one adviser when making financial
decisions or ask for several alternatives when obtaining advice.
Their ultimate choice of product can therefore be seen as the
application of such advice. Van Lanschot’s wealth planning is well
suited to this. Clients are presented with various scenarios that
would enable them to achieve their goals, as identified and
discussed with us, and can use the scenarios to make a wellconsidered decision. In addition, the number of clients gathering
relevant information themselves is continuing to grow. After
comparing offers, they decide how they want to contact their
selected financial partner (through which service channel) and
which products they want to purchase.
Van Lanschot was one of the first Dutch banks to opt for
transparent, independent asset management. Clients are able
to choose between various alternatives when it comes to their
portfolios, such as active and passive investment, the inclusion or
exclusion of alternatives and bond funds or individual bonds.
Partly due to the above developments, the earnings model of private
banks is under pressure. Private banks will have to demonstrate they
have added value, and that personal attention and performance
delivery is compatible with efficient business practices.
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rapid information
Another trend is the growing demand among clients for simple,
rapid access to information on their portfolios and the market,
supported by online applications. This is certainly the case when
it comes to the new generation of young clients. They want to
be able to inspect their portfolios and conduct transactions at
any time. In order to provide these clients with a good service
and become more competitive, it is vital that we offer top quality
online facilities. For this reason, in 2011 Van Lanschot updated its
internet portal for clients. Individuals can now easily filter news
items, views and opinions to display information that is relevant
to them. In the next few years, Van Lanschot will devote more
attention to online applications, including applications to support
its private bankers.

competition in the private banking market
Besides the usual banks, family offices and independent advisers
are playing an increasingly prominent role in the Dutch private
banking market. They are responding actively to client demands
for greater transparency and independent advice – topics that are
high on the agendas of banks as well as regulators.
However, major banks are also strenghtening their presence in
the private banking market. In the current market constellation,
this market has become more attractive to them from the
perspective of scalability (i.e. costs) and funding. Despite increased
competition in a stagnating private banking market, Van Lanschot
has managed to increase its position in this segment. Van Lanschot
has a relatively low ratio of clients to bankers, which means it can
devote a relatively high amount of attention to each individual
client. Moreover, Van Lanschot offers full transparency. Clients
can see which investment categories they are investing in and
what the associated costs are. This transparency has reinforced
Van Lanschot’s position when it comes to asset management.
This focus on quality and providing professional services, rather
than quantity, is reflected in high levels of client satisfaction,
an area in which Van Lanschot outperforms competing banks.

stabilisation of the dutch market
In contrast to previous years, when total investable assets were
expected to grow steadily, the Dutch market is expected to
stabilise in terms of its size in the next few years. Entrepreneurs
will continue to be the most important group of wealth creators.
In spite of the state of the economy, many Dutch entrepreneurs
transferred or sold their family businesses in 2011, and wealth
will continue to be created in this way for several years to come.
Research conducted by Van Lanschot among Dutch family
businesses (the Family Businesses Barometer) revealed that family
businesses were considerably less positive about the economic
outlook in the second half of the year than they had been in the
first six months. The main focus of the business is now continuity
rather than growth.
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private & business banking
Ambition: to be the best private bank in the Netherlands and Belgium

priorities

financial performance
Private & Business Banking

t 5IFXFBMUIQMBOOJOHQSPDFTTBTUIFCBTJTPGPVSTFSWJDFT
t 'PDVTPOBTTFUNBOBHFNFOUBTUIFNPTUBQQSPQSJBUF
investment solution in relation to wealth planning
t 4IBSQFSGPDVTPOFOUSFQSFOFVST EJSFDUPSPXOFST BOEUIFJS
businesses (family or otherwise), high net-worth individuals,
business professionals, healthcare entrepreneurs, and
associations and foundations
t 5SBOTQBSFOUTFSWJDFTBOEQSPEVDUSBOHF
t *NQSPWFNFOUJOPOMJOFTFSWJDFT
t *ODPSQPSBUJPOPGMFHJTMBUJPOBOESFHVMBUJPOTJOEBZUPEBZ
processes and greater awareness of compliance issues
t $PODFOUSBUJPOPGLOPXMFEHFBOEFYQFSUJTF

(€ million)

2011

2010

Change
%

Interest
Income from securities and associates
Commission
Profit on financial transactions

369.1
1.2
133.6
10.4

390.7
– 0.8
131.5
9.9

–6
–
2
5

Income from operating activities

514.3

531.3

–3

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

161.2
138.9
25.8

168.8
135.2
25.6

–5
3
1

Operating expenses

325.9

329.6

–1

67.6

85.4

– 21

Total expenses

393.5

415.0

–5

Operating profit before tax

120.8

116.3

4

actions
t 8FBMUIQMBOOJOHGPSUBSHFUHSPVQDMJFOUTBOEVOJGPSN
application of this process
t 'VSUIFSSFWJTJPOPGTFSWJDFNPEFMUISFFTFSWJDFDPODFQUTGPS
specific target groups
t $MJFOUHSPXUIJOIJHIFSTFHNFOUTJOMJOFXJUITUSBUFHZ
t 6OJGPSNBEWJTPSZQSPDFTT
t 3FCSBOEJOHPG$FO&BT7BO-BOTDIPU)FBMUIDBSF
t 1SPWJTJPOPGTFSWJDFTUPDMJFOUTCZUFBNTNBEFVQPGCPUI
private and business bankers
t 5ZQFPGCBOLFSCFUUFSNBUDIFEUPUZQFPGDMJFOU
t 4JNQMJGJDBUJPOPGDMJFOUQSPDFTTFT QSPEVDUT PQUJNJTBUJPOPG
internal business processes and complaints management
t 3FJOGPSDFNFOUPGDVTUPNFSDBSFQPMJDZUISPVHIXFBMUI
planning and employee training and education
t #FUUFSJEFOUJGJDBUJPOPGSJTLTGPSDMJFOU

results
t )JHIFSMFWFMTPGDMJFOUTBUJTGBDUJPOEVFUPXFBMUIQMBOOJOHQSPDFTT
t 1FSGPSNBODFJOBTTFUNBOBHFNFOUEPXODPNQBSFEXJUIQSJPS
years, but outperforms the benchmark over the longer term
t /FUJOGMPXJO"MB$BSUF"TTFU.BOBHFNFOUPGôCJMMJPO
t 'VSUIFSTIJGUGSPNBEWJDFUPNBOBHFNFOUJODSFBTFJOBTTFUT
under discretionary management compared with total assets
under management of Private & Business Banking from 27%
to 33%
t 3FMBUJWFMZTUSPOHHSPXUIBU7BO-BOTDIPU)FBMUIDBSF

Impairments

solidity as the basis for client confidence
2011 started off well for Private & Business Banking. However,
economic circumstances changed drastically in the summer owing
to the debt crisis in the European Union. The investment markets
were under great pressure, and this could be felt directly at
Private Banking. Clients conducted fewer transactions, and the
global stock market slump meant that assets under management
decreased. The main trends seen in 2011 were savings and paying
off debt. During the final quarter we saw a small net shift from
assets under management to savings. This had a positive impact
on Van Lanschot’s liquidity. In 2011, Van Lanschot once again
proved itself to be a sound bank that enjoys the confidence of its
clients.
Reduced transaction volumes on the stock markets meant that
commission was down, while market circumstances led to lower
interest income and less lending. Owing to the economic turmoil
and concerns about the future of the Dutch mortgage interest
relief system, an increasing number of clients decided to pay off
their mortgages in part or in full.
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Investing in communication and professional competence

In today’s uncertain market, communication with clients is more
important than ever before. Van Lanschot distinguishes itself
from other private banks by offering a complete range of services,
ranging from loans to payment services and asset management.
The starting point for individual services is wealth planning,
based on the client’s objectives. The client’s financial wishes are
identified and tested for feasibility, and any risks are discussed,
in a meeting with the client. By providing this service, we are able
to pick products and services from the range to create integrated
solutions and at the same time safeguard the interests of the client.
Wealth planning continued to be integrated into the organisation
in 2011. With wealth planning, the client’s financial situation is
discussed in conjunction with his or her financial objectives at
least once a year. This enables us to anticipate potential changes
and take prompt steps to modify the strategy where necessary.
The number of clients who were offered wealth planning
increased substantially during 2011. These clients in particular
showed higher levels of client satisfaction.
During the year under review a great deal of attention was also
paid to the professional expertise of the bankers. The teams’
specialisms were boosted by concentrating expertise and
professional knowledge in the areas of both business banking and
investment advice. In this way, specialists in the areas of financing,
investing and financial planning work together to provide the
client with an even better service. This is because expertise in the
areas of tax law and investing often has to be combined when
advising our clients.

private banking
Continued reﬁnement of service concepts

Van Lanschot continued to refine its service model and position
it more clearly in 2011. Van Lanschot now offers three different
service concepts specifically geared to the target group. Specialist
services to clients with assets in excess of € 10 million are now
rendered by Van Lanschot Private Office. Private Office offers
fully customised services in the field of investments, complex
financial problems, national and international structuring, and
banking services. It works closely with Kempen and Van Lanschot’s
foreign branch offices. Private Office also enjoyed strong growth
during the year under review, which was partly fuelled by the
branch network.
Clients with assets of between € 250,000 and € 10 million are
served by one of Van Lanschot’s regional branch offices. The
branch offices have all the expertise required to provide these
clients with the best possible advice. Thanks to the deployment
of a team of specialist private and business bankers, including
financing specialists, structurers and investment specialists, the
client’s specific wishes and traits can be anticipated effectively.
Priv@te Banking has been developed to provide an efficient,
improved service to clients with assets of up to € 250,000. The
product solutions for these clients consist of online products as
well as traditional banking products geared towards this client
group. The online services complement this service concept
perfectly.

Further shift towards asset management
Impact of stricter regulations

Personal tailormade services, customer care and transparency
are emphasized at Van Lanschot. The more stringent legislation
and regulations can lead to tension between the requirements set
by regulators and the wishes of clients. Clients who invest abroad
also need to comply with the legislation and regulations of the
relevant countries. US legislation in particular has become much
stricter. These developments place great demands on the bank’s
communications with its clients. Some clients see the increased
checks as adding to their administrative burden. The challenge
the bank faces is to ensure the statutory requirements are applied
in a way that serves the interests of the client and his or her
objectives.
The increased amount of information means we are able to
improve the identification of risks for clients. Moreover, we hold
personal meetings in which we endeavour to provide clients with
the clearest possible information on the products they can use to
achieve their financial objectives. Having regular contact with our
clients helps us obtain insight into the risks they are able or willing
to run and allows us to provide them with effective advice. Based
on this perspective, we have incorporated our customer care
policy in our ordinary working procedures.

The confidence that clients have in the investment solutions
offered by Van Lanschot could also be seen in the inflow of
new money and a further shift from advisory services to asset
management. Van Lanschot provides two types of services,
i.e. asset management and investment advice. Within asset
management we offer four options – A la Carte Asset Management,
Select Asset Management, VIPinvest and customised solutions –
working in close collaboration with Kempen’s investment specialists.
During the investment process they offer support with asset
allocation, diversification among different investment categories
and fund selection. One of the unique selling points of our asset
management concepts is the conscious decision to adopt a
uniform, fully transparent cost structure. Van Lanschot only earns
income from the management fees paid by asset management
clients. Van Lanschot passes on any net distribution fees from
fund operators to its clients.
In 2011 approximately 33% of total assets under management of
Van Lanschot clients were discretionary mandates (2010: 27%).
Assets under management for Private & Business Banking clients
rose from € 5.6 billion at the end of 2010 to € 6.1 billion. This
included net inflow of € 0.6 billion. The assets under management
at Private Banking include € 420 million from Business Banking.
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Assets under engagement (assets that are managed in a responsible
manner) increased significantly in the year under review, from
€ 2.0 billion at year-end 2010 to € 6.9 billion at year-end 2011.

We were unable to continue the impressive returns of 2009 and
2010 in asset management in the year under review. Our flagship
product within asset management, A la Carte, showed an
underperformance compared with the benchmark last year.
However, the 3-year performance of A la Carte (and previous
products) is still positive compared with the benchmark.

Van Lanschot’s service concepts

Priv@te Banking

Private & Business Banking

Private Office

Fiduciary management
Tailormade discretionairy management
Professional & Execution Only desk
Brokerage
A la Carte Asset Management
Investment Advisory Team

Select Asset Management
Private Banking Advisory

VIPinvest
Priv@te Banking Advisory
Execution Only

VIPinvest
Execution Only

Assets under management
< € 250,000

Assets under management
€ 250,000 to € 10,000,000

Assets under management > € 10,000,000

belgium
This year, clients in Belgium had a preference for cash investments
as a result of the uncertain financial markets. Deposits and securities
accounts thus posted the highest growth rates. Assets under
management saw a further increase in assets under discretionary
management. Operating profit increased again thanks to a slight
rise in interest and commission income, a lower addition to the
loan loss provision and stable costs.

In the field of business professionals and executives, such as
auditors, lawyers and directors of listed companies, we were very
successful in 2011 thanks to our unique offering (both in terms
of business and private products and services) which perfectly
suits the needs of these clients. These business professionals
are served by a single dedicated team that is fully aware of
the restrictions faced by this target group, such as compliance
restrictions in the field of investments. Our market share in this
segment has increased substantially.

business banking

A more structured approach to services to associations and
foundations was taken in 2011, based on the A la Carte Asset
Management concept. Each regional branch office now has a
specialist who serves these target groups and can provide
assistance in the areas of directors’ liability and investing.

The successful director-owner concept, in which services to
entrepreneurs are provided by bankers from Private & Business
Banking working as a team, was expanded further during the year
under review. The connection between Private & Business Banking
was substantially reinforced and the provision of services to
entrepreneurs and their businesses was fully integrated. Van Lanschot
continued to provide assistance to its clients, granting loans where
necessary, throughout what was a tough year from an economic
perspective. This led to an increase in client satisfaction at Business
Banking. In connection with this, Van Lanschot Business Finance saw
its ranking in the Incompany 100 Awards improve to second place.
The focus on family businesses could also be seen in the portfolios
of loans for non-target group clients, commercial property and
corporate clients, which continued to be scaled down in 2011.

Van Lanschot Healthcare

Van Lanschot Healthcare, which focuses on entrepreneurs in
the healthcare sector, such as pharmacists, dentists and medical
specialists, finally took shape in 2011. As a result, the successor to
CenE Bankiers is more easily recognised as part of Van Lanschot.
Thanks to the specialist knowledge it has in house, which has
been accrued over a period of more than 30 years, Van Lanschot
Healthcare also managed to achieve relatively strong growth
in 2011.
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Business Transfer Academy

The second programme organised as part of the Business Transfer
Academy (formerly the Opvolgersacademie, or Successors Academy)
was launched in 2011 with 13 participants. This updated
programme focuses on preparing for and planning a business
transfer and is designed for people taking over a business or the
successor as well as the person transferring the business. A
unique feature of this programme is that it also devotes a great
deal of attention to the psychological and emotional changes that
arise when a business is transferred. By following the programme
together, the person transferring the business and the successor
create a solid foundation for a smooth transfer.

complaints management
Van Lanschot aims to provide high-quality services and to pay
personal attention to the client. If we do not meet our clients’
expectations, we invite them to inform us about this. Clients
can either inform their banker or the Complaints Management
department. The members of the Board of Managing Directors
and the general managers also play an active role in complaints
handling. They are accessible and approachable for clients, and
believe it is important to personally respond to complaints.
We intend to learn as much as possible from complaints. For this
reason, the Complaints Management department analyses trends
and developments in complaints and reports on this to the Board
of Managing Directors and the general managers. This analysis
provides important information on how we can improve our
services.
In 2011, the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets
(AFM) examined complaints management at Van Lanschot within
the scope of the investigation into the principle ‘the client is key’.
The examination concentrated on six subjects relevant to
complaints management: leadership, policy and strategy, staff
and resources, evaluation and review (improvement of processes),
learning from complaints and communication. The AFM gave
Van Lanschot a good score for its complaints management,
i.e. 3.7 on a scale of 5. Positive aspects of our complaints
management according to the AFM are the involvement of senior
management, the way the process is structured, the analysis of
what causes complaints and subsequently our learning from
complaints. Areas for improvement concern communicating the
complaints management vision and objectives throughout the
organisation, and safeguarding the evaluation of the complaints
process. These areas for improvement will be tackled this year.
We will continue to increase our accessibility for clients in the event
of complaints and transparency in terms of complaints handling.

operational excellence
Van Lanschot aims for operational excellence: an excellent
performance of all processes within the bank, with the ultimate
goal of having satisfied clients. In order to achieve this, it is
important to use an integrated approach to product, process
and IT changes.

With this in mind, three Service Centres (Securities, Client Affairs
& Payments and Loans & Savings) became operational in 2011.
These three Service Centres each form a chain for the relevant
product and service group. This approach offers the following
advantages:
– Uniform responsibility for the principal client processes
– Uniform prioritisation of improvement initiatives
– Concentration of knowledge around products and processes
– Less coordination required among departments.
In the reporting year, we achieved the following:
– Sharp reduction in the number of savings products and bank
account conditions and transparent information supply
– Timely compliance with all principles of ‘the client is key’
and amended laws and regulations (Code of Conduct for
Mortgage Loans, Consumer Credit Guideline)
– Adjustment of product review process to the requirements
of future legislation in the field of product development,
where the theme ‘the client is key’ is leading
– Major step towards simplification of internal processes,
considerably reducing the risk of errors and reducing the
throughput time of loan applications and loan changes
– Introduction of one comprehensive annual statement for
each client, listing all products held at Van Lanschot, making
other statements (such as those on funds, securities income,
tax and mortgage data) superfluous.
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asset management
Ambition: to excel as a specialist in niches and aim for growth by achieving healthy investment returns for and
rendering excellent services to clients

priorities

financial performance
Asset Management

t $POUJOVBUJPOPGMPOHUFSNTUSBUFHZGPDVTJOHPOMJNJUFEOVNCFS
of investment niches
t 1SPBDUJWFBEWJTPSZSFMBUJPOTIJQTBOEJOUFOTJGJDBUJPOPGDPOUBDU
and communication with clients
t $POUJOVFESFJOGPSDFNFOUPGQPTJUJPOJOGJEVDJBSZBTTFUNBOBHFNFOU
t & YQBOTJPOPGQPTJUJPOBTJOWFTUNFOUCPVUJRVFBNPOHGPSFJHO
institutional investors

actions
t 'VSUIFSEFWFMPQNFOUPG1SJWBUF#BOLJOHNPEFMQPSUGPMJPT
t *OUSPEVDUJPOPG,FNQFO(MPCBM1SPQFSUZ'VOEBNFOUBM
Index® Fund
t 1FSTPOBMDPOUBDUT JOGPSNBUJWFNFFUJOHTBOEXJEFTQSFBE
deployment of information channels for clients
t 3FJOGPSDFNFOUPGNBSLFUQPTJUJPOJOGJEVDJBSZBTTFU
management in the Netherlands by means of acquisition of
new mandates
t /FXNBOEBUFTGSPNGPSFJHOJOTUJUVUJPOBMJOWFTUPST

(€ million)

2011

2010

Change
%

Interest
Income from securities and associates
Commission
Profit on financial transactions

–
–
49.7
– 0.1

0.3
– 0.3
49.8
0.2

– 100
– 100
–
– 150

Income from operating activities

49.6

50.0

–1

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

25.5
9.5
4.6

25.4
9.8
4.4

–
–3
5

Operating expenses

39.6

39.6

–

–

–

–

Total expenses

39.6

39.6

–

Operating profit before tax

10.0

10.4

–4

Impairments

results
t (SPXUIBDIJFWFEBHBJOJOBMMDMJFOUTFHNFOUT JFQFOTJPOGVOET 
insurance companies, banks, foundations and associations:
increase in number of clients. Net inflow of € 4.4 billion in new
assets
t *OGMPXPGOFXBTTFUTJOGJEVDJBSZBTTFUNBOBHFNFOUBTXFMMBT
in the niche products and model portfolios of Private Banking
t *ODSFBTFJOBTTFUTVOEFSNBOBHFNFOUGSPNôCJMMJPOUP
€ 18.2 billion
t (SPXUIJOGVOETFOUSVTUFEGPSGJEVDJBSZBTTFUNBOBHFNFOU 
rising 67% to € 10.3 billion, 92% of which related to new assets
t *ODSFBTFJOBTTFUTVOEFSNBOBHFNFOUGPSOJDIFQSPEVDUTUP
€ 7.9 billion

a sound strategy in a difficult market
Following a good first six months, Kempen Capital Management
(KCM), which performs the asset management activities for
institutional investors at Van Lanschot, also felt the impact of the
euro crisis. In the second half of the year, the investment results
achieved for our clients in absolute terms were negative almost
across the board. Despite the gloomy mood on the financial
markets, throughout the year KCM enjoyed a constant inflow of
new assets in our client solutions, investment funds and fiduciary
mandates, proving the soundness of our strategy, which we
adopted years ago. It furthermore shows that our clients, especially
pension funds, insurers, banks, associations and foundations,
have confidence in our approach.
KCM determines the asset class allocations for Private & Business
Banking and selects the funds for the model portfolios of the
A la Carte Asset Management, Select Asset Management and
VIPinvest asset management concepts. These are then converted
by Private & Business Banking into customised solutions for its
clients. In this way, private clients gain access to KCM’s specific
institutional investment knowhow. This is a unique selling point
for Van Lanschot as a private bank.
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During the year under review we started to differentiate between
associations and foundations and other types of clients within the
A la Carte Asset Management concept. The concept has become
more geared to the wishes, requirements and risk profiles of this
target group, and has now been made available to them through
Van Lanschot.

Communication with clients given top priority

The unusual market conditions created issues for many clients.
Pension funds saw their coverage ratios fall due to lower interest
rates and poor investment performance, and insurers saw their
solvency deteriorate. Against the backdrop of these uncertain
circumstances, KCM decided to keep on stepping up communication
with clients and provide them with timely, clear information on
the current situation on the market. We frequently provided our
clients with information on our vision, potential scenarios and
associated risks in the context of client-specific portfolios during
personal meetings and in regular conference calls.

Distinct investment style

Greater conﬁdence in ﬁduciary management

In 2011, KCM further strengthened its position as fiduciary
manager on the Dutch market. It obtained new fiduciary
mandates from Stichting Bedrijfstakpensioenfonds voor het
Levensmiddelenbedrijf, Yarden and a large private office. New
assets worth € 3.8 billion in total were entrusted to the Fiduciary
Management Team. Fiduciary management is a form of asset
management outsourcing with an emphasis on achieving
long-term objectives within a structured risk management
framework.

Awards for Kempen funds

Kempen funds continued to win awards during the year under
review. The Kempen Orange Fund, for example, won the 2011
FD Morningstar Award in the Dutch Equities category and the
2011 Lipper Award for the best Dutch equity fund over a
five-year and a ten-year period. This fund invests in Dutch small
and mid-caps. Two portfolio managers at KCM were nominated
by Morningstar analysts for awards, one for the best European
equity fund manager award, and the other for the best global
equity fund manager award.

KCM has had a strong focus and a clear investment vision for
many years. The five investment niches in which Kempen aims
to excel are European small caps, listed property funds, high
dividend shares, corporate bonds and absolute return strategies.
This investment approach incorporates a clear, responsible
investment strategy that pays a substantial amount of attention
to social aspects, environmental issues and corporate governance
for all clients.
Our strict focus continued to prove its worth in last year’s tough
market. Although most share strategies performed relatively well
in that they outperformed the benchmark, in many cases returns
were negative in absolute terms. The Kempen Global High Dividend
Fund was a notable exception, thanks to its defensive strategy on
dividends, among other things, in the declining equity markets,
and ended the year up in both absolute and relative terms.
Moreover, in the current tough market conditions it was
discovered that there is a clear interest in a fundamental
approach (involving an analysis of a combination of economic,
industrial and business-specific factors) to property investment.
For this reason, the Kempen Global Property Fundamental
Index® Fund was launched in 2011. In contrast to the normal
practice on the market, the Property Fundamental Index® is not
compiled on the basis of the market capitalisation of constituents.
Instead, weightings are based on fundamentals. As a
consequence, the index offers a more balanced and realistic
picture of the listed property sector. This investment fund
concentrates on property companies around the world, which
is in keeping with a trend among clients towards portfolios that
are more globally oriented. The fund now has € 136 million in
assets under management. We also strengthened our position
in the investment niches by obtaining mandates from institutional
investors based outside the Netherlands, such as a large Finnish
pension fund and a major British asset manager.

responsible investment strategy
When it comes to investing responsibly, KCM pursues
a strategy of engagement. This means that companies
or funds that fail to comply with the sustainability
requirements that have been set can be called to account
for this. KCM has set up an advisory body, the ESG
Council, to monitor responsible investment. ESG stands
for ‘Environmental, Social and Governance’, and the
council reviews progress made with regard to engagement
with external fund managers, based on reports published
by GES Investment Services (GES), based in Sweden.
The reports are used as a basis for advising the fund
managers. If a fund manager fails to follow the advice
provided, KCM may decide to stop working with that
fund manager. The ESG Council also monitors the
progress made by KCM on implementing the Principles
for Responsible Investment (PRI). The ESG Council is
made up of a number of in-house specialists plus
representatives of GES and the European Centre for
Corporate Engagement (ECCE), a research consortium
set up by experts connected with Maastricht University
and Erasmus University Rotterdam.
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corporate finance &
securities
Ambition: to excel in chosen niches

priorities

financial performance
Corporate Finance & Securities

t #SPBEFOJOHBOEEFFQFOJOHPGTFSWJDFTGSPNFYJTUJOHDPSFBDUJWJUJFT
t (SFBUFSDPMMBCPSBUJPOCFUXFFO$PSQPSBUF'JOBODFBOE
Securities in Equity Capital Markets team
t 1SFTFSWBUJPOPGJOUFOTJUZPGDMJFOUSFMBUJPOTIJQNBOBHFNFOU
t (MPCBMJTBUJPOBOETQFDJBMJTBUJPOXJUIJOUIFDIPTFOOJDIFT
t *NQSPWFNFOUPGFGGJDJFODZPGUIFPSHBOJTBUJPOBOERVBMJUZ
of work

actions
t 4USFOHUIFOJOHPG$PSQPSBUF'JOBODFQSPQFSUZUFBNXJUI
research analysts from Securities
t &YQBOTJPOPGBDUJWJUJFTBCSPBE

(€ million)

2011

2010

Change
%

Interest
Income from securities and associates
Commission
Profit on financial transactions

3.3
– 0.6
47.3
– 3.5

2.9
– 0.3
49.7
7.4

14
– 100
–5
–

Income from operating activities

46.5

59.7

– 22

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

26.0
10.0
5.9

29.4
12.2
5.8

– 12
– 18
2

Operating expenses

41.9

47.4

– 12

1.2

1.9

– 37

43.1

49.3

– 13

3.4

10.4

– 67

results
Impairments

t 4VDDFTTGVMKPJOUUSBOTBDUJPOTCZ$PSQPSBUF'JOBODFBOE
Securities
t )JHIFSSFWFOVFBOEQSPGJUTEFSJWFEGSPNGPSFJHOUSBOTBDUJPOT
t *ODSFBTFJOOVNCFSPGGPSFJHOMFBETBOEUSBOTBDUJPOT
t 7BSJPVTGJSTUBOETFDPOEQMBDFSBOLJOHTJO5IPNTPO3FVUFST
Extel ratings

Total expenses
Operating profit before tax

corporate finance

major capital market transactions in 2011

Corporate Finance focused on capital market transactions in the
first six months of 2011. During the second half of the year the
capital market stagnated owing to the turmoil on the financial
markets, and there was a shift in emphasis towards merger and
acquisition transactions and restructurings. Corporate Finance
managed to maintain its usual level of income and improve
profitability thanks to its strict niche strategy combined with its
diverse package of services. Corporate Finance continued to invest
in five core sectors. These are life sciences & healthcare, utilities,
renewables & cleantech, construction, maritime & offshore,
financial institutions and property.

In the property sector, Corporate Finance provided
support to GSW Immobilien, a German property company,
as part of its IPO, which was the largest property-related
IPO in Germany for five years. In addition, it provided
support for the IPO of Prime Office, a German property
fund, and the share issues of Switzerland’s Mobimo and
Germany’s TAG Immobilien. In the life sciences &
healthcare sector, Corporate Finance handled a successful
share placement for 4SC, a German biopharmaceutical
company, and supervised the share issues of the BelgianDutch diagnostics company MDxHealth, the Swedish
biotech company BioInvent, and TiGenix, a Belgian
biomedical company. Corporate Finance also acted as
adviser to TiGenix in its merger with Spain’s Cellerix.
In addition, the ECM team provided Karolinska
Development with assistance in its successful share issue.

The collaboration with Securities and the European orientation
also contributed to the positive results. In addition, Corporate
Finance managed to achieve further improvements in efficiency
during the year under review.
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ECM team proves a success

Within the aforementioned niches, Corporate Finance provides
independent advice and support in mergers and acquisitions,
capital market transactions and financial restructurings. The
decision that Corporate Finance and Securities should join forces
in the area of capital market transactions and create a joint Equity
Capital Markets (ECM) team, which was taken in 2010, resulted in
a number of successful capital market transactions during the year
under review. Thanks to the ECM team, Kempen is now able to
present itself as a strong player with integrated services: Kempen
can provide clients with advice and support as well as handle
trading on their behalf.
Kempen is active, through various products in its core sectors,
in a growing number of European countries, and so a substantial
proportion of income came from foreign transactions in 2011.
This is in keeping with Kempen’s ambition of expanding its
activities abroad based on its niche strategy.
Most of the capital market transactions in which the ECM team
was involved were in the life sciences & healthcare and property
sectors. Corporate Finance also enjoyed success in the area of
mergers and acquisitions in 2011. Advisory services were provided
to VastNed (merger with Nieuwe Steen Investments (NSI)),
Prologis (acquisition of PEPR), Qiagen (acquisition of Ipsogen),
IK Investment Partners (acquisition of Doedijns International) and
Synthon (acquisition of Syntarga). Corporate Finance’s strategy for
2012 is to continue to work on the further internationalisation of
mergers and acquisitions within the chosen niches.

securities enjoys international appreciation
In 2011, Kempen once again achieved high scores in all
relevant categories in the Thomson Reuters Extel Survey,
a leading client satisfaction survey of more than one
thousand global institutional investors. In the Benelux,
Securities is considered the best team for Benelux Country
Analysis and the best sales specialist for small and mid-cap
Benelux equities. Securities is also in the top three when it
comes to European property, and it was voted the best
broker in Europe for the third time running by listed
property companies. Such recognition proves that
investors acknowledge we are experts in our niches.
Clients appreciate our independent, in-depth research,
and the above is a reflection of this.

Securities also uses its specialist sector knowledge and research
to develop investment products for Private & Business Banking
clients. In 2011, this led to the introduction of a number of
successful new products. During the first six months the emphasis
was on issues of notes (Dutch Trigger Note, Floored Floater and
Deep Barrier Note II), while in the second half of the year Securities concentrated primarily on making further improvements in
the efficiency of the notes issue process at Van Lanschot.

Expansion within property niche
Investments in niches

With regard to investments in the utilities, renewables & cleantech
sector, the focus in 2011 was primarily on the development of
cleantech. Expertise was contributed by Securities during the year
under review, just as it had been in the property sector, and this
collaboration resulted in the publication of the first extensive
research report on the sector. We expect that this collaboration
will bear fruit in 2012. Within the financial institutions sector, our
services were focused more specifically on financial services and
mortgage portfolios. Among other things, we sold the mortgage
portfolios of DSB Germany and Fortress.

securities
The gloom on the stock markets, which was caused by the euro
crisis, had a marked impact on operations at Securities. There
were hardly any opportunities left for capital market transactions,
particularly in the second half of the year. Securities continued
to implement its niche strategy during the year under review, by,
among other things, integrating Sales and Research. Securities has
large market shares in all niches. It even managed to improve its
trading position in the property niche and in the Benelux niche.
For example, the number of top 3 positions in the AMX index (the
mid cap index of the Amsterdam stock market) increased by 10%,
and in the property sector by almost 30%.

In the property niche, Kempen has coverage on around 50 European
property companies. It increased the number of British property
equities it covers during the year under review. Kempen wants
to continue its expansion within this niche in future and acquire
new specialisations within a European context. As investors are
showing more and more interest in European cleantech companies,
we consider this niche to be a growth market and we will continue
to focus on it in future, together with Corporate Finance.
In the course of the year, we had to give up our ambition of
positioning ourselves as a broker in the market for commercial
mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) and listed property bonds.
Owing to the tough market conditions, there were insufficient
opportunities in the capital market for these segments to build
up a long-term client business in these areas. After analysing the
market, Securities decided to terminate its activities related to
CMBS and listed property bonds.

Valuable international contacts

Securities is a leading player when it comes to bringing investors
and listed companies together. We reinforced this position during
the year under review by arranging conferences for all niches and
organising over 200 seminars and roadshows in Europe and the
United States.
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risk, capital & liquidity
management
main risk issues for van lanschot
1. Van Lanschot is a private bank with a strong emphasis on
wealth management and investment advice. As a consequence,
Van Lanschot’s results are affected by fluctuations on the financial
markets. Major shocks on the financial markets can have an
adverse impact on Van Lanschot’s results.
2. The drivers of returns in the area of asset management are
undergoing a radical change. Margins are decreasing, and at the
same time clients are demanding more and more in terms of
efficient services. Products, processes and services need to be
modified in response to these trends.
3. Increasing levels of legislation and regulation mean major
investments and a great deal of work for a bank of Van Lanschot’s
size. These put the bank’s profitability under pressure.
4. The introduction of Basel III will increase demand among
financial institutions for capital and liquidity. Based on current
interpretations, Van Lanschot complies fully with current and
future requirements.
5. Van Lanschot is primarily active in the Netherlands and Belgium.
There is a high level of state involvement in both of these markets.
Direct competitors are in receipt of state support, making the
state not only the legislator and the regulator, but also a
shareholder and an investor. This has an adverse impact on
Van Lanschot’s competitive position.
6. The economic recovery seen in 2010 did not continue, and the
European economy is again in recession. This will lead
to further loan losses. In connection with this, Van Lanschot is
keeping a particularly close eye on commercial property in the
loan portfolio. Higher vacancy rates and a faltering economic
recovery could lead to substantial loan losses in this sector.
7. Van Lanschot’s loan portfolio is largely financed from funds
entrusted by clients. This is reflected in the high funding ratio.
The high level of demand for liquidity from the banking sector
has created fierce competition for savings. In addition, the lack of
mutual confidence means it is difficult and expensive for banks to
obtain funding on the money and capital market, which puts the
bank’s interest margin under pressure.
8. Some parts of Van Lanschot’s IT infrastructure are not fully up
to standard, which limits functionality. This may eventually lead
to less efficient services and a deterioration in the bank’s
competitive position.
9. Social norms and legal requirements relating to the duty of care
have increased substantially, and they will continue to become
more rigorous. This means that Van Lanschot has to adapt
constantly in order to comply with the new norms. If it fails to
do so on time, this could lead to claims being filed, fines being
imposed, and damage to its reputation.

priorities
t $MPTFBUUFOUJPOUPBDDFQUJOHBOEBEWJTJOHDMJFOUT
t "QSVEFOUMFOEJOHQPMJDZBOEBTPVOEDBQJUBMBOEMJRVJEJUZ
position
t 4BGFHVBSETUPFOTVSFUIFTUBCJMJUZBOEDPOUJOVJUZPG*5
infrastructures

actions
t *ODSFBTFEGPDVTPOSJTLNBOBHFNFOUBTPQQPTFEUPHSPXUI
t *NQSPWFNFOUTEFTJHOFEUPNBLF*5TZTUFNTNPSFSPCVTU
t4DBMJOHEPXOPGMPBOT SFEVDUJPOPGDSFEJUMJNJUTGPSOPOUBSHFU
group clients
t*NQMFNFOUBUJPOPGUSBOTGFSQSJDJOHTZTUFNCBTFEPONBSLFU
interest rates
t4USFOHUIFOJOHPGMJRVJEJUZQPTJUJPO
t'PDVTPOUIFDMJFOUBOJOUFHSBMQBSUPGQSPEVDUEFWFMPQNFOU

results
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and Fitch Ratings
t 'VOEJOHSBUJP
t -JRVJEJUZCVGGFSPWFSôCJMMJPO

risk management
Van Lanschot’s risk framework

Although the crisis had seemed to have bottomed out at the
end of 2010, uncertainty on the financial markets and among
consumers returned to new heights in mid-2011. This had a major
impact on share prices in the financial markets and on economic
growth, and hence also on risk for banks. Banks devoted more
attention to risk and compliance within their own organisations,
and nations tried to get to grips with risks in the financial sector
by means of supplementary legislation and regulations. However,
the economic crisis has made it difficult for banks to improve
their liquidity and solvency positions from internal and external
sources. In addition, more demanding clients and technological
developments are having a major impact on the sector. These
trends, given their nature and size, have created a number of risk
issues (see main risk issues on the left) that are, to a great extent,
comparable to the issues identified last year.
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Van Lanschot is aware of the aforementioned risks and is, as a
medium-sized bank, taking steps to mitigate their negative
effects. Although the main risks arise as a result of external
factors, the amount of attention paid to risks arising from the
bank’s own organisation has risen sharply. Thorough client
acceptance procedures, sound advice for clients, a prudent
lending policy and a solid capital and liquidity position are
therefore vital in the current situation. Van Lanschot improved its
liquidity and solvency position in 2011. In addition, it is paying
more attention to processes, systems, risk management,
compliance and customer care in order to gain greater control
and continue to meet the demands of stakeholders. Van Lanschot
also needs to be on the alert in a broader sense so that it can
respond promptly and properly to rapidly changing
circumstances.
Van Lanschot has demonstrated in recent years that it is capable
of doing this, without any state support. Van Lanschot has a
healthy financial position and a sound risk framework, and strives
to minimise sensitivity to external factors. This is reflected in
a substantial shift from investment advice to asset management,
transparency in terms of fees, extensive advisory processes,
and constant attention for the wishes and needs of clients.
Van Lanschot is at the forefront as far as this is concerned.
Lending activities are now seen even more as supporting private
banking activities, as a result of which levels of lending have
declined, in relative terms.

Sound proﬁle

During the year under review the European Financial Stability
Fund (EFSF) provided financial support to three EU member
states, i.e. Greece, Ireland and Portugal. Developments surrounding
the stability fund resulted in great uncertainty again on the stock
markets. During the first half of the year prices were relatively
stable compared with 2010, but they fell sharply after the summer,
and once the extent of Greece’s debt problems was revealed. The
possibility of Greece defaulting and concerns about the impact
this would have on macro-economic trends within the eurozone
led to high levels of stock market volatility in the reporting year.
Van Lanschot anticipated this uncertainty early on and decided
to focus its policy more on risk management rather than growth
during the year under review. Van Lanschot for instance has no
positions in European periphery countries, i.e. Greece, Ireland,
Italy, Portugal and Spain, and placed its liquidity surpluses with
the European Central Bank. The capital base and liquidity position
were strengthened as a result of various measures, which led to
the targets in this area being achieved. In the short term, this
focus on risk and solidity had an adverse impact on profitability.
Van Lanschot’s risk appetite has been embedded as a key control
mechanism. Its risk management is aimed at ensuring the bank’s
risk/return profile continues to be optimised in the future while
retaining the objectives in the area of solidity.
The sound profile was reconfirmed by the rating agencies
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Ratings. At the end of 2011, when
many banks and national governments were downgraded, they
once again assigned Van Lanschot an A minus rating with a stable
outlook.

The success of the placement of senior bonds worth € 500 million
with institutional investors in April 2011 shows that the market
also has confidence in Van Lanschot.

Van Lanschot’s risk appetite

Van Lanschot’s ambition of being the best private bank of the
Netherlands and Belgium is reflected in the bank’s risk appetite.
As a reliable private bank should boast solid capital and liquidity
ratios, Van Lanschot can be expected to have better capital ratios
than large banks.
The risk appetite can be summarised as follows:
Against the background of its aim to be the best private bank of the
Netherlands and Belgium, with stable profitability and a solid profile,
Van Lanschot only takes risks it understands. The balance sheet is for the
client and Van Lanschot avoids risks that threaten the bank’s stability
and solidity.
Van Lanschot evaluates its risk appetite every year. A formal
framework that clearly lays down roles and responsibilities
has been set up to guarantee that the risk appetite is firmly
embedded throughout the organisation. Once a year, the Board
of Managing Directors sets out the risk appetite in detail, in the
form of strategic risk limits, in a separate policy document that
is submitted to the Supervisory Board for assessment.
The Board of Managing Directors assesses on a quarterly basis
the extent to which the defined risk appetite has been adhered
to. This opinion is submitted to the Supervisory Board for
assessment every six months, in the form of a management letter.
The risk appetite is based on:
1. defined strategy, objectives and core values
2. having a Single A (stable outlook) external credit rating
3. profitability throughout the cycle, accompanied by a
consistent dividend policy
4. no damage to Van Lanschot’s reputation
5. compliance with regulatory requirements.

Credit risk
Bad debt risk

Credit risk is usually one of the greatest risks to which the bank
is exposed. Although the past year was extremely turbulent from
a financial and economic perspective, Van Lanschot managed
to reduce its concentration in individual loans. Loans with an amount
outstanding in excess of 5% of the qualifying capital were scaled back
significantly. Approximately half of bank lending is in the form of
standard mortgages for residential property, but property is also
overrepresented in the other half as well. This portfolio is not growing
any more in absolute terms, but as the number of non-target group
clients (institutional healthcare, large businesses) has been scaled
back, the share of the portfolio that is accounted for by property has
risen in relative terms. Loan loss provisions fell further in the first half
of 2011, continuing the trend seen in 2010. Unfortunately, clients
were evidently also affected by the sharp economic downturn in
the second half of 2011, and this in turn had consequences for
Van Lanschot’s loan loss provisions. Based on the view that the
balance sheet is for the benefit of clients, Van Lanschot looked even
more critically at loans and advances during the year under review.
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Van Lanschot’s primary target group consists of high net-worth
individuals plus director-owners and their businesses. The focus
on target group clients has led to a drop of € 1.1 billion in
amounts owed by clients. There was a rise in the relative risk
profile of the loan portfolio in 2011. The portfolio’s rating
distribution showed a similar trend to economic developments.
The loan portfolio and credit risk are concentrated in the
Netherlands to a great extent (Kempen and the foreign branch
offices have a small loan portfolio with a low risk profile).
Mortgages

Approximately half of Van Lanschot’s loan portfolio (51%)
consists of mortgages (2010: 48%). Losses on mortgages have
been very low, and additions to loan loss provisions amounted
to some 6 basis points of average risk-weighted assets. A large
proportion of mortgage clients also have savings or investments
at Van Lanschot. The risk on such mortgages is calculated using
the Advanced IRB (A-IRB) approach. The risk of default used
to calculate the minimum capital requirements for individual
mortgages is considerably higher than the actual default rates
seen so far. This fact underscores the cautious approach taken
by Van Lanschot.
Commercial property

Van Lanschot keeps a particularly close eye on commercial
property in the loan portfolio owing to the relative level of such
lending and problems in the Dutch property sector, such as higher
vacancy rates and falling rental income. In 2011, the total value
of the corporate loan portfolio declined by 18%. The commercial
property portfolio lagged behind this trend. As a consequence,
there was a relative increase in the level of concentration in
commercial property (18%, compared with 16% in 2010). This
level of concentration is high given the current strategy and the
defined risk appetite. For this reason, Van Lanschot is actively
pursuing a policy to reduce commercial property loans.
The management of this portfolio has been stepped up, and
trends in the portfolio are closely monitored on a quarterly basis.
Additional action is also taken if there are grounds to do so.
Opportunities to reduce this percentage will, however, be limited
in the current economic climate, just as they were in 2010.
At year-end 2011, the loan to value (LTV) ratio of the commercial
property portfolio was 69.8% (2010: 71.5%). Approximately 7%
of the portfolio had an LTV ratio in excess of 100% (2010: 9%).
The deteriorating conditions on the market have been taken
into account wherever possible when making these calculations.
In many cases, this increased credit risk has been reduced by the
provision of additional security or by strong parties acting as
guarantors for the loan. Over 62% of the loan portfolio has an
LTV ratio of less than 75%. The debt-service coverage ratio (DSCR)
is calculated to determine the extent to which a client will be able
to pay interest and make loan repayments from the rental income
generated by the commercial property. Of the total amount
outstanding, 86% relates to loans with a ratio over 1, which means
that the rental income from property financed by us is sufficient
to cover interest payments and loan repayments. Clients with a
ratio of less than one often have other income they can use to
meet their obligations under a property loan.

Commercial property primarily consists of business premises
(41%), offices (23%) and housing (16%). The overall vacancy rate
is just 7% (2010: 7%). Van Lanschot does not expect to see any
signs of recovery in this part of the loan portfolio in 2012.
Impaired loans

Impaired loans are loans for which a provision has been formed.
At year-end 2011, impaired loans accounted for 3% of the loan
portfolio (2010: 4%). A provision equal to 47% of these loans
was formed (2010: 38%), bringing the total amount provided for
to € 205 million (€ 218 million including IBNR). The addition to
provisions in 2011 was slightly higher than was expected in the
first half of 2011, and stood at € 64 million (2010: € 87 million).
At the same time, there was a sharp decline in clients being
transferred to the Recovery Section, in terms of both the amount
outstanding and the number of loans. However, there were few
signs of recovery among the clients the Section was already
dealing with.
The provisions are affected to a great extent by concentration in
large individual loans. The economic crisis has had a considerable
impact on a number of Van Lanschot’s major clients. The ten
largest provisions account for 50% of total provisions, and this
has a relatively strong effect on Van Lanschot’s results. Van Lanschot
pursued an active policy aimed at reducing the highest limits in
an effort to minimise such concentration effects in the future.
As a consequence, the 20 highest limits were reduced by 13%
in 2011, having already been reduced by 22% in 2010.
Strict selection criteria for new clients and active credit
management for existing clients safeguard the quality of the loan
portfolio. The lending activities are based on the premise that
they should support Van Lanschot’s ambition of being the
best private bank in the Netherlands and Belgium. Loans are
individually assessed to determine whether they are in keeping
with Van Lanschot’s strategy.
Credit risk due to investment portfolio

Van Lanschot’s investment portfolio is held for liquidity purposes.
This means investments are made chiefly in solid Triple A rated
bonds that are either issued or guaranteed by governments and
currently also in a highly diversified portfolio of covered bonds.
Van Lanschot does not have any government bonds issued by
European periphery countries or any other countries that got into
trouble during the past year due to deteriorated ratings. It was
therefore unaffected by sharp falls in prices in these markets,
and it will continue to be unaffected in future.
Basel II

In the past few years, Van Lanschot has put a great deal of effort
into the professionalisation of credit risk management. To this
end, Internal Ratings Based (IRB) models have been developed to
calculate the capital that has to be held for credit risk purposes.
Van Lanschot’s loan portfolio can roughly be split into two
portfolios, i.e. a retail portfolio that chiefly comprises mortgages
and a non-retail portfolio of customised loans to businesses
and private individuals. Since 1 July 2010, the minimum capital
requirement of the retail portfolio has been calculated using
the IRB approach. In 2011, the Dutch Central Bank granted
supplementary approval for the application of the IRB approach
for two non-retail models.
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The most important approval concerns the model for commercial
property clients. At the end of 2011, approximately 73% of the
portfolio was calculated according to the IRB approach.
The remainder of the non-retail portfolio is expected to migrate
to the IRB approach in 2012. This will mark the completion of the
changeover to a more risk-sensitive approach to credit risk under
Basel II.

Interest rate risk

Various methods are used to measure interest rate risk at
Van Lanschot. The interest rate sensitivity of equity is measured
using duration analyses, gap analyses and simulations. Duration is
a measure of the sensitivity of the bank’s equity to interest rate
ﬂuctuations. Van Lanschot pursues a cautious interest rate policy.
This is reflected in the application of the duration.
The Asset & Liability Committee (ALCO) actively manages the
duration of equity by means of movements in the investment
portfolio and interest rate swaps, among other things. Based on
its view on interest rates for the first half of 2011 and the turmoil
on the markets, the ALCO took active steps aimed at lowering
the duration in order to reduce vulnerability to interest rate
shocks. In connection with this, a bandwidth of four to seven
years currently applies. Thanks to active management and a flat
yield curve, the duration was 5.2 years at the end of 2011. In a
dynamic simulation, the consolidated net interest income is
calculated for a 12-month period, taking account of the expected
development of the balance sheet and the interest rates. This
simulation is used to determine the impact of various scenarios
on interest income. In one of these scenarios, for example, pressure
increases in the savings market and a higher rate of interest has
to be paid on savings. Fluctuations in the interest margin in the
event of declining and rising interest rates and various scenarios
playing out are reported to the ALCO on a monthly basis.

Operational risk

Operational risks relate to direct or indirect losses due to
inadequacies or shortcomings in internal processes, people and
systems or to external events. To control such risks, Van Lanschot
uses a broad-based operational risk management framework.
It has set up various processes to identify threats and the
associated risks that could be caused by detrimental events.
In addition, Van Lanschot collects information on incidents that
have occurred in order that the control of key processes can
be improved. Given the high level of automation, and heavy
dependency on automation, Van Lanschot’s operational risk
management framework gives prominence to information
security and business continuity. Controlling the risks associated
with information technology is becoming increasing important.
Not only is there a growing dependency on IT systems, the level
of risk also continues to grow, for example in the form of
computer crime.
The management teams of individual departments and units are
responsible for managing specific operational risks as the risks can
vary and risks need to be managed as close to the source as possible.

Van Lanschot’s Operational Risk Management department
plays an active, independent role in the process of identifying,
measuring, monitoring and controlling operational risks, and it
reports on this to the bank’s senior management. Van Lanschot
has taken out insurance to cover certain operational risks.

Compliance

Given Van Lanschot’s ambition to be the best private bank in the
Netherlands and Belgium, the guiding principle that the interests
of clients take centre stage and more stringent requirements
imposed by regulators (the Dutch Central Bank and the
Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets), a great deal
of time is being spent on a radical restructuring of the bank’s
processes, procedures, operating instructions and reporting
procedures, including modifications to the IT systems.
Improvements to advisory services include the Customer Due
Diligence (CDD) process as well as improvements to wealth
planning, mortgage advice and investment advice. A detailed
step-by-step plan is used as a basis for providing advice to clients
in a structured way. This should result in the best possible advice
for clients that is appropriate for the client in question, provides
added value for the client, and can be reconstructed and reproduced
by the bank. During 2011 a great deal of progress was made in the
area of CDD and preparations were made so that the aforementioned
improvements can be implemented in 2012. Much effort was also
spent implementing the requirements of the Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act (FATCA).
In view of the increase in legislation and regulations relating to
CDD requirements, the Board of Managing Directors decided to
reorganise the compliance function. As a result, the compliance
function at Van Lanschot is now more broadly implemented.
The creation of the Compliance & Supervision department offers
the following benefits:
– a single point of contact for all compliance-related matters,
created by the amalgamation of the Compliance, Customer
Care and Business Control departments
– greater effectiveness owing to the deployment of local
compliance officers within the business
– improved monitoring and early warnings for the business
– enhanced quality due to higher levels of expertise within the
compliance function.

liquidity management
After the costs associated with Greek government bonds
increased, costs also rose in the second half of 2011 for Italy and
a number of other countries in southern Europe. Politicians and
central banks have not yet managed to come up with sustainable
solutions for this situation to permanently pacify the markets.
Given disappointing macro-economic figures from around
the world, the markets are expected to remain unstable. In the
Netherlands, 2011 saw a rise in short-term interest rates but not
long-term interest rates, which caused the yield curve to flatten
out. More stringent regulations in the area of liquidity have
increased demand among banks for savings, and this has pushed
up savings rates.
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Van Lanschot pursues a cautious liquidity policy, which is in line
with its strategic goal of maintaining a solid profile. In 2011
Van Lanschot continued its policy of maintaining a healthy liquidity
position. Exhaustive tests were performed, using liquidity stress
testing, to assess the extent to which Van Lanschot would be able
to cope if clients were to withdraw unexpectedly large amounts
of funds. The results of these tests confirm the bank’s strong
liquidity position.
In 2011, Van Lanschot finalised the pilot for a transfer pricing
system based on market interest rates; this system was
implemented in early 2012. The new system is helping to bring
about improvements in the fee structures for products and
increase their transparency, which involves pricing liquidity
as well as the interest component. It also provides information
on earnings and enables commercial units to be run better.
Despite difficult market conditions, Van Lanschot managed to
carry on increasing its liquidity position in 2011 and hence ensure
it has a sound position. One of the distinguishing features of
private banks such as Van Lanschot is that the balance sheet exists
for the benefit of clients. This is reflected in a high funding ratio,
which stood at 91.8% at the end of December. This demonstrates
that the bank’s loans and advances are mostly financed by funds
entrusted by clients. In addition, specific attention was paid to
diversification, maturities and the independence of the bank’s
funding:
– In February, Van Lanschot closed Citadel 2011-I. This RMBS
transaction amounted to € 1.5 billion and improved liquidity.
– In April, Van Lanschot issued an unsecured loan of
€ 500 million with a three-year term.
– In the same month, Van Lanschot issued a Trigger Note of
approximately € 65 million with a three-year term.

–
–

A Floored Floater of approximately € 90 million with a
ten-year term was issued in May.
In the third quarter, Van Lanschot presented investors with
the option of converting their perpetual capital securities
from 2004 and 2005. As part of this, € 170.8 million was
converted into cash payments and € 89.4 million into senior
bonds.

The bank’s fixed interest portfolio is primarily held for liquidity
purposes and is worth some € 1.3 billion. At year-end 2011,
65% of the portfolio consisted of Dutch government bonds as
well as bonds issued by banks and guaranteed by the Dutch state.
There were no investments in government bonds of Portugal,
Ireland, Italy, Greece or Spain.
The ALCO supervises the implementation and execution of the
liquidity and funding policy and the plans derived from this policy.
With regard to the execution of transactions, the Committee
supervises compliance with relevant guidelines and objectives,
particularly in relation to the capital structure, capital ratios and
funding. At year-end 2011, Van Lanschot had a liquidity buffer of
over € 3 billion, covering the funding need for the coming years
(refer to graph below).

Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process

Following on from the ICAAP (Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process), Van Lanschot executed the ILAAP (Internal
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process), based on the ILAAP
guidelines of the Dutch Central Bank, for the first time in the
autumn of 2011. Institutions supervised by the Dutch Central
Bank are required to demonstrate, based on their own liquidity
planning and own stress scenarios, the adequacy of their liquidity
buffer in the short term and their ability to maintain it in the long
term. The Dutch Central Bank will periodically assess the ILAAP
by means of a Supervisory Review & Evaluation Process (SREP).

Funding profile by maturity date (€ million, at 31 December 2011)
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The ILAAP was developed following close consultation between
the Financial Control and Treasury departments. The Dutch
Central Bank has, in the meantime, reviewed the ILAAP and
issued a positive response. In 2012, the test will be developed
further and adjusted where necessary. The results of the stress
test show that Van Lanschot is able to cope well with potential
liquidity stress in a market stress scenario, a bank-specific scenario
and a combined scenario. These results therefore justify the
conclusion that Van Lanschot is well able to withstand liquidity
stress based on its current liquidity buffer and opportunities for
funding.

capital management
Stress testing

Van Lanschot applies the following objectives for stress testing:
– Testing whether the banking positions are still appropriate
compared with the desired risk profile
– Testing whether the calculated capital is sufficient to absorb
a loss in the case of a stress situation
– Gaining insight into the most important risk components,
in order to improve the management of risks
– Rendering account to external stakeholders such as rating
agencies, external auditors and regulators.

The leverage represents the ratio between Tier I capital and total
assets. The requirements specify a maximum leverage of 33.
Van Lanschot’s pro forma leverage was 19 at year-end 2011,
with which it more than meets this standard.
In addition to the leverage, two new liquidity ratios were
introduced: the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the Net
Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR). The LCR serves as a short-term
indicator. The objective is to indicate whether an institution is
able to meet its short-term obligations during a 30-day period
under a severe stress scenario. For the NSFR, a horizon of more
than one year is assumed, indicating to what extent the available
stable funding covers the long-term loans. For both ratios, the
minimum requirement will be 100%. Banks have until 2015 to
meet the LCR requirement and until 2018 to meet the NSFR
requirement. In the years to come, the bank will refine these
models. Based on the current rules at year-end 2011, Van Lanschot
already meets the minimum requirements set. In 2011, Van Lanschot
developed first-generation models for the calculation of the LCR
and NSFR based on the information currently available. At year-end
2011, the pro forma LCR was 149% and the pro forma NSFR 104%.

Developments in risk-weighted assets (RWA)

The RWA declined by € 0.7 billion (2010: by € 2.2 billion) to
€ 11.0 billion in 2011. Due to its continued focus on private
banking and the trend among clients to repay their mortgage
debts early, Van Lanschot experienced a decline in RWA in 2011.

European Banking Authority stress test

In July 2011, the European Banking Authority announced the
results of the stress test. Van Lanschot carried out this stress
test on its own initiative. The strong outcome of this test can be
attributed to the bank’s healthy funding and liquidity position
and solid capital position. Under the adverse stress scenario, the
Core Tier I ratio is 9.7% at year-end 2012 (compared with 9.6%
at year-end 2010). In this scenario, Van Lanschot continues to
post a net profit.

Developments in qualifying capital

Basel III

Tier I capital

The credit crisis showed that the current Basel II capital
framework was flawed in certain respects. The new Basel III
framework comprises both macro and micro prudential elements
and provides for:
– an improvement in the quality of the capital base of banks
– an improvement of the risk coverage of capital, such as that
for securitisations
– the introduction of a maximum leverage
– a reduction of procyclicity and systemic risk by imposing
additional capital requirements.

Tier I capital amounted to € 1.2 billion at year-end 2011, compared
with € 1.4 billion at year-end 2010. Due to the exchange and tender
offers on the perpetuals, the share of hybrid instruments declined
from € 301 million to € 36 million and comprises two outstanding
portions of the perpetual loans.

The Basel III standards will gradually be introduced throughout
the period 2013 to 2018.
Under the new rules, the minimum requirement for the
Common Equity Ratio will be 4.5%, after a two-year transitional
period, with effect from 1 January 2015. Basel III also contains
measures stimulating banks to boost capital above the minimum
requirements. Moreover, a number of new ratios will be introduced.

Core capital

In 2011, the core capital increased from € 1.1 billion to
€ 1.2 billion. This increase can be attributed to:
– the € 39 million gain on the purchase of the perpetuals
– the addition of retained earnings to capital for an amount
of € 28 million, and
– the decrease in deductions of € 12 million by virtue of the
sale of Robein.

Other qualifying capital

In the past year, the lower Tier II capital (subordinated loans)
declined by € 107 million to € 124 million, in particular as a result
of the repayment of the subordinated bond loan of € 100 million.
In addition, the deduction was € 30 million higher due to the
increase in the shortfall.
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corporate responsibility
To Van Lanschot, corporate responsibility relates primarily to the quality of the services it provides (core banking services)
and the people behind these services (employees).

priorities
CR key data

t &NCFEDPSQPSBUFSFTQPOTJCJMJUZJOPVSTUSBUFHZ
t 'VSUIFSJOUFOTJGZUIFTUBLFIPMEFSEJBMPHVFBOENBLFJUWJTJCMF
t 'PDVTPODPSFQSPDFTTFT DMJFOUBDDFQUBODF JOWFTUNFOUT MPBOT
t 'VSUIFSSFEVDFPXOFDPMPHJDBMGPPUQSJOU
t 4IBSQFOUIFGPDVTPGDIBSJUBCMFQPMJDZ
t &OIBODFUIFJOUFSOBMBOEFYUFSOBMDPNNVOJDBUJPOBCPVU
corporate responsibility
t *OWFTUJOFNQMPZFFFYQFSUJTFBOERVBMJUZ

Core banking processes
Assets under engagement (%) *
Private & Business Banking
– Assets under discretionary
management **
– Assets under advice **
Asset Management
CR lending policy
Client satisfaction
(compared with loyalty index)

actions
t $IFDLJOBEWBODFUIFBQQSPQSJBUFOFTTPGBMMBDUJPOTJOUFSNT
of the strategy
t %FGJOFLFZQFSGPSNBODFJOEJDBUPST ,1*T GPSDPSQPSBUF
responsibility (2012-2013)
t $POEVDUTVSWFZTBNPOHDMJFOUTBOETUBGGBOEPSHBOJTFB
stakeholder event
t 3PMMPVUSFTQPOTJCMFMFOEJOHQPMJDZGPSUIFDPSQPSBUFMPBO
portfolio and test new loan accounts on sustainability through
new Customer Due Diligence policy
t *ODMVEFFRVJUZGVOET QSPQFSUZGVOETBTXFMMBTJOEJWJEVBM
government bonds in responsible investment policy
t 4DSFFOUIFPXOJOWFTUNFOUQPSUGPMJP TIBSFIPMEJOHT TIBSFTBOE
bonds) according to the criteria of responsible lending policy
t 'VSUIFSNBQPVUBOESFDPSEDPSQPSBUFSFTQPOTJCJMJUZQPMJDZPG
Kempen
t *OUFOTJGZJOUFSOBMBOEFYUFSOBMDPNNVOJDBUJPOBCPVUDPSQPSBUF
responsibility. Replace CSR by corporate responsibility (CR)
t "EE,FNQFOBOEUIFGPSFJHOCSBODIPGGJDFTUPUIF
Dutch-language Sustainability Report
t $POEVDUBOFNQMPZFFTVSWFZ
t &EVDBUFUSBJOTUBGGPO$3UPQJDT

achievements
t 4USPOHJODSFBTFJOSFTQPOTJCMFJOWFTUNFOUT BTBQFSDFOUBHF
of assets under management)
t $PSQPSBUFMPBOQPSUGPMJPTDSFFOJOHBMNPTUDPNQMFUFE
no notable issues
t 4USPOHJNQSPWFNFOUPGUIFTDPSFTJOFYUFSOBMCFODINBSLT
(Sustainalytics, Transparency Benchmark of the Dutch Ministry
of Economic Affairs, Agriculture and Innovation, Dutch Fair
Bank Guide)

Employees
Employees (FTE)
Absenteeism (%)
Investments in training
& education (€ million)

2011

2010

37

10

45
33
42
active

24
4
23
developed

61

67

2,009
3.4

2,043
3.2

4.9

4.3

*

The assets under engagement concern the investments included in the process of engagement,
i.e. the active equity funds, property funds, European individual government bonds and the
Kempen Euro Credit Fund. These funds have been expressed as a % of total assets under
management. These figures are unaudited.

**

The 2010 figures exclude foreign offices.

For Van Lanschot, Corporate Responsibility specifically means
conducting business with integrity. The basis for this is the
permanent dialogue with all our stakeholders. Van Lanschot’s
strategy explicitly states that the bank aims to achieve its
financial targets in harmony with all stakeholders. Corporate
responsibility has been split into four areas of focus: core banking
processes, employees, environmental management and purchasing,
and social environment. The core banking processes and our
employees are addressed in this annual report. Further information
on environmental management and purchasing and on social
environment can be found on www.vanlanschot.nl/mvo (dutch
version only).

achievements in the area of core banking
processes
Client acceptance policy

Van Lanschot continued to refine its existing Customer Due
Diligence (CDD) policy in 2011 in order to better protect the bank
from participating in financial and economic crime, such as money
laundering and the financing of terrorism.
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At the same time, it took the opportunity to ensure corporate
responsibility was better safeguarded in the CDD policy. New
corporate borrowers are now also assessed upfront on the basis
of the criteria laid down in the responsible lending policy.

Taken together, the responsibly invested assets at Private &
Business Banking and Asset Management jointly amount to
€ 14.4 billion, or 39% of total assets under management
(€ 36.7 billion). This compares with 15% of € 34.5 billion at
year-end 2010.

Investment policy

At the end of 2011, Van Lanschot also looked into how the
responsible investment policy could be applied to corporate bond
funds in the portfolios. Van Lanschot’s own investment portfolio
(bonds, equities and shareholdings) is also undergoing screening.
The results of this process will be made available in 2012.

The responsible investment policy continued to take shape during
the year under review. The list of international conventions and
treaties used for screening purposes was extended, and KCM
published a revised proxy voting policy that also addresses to
environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors.
The screening process now applies to property funds, individual
European government bonds and the Kempen Euro Credit Fund
as well as equity investment funds. A model specifically for
property funds has also been developed to analyse the extent to
which property companies are prepared for climate change and
promoting sustainability.
In an initial screening round, the majority of European property
companies had disappointing scores. There is therefore plenty of
room for improvement. Van Lanschot will endeavour to achieve
improvements in the next few years by means of its engagement
approach.
The method used for individual European government bonds is
similar to that used for equities (screening based on international
treaties and conventions), the only difference being that no
engagement policy applies in the case of national governments
that score poorly. That said, most European government bonds
in the portfolio meet the criteria.
Extending the screening process to include property, European
government securities and the Kempen Euro Credit Fund led to
a further growth in responsibly invested assets at Private &
Business Banking:
– Assets under management amounted to some € 6.1 billion
at year-end 2011. Of these assets, European property funds,
individual European government bonds, the Kempen Euro
Credit Fund and all actively managed equity investment
funds are screened. This concerns 45% of the aforementioned
€ 6.1 billion in assets under management (2010: 24% of
€ 5.8 billion).
– Assets under advice amounted to some € 12.4 billion at
year-end 2011. Of these assets, all individual European and US
equities, all equity investment funds (actively managed or
otherwise), all European property funds, the Kempen Euro
Credit Fund and individual European government bonds on
which the bank provides advice undergo screening. This
concerns about 33% of the aforementioned € 12.4 billion
(2010: 4% of € 14.4 billion).
Responsibly invested assets also increased considerably at the
segment Asset Management, and 42% of all assets under
management now undergoes screening by GES (2010: 23%).
The engagement policy currently applies to 28 investment funds
(2010: 29) and to all in-house funds managed by Asset Management.
In 2011, the engagement process was applied to 31 companies
spread over 17 fund managers (2010: 19 companies spread over
18 fund managers). 13 companies (2010: 10) were excluded.

Lending policy

The phased rollout of the new policy on responsible lending,
which was approved at the end of 2010, began on 1 April 2011,
after bankers and risk managers had received some training.
As a result of this, within a year all existing corporate loans will
have been reviewed to ascertain any involvement in violations of
human rights and employment rights, environmental breaches,
corruption, weapons (controversial or otherwise), fur, gaming,
pornography, animal testing and nuclear energy. If a borrower
does not comply fully with the criteria, Van Lanschot will attempt
to bring about improvements by pursuing a strategy of engagement.
At the end of 2011, 525 corporate loan applications had been
screened. Of these applications, 84 were submitted to the
corporate responsibility manager on account of being classified
as potentially high risk. As regards these loan applications:
– Most of the borrowers were in sensitive sectors (clothing,
timber, other manufacturing, etc.) that import goods from, or
have manufacturing sites in, non-Western countries. Potential
risks in these sectors include illegal deforestation, poor working
conditions, human rights violations and severe pollution.
– Two applications concerned a direct or indirect involvement
in weapons, and two concerned gaming.
– One application related to animal testing.
– One case concerned a borrower that had been fined by a
regulator for misleading clients.

responsible investment policy
By signing the United Nations PRI and GC, Van Lanschot
opted to define its investment policy on the basis of
standards that are widely accepted within society.
The screening process is carried out by an independent,
specialist consultant (GES). GES screens for issues related
to human rights, employment rights, the environment,
tackling corruption, weapons, animal rights and nuclear
energy, among other things. To this end, GES has
translated the UN review framework into more than
60 specific screening criteria. If a company or investment
fund fails to comply with one or more of these criteria,
Van Lanschot launches a process of engagement, in which
it tries to bring about improvements by means of active
dialogue with the relevant company or investment fund.
If the company or fund manager refuses to cooperate,
Van Lanschot disposes of the investment.
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Van Lanschot’s Corporate responsibility policy

CR Client Acceptance Policy
CR Investment Policy
CR Lending Policy

1

Stakeholders

Core processes

Clients
Employees
Shareholders
Government
agencies/
regulators
– Nongovernmental
organisations
– Competitors

Van Lanschot’s
Core values
and external
principles

–
–
–
–

Dialogue

(PRI)
(GC)
(ILO)

2
Human Resources Policy

Employees

3

In-house environmental
management (plus purchasing)

Environmental
management /
purchasing

4

CR issues
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Human rights
Employment rights
Environment
Anti-corruption
Weapons
Fur
Gaming
Pornography
Animal testing
Nuclear energy

Social projects

Social
environment

Internal and external communication

Ambitions and goals for 2012-2013
Ambitions

Goals

Promote clients’ interests and handle funds entrusted with due care
1. Client satisfaction
2. Responsibly invested assets under discretionary management
(Private & Business Banking)
3. Responsibly invested assets under advice (Private & Business Banking)
4. Responsibly invested assets at Kempen (Asset Management)
5. Responsibly invested lending policy

Reporting (number of transactions, results of engagement)

Aim for motivated and committed employees
6. Employee survey

Growth in number of employees recommending Van Lanschot as an employer

Aim for further reduction of own ecological footprint
7. Energy consumption
8. Paper consumption

Reduction in kilowatt hour
Reduction in kilogrammes

Aim for on-going transparency
9. Transparency benchmark score
10. Sustainalytics rating

Higher absolute score compared with prior year
Higher absolute score compared with prior year

Higher score in loyalty index (compared with prior year)

Growth in responsibly invested assets (as a % of assets under management)
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In around 80% of all cases, Van Lanschot approached the
borrower and made further inquiries about its corporate
responsibility policy (engagement approach). By the end of
December over 30% of cases had been dealt with, in that there
were no longer any outstanding questions and risks were
adequately managed by the borrower.

–

–
Based on this partial screening, it appears that there are few,
if any, serious problems in the corporate loan portfolio. That
said, there are still some clients in sensitive sectors or regions that
are not yet aware of the possibilities regarding codes of conduct
and certification, of which little use is made at the moment.
This would therefore appear to be an area in which continued
engagement by Van Lanschot could play a role.

–

External benchmarks

Based in part on the changes to the client acceptance, investment
and lending policies described above, Van Lanschot improved
its position in a number of external benchmarks during 2011.
These include the Dutch Fair Bank Guide (Eerlijke Bankwijzer)
and Transparency Benchmark, as well as the score awarded to
Van Lanschot by rating agency Sustainalytics.




Setting KPIs for corporate responsibility

A major development in 2011 concerned setting KPIs for
corporate responsibility. These KPIs help ensure existing policy is
better safeguarded and enable results to be verified externally in
due course. The KPIs that were set cover the period 2012-2013.
Each focus area has its own clearly defined aim, which is linked to
several KPIs (see list on page 40).
The corporate responsibility manager arranges support and
measures progress twice a year. Progress is reported to the Board
of Managing Directors and in published form in subsequent
Sustainability Reports.

stakeholder dialogue in 2011
Dialogues with stakeholders remained a key driver of the
on-going development of the corporate responsibility policy in
2011. Van Lanschot entered into talks with clients, employees,
shareholders, government agencies and regulators, nongovernmental organisations and competitors. The following
examples are just a selection.
– A survey of 1,400 clients revealed that 70% believed it was
important that Van Lanschot had incorporated corporate
responsibility in its strategy. Most of the clients surveyed
felt this was of particular relevance for the core banking
activities. In addition, transparency when it comes to variable
pay was revealed to be an important issue for Van Lanschot’s
clients. Finally, most of the clients felt that Van Lanschot did
not need to be at the forefront when it comes to corporate
responsibility, and when asked how sustainable, or green,
the bank’s policy should be, the average score given was 61
(on a scale of 0 to 100).



Van Lanschot employees received information on corporate
responsibility on many occasions in 2011, for example in
the form of presentations and internal communication.
Employees were also explicitely asked for their opinion.
The first employee survey at Van Lanschot had a response
rate of over 86%, indicating a high level of commitment.
2011 also saw a great deal of consultation with nongovernmental organisations, such as the Dutch Fair Bank
Guide. This interest group conducted further research into
sustainability at Dutch banks in 2011. Van Lanschot made
adjustments to parts of its policy and its reporting
procedures partly on the basis of the results of this research.
Finally, Van Lanschot organised an event for stakeholders for
the very first time. At this event, a highly diverse group of
stakeholders discussed Van Lanschot’s policy with each other
and with the bank. The event focused on identifying the
strengths of the policy and areas for improvement.
The main findings were as follows:
t .PTUTUBLFIPMEFSTGFFMUIBU7BO-BOTDIPUT4VTUBJOBCJMJUZ
Report covers the right issues. However, it could be more
specific, and stakeholders would appreciate independent
verification of the report. Opinions were divided on
whether the report should be integrated into the annual
report.
t 7BO-BOTDIPUTDPSQPSBUFSFTQPOTJCJMJUZQPMJDZXBT
awarded a score of 7+, thanks in part to its pragmatic
approach and clear structure. That said, choices made
in respect of policy could be explained better, and
stakeholders would appreciate more specific targets
(KPIs). While three quarters of stakeholders consider
engagement to be the best strategy (preferring it to
exclusion), the bank could provide more information
on the results produced by engagement.
t .BOZTUBLFIPMEFSTTUBUFEUIBUWBSJBCMFQBZTIPVMEOPU
result in any perverse incentives, but should also include
a long-term target, and be based on non-financial as
well as financial criteria. Although Van Lanschot’s
remuneration policy already satisfies these demands,
stakeholders graded it as ‘average’ (neutral). They would
like to see greater transparency, for example on the
criteria used for variable pay.

from csr to corporate responsibility
In 2011, Van Lanschot decided to stop using the
abbreviation ‘CSR’ and to refer in future to ‘corporate
responsibility' wherever possible. The reason for this
change in terminology is the confusion caused by the term
‘CSR’. Some people believe that CSR refers to sustainable
business practices, while for others it brings ethical or
environmentally-friendly business practices to mind. The
difference between these terms is often unclear. By using
the term ‘corporate responsibility’ instead of ‘CSR’, we
hope that we will be better able to explain exactly what
the concept means to us, which is doing business with
integrity and with concern for the interests of all
stakeholders and future generations.
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Action taken following dialogues

On the basis of the contact with stakeholders, Van Lanschot
concluded that most stakeholders share our belief that corporate
responsibility should focus chiefly on core banking processes and
that the engagement strategy is the most appropriate tool for this
purpose. Some of the suggestions put forward by stakeholders,
such as setting KPIs for corporate responsibility, have already
been implemented. At the same time, our reports will, insofar
as possible, be made more transparent in areas where this is
desirable. Fully integrating the Sustainability Report into the
annual report would not be expedient at the moment, as Van
Lanschot believes that integration would result in an unwieldy
report. External verification of the Sustainability Report does,
however, remain an aim.

employees
Van Lanschot’s aim of building long-term relationships with
employees is in keeping with its target of being an employer of
choice. The quality of Van Lanschot’s services is dependent on the
professionalism, competencies, values and integrity of its people,
and employees play a crucial role when it comes to contact with
clients. For this reason Van Lanschot invests heavily in employee
development by providing good working conditions, challenging
work and excellent training opportunities that focus both on
taking initiative as well as learning.

Applying core values in practice

Our core values of being ambitious, committed, independent
and professional form the starting point for all of Van Lanschot’s
day-to-day activities. In 2010, we further defined how we wish to
uphold these core values in our way of working and thinking, and
brought the way in which we appraise and reward employees into
line with this. The aim for 2011 was for everyone to take this to
the next level. To this end, employees were given the challenge of
coming up with initiatives for improvements that they would like
to work on with their teams. By capitalising on the commitment
and ideas of employees in this way, Van Lanschot is working at all
levels towards achieving its ambition of being the best private
bank in the Netherlands and Belgium.
A total of 135 initiatives were submitted, many of which were
cross-departmental in scope. Moreover, this new approach has
made employees more aware of their personal responsibility for
applying the core values in practice. We will continue to work on
implementing the core values in day-to-day practice in 2012.

360 degrees feedback at Van Lanschot

The Van Lanschot 360 degrees feedback system was used for the
second time in 2011. The system is designed to help Van Lanschot
achieve its ambition of getting the best out of its employees and
providing everyone with encouragement and support to grow in
terms of expertise, skills and conduct.

In addition to questions about the core values, 360 degrees feedback
also contained two new questions on the principle of ‘the client is
key’. During the year under review, 1,415 rounds of feedback were
requested and approved. Of the 11,722 feedback requests made,
10,634 resulted in feedback being given (90.7%). It is now clearly
evident that the feedback reports help managers and employees
discuss personal development.
The 360 degrees feedback system has also been in use within
Kempen for several years.

First employee survey

Van Lanschot’s first bank-wide employee survey was conducted in
June 2011. Over 86% of employees completed the questionnaire,
which contained 70 questions. This high response rate is a good
indication of the high level of commitment that exists among
Van Lanschot’s employees.
Positive findings

The survey revealed that employees are proud of ‘their’ bank,
agreeing with the statements ‘Van Lanschot is an excellent brand
with very appealing clients’ and ‘Van Lanschot is a reliable bank
with moral standards’. Employees also appreciate each other, as
indicated by responses such as ‘fine colleagues’ and ‘pleasant
atmosphere’.
Areas for improvement

At the same time, employees indicated that some areas clearly
required improvement. These can be grouped into four issues at
a bank-wide level and at departmental level or branch office level.
1. Administrative procedures
2. IT
3. Recognition, appreciation and remuneration
4. Contact between the Board of Managing Directors and
employees
Follow-up

All managers have discussed the report on the survey with their
department or branch office and have taken action, for example
by holding departmental workshops. Information concerning
issues at a bank-wide level will be shared with all employees in a
special newsletter, ‘Inzicht’, so that they can see what progress
has been made. The target for 2013 is to improve on last year’s
score.

Appraising and rewarding

Van Lanschot paid more frequent attention to the appraisal
cycle in 2011. In the middle of the year, the performance of all
employees was discussed by the management teams in order to
ensure greater consistency in the method of appraising used at
the bank. This discussion also helped managers ensure they act
independently within the appraisal processes. As there were still
six months to go until the end of the year, the development that
individual employees or teams needed to undergo in order to
improve or maintain performance was also discussed at that time.
All managers now have a better understanding of the impact of
giving an appraisal. In addition, workshops on HR duties have been
developed for managers (see ‘Investing in employee development’).

43

The extent to which an individual employee’s appraisal is fair,
compared with those of colleagues and those given in previous
years, should be clear and obvious to the employee. This kind of
independence is vital in order to increase commitment among
employees.
In 2011, the remuneration policy was modified to bring it into line
with new legislation (Regulation on Sound Remuneration Policies
pursuant to the Financial Supervision Act 2011). This modification
supplements the remuneration policy implemented in 2010 for
a select group of employees (Identified Staff) who could have a
material impact on Van Lanschot’s risk profile.
Conduct is one of the most important factors covered in an
employee’s appraisal. In order to manage conduct more effectively,
Van Lanschot has started to implement an amended code of
conduct as part of its ‘the client is key’ programme.

Investing in employee development

Investing in the expertise of employees is crucial for a knowledgeintensive organisation such as Van Lanschot. During the year
under review, € 4.9 million was spent on training and education.
Among other things, a start was made on establishing the
Van Lanschot Academy, which will serve as Van Lanschot’s
training house for all employees.
A start was made on the professional competence programme
for Private & Business Banking in 2010. In 2011, a new training
course, the Wealth Planning Course, was added to the programme.
This new course is fully in keeping with the way in which
Van Lanschot wants to serve clients. The various modules were
launched in 2011, and so far 220 of the 378 bankers have taken
part. Private banking assistants can now take the DSI Financial
Adviser Course, and a total of 146 assistants have already
completed this course.
In addition, all bankers took part in the compulsory continuing
education (CE) programme. This programme focused on
matrimonial property and inheritance law, personal income tax,
financial planning, savings and investment, and integration. The
monthly technical meetings held at branch offices were made
compulsory in 2011. These meetings ensure that bankers are
always kept updated of recent developments. Training courses
were also organised in which bankers and assistants took an
in-depth look at two key aspects of customer care, namely
customer due diligence and the securities risk profile, which
was combined with practising communication skills.

The focus of Van Lanschot’s talent development programme
is on professional development (PD) and traineeships. The PD
programme covers a three year period. Each year has a clear
focus, and activities reflect this focus. The objective is to accelerate
the professional and personal development of participants in
the programme. As part of this, there is now a greater emphasis
on the need for PD participants to act as role models for the
organisation. In 2011, 13 PD participants moved on to new
positions at Van Lanschot and 15 new people were selected to
participate in the programme. There are now 40 people
participating in the PD programme.
2011 also saw a number of talented young employees start
Financial Management Traineeships. Trainees follow a 15-month
programme that includes three work placements in different
departments. Traineeships for Private & Business Banking were
also launched in the autumn. There are now ten trainees who are
following their own development programmes. At Kempen, the
traineeship programme enters its fourth year. A total of nine
trainees are following this two-year programme, rotating
between departments every six months.
Finally, Van Lanschot also invested in management and in new
employees. For management, a series of workshops was developed
that focuses on the HR duties of managers. The majority of these
workshops are given by in-house experts, although an external
party provides skills training, for example in conversation techniques.
New employees are offered the revised introduction programme.
They can also attend one of the twice-yearly strategy days, during
which Van Lanschot’s strategy and core values are explained.
Those who are interested can also follow a brief e-learning module
that provides an introduction to Van Lanschot and its history.

Composition of the workforce

There was a slight overall decline in the number of FTEs at
Van Lanschot, which decreased by 1.7% to 2,009 FTEs (2010:
2,043 FTEs). The total number of employees fell by 34 compared
with 2010, from 2,209 to 2,175.

Number of employees

Van Lanschot *
Van Lanschot Curacao
Van Lanschot Luxembourg
Van Lanschot Belgium
Van Lanschot Switzerland
Kempen *
Westerzee
Other subsidiaries
(incl. Trust)

A special CE programme for the Board of Managing Directors,
the Supervisory Board and the general managers was developed
in 2011. The Board of Managing Directors and Supervisory Board
discussed the topics of compliance and Basel III at two meetings
in 2011. The general managers held four meetings, during which
they addressed compliance, asset management, wealth planning,
customer care and an analyst’s view of Van Lanschot.

Total
*

2011
Number

FTE

2010
Number

1,522

1,385.8

1,499

1,365.1

33
25
140
25
417
4

32.2
24.4
135.4
22.1
397.1
2.8

33
30
144
25
463
4

32.2
29.1
139.2
22.1
441.7
2.8

9

9

11

10.6

2,175

2,008.8

2,209

2,042.8

Van Lanschot Private Office was reported under ‘Kempen’ in 2010 and under
‘Van Lanschot’ in 2011.

FTE
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The proportion of over 45s is lowest at Kempen (24% of employees),
although this group makes up over 40% of Van Lanschot’s
workforce. There is a similar difference when it comes to the
proportion of female employees. Women account for 30% of the
workforce at Kempen, compared with between 42% and 47% at
Van Lanschot.

Age

< Under 20 years
20 to 25 years
25 to 30 years
30 to 35 years
35 to 45 years
45 to 55 years
Over 55 years
Total

M

2011
F

Total

0
12
131
166
454
320
152

0
22
77
117
375
281
68

0
34
208
283
829
601
220

1,235

940

2010
M
F
0
14
140
171
466
324
147

2,175 1,262

0
26
79
121
398
256
67

Total
0
40
219
292
864
580
214

947 2,209

Over 37% of employees have been at Van Lanschot for less than
five years. This is less than in 2010, when 42.4% of the workforce
had worked for the bank for fewer than five years. Almost 9% of
employees have been at Van Lanschot for over 25 years.

Absenteeism

During the year under review there was a slight rise in the rate
of absenteeism, which increased from 3.2% in 2010 to 3.4%
in 2011. Comparison with other banks revealed that absenteeism
rates at Van Lanschot are not significantly different.

Consultation with the Employees’ Council

In 2011 there were a number of requests for consent and formal
opinions for the Employees’ Council to deal with. The responses
to the requests were frequently prepared by small groups. There
were major requests for formal opinions relating to VIPinvest,
job contracts and changes at the Marketing and Communications
department and Compliance department. The details of the
remuneration policy, the evaluation of the remuneration policy
for 2010 and the pension scheme were also discussed with the
Employees’ Council. In the course of 2011, the Employees’
Council also considered the employee survey and the actions
taken in response to the findings.

Pension

In 2011, a great deal of work was done at Van Lanschot to develop
a new pension scheme that is more in keeping with today’s
environment. The scheme consists of an average salary scheme up
to an upper limit of € 49,297, after which the pension continues
to be built up on the basis of a defined contribution scheme. This
gives employees the opportunity to arrange their own pensions.

The new scheme was developed in close consultation with the
pension fund and the Employees’ Council and is applicable to
all employees.
The way in which the new pension scheme is financed is different
from the way in which the old schemes were financed. Van Lanschot
pays an annual contribution of up to 30%, but there is no longer
any obligation to make additional payments.
Pension costs in 2011 were up € 2.1 million, due to low interest
rates and increased life expectancy. In addition, Van Lanschot’s
pension scheme was amended in 2011 and an additional payment
was made in accordance with the 2009 recovery plan. At year-end
2012 and 2013, subject to certain conditions, the remaining
payments will be made if there is still a funding shortfall.

45

report of the
supervisory board
introduction
The year 2011 had a very encouraging start for Van Lanschot .
There was a sustained recovery of the bank’s results, as was
apparent from the half-year results. However, in mid-2011, the
euro crisis flared up, and its impact was clearly visible in the
results for the second half of the year. The interest margin
came under further pressure and commission income declined.
Fortunately, Van Lanschot’s solidity is excellent. The bank not
only has strong levels of liquidity and solvency, but the capital
ratios increased further. Thus, Van Lanschot is ready for the
introduction of Basel III and can cope with the impact of the euro
crisis. In 2011, much work was put into further implementing
the strategic objectives. Attention was paid to the quality of our
service offering. We will also focus attention on this in 2012, in
order to fully achieve our ambition to be the best private bank
of the Netherlands and Belgium. We will also put much effort
into further reducing the bank’s cost level.

financial statements
The Supervisory Board has approved the ﬁnancial statements
after their audit by Ernst & Young Accountants. For the independent
auditors’ report, reference is made to page 199. We propose to
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders that the 2011
ﬁnancial statements be adopted as submitted and that the Board
of Managing Directors be discharged for their conduct of the
bank’s affairs and the members of the Supervisory Board for their
supervision.

composition of the supervisory board
During the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 11 May
2011, the terms of office of Mr de Monchy, Mr de Swaan,
Mr Duron and Mr Slippens expired. Mr de Monchy was not
eligible for reappointment having already served on the Supervisory
Board for twelve years. The Supervisory Board recommended
Ms Kersten for appointment to fill this vacancy on the Supervisory
Board, with due observance of the relevant profile outline.
Mr de Swaan and Mr Duron were eligible for reappointment
and also made themselves available for reappointment.
The Supervisory Board recommended them for reappointment in
the meeting of 11 May 2011. Mr Slippens was recommended by
virtue of the Employees’ Council’s enhanced right of recommendation.

During the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 11 May
2011, Mr de Swaan, Mr Slippens and Mr Duron were reappointed
and Ms Kersten was appointed for a four-year term. Ms Kersten’s
appointment contributes towards the aim to have a Board that
reflects diversity. After her appointment, Ms Kersten undertook
an introductory programme; she met all general managers and
the board of Kempen and visited the Amsterdam branch office.
She also met the Employees’ Council. The Financial Control
department set up a specific introductory programme for her
covering financial subjects.
In 2012, no terms of office of members of the Supervisory Board
will expire.

independence
In the section on corporate governance on page 52, more
information is provided about the independence of the members
of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is convinced of
the fact that all members of the Supervisory Board can keep an
open and independent mind, and adopt a critical stance towards
Van Lanschot, each other, the Board of Managing Directors and
the various particular interests. Insofar as a certain subject might
involve a potential conflict of interest, the respective member
of the Supervisory Board will not be involved in the relevant
deliberations and decision-making. In 2011, Mr van Lanschot did
not partake in the deliberations and decision-making about the
renewal of the shareholder agreement with LDDM Holding.
Ms Kersten reported a potential conflict of interest, since her
office represents the interests of one of the principal shareholders.
If an actual conflict of interest arises, she will not partake in the
deliberations concerned. This did not happen in 2011. Insofar as
applicable, best practice provisions III 6.1 to III 6.3 of the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code were observed.

supervision
The role of the Supervisory Board is to supervise the policies
of the Board of Managing Directors and the general affairs of the
company and its affiliated enterprises. In addition, it provides
advisory assistance to the Board of Managing Directors. In discharging
its duties, the Supervisory Board is guided by the interests of the
company and its affiliated enterprises, weighing the interests of
all stakeholders, such as clients, shareholders and employees.
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The Supervisory Board for instance supervises achievement of
the company’s targets, business strategy and risks attaching to
the business, the design and effectiveness of the internal risk
management and control systems, financial reporting procedures,
compliance with laws and regulations, the relationship with
shareholders and corporate responsibility.

meetings
The Supervisory Board met seven times in the reporting period.
There was no frequent absence of one or more members of
the Supervisory Board; only two members did not attend one
meeting each.
The Supervisory Board received all information required for
the proper execution of its tasks from the Board of Managing
Directors and the external auditor. In order to keep more in touch
with the organisation, the Supervisory Board regularly invited the
responsible employees to have them explain certain subjects or
give presentations about the latest developments in their fields
of expertise. In 2011, employees provided information about
the progress of compliance projects (e.g. customer due diligence
and investment advice), risk management, the upgrade of the
securities systems, the move of the data centre, client prospecting,
developments in the field of asset management, online banking
and corporate responsibility. The progress of the project ‘the
client is key’ was also discussed.
The annual figures and the half-year figures were discussed in the
meetings of March and August 2011 respectively, in the presence
of the external auditor. The subject of customer care was discussed
in nearly all meetings. The annual discussion of the risks related
to the company and the design and effectiveness of the internal
(risk) control structure and the strategy took place in the meeting
of September. During the meeting in December, the performance
of the Board of Managing Directors as a body and of the individual
members of the Board of Managing Directors, as well as their
expertise was discussed, without the members of the Board of
Managing Directors being present.
The agendas for the meetings of the Supervisory Board
were drawn up by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
in consultation with the Chairman of the Board of Managing
Directors and the company secretary.

self-assessment of supervisory board
In 2011, the evaluation of the performance of the Supervisory
Board, the individual Committees and the individual members of
the Supervisory Board took place with the help of an independent
consultant (PwC). A PwC partner and employee interviewed all
members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Managing
Directors and the company secretary. They discussed their
findings during an evaluation meeting of the Supervisory Board
in September and subsequently drew up a final report which was
discussed in the December meeting.

It was determined, among other things, that the composition of
the Supervisory Board is in accordance with the profile outline
(both in terms of expertise and diversity) and the requirements
of Chapter III.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. One of the
findings was that the members of the Supervisory Board with a
banking background have a strong presence in certain discussions
and that the professional competence and expertise of directors
without this background should be used effectively, for instance
in order to help bring about a change in the bank’s culture.
The members of the Supervisory Board gave each other feedback
on their strengths and points to consider, and reflected on this.
It was determined that there is appropriate interaction between
the Supervisory Board and the Board of Managing Directors and
that it is useful to promote more frequent one-on-one contacts
between the members of the Board of Managing Directors and
the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board will also discuss
how the culture change in the organisation can be brought about.

supervisory board committees
The Supervisory Board has appointed four Committees from
among its members:
t

UIF"VEJU$PNQMJBODF$PNNJUUFF DPOTJTUJOHPG
– Mr Streppel (Chairman)
– Ms Kersten
– Mr de Swaan
– Mr van Lanschot
– Mr Duron
The composition of the Committee changed during the reporting
year. On 11 May 2011, Mr de Monchy stepped down and
Ms Kersten was appointed to the Committee.
t

UIF3JTL$PNNJUUFF DPOTJTUJOHPG
– Mr Duron (Chairman)
– Ms Lodder
– Mr Slippens
– Mr van Lanschot
– Mr Streppel
The composition of the Committee did not change during
the reporting year.
t

UIF4FMFDUJPO"QQPJOUNFOU$PNNJUUFF DPOTJTUJOHPG
– Mr de Swaan (Chairman)
– Ms Lodder
– Mr Slippens
– Mr Streppel
The composition of the Committee did not change during the
reporting year.
t

UIF3FNVOFSBUJPO$PNNJUUFF DPOTJTUJOHPG
– Mr Slippens (Chairman)
– Ms Lodder
– Mr de Swaan
– Mr Streppel
The composition of the Committee did not change during
the reporting year.
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The Supervisory Board determines the composition of these
Committees. These Committees prepare the decision-making
of the Supervisory Board regarding the subjects covered by their
area of focus. The Supervisory Board retains full responsibility
for decisions prepared by the Committees.

audit & compliance committee
The Audit & Compliance Committee met on five occasions
during the reporting year and these meetings were attended by
a delegation of the Board of Managing Directors. The meetings
were also attended by the external auditor, the head of Group
Audit, the head of Financial Control and, if her area of responsibility
was being discussed, the head of the Compliance department.
The Audit & Compliance Committee extensively considered the
annual and half-year ﬁgures and the data for the trading updates,
and discussed the reports of the external auditors and the
management letter prior to them being discussed in a meeting
of the entire Supervisory Board. In the meeting of March,
the Committee discussed the report of the Board of Managing
Directors on the financial reporting risks. Furthermore, the
annual plan, the progress reports and the annual report of Group
Audit were discussed, as well as the external auditor’s audit plan
and the annual plan and reports of the Compliance department.
The contacts with the Dutch Central Bank and the Netherlands
Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM) were also discussed,
as well as the audit reports issued by these authorities based on
their examinations.
The Audit & Compliance Committee also consulted with the
external auditor without company officials being present.

risk committee
The Risk Committee met on four occasions in 2011. The meetings
of this Committee were always attended by a delegation of the
Board of Managing Directors and at least one representative of
the Risk Management department.
During these meetings, the Committee extensively discussed the
developments in the field of credit risk, operational risk, and
market and interest rate risk, as run by Van Lanschot and Kempen
& Co. In addition, attention was paid to special subjects, such as
the trends in the property portfolio and the current status in the
field of corporate responsibility.
Within the scope of credit risk, specific attention was paid to the
loan loss provisions in the Netherlands and abroad. A recurring
subject of discussion in each meeting was the development in the
loan portfolio, both from a qualitative and a quantitative perspective.
In the field of operational risk, the reports of the Operational Risk
department (including the loss database, risk self-assessments,
action tracking, product reviews, etc.) as well as the interest rate
and market risk reports were discussed and explained by the
parties involved, where necessary.

The current status of the risks within the scope of the formulated
risk appetite was structurally reported to the Risk Committee.
These reports were extensively discussed during each meeting.
Furthermore, the design and effectiveness of the internal (risk)
control tools were discussed in a combined meeting of the entire
Supervisory Board. During this meeting, the Supervisory Board
determined that the operating activities are in line with the
company’s risk appetite and that, at a strategic level, the capital
allocation and liquidity adequacy requirements are in general in
accordance with the approved risk appetite.
The central theme of the December meeting was the formulation
of the assumptions of the bank’s risk appetite for 2012 (for more
detailed information, reference is made to page 33).

selection & appointment committee
The Selection & Appointment Committee held two meetings in
2011. The meetings were attended by the Chairman of the Board
of Managing Directors and the head of HRM. The Committee
discussed the recommendation of Ms Kersten, the adjustment
of the profile outline of the Supervisory Board and the size and
composition of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Managing
Directors.

remuneration committee
The Remuneration Committee met on seven occasions in 2011.
The meetings were attended by the Chairman of the Board
of Managing Directors and the head of HRM. The Committee
discussed the appraisal of the members of the Board of Managing
Directors for 2010, the determination of the variable pay for
2010 and the individual targets for the members of the Board of
Managing Directors for 2011 (in February) and 2012 (in December).
Moreover, the remuneration policy for the Board of Managing
Directors and the remuneration policy for Identified Staff (risk
takers), which also includes senior management, was discussed.
Page 62 contains the remuneration report, which provides
further details about the remuneration policy for the Board of
Managing Directors.

contacts with the employees’ council
A member of the Supervisory Board attended the consultative
meetings during which the annual figures and the half-year
figures were explained, and the general affairs at Van Lanschot
were discussed. The consultations with the Employees’ Council
were constructive.

48

in conclusion
Due to the euro crisis, 2011 turned out not to be an easy year.
At present, it is still uncertain how the negotiations on the future
of the euro and the debt burden of the euro countries will develop.
The economic outlook for 2012 is not good. We expect that
income levels in the financial sector will remain under pressure in
2012. Fortunately, Van Lanschot’s ratios are all solid. The outlook
for the bank is therefore solid as well. Against the backdrop of
the current circumstances, Van Lanschot will have to take drastic
measures to reduce the cost level, in order to safeguard the
bank’s profitability in the long term. Van Lanschot will therefore
have to take organisational and cost reducing measures in 2012.
We greatly appreciate the diligent efforts of our employees in
these difficult market conditions.
’s-Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands, 8 March 2012
Tom de Swaan, Chairman
Jos Streppel, Deputy Chairman
Willy Duron
Heleen Kersten
Godfried van Lanschot
Truze Lodder
Abel Slippens
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personal details of members
of the supervisory board
Tom de Swaan (1946) Chairman

Willy Duron (1945)

Nationality
Dutch

Nationality
Belgian

Appointed
10 May 2007; second term of office expires in 2015

Appointed
10 May 2007; second term of office expires in 2015

Former positions
Former member of the Managing Board of ABN AMRO Bank NV,
ABN AMRO Holding NV and former member of the Governing
Board of De Nederlandsche Bank NV (Dutch Central Bank)

Position
Honorary Chairman of KBC Group NV

Other supervisory directorships and board positions
Koninklijke DSM, Koninklijke Ahold, Zurich Financial Services,
GlaxoSmithKline plc
Main other positions
Chairman of the board of Van Leer Jerusalem Institute, Chairman
of the Advisory Council of Rotterdam School of Management
Erasmus University, Chairman of the Board of Governors of
Antoni van Leeuwenhoek Hospital/Netherlands Cancer Institute,
member of the board of International Franz Liszt Piano Concours,
member of Public Interest Board of KPMG

Other supervisory directorships and board positions
Agfa-Gevaert NV, Ravago Plastics NV, Van Breda Risk & Benefits
NV, Tigenix NV, Amonis OFP
Main other positions
University Centre Kortenberg, University Hospitals Leuven

Heleen Kersten (1965)
Nationality
Dutch
Appointed
11 May 2011; first term of office expires in 2015

Jos Streppel (1949) Deputy Chairman
Nationality
Dutch
Appointed
11 May 2005; second term of office expires in 2013
Former position
Former member of the Executive Board of Aegon NV
Other supervisory directorships and board positions
KPN NV (Chairman), RSA Insurance Group plc
Main other positions
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Code Monitoring Committee,
chairman of the Duisenberg School of Finance, member of the Board
of Trustees of Arq foundation, member of the board of Cancer Center
Amsterdam, member of the board of Holland Financial Centre,
member of the board of Amsterdam Center for Corporate Finance,
chairman of Shareholders Communication Channel, member of
the Advisory Council of the Association of Actuaries, member of
the Supervisory Committee of Tilburg Center of Finance

Position
Managing partner of Stibbe
Other supervisory directorships
Egeria Investments BV
Main other position
Member of the board of Royal Concertgebouw Orchestra’s
donors foundation
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Godfried van Lanschot (1964)
Nationality
Dutch
Appointed
10 May 2006; second term of office expires in 2014
Former positions
Previously employed in various positions at ABN AMRO Bank NV

Truze Lodder (1948)
Nationality
Dutch
Appointed
11 May 2005; second term of office expires in 2013
Positions
Director of De Nederlandse Opera and Chairperson of the board
of Stichting Het Muziektheater, Amsterdam
Other supervisory directorships
NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen
Main other positions
Member of the Supervisory Committee of Maastricht University,
member of the Supervisory Board of VSB Fonds, Chairperson
of NJO (Dutch Orchestra and Ensemble Academy)

Abel Slippens (1951)
Nationality
Dutch
Appointed
10 May 2007: second term of office expires in 2015
Former position
Former Chairman of the Executive Board of Sligro Food Group NV
Other supervisory directorships
Beter Bed Holding NV, Blokker Holding BV, Simac Techniek NV
(Chairman), Pacombi Beheer BV (Chairman), Free Record Shop
Holding BV
Main other positions
Chairman of Advisory Council of Hobij Groep BV, member of
Advisory Council of Menken Combinatie BV, member of Advisory
Council of Nabuurs BV, member of the board of Stichting
Administratiekantoor Beccus
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corporate governance
Van Lanschot attaches great importance to proper corporate
governance. The main aspects of corporate governance at
Van Lanschot are set out below. The Articles of Association
and various other regulations and documents on corporate
governance have been posted on our corporate website
www.vanlanschot.nl/aboutvanlanschot.

board of managing directors
Van Lanschot NV is a two-tier board company and the holding
company of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV. The Board of Managing
Directors of Van Lanschot NV is also the Board of Managing
Directors of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV. The members of the
Board of Managing Directors are appointed by the Supervisory
Board. The Supervisory Board informs the General Meeting of
Shareholders about its intended appointment. A member is
appointed for a maximum period of four years. The Supervisory
Board may dismiss a member of the Board of Managing Directors
at all times, but will only do so after the General Meeting of
Shareholders has been consulted about the intended dismissal.

composition and performance of the board
of managing directors
The Board of Managing Directors comprises at least two
members. The number of members is set by the Supervisory Board.
The Board of Managing Directors should have a complementary
composition with appropriate diversity. The division of tasks
within the Board of Managing Directors is determined (and
amended, if required) by the Board itself, subject to the
Supervisory Board’s approval. The members of the Board of
Managing Directors specifically charged with certain board
decisions bear the primary responsibility for the execution and
risk control and monitoring of the relevant board duties.
During the entire year 2011, the Board of Managing Directors
comprised the following four members. Floris Deckers
(Chairman), Ieko Sevinga, Arjan Huisman (Chief Operating
Officer) and Constant Korthout (Chief Financial Officer/Chief
Risk Officer).
The Board of Managing Directors in principle convenes once
a week, with all members being present. Each member of the
Board of Managing Directors has one vote. The members aim for
consensus, meaning that as many decisions as possible are made
unanimously. The decisions of the Board of Managing Directors
are in principle taken in a meeting of the Board.

Appendix 4 of the Supervisory Board Regulations states which
decisions of the Board of Managing Directors require approval of
the General Meeting of Shareholders, and which decisions require
the Supervisory Board’s approval. The Board of Managing
Directors is assisted by the company secretary.
At least once a year, without the members of the Board of Managing
Directors being present, the Supervisory Board discusses the
performance of the Board of Managing Directors as a body and
the performance of the individual members and the conclusions
reached. The Supervisory Board sets the remuneration and the
conditions of employment for the members of the Board of
Managing Directors, with due observance of the remuneration
policy as determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
In 2011, the members of the Board of Managing Directors did
not report any actual or potential conflicts of interest that may
be significant for Van Lanschot and/or the member concerned.

supervisory board
Supervision of the Board of Managing Directors and the general
course of affairs at Van Lanschot is entrusted to the Supervisory
Board. The Supervisory Board of Van Lanschot is also the
Supervisory Board of F. van Lanschot Bankiers. The members
of the Supervisory Board of Van Lanschot are appointed by the
General Meeting of Shareholders. These supervisory directors are
appointed in accordance with the provisions of Section 158 of
Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. They are appointed for
a maximum period of four years, after which they may be put
up for re-election. The maximum term of office for Supervisory
Directors is twelve years, which is in line with best practice
provision III.3.5 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code.
A Supervisory Director can only be dismissed by the Enterprise
Section of the Amsterdam Court of Appeal with due observance
of Section 161 (2) of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. In
addition, the General Meeting of Shareholders may pass a motion
of no confidence in the Supervisory Board, in accordance with the
provision of Section 161 (a) of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil
Code. Such a resolution results in the immediate discharge of
the members of the Supervisory Board.
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composition and performance of the
supervisory board and its committees
The number of members of the Supervisory Board is determined
by the Supervisory Board, bearing in mind that the number
should be sufficient to warrant proper execution of the function
of the Board and its Committees. The Supervisory Board has
prepared a profile outline for its size and composition*. This
profile outline was prepared taking account of the nature of the
business of Van Lanschot and its subsidiaries and the required
expertise and background of the members of the Supervisory
Board. The Supervisory Board aims for a complementary and
diverse composition.
At year-end 2011, the Supervisory Board comprised seven
members: Mr de Swaan (Chairman), Mr Streppel (Deputy
Chairman), Mr Duron, Mr van Lanschot, Ms Lodder, Mr Slippens
and Ms Kersten. The Supervisory Board meets as often as
necessary for a proper functioning of the Board but at least four
times per year. The meetings are scheduled one year in advance,
insofar as possible. All resolutions of the Supervisory Board
are taken by a majority of the votes cast. Each member of the
Supervisory Board has one vote. The decisions of the Supervisory
Board are in principle taken in a meeting of the Board. The Board
appoints a Chairman and Deputy Chairman from among its members.
The Chairman of the Supervisory Board may not be a former
member of the Board of Managing Directors. The Supervisory
Board is assisted by the company secretary.

executive committee
The Executive Committee was established in 2009 in order
to stimulate the involvement of the general managers in the
decision-making of the Board of Managing Directors. In 2011, the
Committee was converted into a consultative body addressing
the progress of bank-wide projects, strategic subjects such as the
management agenda and management reporting and reports of
the commercial departments. All general managers, members
of the Board of Managing Directors and of the Board of Kempen
participate in this body. The Executive Committee meets on a
monthly basis. The authority to take decisions remains the
preserve of the Board of Managing Directors.

dutch corporate governance code
The revised Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the Code), which
came into effect on 1 January 2009, applies to Van Lanschot**.
Van Lanschot complies with the Code, but deviates from best
practice provisions II.2.5 and III.2.1 for certain specific reasons:
–

The Supervisory Board has appointed four Committees from
among its members; an Audit & Compliance Committee, a Risk
Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Selection &
Appointment Committee. The composition of these Committees
is set out in the report of the Supervisory Board on page 46.
The composition of these Committees is determined by the
Supervisory Board. These Committees prepare the decisionmaking of the Supervisory Board regarding the subjects covered
by their area of focus. The Supervisory Board retains full
responsibility for decisions prepared by the Committees. At least
once a year, without the members of the Board of Managing
Directors being present, the Supervisory Board discusses its own
performance, that of the Committees and the performance of the
individual members of the Supervisory Board and the conclusions
subsequently reached. During this evaluation in 2011, the
Supervisory Board concluded that the required knowledge and
experience is sufficiently available within the Supervisory Board
for a proper execution of the Board’s duties. Once every three
years, the Supervisory Board assesses the performance of the
Supervisory Board and is supported in this process by an
independent party. This assessment was carried out in 2011
with the assistance of PwC. For more information about this
assessment, reference is made to the Report of the Supervisory
Board on page 46.

When paying variable pay to the members of the Board of
Managing Directors, part of this payment which is done in
the form of depositary receipts for shares may be sold (after
three years, at the time the depositary receipts for shares
become unconditional). As many depositary receipts for
shares may be sold as required in order to compensate for
the corresponding payroll tax payable. This is in deviation of
best practice provision II.2.5. Depositary receipts for shares
received as part of variable pay should subsequently be held
for a period of at least two years after payment. The total
period after which a member of the Board of Managing
Directors has the remaining depositary receipts at his
disposal is therefore at least five years, in accordance with
best practice provision II.2.5.
–

The profile outline is posted on www.vanlanschot.nl/supervisoryboard.

III.2.1 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code
This provision states among other things that all members of
the Supervisory Board, with the exception of not more than
one person, shall be independent within the meaning of best
practice provision III.2.2.
Since the appointment of Ms Kersten as supervisory director
of Van Lanschot as from 11 May 2011, Van Lanschot has had
two supervisory directors who can be regarded as not being
independent within the meaning of best practice provision
III.2.2 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, i.e.
Mr van Lanschot and Ms Kersten. Mr van Lanschot was
recommended for appointment to the Supervisory Board by
shareholder LDDM Holding BV.

The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board
is determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

*

II.2.5 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code
This provision states among other things that shares granted
to board members without financial consideration shall be
retained for a period of at least five years or until at least the
end of the employment, if this period is shorter.

**

The Dutch Corporate Governance Code can be downloaded from www.commissiecorporategovernance.nl: go to ‘Information in English’, Section Dutch Corporate Governance Code.
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The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders appointed
Mr van Lanschot as supervisory director on the
recommendation of the Supervisory Board (for the first
time in 2006; he was reappointed as supervisory director
in 2010). Under the terms of the shareholder agreement
between Van Lanschot and LDDM Holding, the latter has
the right to recommend one supervisory director.
Ms Kersten is lawyer and currently managing partner at
Stibbe law firm. The Corporate Governance Code states
that if the firm where the supervisory board member works
acted as advisor to the company in the year prior to this
member’s appointment, the supervisory director is deemed
not to be independent (best practice provision III 2.2 under
c. of the Code). Stibbe is one of the legal firms with which
Van Lanschot works. This would mean that Ms Kersten can
be deemed to be not independent within the meaning of
the Code. However, Van Lanschot believes that Ms Kersten
is a very suitable supervisory director with substantial added
value in terms of knowledge, experience and diversity.
That is the reason why the Supervisory Board considers
this deviation to be reasonable.
Best practice provision II.1.1. of the Code is applied in such a
way that the term of office of directors to be appointed or
reappointed expires on the date of the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders held in the fourth year after the appointment/
reappointment concerned.

An overview has been posted on the corporate website
www.vanlanschot.nl/aboutvanlanschot setting out how Van Lanschot
complies with the recommendations of the Banking Code.
Van Lanschot complies with the Banking Code. The total direct
compensation of the Board of Managing Directors in the event
of on-target performance lies just below the median for
Mr Korthout and Mr Huisman and fractionally above the median
for comparable positions within and outside the financial sector
for Mr Deckers and Mr Sevinga. The Supervisory Board deems
it desirable that the total direct compensation lies around the
median in view of continuity and the related retention aim. For
the explanation why principle 6.3.4 of the Banking Code is not
yet fully followed, reference is made to the section on the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code (best practice provision II.2.5).

main themes of the banking code
The section below sets out by main theme of the Banking Code
which activities have been undertaken by Van Lanschot within
the scope of the implementation of the Banking Code since 2009.
The future actions are also set out.
1.
2.
3.
4.

The client is key
Risk management and audit
Governance (Supervisory Board, Board of Managing
Directors)
Remuneration policy

banking code
1. The client is key

The Banking Code*, published by the Dutch Banking Association
on 9 September 2009, came into effect on 1 January 2010. The
Banking Code defines principles about the theme ‘the client is
key’ and about risk management, audit, governance (Supervisory
Board, Board of Managing Directors) and the remuneration
policy. The Banking Code applies to all banks granted a banking
license under the Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wft).

implementation of the banking code by
van lanschot
Van Lanschot applies the Banking Code at F. van Lanschot
Bankiers and Kempen &Co, the two subsidiaries holding a
Dutch banking license. Van Lanschot also applies the Banking
Code to the foreign subsidiaries with a banking license in Belgium,
Luxembourg and Switzerland and on Curacao, taking account
of the local laws and regulations and practical circumstances
in view of the limited scale of the foreign operations of
Van Lanschot.

*

The English translation of the Banking Code can be downloaded from: www.nvb.nl
go to ‘English’; Section Publications. Reference is made to our corporate website for a summary
of implemetation of each article of the Dutch Banking Code by Van Lanschot.

Principle 3.2.1 of the Banking Code states that putting the
client first is a prerequisite for a bank’s continuity. Van Lanschot
endorses this principle. Van Lanschot is a private bank, not a
product-oriented bank; the personal relationship with the client
is the number one priority. The client is key in Van Lanschot’s
service offering. Van Lanschot is a full-service bank offering its
clients financial services, while being attentive and responsive
to the clients’ needs. The services primarily consist of personal
advisory services in the field of wealth creation and asset
management. That the client’s interest is paramount is also
apparent from the fact that Van Lanschot hardly trades for own
account and risk. The balance sheet is primarily for the benefit
of clients.
Putting the client first was a central theme for Van Lanschot in
2011. All activities related to this theme were brought together
in the project ‘the client is key’. This project is supervised by
Mr Sevinga. The project team has an initiating and coordinating
role in relation to this subject within Van Lanschot. Within the
project, the following aspects were addressed:
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Strategy and goals

Putting the client first has formed part of Van Lanschot’s
strategic goals for many years. In the 2006 annual report, client
intimacy was already mentioned as one of the strategic goals.
For Van Lanschot, client intimacy is a form of relationship-driven
banking where the interests of the client take centre stage.
In 2009, Van Lanschot refined its strategy in terms of another
part of the concept of putting the client first, i.e. customer care.
Customer care is one of the strategic goals of Van Lanschot:
‘Adopt and continuously improve a customer care policy that sets
the tone for the sector and goes beyond the statutory framework’.
In addition, client satisfaction is an important strategic goal:
‘Continue to outperform the benchmark in the loyalty index’.
In 2011, the subject of ‘the client is key’ was even more explicitly
expressed in the strategy. Van Lanschot’s mission was defined as
follows: ‘To offer high-quality financial services to high net-worth
individuals, entrepreneurs and other select client groups, whereby
the interest of our clients is leading’.
The strategic goals formed an important part of the management
agenda for 2011, and were translated into specific targets for
the various departments and branch offices and into individual
employee targets. In 2011, the KPIs (Key Performance Indicators)
in relation to the theme of ’the client is key’ were formulated.
These KPIs ensure that the progress in respect of the goals
becomes concrete and can be measured. This will be continued
in 2012.
Culture

Van Lanschot has defined the following core values: ambitious,
committed, independent and professional. The core values
provide a guideline for the actions of all employees, both among
themselves and in relation to the client. The core values should
also create an impression of the way in which Van Lanschot
renders services to its clients.
Each year, all employees can ask their colleagues for feedback
about their performance based on the core values. In 2011,
the relevant questionnaire to be completed by employees was
supplemented with a number of questions on how the employee
puts the theme ‘the client is key’ into practice.

Van Lanschot’s aim for transparency is reflected in, among other
things, the fact that Van Lanschot passes on the net distribution
fees it receives to its asset management clients. This also confirms
Van Lanschot’s aim to be independent in the services it offers.
In order to safeguard the quality of the advisory services,
Van Lanschot invested in the professional competence and
expertise of its employees in 2011.
Products and product documentation

Van Lanschot aims to only provide products that are appropriate,
transparent and understandable and have added value for the
client and offer good value at the right price.
Within Van Lanschot, the Product Board is responsible for the
introduction of new products and the review of existing products.
In the meetings of the Product Board, the NPAs (New Product
Approvals), the new product evaluations (between three and
six months after implementation, a product is evaluated and
submitted to the Product Board) and Product Reviews are
discussed. In the decision-making, the Product Board pays much
attention to the quality of products. In addition, in its decisionmaking, the Product Board looks at the proper and balanced
information supply to the client. Van Lanschot aims for complete,
understandable and accessible product documentation.
Van Lanschot applies an approval process to new products, the
New Product Approval procedure (NPA procedure) as laid down
in principle 4.5 of the Banking Code. In this NPA procedure,
explicit attention is paid to the aspect of the client’s interests.
All members of the Product Board have a veto right concerning a
decision about a new product introduction in the NPA procedure.
For existing products, Van Lanschot has established the Product
Review procedure. Under this procedure, existing products are
screened on the following aspects: suitability, price/value
relationship, documentation, client experience and client
satisfaction.
In 2011, Van Lanschot screened, among other things, its savings
products. The number of savings products was reduced; the
offer is now more transparent and understandable. In addition,
we started to rewrite client documentation to make it more
understandable and accessible to clients.

Advisory services

2. Risk management and audit

Van Lanschot’s services primarily consist of personal advisory
services in the field of wealth creation and asset management.
Van Lanschot aims to provide advisory services that are appropriate,
have added value, are transparent and understandable.

At the end of the year, the Board of Managing Directors and
the Supervisory Board define the risk appetite for the year to
come. The Board of Managing Directors compares the current
risk profile with the risk appetite defined on a quarterly basis.
It reports on the outcome in a biannual management letter
which is submitted to the Supervisory Board for their approval.

In 2011, we focused on the way in which the client’s risk profile
is laid down, in order to safeguard that the investment advice is
appropriate. A correct recording of the risk profile contributes
towards advisory services that are consistent with the client’s
objective, financial position and risk appetite. In the year under
review, we also paid attention to the reproducibility of the
advisory services, to make the considerations forming the basis
of the advice transparent.

An overview has been posted on the corporate website
(www.vanlanschot.nl/aboutvanlanschot), setting out in which
way Van Lanschot complies with principles 4.1 to 4.4 of the
Banking Code.
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3. Governance (Supervisory Board, Board of Managing
Directors)

capital structure and shares

By-laws and profile outline

Van Lanschot’s authorised share capital consists of 135 million
shares with a nominal value of € 1 each and is divided into
ordinary A and B shares and preference C shares.

The by-laws for the Supervisory Board and the Board of Managing
Directors are in line with the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code and the principles of the Banking Code. For the
by-laws, please visit www.vanlanschot.nl/supervisoryboard and
www.vanlanschot.nl/boardofmanagingdirectors.
The profile outline of the Supervisory Board is also in line with
the Corporate Governance Code and Banking Code. The profile
outline has been posted on www.vanlanschot.nl/supervisoryboard.

At 31 December 2011, 41,016,668 ordinary shares in
Van Lanschot were issued, i.e. 34,159,225 ordinary A shares and
6,857,443 ordinary B shares. Compared with the outstanding
capital at 31 December 2010, the number of issued shares
remained unchanged; however the division over the various
classes of shares changed. This was the result of several
conversions.

Continuing Education Programme

In 2011, two meetings were held within the scope of continuing
education for the members of the Board of Managing Directors
and Supervisory Board. The subjects addressed were compliance
and Basel III. Both meetings were organised by external experts,
in a joint effort with internal experts. One supervisory director
did not attend one meeting. The Supervisory Board and the
Board of Managing Directors evaluated the continuing education
programme in December 2011. They established that the
programme is effective, and thus ensures that the expertise of
the board members is maintained and extended. This programme
will be continued in 2012.

On 13 May 2011, 1,330,380 of the ordinary B shares held by
LDDM Holding were converted into the same number of ordinary
A shares. On 26 May 2011, 980,290 of the ordinary B shares held
by Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP were converted into the same
number of ordinary A shares. On 5 July 2011, 2,236,099 of the
ordinary B shares held by Friesland Bank were converted into the
same number of ordinary A shares. For more details about these
conversions, reference is made to the section Rights of shareholders
under Conversion of ordinary B shares on page 57. In 2011, no
preference C shares were outstanding.

Moral-ethical statement (banker’s oath)

All members of the Board of Managing Directors signed a moralethical statement (banker’s oath). The text of this oath has been
posted on www.vanlanschot.nl/aboutvanlanschot.
The principles from the moral-ethical statement are also reflected
in Van Lanschot’s general Code of Conduct. This general Code of
Conduct applies to all current and new employees of Van Lanschot.

4. Remuneration policy

For more information about the remuneration policy, reference is
made to the section Remuneration policy on page 62.

Authorised and issued capital

Ordinary A shares
Ordinary B shares
Preference C shares
Total

depositary receipts for shares
All issued ordinary A shares are held by Stichting Administratiekantoor van gewone aandelen A Van Lanschot (the trust office),
which has issued depositary receipts for those shares, that are
listed on the Official Market of the Euronext Amsterdam stock
exchange. A depositary receipt can be converted into the
underlying share without any restrictions. Administrative costs
may be charged for this. The protective function of issuing
depositary receipts for shares was lifted in 2006. This means that,
in line with the Code, the trust office will in all cases allow the
holders of depositary receipts to exercise their voting rights.
As regards shares for which the trust office has granted no proxy
votes to the holders of depositary receipts and for which no
voting instructions have been given either, the Board of the trust
office shall decide how to vote.

Authorised capital (€)

Issued capital (€)

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

31/12/2011

%

31/12/2010

%

60,000,000
15,000,000
60,000,000

60,000,000
15,000,000
60,000,000

34,159,225
6,857,443
–

83
17
–

29,612,456
11,404,212
–

72
28
–

135,000,000

135,000,000

41,016,668

100

41,016,668

100
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The Board consists of four members and is independent from
Van Lanschot. The Board appoints its own members without the
approval of Van Lanschot being required, and it also reports on its
own activities. For this report, reference is made to page 201 of
this Annual Report. Since 1999, depositary receipts for A shares
Van Lanschot have been listed on NYSE Euronext Amsterdam.
The ordinary B shares are held by several principal shareholders
(refer to the list of shareholders at 31 December 2011 on page 6).

stichting preferente aandelen c
van lanschot
Stichting Preferente aandelen C Van Lanschot (the Stichting) and
Van Lanschot have signed a call option contract pursuant to
which the Stichting has acquired the right to subscribe to
preference C shares. The right of the Stichting to subscribe to
preference C shares once issued is at most 100% of the capital of
Van Lanschot in issue prior to the exercise of the call option.
The period within which a shareholders’ meeting must be convened
at which a motion will be tabled to redeem the preference shares
is 12 months. The following circumstances may lead to the issue
of preference C shares:
– a concentration of shares or depositary receipts for shares in
Van Lanschot as a result of purchases on the stock exchange
or the purchase of blocks of shares, other than as a pure
investment
– merger talks not leading to agreement
– the announcement of a public bid, whether or not in
combination with the above circumstances.

share plans
In 2008, the Van Lanschot Share Plan was introduced. This share
plan affords employees the opportunity to acquire Van Lanschot
shares once a year up to a capped amount at a 20% discount
to the then prevailing market price of the share. The shares
purchased at a discount will be subject to a transfer restriction
for a four-year period. After expiry of this period, they are freely
available for trading. After this four-year lock-up period they can
be sold at the then prevailing market price of the Van Lanschot
share. Furthermore, employees will receive an additional payment
after four years if they are still employed by Van Lanschot at
that time. The Van Lanschot Share Plan was designed by
Van Lanschot to consolidate its employer of choice status.
Furthermore, Van Lanschot hopes that this plan will help it to
retain staff for longer periods and foster their commitment to
Van Lanschot. In 2011, 286 employees purchased a total of
118,148 shares.

Outstanding options on ordinary shares at 31/12/2011

Exercise period
runs until

Number of options,
incl. Board of
Managing Directors

Average exercise
price (€)

2013
2016
2017
2018

119,424
176,479
1,454
4,486
9,136

51.07
73.53
40.15

Total

310,979

64.42

2012

51.04
73.53

From 1989 until 2006, Van Lanschot had a share option plan.
Since 2003, a seven-year term applies. At 31 December 2011,
the number of outstanding option rights totalled 310,979.
Van Lanschot holds shares to cover the obligations resulting from
these option rights. Van Lanschot meets its obligations under the
share and option plans with its stock of shares and the issue of
new shares.
In 2010, a management investment plan was introduced for a
select group of employees of Kempen & Co NV. This plan helps
Kempen to attract and retain professionals and foster their
long-term commitment. Under the plan, this group of employees
can invest in a special class of shares in Kempen’s equity. These
shares entitle the holders to a distribution depending on the net
profit of Kempen. Van Lanschot retains full control of Kempen.
For more information about the conditional and unconditional
shares allocated to members of the Board of Managing Directors,
reference is made to the section Remuneration policy for
members of the Board of Managing Directors on page 62.

interests in van lanschot nv to be reported
by virtue of article 5.3.3 of the financial
supervision act
On 31 December 2011, Friesland Bank NV (through Stichting
Friesland Bank) reported a 23.17% interest in Van Lanschot.
This interest comprised both ordinary B shares and depositary
receipts for ordinary A shares on the notification date.
On 13 May 2011, Stichting Administratiekantoor van gewone
aandelen A Van Lanschot reported a 75.44% interest in
Van Lanschot. This interest solely comprised ordinary A shares on
the notification date.
On 6 May 2011, Delta Lloyd NV reported a 30.35% interest in
Van Lanschot. This interest solely comprised depositary receipts
for ordinary A shares on the notification date.
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On 3 February 2010, APG Algemene Pensioen Groep NV
reported a 12.06% interest in Van Lanschot. On the same day,
Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP reported an indirect interest of
12.06% (through APG Algemene Pensioen Groep) in Van Lanschot.
These interests both comprised ordinary B shares, preference A
shares and depositary receipts for ordinary A shares on the
notification date. The preference A shares were converted into
ordinary A shares in 2010.
On 31 December 2008, LDDM Holding BV reported an 11.25%
interest in Van Lanschot. This interest comprised both ordinary B
shares and depositary receipts for ordinary A shares on the
notification date.
On 1 November 2006, SNS Reaal reported a 7.43% interest in
Van Lanschot, which interest solely comprised depositary receipts
for ordinary A shares on the notification date.

On 5 July 2011, the second tranche of 2,236,099 ordinary B
shares was converted into 2,236,099 ordinary A shares. In April
2011 and May 2011 respectively, LDDM Holding and Stichting
Pensioenfonds ABP also filed a request for conversion of
the ordinary B shares held by them into ordinary A shares. The
Board of Managing Directors approved the requests, after the
Supervisory Board had given its consent. These conversions are
also subject to the condition that these ordinary B shares are
converted in three equal annual tranches. The first tranche of the
ordinary B shares held by LDDM Holding (1,330,380 ordinary B
shares) was converted into the same number of ordinary A shares
on 13 May 2011. The first tranche of the ordinary B shares held by
Stichting Pensioensfonds ABP (980,290 ordinary B shares) was
converted into the same number of ordinary A shares on 26 May
2011.

Dividend

On 1 November 2006, Stichting Preferente aandelen C
Van Lanschot reported a potential interest of 100% in
Van Lanschot by virtue of the call option agreement concluded
between the Stichting and Van Lanschot.
In 2011, no transactions were conducted between Van Lanschot
and a natural person or legal person holding at least 10% of the
shares in Van Lanschot and which are material to Van Lanschot
and/or the person concerned.

rights of shareholders
Conversion of ordinary B shares

At the request of a holder of ordinary B shares, the Board of
Managing Directors may decide, subject to the Supervisory
Board’s approval, to convert one or more of the ordinary B shares
held by the holder into ordinary A shares representing the same
nominal value. The Board of Managing Directors may attach
conditions to this conversion. This conversion will not take place
if and insofar as the authorised capital of ordinary A shares is
not sufficient. In 2002, the Board of Managing Directors and the
Supervisory Board informed the holders of ordinary B shares
about a conversion policy, which states, among other things, that
conversion in principle takes place in three equal tranches, and
that conversion of the second and third tranches will not occur
until 12 months have passed from conversion of the first and
second tranche respectively. The request for conversion should
be made in writing to the Board of Managing Directors.
In February 2010, Friesland Bank filed a request for conversion
of the ordinary B shares held by it into ordinary A shares. After
the Supervisory Board gave its consent, the Board of Managing
Directors approved the request, on the condition that these
ordinary B shares would be converted in three equal annual
tranches as per the conversion policy of which Friesland Bank was
informed. On 5 July 2010, 2,236,099 of the ordinary B shares
held by Friesland Bank were converted into 2,236,099 ordinary A
shares (first tranche).

The portion of the profit remaining after addition to the reserves
is at the disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders. If a loss
was suffered in a financial year which could not be covered by a
reserve or in any other way, no profit distributions shall be made
until such loss has been made good.
If preference C shares have been issued, dividend will be distributed
on these shares prior to the decision to add all or part of the profit
to the reserves. The dividend on the issued preference C shares
is calculated as follows. The refinancing rate of the European
Central Bank is increased by a surcharge determined by the Board
of Managing Directors and approved by the Supervisory Board of
at least 1 percentage point and at the most 4 percentage points,
depending on the prevailing market conditions. This increased
rate is calculated based on the paid-up part of the nominal
amount of the issued preference C shares and is weighted
according to the number of days for which the distribution is
made. If the distribution on issued preference C shares cannot
(in full or in part) be made for any financial year, because the
profit available for distribution is not sufficient, the deficit will
be paid from the distributable part of equity.
Dividend can only be distributed after the relevant dividend
proposal has been approved by the General Meeting of
Shareholders.

Pre-emption right

In principle, upon an issue of ordinary shares, every holder of
ordinary shares has a pre-emption right proportionate to the
aggregate nominal amount of his ordinary shares. Ordinary A
shares are issued to holders of ordinary A shares; ordinary B
shares are issued to holders of ordinary B shares. The same
applies to the granting of rights to acquire ordinary shares.
The pre-emption right can be limited or excluded pursuant to a
resolution of the Board of Managing Directors. Such a resolution
requires the Supervisory Board’s approval. The relevant authority
of the Board of Managing Directors ends as soon as the authority
of the Board to issue shares ends (refer to the section on issue of
shares). This authority of the Board of Managing Directors may
be granted or extended for a period not exceeding five years.
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If this authority of the Board of Managing Directors ends,
exclusion or limitation of the pre-emption right takes place
following a resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders,
unless another corporate body has been authorised by the
Meeting to do so. A resolution of the General Meeting of
Shareholders to limit or exclude the pre-emption right or to
authorise another corporate body than the Board of Managing
Directors to do so, must be taken at the proposal of the Board
of Managing Directors.
Shareholders do not have any pre-emption right on shares issued
in exchange for non-cash contribution. In addition, shareholders
do not have any pre-emption rights on shares or depositary
receipts for shares issued to staff of Van Lanschot or a group
company.

special rights of shareholders
Van Lanschot has concluded a shareholder agreement with
LDDM Holding. The shareholder agreement dating from 1999
was renewed in 2011. In this renewed agreement, LDDM Holding
reconfirmed that it will continue to respect Van Lanschot’s
independence. In connection with this, LDDM Holding will not
lend its cooperation to the acquisition by a third party of a
shareholding in Van Lanschot exceeding 25% of the share capital,
except in the case of prior approval of the Board of Managing
Directors and the Supervisory Board.
In the event of any future share issues, Van Lanschot will allow
LDDM Holding, subject to certain conditions, to keep its relative
shareholding in Van Lanschot at a certain level. As long as LDDM
Holding holds an interest of at least 7.5% in Van Lanschot, it has
the right to recommend one member of the Supervisory Board.
Mr van Lanschot currently holds a seat on the Supervisory Board,
on the recommendation of LDDM Holding.
There are no special control rights attaching to shares in
Van Lanschot.

restrictions on voting rights and
deadlines for exercising voting rights
Van Lanschot has not imposed any restrictions on the exercise
of voting rights. In principle, the voting right is exercised in the
General Meeting of Shareholders by the shareholder or the
person authorised by the shareholder. A shareholder is entitled
to vote during the General Meeting of Shareholders if the shares
concerned are registered in the name of the shareholder on the
registration date (refer to the section below on the General or
Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders).

If the holders of depositary receipts for ordinary A shares have
registered for attendance at the General Meeting of Shareholders
in a timely fashion, they are granted a proxy by the trust office.
With this proxy they can themselves exercise the voting rights at
the General Meeting of Shareholders on the shares held by the
trust office and in exchange for which depositary receipts were
issued. They do not themselves have to apply for a proxy.
Proxies shall be granted to them when signing the attendance list
prior to commencement of the meeting. If the depositary receipt
holder’s right to attend the meeting is to be exercised by a
representative authorised in writing, the trust office shall grant
a proxy to the representative.
Shareholders and holders of depositary receipts for shares may
also issue a voting instruction to an independent third party
prior to the shareholders’ meeting. The convening notice for
the shareholders’ meeting concerned will state by whom and
by which date this voting instruction should be received.

issue of shares
The extent of the authority of the Board of Managing Directors
to decide on a share issue (subject to approval of the Supervisory
Board) is determined based on a resolution of the General
Meeting of Shareholders. The duration of this authority and
its extension are also determined through a resolution of the
General Meeting of Shareholders and may not exceed five years.
If this authority of the Board of Managing Directors ends, the
share issue takes place following a resolution of the General
Meeting of Shareholders, unless another corporate body has been
authorised by the Meeting to do so. A resolution of the General
Meeting of Shareholders to issue shares or to authorise another
body than the Board of Managing Directors to do so, must be
taken at the proposal of the Board of Managing Directors.
In the shareholders’ meeting of 11 May 2011, it was decided
to extend the authority of the Board of Managing Directors to
issue ordinary A and B shares, including the granting of rights to
acquire these shares, for a period of 18 months after the date of
this meeting. The authority relating to the issue of these shares
is limited to 10% of the issued capital, to be increased by an
additional 10% of the issued capital if the issue is made within
the context of a merger or takeover.

repurchase of shares
Repurchasing paid-up shares in the company or depositary
receipts for such shares, other than for no consideration, may
only take place if the General Meeting of Shareholders has
authorised the Board of Managing Directors to do so.
This authorisation applies for a maximum period of 18 months.
Repurchase takes place by virtue of a resolution of the Board of
Managing Directors, subject to the Supervisory Board’s approval.
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In the shareholders’ meeting of 11 May 2011, the Board of
Managing Directors was authorised to repurchase paid-up
ordinary A and/or B shares in the company or depositary receipts
for such shares, by buying such shares on the stock exchange or
otherwise, up to 10% maximum of the issued capital, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, for a period of 18 months
from the date of the meeting.

(extraordinary) general meeting of
shareholders

By virtue of this authorisation, Van Lanschot started repurchasing
depositary receipts for ordinary A shares on 16 August 2011. This
share buy-back programme was terminated on 31 December 2011.
A total of 188,124 depositary receipts for ordinary A shares were
repurchased. The share buy-back programme was carried out
in order to cover the shares to be awarded to employees within
the scope of the existing remuneration policy and share plan.
The share buy-back programme was carried out by a third party,
as a result of which trading decisions on how many shares and
the timing of the transactions were taken independently from
Van Lanschot.

A registration date applies to each General Meeting of Shareholders,
which date is the 28th day prior to that meeting, which serves to
determine who qualify as voting shareholder or depositary receipt
holder for the General Meeting of Shareholders concerned. In the
notice convening the meeting, the registration date is mentioned,
as well as the way in which shareholders and depositary receipt
holders can register and how they can exercise their rights, either
in person or through a representative authorised in writing.

transfer of shares and depositary receipts
for shares
The transfer of the ordinary B shares requires the prior approval
of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Managing Directors.
The Articles of Association and/or the trust conditions do not
contain any restrictions for the transfer of the depositary
receipts for ordinary A shares, the ordinary A shares and the
preference C shares.

Each voting shareholder and depositary receipt holder is authorised,
either in person or through a representative authorised in writing,
to attend the General Meeting of Shareholders, address the
meeting and exercise the voting right.

A shareholder, depositary receipt holder or his representative is
only admitted to the meeting if they have informed the company
in writing about their intention to attend, and if this is done in the
way as stated in the convening notice. He will only have access
to the meeting if the shares concerned or depositary receipts
concerned are registered in the name of the shareholder or
the depositary receipt holder on the registration date.
The representative will also have to present his written proxy.
A written proxy may be sent electronically. Each share entitles the
holder to cast one vote in the shareholders’ meeting. The main
powers of the General Meeting of Shareholders are as follows:
–

–

amendment to the articles of association

–

A resolution to amend the Articles of Association of Van Lanschot
can only be passed following a proposal of the Board of Managing
Directors, which has been approved by the Supervisory Board.

–
–
–

Euronext Amsterdam NV will be consulted about the content of
such proposal to amend the Articles prior to this being presented
to the General Meeting of Shareholders. The AFM will be
informed about the proposal. This notification will be made at the
latest on the day on which the General Meeting of Shareholders
is convened, in which meeting the proposal to amend the Articles
will be put to the vote. If a proposal to amend the Articles of
Association is presented to the General Meeting of Shareholders,
a copy of the proposal is made available to the shareholders and
holders of depositary receipts prior to the meeting.
On 26 May 2011, the Articles of Association of Van Lanschot
were amended; they were brought in line with the provisions of
(i) the Act on Electronic Means of Communication, (ii) the Act
to implement the EC Directive on certain shareholders rights in
listed companies, (iii) the Act on Definition of Position and Right
to Speak of Works Councils.

–
–

–
–
–

–
–

approving decisions of the Board of Managing Directors to
make an important change to the identity or nature of the
company or the business
appointing members of the Supervisory Board on the
recommendation of the Supervisory Board
setting the remuneration of the members of the Supervisory
Board
passing a motion of no confidence in the Supervisory Board
determining the remuneration policy for the Board of
Managing Directors
approving regulations in the form of shares and/or rights
to acquire shares for the Board of Managing Directors
adopting the financial statements
having the disposal of the profit that remains after dividend
has been distributed on any outstanding preference C shares
and after the decision to retain the profit in whole or in part
has been taken
granting discharge to the Board of Managing Directors
granting discharge to the Supervisory Board
granting the Board of Managing Directors the authority to
issue shares and to limit or exclude pre-emption rights upon
the issue of shares
granting the Board of Managing Directors the authority to
repurchase own shares
resolving to amend the Articles of Association of Van Lanschot,
to dissolve Van Lanschot or to effect a legal change or
demerger of Van Lanschot, following a proposal of the Board
of Managing Directors, which has been approved by the
Supervisory Board.
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main features of management and control
system at van lanschot
The management and control system at Van Lanschot in
connection with the financial reporting process is aimed at
providing reasonable assurance about the reliability of the
financial reporting, and that the financial statements were
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.
The main features of the management of financial reporting at
Van Lanschot are as follows:
– The Van Lanschot Accounting Manual, setting out the
principles applied by Van Lanschot insofar as these concern
regulations in the field of financial accounting
– Description of processes and procedures addressing risk
management, internal control and segregation of duties,
including the financial key controls safeguarding the
adequate functioning of the management and control system
for financial reporting
– Several forms of management reports, accompanied by
in-depth analyses of financial and non-financial figures and
trends
– Assessment and approval of the financial accounting by the
Board of Managing Directors and its discussion in the Audit
& Compliance Committee and in the Supervisory Board
– Examination of the functioning of this management and
control system by the internal auditor and the external
auditor. The findings are discussed in the Board of Managing
Directors, in the Audit & Compliance Committee and in the
Supervisory Board.

external auditor
In 2011, the audit programme of Ernst & Young was discussed in
the meeting of the Board of Managing Directors and of the Audit
& Compliance Committee. The audit programme was approved.
Since Mr Nijssen is approachting the end of his seven-year term
of appointment, another Ernst & Young auditor will take over his
work on the audit of the financial statements. The reappointment
of Ernst & Young as auditor will be addressed in 2013.

financial reporting risk
The Board of Managing Directors of Van Lanschot is responsible
for the design and effectiveness of an adequate system of internal
control over the financial reporting process. This system of
internal control is aimed at providing reasonable assurance about
the reliability of financial reporting, as well as on the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

The Board of Managing Directors states with reasonable
assurance that the system of internal control over financial
reporting performed at an adequate level and that the financial
reporting of Van Lanschot is therefore free of material
misstatement.
The Board of Managing Directors founds this statement on an
extensive analysis of the financial reporting risk as conducted
by the Board. As part of this analysis, the Board of Managing
Directors discussed the way in which this reporting risk is
controlled and to what extent this is done, as well as any potential
improvements. In addition, the financial key controls were
evaluated.
The Audit & Compliance Committee also discussed these
subjects. These subjects were also addressed by all Supervisory
Board members as part of the annual discussion of the findings of
the evaluation performed by the Board of Managing Directors of
the design and effectiveness of the system of internal control and
risk management.
In 2011, the financial audit activities were largely transferred from
the internal auditor to the external auditor. This process resulted
in a further professionalisation of the financial reporting activities.
The financial management information and the risk management
information were further improved in 2011. The relationship
between the strategic assumptions and the operational tolerance
was further defined in the Risk Appetite Dashboard. Together
with the annual management agenda of the bank, this
management information forms a valuable tool to monitor
achievement of the bank’s strategic objectives.
Financial accounting of the bank is supported by various systems
and several spreadsheet applications, which may lead to an
increased risk. Therefore, effective supplementary control
measures were taken in this environment.
All subsidiaries of Van Lanschot issued in-control statements,
based on their own evaluation of control over the financial
reporting risk.

information by virtue of the decree
implementing article 10 of the takeover
directive
In the Decree implementing Article 10 of the Takeover Directive
(Decree dated 5 April 2006 implementing Article 10 of Directive
2004/25/EC of the European Parliament and the Council of
the European Union of 21 April 2004 on takeover bids), further
regulations have been formulated about the content of the
annual report. In the list below, the required information and the
place where this information can be found in this annual report
are set out, insofar as not already discussed in this chapter.
The system of control of any employee share scheme where the control
rights are not exercised directly by the employees.
Refer to page 62, Remuneration policy for members of the Board
of Managing Directors.
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Any signiﬁcant agreements which take effect, alter or terminate upon a
change of control of Van Lanschot NV following a takeover bid, and the
effects thereof, within the meaning of Section 5:70 of the Financial
Supervision Act (Wft).
The shareholder agreement concluded by F. van Lanschot
Bankiers NV with De Goudse NV, within the scope of the partial
sale of Van Lanschot Assurantiën Holding BV, contains a ‘change
of control’ clause. By virtue of this clause, in the event of a change
of control, De Goudse has the right to acquire the shares held
by F. van Lanschot Bankiers in Van Lanschot Chabot Holding B.V.
(a call option) or to transfer the shares held by De Goudse in
Van Lanschot Chabot Holding to F. van Lanschot Bankiers (a put
option).
Any agreements between Van Lanschot NV and one of its board
members or an employee providing for compensation upon termination
of the employment because of a takeover bid within the meaning of
Section 5:70 of the Financial Supervision Act (Wft).
Van Lanschot has not concluded any agreements with one of its
board members or an employee providing for compensation upon
termination of the employment because of a takeover bid within
the meaning of Section 5:70 of the Financial Supervision Act (Wft).

executive board responsibility statement
By virtue of Section 5:25c(2)(c) of the Dutch Financial
Supervision Act (Wft), the Board of Managing Directors
declares that, to the best of the directors’ knowledge:
– the annual financial statements give a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and the profit
or loss of Van Lanschot and its consolidated entities;
– the directors’ report gives a true and fair view of the
position of the company and its related entities whose
financial information has been consolidated in the
annual financial statements as at the reporting date
and of their state of affairs during the financial year and
that the annual report describes the material risks that
Van Lanschot faces.

’s-Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands, 8 March 2012
Board of Managing Directors
Floris Deckers, Chairman
Arjan Huisman
Constant Korthout
Ieko Sevinga
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remuneration policy for
members of the board of
managing directors
Remuneration report
The remuneration policy for the members of the Board of
Managing Directors was adopted in the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders on 6 May 2010 and implemented with retroactive
effect to 1 January 2010. In the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders of 11 May 2011 the remuneration structure was
amended due to new legislation.
The remuneration policy is based on the following assumptions.
The remuneration policy of the Board of Managing Directors
should:
a. be in line with the bank’s strategy, risk appetite, objectives
and core values
b. take account of the long-term interests of the bank
c. show restraint and be sustainable, and pay heed to the client
focus

d.
e.
f.

be in line with the market, socially acceptable, transparent
and easy to explain
comply with the principles included in the Banking Code
and in the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and
be in keeping with the principles of the Regulation on Sound
Remuneration Policies pursuant to the Dutch Financial
Supervision Act (Wft 2011).

The policy is revised every two years.
Based on the above assumptions, the remuneration package is
made up of three elements:
1. fixed salary
2. variable pay
3. fringe benefits

Remuneration summary of the Board of Managing Directors
Type of payment

Objective

Fixed income

Cash

Reflection of responsibilities, performance and
market development

Variable pay

40% in cash
60% in shares

Combination of attraction and retention
Reflection of achievement of long-term strategy

Fringe benefits

Pension contribution
Disability contribution
Chauffeured car
Fixed expense allowance
Discount on banking products

Market-based emoluments

Remuneration summary (fixed and variable)
Variable

Fixed

Mr Deckers
Mr Huisman
Mr Korthout
Mr Sevinga

€ 650,000
€ 425,000
€ 425,000
€ 425,000

Below target

On target

0%
0%
0%
0%

75%
75%
75%
75%

Maximum
€
€
€
€

487,500
318,750
318,750
318,750

100%
100%
100%
100%

€ 650,000
€ 425,000
€ 425,000
€ 425000
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The second table on the previous page sets out information
on the remuneration under the remuneration policy (the fixed
annual salary and the variable pay if performance is below target,
on target or maximum, expressed as a percentage of the fixed
salary. This table provides insight into the scenario analysis in
compliance with best practice provision II.2.1 of the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code.

benchmark 2009
The remuneration policy was determined in 2009 based on an
extensive benchmark review. This was based on the composition
of the labour market reference group for financial institutions
and general industry. The following companies made up the
reference group: ABN AMRO Nederland, AEGON Nederland,
ASR Nederland, BinckBank, Delta Lloyd Nederland, Friesland
Bank, ING Bank Nederland, Julius Baer, Kas Bank, KBC Groep
Nederland, NIBC, Robeco Groep, Sarasin, SNS Reaal and
Vontobel (financial institutions) and Aalberts Industries, Arcadis,
ASM International, Crucell, CSM, Imtech, Mediq, Nutreco,
Smit International and USG People (general industry).

benchmark 2011
At the end of 2011, the Supervisory Board requested Hay Group
to re-perform the 2009 benchmark review. The composition of
the financial labour market reference group remained unchanged.
The general industry reference group was adjusted, because
Crucell and Smit International were taken over by Johnson &
Johnson and Boskalis respectively. The Remuneration Committee
replaced these two companies by the following companies:
Grontmij, Telegraaf Media Groep, TKH Group.
The benchmark review showed that the total direct compensation
of the members of the Board of Managing Directors is around the
median level if performance is on target. For more information,
reference is made to the Chapter Corporate Governance under
the heading Implementation of the Banking Code by Van Lanschot.

fixed salary
In principle, the fixed salary is revised once every two years on
the basis of a number of factors: Van Lanschot’s development
and performance, the individual development and performance
of the directors, trends in remuneration in the bank’s relevant
environment, and changes in the Dutch Consumer Price Index.

variable pay
If variable pay is awarded, 60% shall be in the form of ordinary
A shares in Van Lanschot (hereinafter: shares) and 40% in cash.
Total variable pay is unconditional for 40% (the cash portion)
and 60% is conditional (the portion in shares).

After a lock-up period of three years, the shares become
unconditional, if:
(i) the organisation’s financial status in the year of deferred
payment allows this;
(ii) the risks taken were re-assessed and no material unexpected
or unanticipated risks occurred; and
(iii) the recipient of the remuneration has not terminated his
employment with Van Lanschot.
Depending on compliance with the conditions, the variable pay
in the form of shares can fully or partially be adjusted downwards.
When the shares become unconditional (the payment), as many
shares may be sold as required in order to compensate for the
corresponding payroll tax payable. The shares should subsequently
be held for a period of at least two years after payment. The total
period after which a member of the Board of Managing Directors
has the shares at his disposal is therefore at least five years.
Performance below target does not lead to variable pay. The
granting of variable pay is contingent on Van Lanschot earning
a profit.
The annual targets are in line with the strategy and have a
proportion of 60% financial and 40% non-financial. Each predetermined target is given its own weighting. Financial targets
relate to such matters as capital ratios, profit, preserving the bank’s
sound position, market share, and an acceptable risk profile.
Non-financial targets are distinguished into those relating to
clients (for instance improvement of client satisfaction and
simplification of products and services), employees (for instance
investments in professional competence of staff and follow-up of
the outcome of the employee survey) and regulators (for instance
achievement of duty of care objectives).
The targets set shall apply to all board members, although
different weighting factors may be applied in respect of each
member.
The Remuneration Committee determines the extent to which
the targets have been met after the end of each year. A weighted
score is given for the extent to which each target is achieved.
Depending on the extent to which the achievement is on target,
the Remuneration Committee allocates a percentage between
75% and 100% of the individual fixed salary. Furthermore, each
year, the fairness of the long-term objectives of the members of
the Board of Managing Directors is tested. It is then assessed
whether achievement of the annual individual targets over a
five-year period also led to achievement of the long-term criteria
formulated for the bank. Based on the outcome, the variable
pay can be adjusted downwards.
The Remuneration Committee consults the Chairmen of the
Audit & Compliance Committee and the Risk Committee on the
determination of the annual targets of the members of the Board
of Managing Directors and the formation of an opinion about
the achievement of the targets by the members of the Board of
Managing Directors. The Supervisory Board eventually determines
the targets and their achievement as proposed by the Remuneration
Committee. The financial targets can be measured and verified by
the external auditor.
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pension scheme and other benefits
The members of the Board of Managing Directors receive a
pension contribution. In 2010, the pension contribution for the
Chairman was adjusted from 27% to 23% and for the other
Board members from 27% to 21% of the fixed annual salary.
The Board members arrange their own pensions. A downward
adjustment was also applied to the contribution for disability
insurance: from 3.33% to 2.82% (Chairman) and 2.59% (other
Board members) of the fixed annual salary. In an absolute sense,
both contributions remained equal. No early retirement schemes
have been agreed upon with the members of the Board of
Managing Directors. The compensation payable upon dismissal is
in keeping with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and the
Banking Code and amounts at most to one annual salary (= gross
fixed annual salary).
The other terms and conditions of employment for the members
of the Board of Managing Directors are common practice in the
banking industry. The same discounts on banking products are
given as applicable to employees, and they participate in the
group health insurance scheme. Finally, Van Lanschot provides a
chauffeured car and a net annual expense allowance of € 5,160.

The table below provides details of the fixed salaries applying in
the past four years.

Mr Deckers
Mr Huisman**
Mr Korthout***
Mr Sevinga
*

2011

2009*

2010

2011

2010

2009

2008

Mr Deckers
Mr Huisman

€ 172,990 € 172,990
€ 105,418 € 97,063

€ 171,975
–

€ 171,975
–

Mr Korthout
Mr Sevinga

€ 105,418 € 26,354
€ 105,418 € 105,418

–
€ 105,249

–
€ 105,249

Detailed information on the total remuneration, fixed salary,
variable pay, pension contributions and awards of shares and
options can be found in the section Remuneration of the Board
of Managing Directors and Supervisory Board on page 180 of the
2011 financial statements.
During 2011, no compensation on dismissal or other special
compensations were paid to current of former Board members.

The payment of the variable pay for 2010 granted by the
Supervisory Board was suspended at the request of the Board
of Managing Directors. The Board of Managing Directors first
wanted to be sure that the recovery of the bank would continue.

2008

€ 650,000
€ 425,000

€ 650,000
€ 389,583

€ 550,000
–

€ 550,000
–

€ 425,000
€ 425,000

€ 106,250
€ 425,000

–
€ 330,000

–
€ 330,000

As part of cost control measures, the members of the Board of Managing Directors took a
one-year reduction in their salaries in 2009, to € 500,000 for Mr Deckers and € 300,000 for
Mr Sevinga.

**

Other payments

remuneration policy for board of managing
directors up to and including 2010

payments

Fixed salaries

Since 2008, the members of the Board of Managing Directors
have received other payments as specified in the table below.
These amounts include the pension contribution, the contribution
towards disability insurance and the net expense allowance.

Mr Huisman’s employment contract commenced on 1 February 2010.

*** Mr Korthout’s employment contract commenced on 1 October 2010.

The Supervisory Board understood this. Based on the 2011
half-year figures, it concluded that the recovery that started in
2010 was sustained. The Supervisory Board then resolved to pay
out the variable pay in August. Of this variable pay, 50% was paid
out in cash and 50% in unconditional shares subject to a five-year
lock-up period.
The long-term component of variable pay, i.e. the shares that
were awarded conditionally in 2009, will become unconditional in
2012 because the target set, i.e. average increase in earnings per
share of > 15% over a three-year period, was met.

Variable pay of the members of the Board of Managing Directors
in the past four years was as follows:

discretionary authority to award variable
pay and claw-back provision
Variable pay

*

2011

2010

2009

2008

Mr Deckers
Mr Huisman

€0
€0

€ 515,125
€ 319,945

€0
–

€ 176,000
–

Mr Korthout
Mr Sevinga

€0
€0

–*
€ 349,563

–
€0

–
€ 79,440

Mr Korthout received a contractually agreed-upon compensation of € 300,000 for lost variable
pay allocated to him by his previous employer by virtue of his variable pay for 2010.

The Supervisory Board shall continue to have the discretionary
authority to increase variable pay by a maximum of 25% of the
fixed annual salary, in exceptional circumstances only, after
receiving a proposal to this effect from the Remuneration
Committee, on the understanding that the total variable pay shall
be capped at 100% of the fixed annual salary. This authority was
granted in view of the fact that unexpected major challenges may
arise during the course of the year that could not yet be taken
into account at the time the individual targets were formulated.
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The Supervisory Board also has the authority to reclaim variable
pay that was granted on the basis of incorrect financial and other
data (claw-back provision). In addition, the Supervisory Board has
the authority to apply an upward or downward adjustment to
variable pay granted if this pay would lead to unfair or unintended
outcomes. These authorities were not exercised in 2011.

changes in 2012 remuneration structure
As mentioned earlier, a benchmark review of the remuneration of
the Board of Managing Directors was performed in 2011. This did
not lead to a proposal to the General Meeting of Shareholders to
adjust the remuneration policy for the Board of Managing
Directors. The Supervisory Board decided to apply the changes
referred to below to the remuneration policy.
In 2011, the structure of the remuneration policy for the Board
of Managing Directors was adjusted in order to comply with
the Regulation on Sound Remuneration Policies pursuant to the
Dutch Financial Supervision Act (Wft 2011). These adjustments
were subsequently submitted to the General Meeting of
Shareholders. The General Meeting of Shareholders has granted
the Supervisory Board the authority to adjust the remuneration
policy for any technical aspects that may arise from comments of
the Dutch Central Bank. At the end of 2011, the Dutch Central
Bank, following the assessment of the remuneration policy,
informed the bank that the structure chosen should indeed be
adjusted in certain respects to its interpretation of the Regulation
on Sound Remuneration Policies (Wft 2011). The adjustments
were made fully in accordance with the findings of the Dutch
Central Bank. This solely concerns technical changes, falling within
the mandate granted by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
Furthermore, the Supervisory Board decided to change the
frequency of the review of the remuneration policy and the
adjustment of the fixed salary from once every two years to once
every four years. That said the Supervisory Board is authorised to
index the fixed salary during this period (insofar as necessary)
based on objective factors.

financial statements
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consolidated statement of financial position at 31 december 2011
€ thousand

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

1,154,324
80,044
544,947
515,331
844,977
14,270,431
252,648
43,986
158,240
318,672
4,319
39,209
–
226,394

414,251
104,748
1,040,073
52,267
1,267,134
15,710,224
204,251
42,044
161,122
341,499
2,604
46,456
747,582
190,862

18,453,522

20,325,117

29,614
398,052
13,100,131
20,165
379,541
2,321,837
15,884
9,271
41,532
–
418,863
152,764

70,135
945,511
13,545,650
19,157
294,001
1,945,982
16,795
11,009
36,489
756,634
477,050
421,809

16,887,654

18,540,222

41,017
– 5,837
479,914
957,652
34,499

41,017
– 11,018
479,914
895,225
56,538

1,507,245

1,461,676

Minority interests (perpetual loans)
Undistributed profit attributable to minority interests (holders of
perpetual loans)
Other minority interests
Undistributed profit attributable to other minority interests

36,063

300,514

7,587
13,932
1,041

9,719
12,533
453

Equity attributable to minority interests

58,623

323,219

1,565,868

1,784,895

18,453,522

20,325,117

337,518
587,527

331,949
1,130,428

925,045

1,462,377

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with
central banks
Financial assets held for trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates using the equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Assets of operations held for sale
Other assets

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector liabilities
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Provisions
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Liabilities of operations held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans

(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(7)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)

Total liabilities
Issued share capital
Treasury shares
Share premium
Other reserves
Undistributed profit attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV
Equity attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV

Total equity

(26)

Total equity and liabilities
Contingent liabilities
Irrevocable commitments

The number beside each item refers to the relevant note.

(27)
(28)
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consolidated statement of income for 2011
€ thousand

2011

2010

1,099,360
804,204

912,509
576,588

295,156

335,921

3,605
7,339

6,397
6,619

10,944

13,016

236,968
6,484

238,162
5,973

Income from operating activities
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

(29)

Income from associates using the equity method
Other income from securities and associates
Income from securities and associates

(30)

Commission income
Commission expense
Net commission income

(31)

230,484

232,189

Profit on financial transactions

(32)

– 239

30,164

Other income

(33)

16,041

19,597

552,386

630,887

224,753
164,697

236,093
167,147

389,450

403,240

37,006

36,653

426,456

439,893

61,090
18,304

86,508
15,950

79,394

102,458

505,850

542,351

46,536

88,536

6,211

22,943

40,325

65,593

2,802

1,117

Net profit

43,127

66,710

Of which attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV
Of which attributable to holders of perpetual loans
Of which attributable to other minority interests

34,499
7,587
1,041

56,538
9,719
453

0.84
0.84
0.78

1.47
1.47
1.44

0.77
0.40

1.44
0.70

Total income from operating activities
Expenses
Staff costs
Other administrative expenses

(34)
(35)

Staff costs and other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

(36)

Operating expenses
Addition to loan loss provision
Other impairments
Impairments

(37)

Total expenses
Operating profit before tax
Income tax

(38)

Net profit from continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Earnings per ordinary share (€)
Diluted earnings per ordinary share (€)
Earnings per ordinary share from continuing operations (€)
Diluted earnings per ordinary share from continuing
operations (€)
Proposed dividend per ordinary share (€)
The number beside each item refers to the relevant note.

(39)

(40)
(41)
(42)

(43)

69

consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2011
€ thousand

2011

2010

43,127

66,710

Other comprehensive income through the revaluation reserve
Revaluation of equity instruments
Revaluation of debt instruments
Realised return on equity instruments
Realised return on debt instruments
Impairments of equity instruments through profit or loss
Reclassifications to associates using the equity method
Tax

– 2,159
8,329
– 2,664
– 21,106
119
–
3,863

2,250
39,843
– 469
– 33,160
1,342
– 8,472
– 2,660

Total other comprehensive income through the revaluation reserve (26)

– 13,618

– 1,326

9,259
– 9,724
15,791
– 3,832

16,951
– 18,134
2,426
– 405

11,494

838

Other comprehensive income from currency translation differences
Tax

368
–

336
–

Total other comprehensive income from currency translation
differences

368

336

Total other comprehensive income

– 1,756

– 152

Total comprehensive income

41,371

66,558

Of which attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV

32,743

56,386

Of which attributable to holders of perpetual loans

7,587

9,719

Of which attributable to other minority interests

1,041

453

Net profit as per statement of income
Other comprehensive income *

Other comprehensive income from value changes of derivatives
(cash flow hedges)
Increase in value of derivatives directly added to equity
Decrease in value of derivatives directly charged against equity
Realised gains/losses through profit or loss
Tax

Total other comprehensive income from value changes of
derivatives (cash flow hedges)

*

For additional information on the nature and composition of equity, reference is made to note 26.

(26)

(26)
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consolidated statement of changes in equity at 31 december 2011
€ thousand

2008

Equity attributable to holders of equity instruments of Van Lanschot 2011
Issued
share
capital

Treasury
shares

41,017

– 11,018

479,914

–
–

–
–

Total comprehensive income

–

Shares issued
Options exercised
To other reserves
Repurchased equity instruments
Dividends
Other changes
Acquisition of/change in minority
interests

Balance at 1 January
Net profit (as per statement of
income)
Total other comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December

Share
premium*

Other
reserves*

Equity
attributable
to third
parties

Total
equity

1,461,676

323,219

1,784,895

34,499
–

34,499
– 1,756

8,628
–

43,127
– 1,756

– 1,756

34,499

32,743

8,628

41,371

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
– 3,446
56,538
–
– 28,673
39,764

–
–
– 56,538
–
–
–

–
6,500
–
– 4,765
– 28,673
39,764

–
–
–
– 264,451
– 9,719
–

–
6,500
–
269,216
– 38,392
39,764

–

–

–

–

–

946

946

– 5,837

479,914

957,652

34,499

1,507,245

58,623

1,565,868

Undistributed
profit
209.824

Total equity
attributable

895,225

56,538

–
–

–
– 1,756

–

–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
9,946
–
– 4,765
–
–

–
41,017

to
shareholders

2008

Equity attributable to holders of equity instruments of Van Lanschot 2010

Balance at 1 January
Net profit (as per statement of
income)
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Shares issued
Options exercised
To other reserves
Repurchased equity instruments
Dividends
Other changes
Acquisition of/change in minority
interests
Balance at 31 December

*

Issued
share
capital

Treasury
shares

Share
premium*

Other
reserves*

Undistributed
profit
9.824

Total equity
attributable
to
shareholders

Equity
attributable
to third
parties

Total
equity

35,194

– 18,158

315,406

932,045

– 26,069

1,238,418

312,906

1,551,324

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
– 152

56,538
–

56,538
– 152

10,172
–

66,710
– 152

–

–

–

– 152

56,538

56,386

10,172

66,558

5,823
–
–
–
–
–

–
7,866
–
– 726
–
–

164,508
–
–
–
–
–

–
– 6,221
– 26,069
–
–
– 4,378

–
–
26,069
–
–
–

170,331
1,645
–
– 726
–
– 4,378

–
–
–
– 247
– 10,376
–

170,331
1,645
–
– 973
– 10,376
– 4,378

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,764

10,764

41,017

– 11,018

479,914

895,225

56,538

1,461,676

323,219

1,784,895

For additional information on the nature and composition of share premium and other reserves, reference is made to note 26.
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consolidated statement of cash flows for 2011
€ thousand

Cash flow from operating activities
Operating profit before tax

2011

2010

46,536

88,536

Adjustments for
– Depreciation and amortisation
(36)
– Valuation results on associates using the equity method
– Valuation results on financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
– Impairments
(37)

37,006
– 4,133

36,653
– 7,395

– 14,404
79,394

–
102,458

Cash flow from operating activities

144,399

220,252

– 15,817
– 447,652
29,299

37,064
17,658
– 1,789,765

933,184
37,143
– 911
– 93,719
12,290
– 9,664

1,305,042
4,367
– 2,481
– 123,070
11,890
– 24,032

444,153

– 563,327

588,552

– 343,075

– 6,250

18,460

– 676,349
– 2,551
–
– 14,660
– 18,562
– 5,199

– 671,986
– 16,706
2,674
– 18,111
– 15,004
– 17,051

1,092,117
4,422
10,095
3,325
2,109

380,186
16,755
9,503
10,765
13,414

394,747

– 305,561

Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets and liabilities
– Financial assets/liabilities from held for trading
– Financial assets/liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
– Due from/due to banks
– Loans and advances to the public and private sectors/Public and
private sector liabilities
– Derivatives
– Provisions
– Other assets and liabilities
– Deferred tax assets/liabilities
– Current tax assets/liabilities
Total movement in assets and liabilities

Net cash flow from operating activities

Net cash flow from discontinued operations
Cash flow from investing activities
Investments and acquisitions
– Investments in debt instruments
– Investments in equity instruments
– Investments in group companies (exclusive of cash acquired)
– Investments in associates
– Property, plant and equipment
– Intangible assets
Divestments, repayments and sales
– Investments in debt instruments
– Investments in equity instruments
– Investments in associates
– Property, plant and equipment
– Intangible assets
Net cash flow from investing activities
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consolidated statement of cash flows for 2011 (continued)
€ thousand

2011

2010

Cash flow from financing activities
Changes in treasury shares
Changes in other reserves
Perpetual loans
Minority interests
Redemption on subordinated loans
Receipts on debt securities
Redemption on debt securities
Dividends paid

5,181
25,934
– 177,182
1,987
– 269,045
640,528
– 354,074
– 28,673

7,140
– 20,923
– 904
11,217
– 11,512
1,242,070
– 683,969
–

Net cash flow from financing activities

– 155,344

543,119

821,705

– 87,057

388,997

476,054

1,210,702

388,997

1,082,668
818,049
– 9,664
19,386

928,009
708,602
– 16,645
19,874

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and balances
withdrawable with central banks
Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with central
banks at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with central
banks at 31 December
Supplementary disclosure
Cash flows from interest received
Cash flows from interest paid
Cash flows from income tax
Cash flows from dividends received

Totaal activa

(1)

(1)
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summary of significant accounting principles

General
Van Lanschot is a private bank mainly catering to high net worth
individuals and entrepreneurs in the Netherlands and Belgium.
Van Lanschot NV is the holding company of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV.
The company’s registered office is at Hooge Steenweg 27-31, 5211 JN
‘s-Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands. Van Lanschot NV is a company
incorporated and established in the Netherlands whose depositary
receipts for ordinary A shares are publicly traded on the Official Market
of Euronext Amsterdam Stock Exchange. The consolidated financial
statements of Van Lanschot NV at 31 December 2011 were prepared by
the Board of Managing Directors on 7 March 2012 and will be submitted
to the General Meeting of Shareholders for adoption on 10 May 2012.

Impairments
At the reporting date, it is assessed for all assets whether there are
objective indicators of impairment. Objective indicators may arise in
the event of significantly changed market circumstances regarding
for instance share prices, exchange rates or interest rates.
If unrecoverable financial assets generate cash flows after having been
written off, these cash flows are taken directly to the statement of income.
Impairments are determined on the basis of the difference between
carrying amount and the recoverable amount. Impairments are taken
directly to the statement of income under the line item Impairments.
Impairments of loans and advances to the public and private sectors

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Van Lanschot and its subsidiaries
are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). The assets and
liabilities disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are carried
in accordance with the accounting principles as set out below.
Functional and reporting currency
The consolidated financial statements are denominated in euros, the
functional and reporting currency of Van Lanschot NV.
Changes in the presentation
In the statement of financial position, the item Financial assets
designated as at fair value through profit or loss was assigned a higher
level of liquidity in connection with the addition to this item of a portfolio
of highly liquid assets. For this reason, the item was reclassified. In
addition, a number of smaller changes were made in order to further
improve the accessibility and understandability.
Significant accounting judgments and estimates
In the process of applying the accounting policies Van Lanschot uses
estimates and assumptions which can have a significant impact on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements. The estimates and
assumptions are based on the most recent information available. Actual
amounts in the future may differ from the estimates and assumptions.
The principale estimates and assumptions are set out below.
Continuity
The Board of Managing Directors examined to what extent the bank is
able to continue its operations and concluded that the bank is able to do
so in the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of any
material uncertainties that cast significant doubt on the bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The financial statements have been
prepared on this basis.

When determining whether impairments exist, a distinction is made
between items for which there are objective indicators of impairment
and items for which there are no objective indicators of impairment.
For all items where an objective indication of impairment exists, an
estimate is made of the future cash flows which are discounted based on
the Discounted Cash Flow method. Assumptions used are the estimate of
the liquidation or other value of the collateral, estimate of payments to
be received, estimate of the timing of these payments and the discount rate.
Since this concerns a loss event, and IFRS does not allow taking account of
future loss events, probability does not play a role in the measurement of
individual impairments, other than the expectations regarding the cash flows.
Loans for which there is no objective indication of impairment are
included in the collective assessment Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR).
Value decreases which occurred at reporting date but of which the bank
is not yet aware due to an information time lag, are estimated based on
the product of Exposure At Default (EAD) x Probability of Default (PD)
x Loss Given Default (LGD) x confirmation period. The confirmation
period is the number of quarters during which the information time lag
exists (minimum 0, maximum 4).
In 2011, a change in accounting estimate was applied. Where previously
insignificant items were provided for on a collective basis, these were all
provided for on an individual basis with effect from this year. In addition,
several refinements were made to the way in which the IBNR provision is
calculated. These changes do not have a material impact on the provision
calculated.
If an asset becomes permanently unrecoverable, it is written off and
charged against the relevant line item. The impairment provision
previously formed is then released to the relevant line item.
Impairment of investments in equity instruments

Determination of fair value

The fair value of financial instruments, insofar as available and provided
there is an active market, are based on stock exchange prices at the
reporting date. For financial assets, the bid price is used; for financial
liabilities, the selling price.
The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is
determined based on cash flow and option and other valuation models.
These models are based on the market circumstances prevailing at the
reporting date. Estimates mainly relate to estimating future cash flows
and discount rates. For more details, reference is made to the section
Risk Management (page 84).

An investment in equity instruments is considered to be impaired if its
carrying amount permanently exceeds the recoverable amount, i.e. the
fair value is significantly or prolonged below cost. With available-forsale investments, any revaluation in equity is first deducted. An increase
in value occurring after an impairment is treated as a (new) revaluation
and recognised in equity.
Impairment of investments in debt instruments

An investment in debt instruments is tested for impairment if there is
objective evidence of financial problems occurring at the counterparty,
the collapse of a market or other indications. With available-for-sale
investments, any revaluation in equity is first deducted.
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If, during the subsequent period, the amount of the impairment of an
available-for-sale debt instrument decreases, and the decrease can
objectively be attributed to an event occurring after the write-off, the
impairment previously recorded is reversed through profit or loss.

Van Lanschot’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is consolidated
proportionately. Under this method, in the relevant parts of the financial
statements, Van Lanschot recognises its share in the income and expenses,
assets and liabilities and cash flows of the individual joint ventures.

Impairments of non-ﬁnancial assets

In case of subsidiaries not fully controlled by Van Lanschot, the minority
interest in equity is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position as a component of total equity. The profit for the
reporting period that can be attributed to the minority interest is
disclosed separately.

The recoverable amount of non-financial assets is the higher of the
fair value of an asset less costs to sell and its value in use. This fair
value less costs to sell is based on a market-based transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties. To determine whether assets are
impaired the individual assets are allocated to the lowest level in which
cash flows can be identified (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets, other than goodwill paid, that were subject to
impairment are reviewed at each reporting date to see whether the
impairment can possibly be reversed. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment annually by assessing whether there are any indications that
these assets are impaired.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually.
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are included only if it is probable that taxable profits
will be realised in the near future against which these temporary
differences can be offset. When determining future taxable profits,
estimates are used since these are subject to uncertainty.

Acquisitions

Acquisitions are disclosed using the purchase method. Accordingly,
the cost of the acquisitions is allocated to the fair value of the acquired
assets (inclusive of any intangible assets previously not disclosed in the
statement of financial position), liabilities and obligations not disclosed
in the statement of financial position. Goodwill, being the difference
between the cost of the acquisition (including the debts taken over) and
Van Lanschot’s interest in the fair value of the acquired assets, liabilities
and obligations not recognised in the statement of financial position at
the acquisition date, is capitalised as an intangible asset. If this difference
is negative (negative goodwill), it is directly taken to the statement
of income. A minority interest in the company acquired is disclosed at
the fair value prevailing at the acquisition date or at the proportionate
share in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the company acquired.

Acquisitions

Results of companies acquired are disclosed in the statement of income
from the date on which control is obtained.

For acquisitions, the fair value of the acquired assets (inclusive of any
intangible assets and goodwill acquired), liabilities and obligations not
recognised in the statement of financial position must be determined.
For this purpose, estimates are used, in particular for those items which
are not traded on an active market.

Adjustments to the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date which are identified within 12 months of the acquisition,
lead to an adjustment of the goodwill. Adjustments identified after
expiry of one year are disclosed in the statement of income.

Actuarial assumptions of provisions

The pension liabilities are determined based on actuarial calculations,
using assumptions about, for instance, the discount rate, future trends
in salaries and returns on investments. These assumptions are subject
to uncertainty. For more details, reference is made to note 20.
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements of Van Lanschot NV comprise the
financial statements of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV and its subsidiaries.
The financial statements of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV and its
subsidiaries are prepared at 31 December, using consistent accounting
policies. The financial year of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV and its
subsidiaries is the same as the calendar year.
Intra-group transactions are eliminated for consolidation purposes.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of incorporation or
acquisition, being the date on which Van Lanschot obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Van Lanschot has control over an entity if it can determine, either
directly or indirectly, this entity’s financial or operational policy.
For interests in investment funds, when determining whether
Van Lanschot has decisive control, account is taken of Van Lanschot’s
interest for own account and the role of Van Lanschot or one of its
group companies as fund manager.

On disposal of group companies, the difference between the sales
proceeds and acquisition cost (including goodwill) and any unrealised
gain or loss is disclosed in the statement of income. Goodwill is not
amortised. For more information about the valuation, reference is made
to note 10.
Segment information
The different operating segments form the basis for Van Lanschot’s
primary segmentation. An operating segment is a business unit that
provides similar services subject to risks and returns that differ from
those of other operating segments. Secondary information is reported
geographically based on where the business activities are located.
Intra-segment transactions are conducted based on commercial
conditions and market circumstances (at arm’s length).
Foreign currencies
Functional currency

Line items of each group company are measured using the currency
of the economic environment in which the entity operates
(i.e. the functional currency).

75

Group companies

The assets, liabilities, income and expenses of group companies using
another functional currency than the reporting currency are translated
as follows:
– Assets and liabilities are translated using the closing rate at the
reporting date;
– Income and expenses are translated using rates ruling at the
transaction dates, which are approximately equal to the average
rates;
– Any resulting exchange difference is recognised as a separate
component of equity.
Upon consolidation, exchange differences arising from monetary items
forming part of a net investment in foreign divisions are recognised in
equity. Exchange differences on borrowings and other items designated
as hedging instruments of such investments are also recognised in equity.
Transactions and line items

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction date.
Translation differences arising on the settlement of such transactions or
on the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, unless they are
recognised in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges in foreign business units.
Translation differences on non-monetary items measured at fair value
through profit and loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Non-monetary items are translated into the reporting currency
simultaneously with the determination of the fair value. Translation
differences on non-monetary items measured at fair value through
equity are included in the revaluation reserve in equity.
Non-monetary items not measured at fair value are translated at the
exchange rate prevailing on the original transaction date. Translation
differences in the statement of income are generally included in profit on
financial transactions, and those relating to the sale of available-for-sale
investments are considered to be an inherent part of the realised/unrealised
gains and losses and presented under Income from securities and associates.
Recognition of financial assets in the statement of financial
position
The purchase and sale of financial assets designated as at fair value
with value changes through profit or loss, or financial assets classified
as available for sale or held for trade, which are settled according to
standard market conventions, are included at the transaction date, i.e.
the date on which Van Lanschot undertakes to purchase or sell the asset
concerned. Loans and advances are recognised at settlement date, i.e.
the date on which Van Lanschot receives or transfers the asset.
Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities in the statement
of financial position
Financial assets are derecognised when:
– Van Lanschot’s rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or
– Van Lanschot has retained the right to receive the cash flows from
an asset, but has the obligation to fully pay these to a third party
by virtue of a special agreement and
– Van Lanschot has transferred its rights to the cash flows from the
asset and has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards;
or has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, but
has transferred control over this asset.

If Van Lanschot has transferred its rights to the cash flows from an asset,
but has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of this
asset and has not transferred control, this asset is recognised as long as
Van Lanschot has continuing involvement in this asset.
A financial liability is derecognised as soon as the obligation under the
liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Repo transactions and reverse repo transactions
Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos) continue to
be included in the statement of financial position. The related liability
is included under the line item concerned (mainly Due to banks).
Securities purchased subject to resale agreements (reverse repos) are
presented under the line item Due from banks or Loans and advances to
the public and private sectors. The difference between the sales price
and the purchase price is recognised in profit and loss as interest during
the term of the agreement.
Securitisation
Van Lanschot has put parts of its loans in Special Purpose Entities (SPEs).
With these transactions, the beneficial ownership of these receivables
has been transferred to the individual entities. If Van Lanschot has
control over an SPE based on substance, it is consolidated. The main
indicator for control is retention of significant but not all risks and
economic rewards of the financial asset. When consolidating SPEs,
the accounting principles applied by Van Lanschot are followed.
Netting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are netted and presented in the
consolidated financial statements at the net amount when Van Lanschot
has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
Lease
Lease contracts under which the risks and benefits of ownership of the
assets are substantially retained by the lessor are classified as operating
lease contracts. Operating lease payments (less any discounts granted
by the lessor) are charged to the statement of income on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.
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summary of significant accounting policies

General
Classiﬁcation as debt or equity

Financial instruments, or the individual components of the instrument,
are classified as debt or equity in accordance with the economic
substance for Van Lanschot as the issuing party. An equity instrument is
any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities.
Derivatives

The initial recognition is at fair value on the date the contract is entered
into. After initial recognition, the derivative is subsequently remeasured
at fair value and movements in value are taken to the statement of
income under Profit on financial transactions. Fair values are based on
stock exchange prices, cash flow models and option and other valuation
models.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, or if it can no longer be
designated as a hedge, accumulated gains and losses remain in equity
until the expected future transaction is taken to the statement of
income. If the expected future transaction is not expected to occur, the
accumulated result is transferred directly from equity to profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives

Embedded derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when their
economic characteristics are not closely related to those of the financial
host contract. The embedded derivative is separately measured if the
ﬁnancial contract itself is not recognised at fair value with the value
changes through proﬁt or loss. An example of a closely related embedded
derivative is an interest rate option in a mortgage determining the upper
or lower limit of the interest rate. An example of a not closely related
embedded derivative is when interest payment and redemption are
linked to a share index.

Hedge accounting

Van Lanschot uses derivatives to hedge its exposure to risks. The carrying
amount of assets and liabilities that are hedged through fair value
hedging and that would otherwise be recognised at cost is adjusted for
movements in the fair value that can be allocated to the hedged risks.
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives
not relating to the hedged risks are taken directly to the statement of income.
At the inception of a hedge transaction, Van Lanschot formally designates
and documents the hedge relationship and the financial risk management
objective and Van Lanschot’s policy for undertaking the hedge. The
documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the
hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how
Van Lanschot will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in
offsetting the exposure to risks.
Such hedges are considered to be effective if Van Lanschot, both upon
the inception and during the term, may expect that changes in the fair
value or cash flows of the hedged item will be almost fully offset by
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument, insofar
as they concern the hedged risk, and the actual outcome is within a range
of 80-125%. The effectiveness is assessed and documented on a monthly
basis in order to determine that the hedge has been highly effective
throughout the financial reporting periods for which it was intended.

It is determined in advance whether an embedded derivative is closely
related.
Day 1 proﬁt

Discrepancies between the transaction price and the fair value may
arise if valuation techniques are applied at the time of the transaction.
Such a discrepancy is referred to as Day 1 profit. Any resulting profit or
loss is recognised directly under Profit on financial transactions in the
statement of income, if the valuation method is based on observable
inputs (in an active market). In case of non-observable inputs, the gain
or loss is amortised over the term of the transaction.
Statement of ﬁnancial position by IFRS accounting policy

For the format of the statement of financial position, reference is made
to the section Consolidated statement of financial position by accounting
policy in the supplementary notes.
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with central banks

Hedges that qualify for hedge accounting are disclosed as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with central banks
comprise, at nominal value, the cash in hand and balances withdrawable
with central banks and balances withdrawable on demand with other
banks in respect of which the risk of value changes is insignificant.
The amount due from the Dutch Central Bank by virtue of the minimum
reserve requirement is also included in this item.

Fair value hedges

Financial assets held for trading

Fair value hedges are hedges of the exposure to changes in the fair
value of an asset or liability arising as a result of interest rate changes.
Movements in the value of the hedging instrument are taken to the
statement of income. Any change in the fair value of the hedged item
is also recognised in the statement of income, insofar as the hedging
instrument was effective in the past period.

Financial assets held for trading are transactions for own account with
the aim to actively sell these instruments in the short term. Financial
assets held for trading consist of the trading portfolio of both equity
instruments and debt instruments. The financial assets held for trading
are recognised at fair value with effect from the trade date and value
adjustments are taken to the statement of income under the line item
Profit on financial transactions.

If a hedge relationship is terminated, the remaining value adjustment of
the hedged item is amortised until the end of the term of the instrument.

Due from banks

Cash ﬂow hedges

Amounts due from banks are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the exposure to changes in the cash flow
of an asset, liability or future transaction, arising as a result of interest
rate changes and/or inflation. The portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument which was established to be an effective hedge is
recognised directly in equity until the hedged item affects the statement
of income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets designated as at fair value through proﬁt or loss

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss contain
investments of which management believes that they should be
recognised at fair value through profit or loss, on the basis of one of the
following reasons:
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1.

2.

3.

It eliminates or substantially reduces inconsistencies in valuation
and recognition which would otherwise arise as a result of assets
being valued or income and expense being recognised under
different policies;
The performance of the relevant financial assets is assessed based
on their fair values, in accordance with a documented risk
management or investment strategy. Reporting to management
occurs based on fair value;
The contract in which the financial instrument is included contains
one or more embedded derivatives and the entire contract is
recognised in the statement of income at fair value, provided
that the embedded derivative has significant influence on the
contractually agreed cash flows.

Available-for-sale investments

Investments included in this line item have been classified by management
as transactions held indefinitly and are carried as Available for sale. This
line item comprises investments in both equity instruments and debt
instruments. These investments are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently adjusted for any changes occurring in the fair value of the
investment after its acquisition. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from changes in the fair value of investments classified as available-forsale are recognised on a net base in equity.
Available-for-sale investments can be sold as a result of liquidity control
or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or share prices.
Discounts or premiums on interest-bearing available-for-sale investments
are amortised based on the effective interest rate and recognised in
profit or loss. If such investments are disposed of or suffer impairment
losses, the adjustments to fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
Van Lanschot reviews twice a year whether impairment losses have
occurred. The fair value of an investment in an equity instrument being
significantly or prolonged below cost is an indication of impairment.
The Impairment Committee determines, based upon the adopted policy,
whether an item is significantly or prolonged below cost.
Van Lanschot considers the unrealised losses on debt instruments in the
investment portfolio, as a result of interest fluctuations, to be temporary
diminutions in value. Van Lanschot intends to retain these investments in
debt instruments during a term considered long enough to offset these
unrealised losses and expects to receive the full principal when held to
maturity.
On the realisation of available-for-sale equity instruments, the accrued
revaluation reserve is released to the statement of income under the
line item Income from securities and associates. On the realisation of
available-for-sale debt instruments, the accrued revaluation reserve
is released to the statement of income under the line item Profit on
financial transactions. When measuring the transaction result, cost is
determined based on the average cost method.
In the first year of investment, shareholdings are recognised at fair value,
and are adjusted (if applicable) for any changes in this value occurring
after the acquisition. This measurement is in accordance with the
European Venture Capital Association guidelines.
Valuation methods are used to determine the market value of the
shareholdings for which no stock exchange price is available.

The applied valuation methods are as follows: the capitalisation method
(peer group analysis), net present value method and disclosed net asset
value method.
The capitalisation method determines the value of a business by
multiplying the operating profit (EBIT) and the operating profit before
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) by a multiplier factor. Based on
a peer group analysis, the multiplier factor is derived from similar listed
companies (the peer group), if applicable also taking account of a 25%
discount for poor liquidity and minority shareholding. EBIT and EBITDA
are adjusted, where applicable, for one-off items.
The net present value method calculates the enterprise value by
discounting the forecast operational cash flows at a discount rate for the
plan period and a final value based on the extrapolation of the operating
profit. The discount rate (WACC) is in principle determined based on the
discount rate of listed companies with a great deal of similarity and the
specific characteristics of the company.
The company’s net debt and preference share capital are then deducted from
the value resulting from the capitalisation method and/or net present value
method in order to derive the shareholder value from the enterprise value.
The disclosed net asset value method determines the value of a company
based on the data of the statement of financial position and can be
regarded as the lowest valuation in the case of a going concern. If it
concerns the valuation of fund investments, the valuation is based on the
report prepared by the fund manager. This is adjusted, where applicable,
for carried interest arrangements and annual fund charges.
All purchases and sales transacted according to standard market
conventions of available-for-sale investments are recognised on the
transaction date. All other purchases and sales are recognised on the
date of settlement.
Loans and advances to the public and private sectors

Loans and advances to the public and private sectors are recognised
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Derivatives

Derivatives are carried at fair value. The positive and negative values
of derivatives are shown separately on the face of the statement of financial
position on the assets side and the liabilities side respectively. The values
of derivatives with a positive and negative value, concluded with the same
counterparty, are only netted if the cash flows are settled on a net basis and
this is permitted under law. Movements in the value of derivatives are taken
directly to the line item Profit on financial transactions. If the hedge is
completely effective, the net impact on the statement of income is nil.
The difference, insofar as this remains within the bandwidths set,
concerns ineffectiveness and is taken to the statement of income.
Derivatives include:
– The fair value of derivatives held for trading
Derivatives held for trading are transactions for own account with
the aim to actively sell them in the short term;
– Economic hedges
Economic hedges are derivatives to manage risks without applying
hedge accounting;
– Derivatives structured products
Derivatives structured products are options acquired by
Van Lanschot in order to hedge structured products sold to clients,
without application of hedge accounting;
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–

–

Option position clients
Offsetting transactions are conducted on the market for all option
positions of our clients on a one-on-one basis;
Derivatives with application of hedge accounting
This concerns derivatives used as hedging instrument in the
application of hedge accounting.

Investments in associates using the equity method

Investments have been designated by management as transactions held
permanently and can be classified, as a result of the acquired control,
as Investments in associates using the equity method. This concerns
investments in entities where Van Lanschot has significant influence but
not control. If there is a change in the equity of the associate, Van Lanschot
recognises its share in this change and includes it in the statement of
changes in equity. This also applies to results of associates recognised in
Van Lanschot’s statement of income.
Each quarter, the value of the investments in associates using the equity
method is determined. The applied valuation methods are as follows:
the capitalisation method (peer group analysis), net present value
method and disclosed net asset value method. If the value is significantly
or prolonged below the value determined using the equity method, an
indication of impairment exists.
In the first year of investment, investments classified as associates
using the equity method are recognised at fair value, and are adjusted
(if applicable) for any changes in the value of the associate’s individual
receivables and payables occurring after the acquisition, based on the
policies applied by Van Lanschot.
If Van Lanschot's share in the associate’s losses is equal to or exceeds
its interest in the associate, no further losses are recognised unless
Van Lanschot has assumed obligations or made payments for these
associates.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise property, information technology,
furniture & fixtures and communication and safety equipment. Property,
plant and equipment are initially carried at historical cost and subsequently
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairments. The carrying value includes the costs for replacement of
part of the existing object as soon as these costs are incurred, but is
exclusive of day-to-day servicing costs. Depreciation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets concerned.

Operating software development costs are capitalised if they meet the
criteria regarding identifiability, there is a likelihood that future economic
benefits will flow to Van Lanschot and costs can be measured reliably.
Property not in own use concerns office buildings no longer in own use,
leased property and property acquired from the settlement of loans.
Van Lanschot’s policy is focused on selling these assets in due course.
Property not in own use is carried at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairments.
Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the difference between the fair value of the
acquired assets (including intangible assets) and liabilities, and the
purchase price paid. Goodwill paid is included in the financial statements
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill paid is tested
for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. An impairment is
calculated based on the difference between the carrying value and the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the
goodwill relates. A CGU’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use.
Owing to the absence of a market for separate CGUs, Van Lanschot
is unable to calculate a reliable fair value less costs to sell by CGU.
Therefore, the recoverable amount is deemed to be equal to the value in
use. The value in use is determined by discounting the future cash flows
generated by a CGU to their net present value. If the recoverable amount
of a CGU is lower than the carrying amount of the CGU concerned,
goodwill is impaired.
Cash flow estimates are based on the long-term plan, the strategic plans
and different types of investigations into possible trends. Events and
factors that might have a significant impact on the estimates include
market expectations, effects of mergers and acquisitions, competitive
conditions, client behaviour and changes in the client base, cost
structure, trends in interest rates and risks, and other circumstances
specific to the industry and sector.
Other intangible assets, such as application software, client bases,
contractual rights and the value of acquired funds entrusted and loans
and advances, are capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight-line
basis over their respective useful lives.

Estimated useful life of intangible assets in years
Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment in years

Land
Buildings
Alterations
Operating software and IT
Communication equipment
Safety equipment
Infrastructure
Furniture and fixtures

indefinite
40
15
3-5
5
15
10
5-10

Client bases
Third-party distribution channels
Agent contracts
Brand names
Deposits and current account balances
Application software

5-20
12-20
20
20
10
3-5

Current tax assets

Current tax assets are stated at face value. Current and deferred taxes
are offset when they relate to the same tax authority, the same type of
tax and it is permitted under law to offset these assets and liabilities.
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Deferred tax assets

Deferred taxes are recognised on the face of the statement of financial
position if the valuation of an asset or liability temporarily differs from
the valuation for tax purposes. Deferred taxes are calculated using the
prevailing tax rates. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
they relate to the same tax authority, the same type of tax, it is permitted
under law to offset these deferrals and the deferrals are expected to be
settled simultaneously. Deferred taxes are recognised at their face value.
Deferred tax assets are included only if it is probable that taxable profits
will be realised in the near future against which these temporary
differences can be offset.
Changes in the value of investments classified as Available for sale and
movements in the value of derivatives forming part of a cash flow hedge
are recognised in equity net of deferred tax. Deferred tax is taken to the
statement of income at the same time as the movement in value.
Assets of operations held for sale

The line item Assets of operations held for sale includes individual assets
or groups of assets whose carrying amounts will principally be recovered
through a sale transaction. These assets are measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The asset concerned is
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for sales of such assets. There is a plan to
sell the asset at a price which is reasonable considering its current fair
value as a result of which the sale is highly probable and is expected to be
completed within one year.

2.

3.

The performance of the financial liabilities concerned is assessed
based on the fair value, in accordance with a documented risk
management or investment strategy. Reporting to management
occurs based on fair value.
The contract in which the financial instrument is included, contains
one or more embedded derivatives and the entire contract is
recognised at fair value through profit or loss. This is only permitted
if the embedded derivative has significant influence on the
contractually agreed cash flows.

The own credit risk of Van Lanschot is taken into account in the valuation.
Issued debt securities

Upon initial recognition, issued debt securities are disclosed at fair value
excluding transaction costs. After initial recognition, issued debt
securities are carried at amortised cost. Purchases by Van Lanschot of
own debt securities are set off in the consolidated financial statements
against the liability; the difference between cost and the carrying amount
based on the remaining term is taken to the statement of income.
Provisions

A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. A provision is
included in the statement of financial position if Van Lanschot has an
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made. Provisions are discounted if the time value of money has a
material effect.

Other assets

Provisions for pensions

Other assets are carried at historical cost.

Van Lanschot operates defined benefit plans and defined contribution
plans. Under defined contribution plans, contributions to pension funds
are taken to the statement of income as staff costs. Van Lanschot has no
further payment obligations with respect to defined contribution plans
once the contributions have been paid.

Equity and liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading

Financial liabilities held for trading are own account transactions with
the aim to repurchase these instruments in the short term. Financial
liabilities held for trading are carried at fair value, with movements in
value being taken through profit or loss. This line item comprises short
positions on the trading portfolio of both equity instruments and debt
instruments. Recognition takes place with effect from the date on which
the contract is concluded.
Due to banks

Upon initial recognition, amounts due to banks are disclosed at fair
value excluding transaction costs. After their initial recognition, they
are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of
pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement. Factors such
as age, years of service and salary are taken into account when
determining amounts to be paid. The provision for defined benefit plans
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting
date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognised gains or losses and past service costs. The pension obligation
is calculated with reference to the expected return on plan assets.

Upon initial recognition, public and private sector liabilities are disclosed
at fair value excluding transaction costs. After their initial recognition,
they are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Neither differences between the expected and actual return on plan
assets nor actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
income, unless the total of these accumulated differences and gains and
losses falls outside the 10% corridor of the greater of the pension benefit
obligations and the fair value of the corresponding plan assets. The
portion that falls outside the corridor is taken through profit or loss over
the remaining years of service of the participants.

Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss

Provision for jubilee beneﬁts scheme

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial
instruments which, in the opinion of management, should be recognised at
fair value through profit or loss, on account of one of the following reasons:
1.
It eliminates or considerably reduces inconsistencies in the
valuation and recognition which would otherwise arise due to the
valuation of liabilities or recognition of income and expense based
on deviating policies.

On the occasion of being in service for 10, 20, 30 and 40 years,
employees receive a bonus. Furthermore, receptions are organised for
employees who have been in service for 25 and 40 years. These benefits
are calculated on an actuarial basis and recognised in the statement of
financial position as a provision.

Public and private sector liabilities
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Provision for employee rebates

Van Lanschot has facilities in place under which employees are granted
rebates on, for example, their mortgage interest rates. The rebates are
calculated on an actuarial basis for the period during which the employee
is inactive for Van Lanschot (retired) and is recognised in the statement
of financial position as a provision.
Other provisions

This item includes all other provisions.
Current tax liabilities

Current tax liabilities are stated at face value. Current and deferred taxes
are offset when they relate to the same tax authority, the same type of
tax and it is permitted under law to offset these assets and liabilities.

If Van Lanschot purchases treasury shares, the purchase price, including
direct transaction costs after tax, is deducted from equity. Treasury
shares purchased by Van Lanschot do not qualify for profit or dividend
and are not included in the calculation of the earnings per share.
The perpetuals included under equity are carried at cost.
Obligations not recognised in the statement of financial
position
This includes the obligations that represent a potential credit risk.
For the other obligations not recognised in the statement of financial
position, reference is made to the section Non-current liabilities in the
supplementary notes.
Contingent liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred taxes are recognised on the face of the statement of financial
position if the valuation of an asset or liability temporarily differs from
the valuation for tax purposes. Deferred taxes are calculated using the
prevailing tax rates. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
they relate to the same tax authority, the same type of tax, it is permitted
under law to offset these deferred taxes and the taxes are expected to be
settled simultaneously. Deferred taxes are recognised at their face value.
Changes in the value of investments classified as available for sale and
movements in the value of derivatives forming part of a cash flow hedge
are recognised in equity net of deferred tax. Deferred tax is taken to the
statement of income at the same time as the movement in value.
Taxes are stated at face value. Changes in the value of investments
classified as Available for sale and movements in the value of derivatives
forming part of a cash flow hedge are recognised in equity net of
deferred tax. Deferred tax is taken to the statement of income at the
same time as the movement in value.

Contingent liabilities are carried at the contract value and concern in
particular guarantees and irrevocable letters of credit.
Irrevocable commitments

This item consists of unused overdraft facilities, sale and repurchase
commitments and all other obligations resulting from irrevocable
commitments that could give rise to loans.
Statement of income
General

Revenue is recognised insofar as it is likely that the economic benefits will
flow to Van Lanschot and revenue can be measured reliably. Costs are
allocated as far as possible to the period in which the services were
rendered or to the relevant proceeds.
Net interest income

This item consists of income earned on lending and costs of borrowing
and associated transactions, related commission and other income/
expense similar to interest.

Liabilities of operations held for sale

The line item Liabilities of operations held for sale includes individual
liabilities or groups of liabilities whose carrying amounts will principally
be recovered through a sale transaction. These liabilities are measured at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
The liability concerned is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales
of such liabilities. There is a plan to sell the liability at a price which is
reasonable considering its current fair value as a result of which the sale
is highly probable and is expected to be completed within one year.
Other liabilities

Other liabilities are carried at historical cost.
Subordinated loans

Upon initial recognition, subordinated loans are disclosed at fair value
excluding transaction costs. After initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost. Purchases by Van Lanschot of own subordinated loans
are set off in the consolidated financial statements against the liability;
the difference between cost and the carrying amount based on the
remaining term is taken to the statement of income.
Equity

Direct costs of a new share issue are deducted from equity, taking
account of taxes.

Interest income and expense is recognised in the statement of income
on an accrual basis, using the effective interest method. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated cash flows over
the life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, Van Lanschot takes into account
all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, early
repayment) but not future losses due to uncollectable amounts.
Income from securities and associates

All dividends received from equity instruments are included under
dividends and fees. Dividends are directly recognised in the statement
of income when made payable. Diminutions in the value of equity
instruments forming part of the available-for-sale investments are
recognised in the statement of income as impairments. Gains or losses
on the sale of available-for-sale investments in equity instruments as well
as debt instruments are recognised under gains on sale. Van Lanschot’s
share in the results of investments using the equity method is recognised
under Income from securities and associates using the equity method.
Net commission income

This item consists of the income, other than income similar to interest,
earned on banking services provided to third parties. Commission paid to
third parties is accounted for as commission expense.
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Van Lanschot receives commission for the wide range of services it
provides to clients. These can be split up into commission on a transaction
basis and periodic commission charged to the client during the year.
Commission on a transaction basis

If, at the moment of awarding, the fair market value per depositary
receipt exceeds the issue price, an employee benefit exists. The fair value
of this employee benefit is treated as an expense during the vesting
period, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. The total sum to be
taken into consideration is determined on the basis of the fair value of
the depositary receipts as determined on the date on which they are
awarded, without taking into account any terms of employment that may
be continued.

Net commission income on a transaction basis is recognised in the
periods in which Van Lanschot provides the services. Transaction
commission for which Van Lanschot only provides a service on the
transaction date (e.g. securities commission) is taken directly to the
statement of income. Transaction commission for which Van Lanschot
has to provide a service in the future (e.g. commission for Index
Guarentee Contracts) forms part of amortised cost and is recognised in
the statement of income over the expected term of the instrument.

Other administrative expenses comprise IT expenses, costs of marketing
and communication, accommodation expenses, office expenses and
other administrative expenses.

Periodic commission

Depreciation and amortisation

Periodic commission (e.g. management fees) is recognised in the
statement of income in the period in which the services are provided.

Depreciation and amortisation is determined based on the estimated
useful life and is charged to the statement of income.

Proﬁt on ﬁnancial transactions

Impairments

Profit on securities trading includes realised and unrealised value
differences on gains and losses on the financial instruments relating
to the securities trading portfolio. Exchange and price differences on
trading in other financial instruments are recognised under the profit on
foreign exchange trading. Gains and losses on account of ineffectiveness
in hedge accounting are recognised under unrealised gains and losses on
derivatives under hedge accounting. Results on economic hedges include
realised and unrealised gains and losses on derivatives that are not
included in a hedge accounting model.

This item consists of the balance of the required impairments and
reversals of such impairments.

Other administrative expenses

Income tax

Tax on operating profit is recognised in the statement of income in
accordance with applicable tax law in the jurisdictions in which
Van Lanschot operates. Tax effects of any losses incurred in certain
jurisdictions are recognised as assets when it is probable that sufficient
future profits will be available in the relevant jurisdiction against which
these losses can be set off.

Other income

Other income comprises non-banking income resulting from the
consolidation of non-banking subsidiaries. This income is disclosed in
accordance with the requirements by virtue of IFRS (in particular IAS 18).
Staff costs

Staff costs comprise wages and salaries, pension and early retirement
costs, other social security costs and other staff costs, such as
remuneration in the form of share-based employee benefits.
Share-based employee beneﬁts

Employees receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments.
The cost of equity instrument settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are
granted. The fair value is determined using a binomial model. The cost
of equity instrument settled transactions is recognised, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, in the period in which the performance
is fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become
fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).
Share-based employee beneﬁts: Management Investment Plan

Selected Kempen employees are offered the opportunity of participating
in the Kempen Management Investment Plan (MIP). Under the terms
of the Kempen MIP, selected employees purchase ordinary B shares
indirectly held in Kempen’s share capital. Kempen has issued these
ordinary B shares to MIP Coöperatie UA, a cooperative society in which
nearly all membership rights are owned by Stichting Administratiekantoor
Kempen Management Investeringsplan, which in turn issues depositary
receipts to the selected employees concerned in exchange for payment
of the issue price. The MIP therefore involves an equity instrument
settled transaction.

Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations are disclosed using the purchase method.
Accordingly, the cost of the acquisitions is allocated to the fair value of
the acquired assets (inclusive of any intangible assets previously not
disclosed in the statement of financial position), liabilities and obligations
not recognised in the statement of financial position.
Earnings per ordinary share
Earnings per ordinary share are calculated by dividing the profit for the
year available to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per
ordinary share are calculated by dividing the profit available to ordinary
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period, adjusted for possible dilution as a result
of outstanding option rights for example.
Statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. This
statement of cash flows shows the source and application of cash items.
Cash flows are divided into those from operating, investing and financing
activities. Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with
central banks comprise the cash in hand and balances withdrawable with
central banks, and balances withdrawable on demand from other banks
in respect of which the risk of value changes is insignificant.
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Changes in published IFRS standards and interpretations
The IFRS standards listed below became compulsory in the course of
2011 and were applied to the financial statements of Van Lanschot for
2011. Application of these standards did not have any signiﬁcant effects
on the bank’s equity or profits; it often results in adjustment or
extension of the notes.

Published IFRS standards and interpretations not yet
compulsory
In addition to the IFRS standards and interpretations mentioned above, a
number of IFRS standards and interpretations are new or were amended,
which must be applied to financial statements for periods commencing
on or after 1 January 2012.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRSs

Van Lanschot has not applied these standards to the financial statements
for 2011; unless indicated otherwise, standards are applied as soon as
they become compulsory and have been endorsed by the European Union.

IFRS 1 was amended to provide an exemption from comparative IFRS 7
disclosures. This amendment only applies to fist-time adopters.

The amended IAS 24 modifies certain related-party disclosure
requirements for government-related entities. In addition, it amends
the definition of a related party in order to simplify the identification.

Nearly all amendments are not expected to have a signiﬁcant effect on
the bank’s equity or profits, except for IFRS 9. The impact of IFRS 9 on
the bank’s equity or profits will be determined based on the parts of IFRS
9 still to be published.

I AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

It clarifies how certain rights must be accounted for when the
instruments are issued in a different currency from the issuer’s
functional currency. If they are given pro rata to the issuer’s existing
shareholders for a fixed amount in cash, they must be classified as equity
instruments, even if their exercise price is in a different currency from
the issuer’s functional currency.

IFRS 7 applies to financial statements for periods commencing on or
after 1 July 2011. Van Lanschot applies IFRS 7 for the first time in 2012.
On 7 October 2010, the amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets were published. The amendments
should improve users’ understanding of the risk exposures relating to
transfers of financial assets and the effect of those risks on an entity’s
financial position. They aim to promote transparency in the reporting
of transfer transactions, particularly those involving securitisation of
financial assets.

I AS 24 Related Party Disclosures

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

This amendment applies in a limited number of cases where an entity is
subject to minimum funding requirements and makes an early payment
of contributions to cover such requirements. It allows recognition of
these pre-payments to the pension fund (in particular for contributions
in case of a deficient funding) in the statement of financial position as a
pension asset.
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

This interpretation provides guidance for the accounting by an entity
of the equity instruments it issues to a creditor and its measurement in
the financial position. This is a further explanation of IAS 39.41 which
addressed the regular settlement of a debt position.
Improvements in IFRS 2011

The amendments in the IFRS 2011 standards concern:
– IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRSs. This does not apply to
Van Lanschot.
– IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The annual improvements provide
further guidance about application of future payments, the
valuation of associates (in which the entity does not have significant
influence) and the recognition of share-based payments. This
amendment does not impact the financial statements of Van Lanschot.
– IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. Partial simplication
of disclosures about in particular collateral (risk section), further
improvement of qualitative disclosures in order to clarify
quantitative information.
– IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. Arranges that the
analysis of the statement of other comprehensive income may
be presented by line item.
– IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.
– IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. Emphasises that significant
events and transactions must be disclosed in the interim figures.
– IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes. Clarifies how fair value
of award credits must be computed.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classiﬁcation and Measurement

IFRS 9 is the new standard for classification and measurement of financial
instruments. This standard was long awaited, much discussed and should
end one of the most controversial projects from the International
Accounting Standard Board’s (IASB) existence. The IASB intends to
finalise IFRS 9 at the end of the second quarter of 2012. Subsequently,
the EU endorsement (the European approval process) will commence.
On 19 December 2011 the IASB decided to postpone the commencement
date of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1 January 2013 to 1 January
2015. Thanks to the postponement, all phases of the project will have the
same commencement date. Approval of the first phase of IFRS 9 will
impact the classification and measurement of the bank’s financial assets.
Van Lanschot will ascertain what the overall impact of the new standard
will be once all the parts have been published and have been endorsed
by the European Union.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 contains a new definition of the principle of control which
determines which entities must be consolidated. The new standard
replaces SIC 12 Consolidation – special purpose entities and the part
on the consolidated financial statements in IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements. Application will be compulsory for
financial statements for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013.
This standard is expected not to entail any major changes for the
consolidation base of Van Lanschot.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

As part of the consolidation project of the IASB, the disclosure
requirements for interests in other entities were also revised. IFRS 11
aims for more transparency and less divergence in connection with the
disclosure of investments in other entities, inclusive of joint arrangements.
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IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 concerns a new standard with disclosure requirements for all
consolidated and non-consolidated entities disclosed under IFRS 10, IFRS 11
(joint arrangements), IAS 27 and IAS 28. IFRS 11 applies to financial
statements for periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement results from a joint project with the
American regulator, the FASB, to develop a unique framework for fair
value measurement. The standard defines fair value, provides guidance
on its determination and introduces consistent requirements for disclosures
on fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not include requirements on
when the fair value measurement is required; it prescribes how fair value
is to be measured if another Standard requires it. IFRS 13 applies to
annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013.
I AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The changes in IAS 1, as published on 16 June 2011, which come into
effect on 1 July 2012, provide guidance on disclosing in the statement of
comprehensive income which items qualify for disclosure in the statement
of income and which do not.
I AS 12 Income Taxes

IAS 12 Income Taxes (amended) provides guidance for the measurement
of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property
measured at fair value. This standard does not impact the financial
statements of Van Lanschot.
I AS 19 Employee Beneﬁts

The new IAS 19 standard was approved and published by the IASB on
16 June 2011. The standard applies to all financial statements of years
starting on or after 1 January 2013. The amendments must be applied
retroactively in the comparative figures for 2012.
The following amendments were applied:
– The corridor approach is eliminated; in the case of Van Lanschot,
it is directly recognised in the revaluation reserve;
– Future actuarial results are also recognised in the revaluation
reserve;
– Introduction of additional disclosures for defined benefit plans;
– Adjustment of definition and disclosure of termination benefits
(does not apply to Van Lanschot).
I AS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

The introduction of a new standard (IFRS 10) for the consolidated
financial statements means that the amended IAS 27 only applies to the
separate financial statements. This standard applies to reporting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2013.
I AS 28 Investments in Associates

IAS 28 applies to financial statements commencing on or after 1 January
2013. IAS 28 provides further guidance for accounting for investments in
associates and for application of the equity method.
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risk management
€ thousand

1 Risk and Capital Management
Banking is all about taking and managing responsible risks. Van Lanschot
approaches risk management in a way that matches its relatively small
size and the bank’s focus. Van Lanschot aims to limit the impact of
unexpected events on its solvency, liquidity and performance to the
greatest possible extent.
Van Lanschot consciously aims for a low risk profile and it achieves
this by having a strategy as well as systems and procedures in place for
the identification and restriction of risks. Making clear choices and
adequately embedding risk management at all organisational levels are
important in this respect.
In 2011, Van Lanschot concentrated heavily on the further development
of risk management. This resulted in a further professionalisation of
the risk appetite process, the approval of the Dutch Central Bank for the
transition of two non-retail models to F-IRB and an advanced calculation
of provisions (also following from technical progress). Thanks in part to
these developments, Van Lanschot is better able to monitor and mitigate
the bank’s risks.
Risk management within Van Lanschot covers the following risks:
– Credit risk
– Operational risk
– Market risk
– Strategic risk
– Interest rate risk
– Liquidity risk
– Compliance risk
These types of risk are discussed separately below from section 2
onwards, where Basel II and Basel III aspects are outlined. Subsequently,
in section 9, information is provided about fair value.
1.1 Risk appetite
Van Lanschot aims to be the best private bank of the Netherlands and
Belgium. This translates into the risk appetite of the bank. A private bank
should boast solid capital and liquidity ratios. We have been able to do so
for years now. Van Lanschot has always sought the combination of family
businesses and high net-worth individuals. The lending activities mainly
focus on private banking. Corporate loans are granted to clients with a
private banking potential. As a result, the balance sheet is not directly
comparable to that of a private bank only focusing on high net-worth
individuals, nor to that of a large bank.
The risk appetite can be summarised as follows:
Against the background of its aim to be the best private bank of the Netherlands
and Belgium, with a stable profitability and a solid profile, Van Lanschot only
takes risks it understands. The balance sheet is for the client and Van Lanschot
avoids risks that threaten the bank’s stability and solidity.

Table 1.1 Capital ratios (%)
BIS total capital ratio
Tier I ratio
Core I Tier ratio

Since 2010, Van Lanschot has had an extensive risk appetite process in
place, inclusive of reporting and policy cycles. In order to firmly embed
the risk appetite in the organisation, a formal framework was set up,
comprising a uniform set of roles and responsibilities. Every six months,
the Board of Managing Directors reports on Van Lanschot’s risk appetite
in the form of a management letter to the Supervisory Board. Every six
months, the Supervisory Board checks the risk appetite based on the
review report, the management letter and the limits set.
Each year, the Board of Managing Directors translates the risk appetite
into strategic risk limits in a policy document, which is submitted to the
Supervisory Board for their review. The assumptions are restated in a
joint effort by the Board of Managing Directors and the Supervisory Board.
The risk appetite of Van Lanschot is based on the following assumptions:
1. defined strategy, objectives and core values
2. external single A credit rating (stable outlook)
3. profitability throughout the cycle, with an approriate consistent
dividend policy
4. no damage to the reputation of Van Lanschot
5. compliance with regulatory requirements.
In the past few years, Van Lanschot did not have to apply for any financial
support from the government. This can be attributed to the risk policy
pursued by Van Lanschot, which is apparent from its ample liquidity and
capital position, and the fact that the bank’s balance sheet is primarily for
the benefit of clients and is not used for investment products for own
risk. In 2011, the worldwide financial stability proved to be shaky. Despite
these developments, the additions to provisions during 2011 were lower
than in 2010. They are however still high.
1.2 Organisation of risk & capital management
The organisation pays particular attention to compliance and corporate
governance. The principles of compliance and corporate governance
form part of the due care with which Van Lanschot guards its reputation
as a solid bank with integrity. It is important that a cautious risk attitude
is adopted throughout all layers of the bank and that laws and regulations
are strictly complied with. The objective of the bank’s risk framework is
identifying and analysing risks at an early stage and setting and monitoring
responsible limits. Adequate internal control procedures and reporting
systems, including the application of appropriate limits and their constant
supervision by means of reliable information systems, are therefore key
elements in the bank’s risk management. Risk management is an ongoing
process that hinges on the quality and commitment of management and
employees.
The organisation of the risk framework is based on the three lines of
defence principle, in which day-to-day responsibility for risk control is
assigned to the commercial and/or operational departments (first line).

External requirement

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

8.0
4.0
–

11.9
10.9
10.9

13.9
11.9
9.6
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Compliance and Risk Management form the second line and are
responsible for initiating risk policy and supervision of risk control within
Van Lanschot. Group Audit forms the third line and is responsible for
performing independent audits on the risk framework.
Risk management is at the core of capital management. Capital management
within Van Lanschot focuses on monitoring and managing both external
capital adequacy requirements and internal capital adequacy targets at
group level. The central focus here is protection of our financial solidity
and stability. Each year, a capital and funding plan is prepared for capital
management purposes.
1.2.1 Supervision
The Supervisory Board supervises the risks and capital adequacy
requirements in relation to the bank’s operations and portfolio. For this
purpose, it has installed two committees.
The Risk Committee supervises on behalf of the Supervisory Board all
risks identified relating to the bank’s business activities. This Committee
approves the bank’s risk framework and prepares the decision making
regarding Van Lanschot’s risk appetite.
The Audit & Compliance Committee was installed to advise the
Supervisory Board on ﬁnancial reporting, liquidity risk, capital
management, internal and external audits, as well as on compliance
matters and duty of care.

1.2.2 Risk and capital management policy
The Board of Managing Directors bears the ultimate responsibility for
formulating the bank’s strategy. An important element of the bank’s
strategy is the risk and capital management policy and the resulting
capital management plan. The Board of Managing Directors is
responsible for the annual review and approval of this plan.
In addition, the Board of Managing Directors is responsible for a timely
and correct supply of data, on which the Supervisory Board can base its
opinion about the risk appetite of Van Lanschot.
This also means that the Board of Managing Directors has the ultimate
responsibility for the existence and effective operation of the processes
that enable Van Lanschot to hold sufficient capital considering its objectives
(combined with its risk appetite) and the statutory capital adequacy
requirements. Within this scope, the Board of Managing Directors has
delegated speciﬁc tasks to divisions or committees. At least one member
of the Board of Managing Directors has a seat on each Committee.
Within the bank, the following committees are active in various risk areas.
Policy Risk Committee: All aspects of risk and capital management policy

This Committee determines and adjusts the bank’s overall risk and
capital management policy. The Committee determines Van Lanschot’s
overall risk appetite and translates this into standards, limits and/or
capital required for the various risks. In this process, the strategic
objectives and assumptions for the risk appetite are also taken into
account.

Table 1.2 Risk and capital management
External
supervisory
authorities

–
–

Group Audit

Board of Managing Directors

Supervisory Board

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Supervision
Section 1.2.1

Risk Committee
Audit & Compliance Committee

Policy Risk Committee
Asset & Liability Committee
Operational Risk Management Committee
Credit Committee
Information Security & Business Continuity Committee
Legislation Committee
Compliance Committee
Impairment Committee
Product Board
Project Board

Risk and capital management
Section 1.2.2

Risk Management
Van Lanschot

Risk Management
Kempen

Financial Control

Compliance &
Supervision

Implementation
Section 1.2.3

Private &
Business Banking

Asset Management

Corporate Finance &
Securities

Treasury

Execution
Section 1.2.4
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It is furthermore responsible for the organisational risk management
structure and for the determination and adjustment of powers. The
Committee convenes once every quarter. All members of the Board of
Managing Directors have a seat on this Committee, as well as
representatives of Risk Management and the commercial departments.
Asset & Liability Committee: Management of interest rate, market and liquidity

The lead department Risk Management Van Lanschot is responsible for
modelling, measuring and managing Van Lanschot’s credit, operational,
market and strategic risks, and for reporting on them. In addition, all
risks are aggregated and reported on at group level by this department.
The Risk Management department is responsible for the supply of data
concerning the risk appetite of Van Lanschot. The responsibilities include
the acceptance of loans and the management of default clients.

risks and capital management

This Committee supervises the implementation and execution of the
capital management policy, the bank’s capital management plan and
liquidity policy which is derived from this policy. In terms of the
execution of transactions, the Committee supervises compliance with
the relevant guidelines, especially relative to the capital structure, the
capital ratios and the funding. In addition, it also bears responsibility
for the approval of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
(ICAAP) reporting and the Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment
Process (ILAAP) reporting.
In addition to specialists and the relevant directors, all members of
the Board of Managing Directors have a seat on the Asset & Liability
Committee. They meet once every month. The Treasury department, as
well as the commercial departments are responsible for the execution of
the decisions made by the Asset & Liability Committee. The execution
of transactions within the scope of the capital management plan has
been delegated to these departments.
Operational Risk Management Committee: Management of operational risk

This Committee supervises the implementation and execution of the
operational risk management policy. This policy defines the standards for
the identification, measurement, monitoring and control of operational
risks. The Committee assesses the bank’s operational risks and monitors
the progress of the actions taken in order to limit these risks. The Committee
convenes eight times per year and is chaired by a member of the Board of
Managing Directors.
The other Committees which execute tasks delegated by the Board of
Managing Directors are as follows:
– Credit Committee; has the highest authority within Van Lanschot
to approve loans;
– Information Security & Business Continuity Committee; is
responsible for management of the information security risk;
– Legislation Committee; is responsible for the implementation of
laws and regulations and any changes therein;
– Compliance Committee; is responsible for the design, effectiveness
and execution of the policy on compliance risks;
– Impairment Committee; determines impairments and provisions;
– Product Board: is responsible for the introduction of new products
and the review of existing products;
– Project Board: is responsible for project decision-making.
1.2.3 Implementation and review of the risk and capital
management policy
Implementation and monitoring of the risk and capital management
policy has been delegated to the following departments:
– Risk Management Van Lanschot
– Risk Management Kempen
– Financial Control
– Compliance & Supervision.
In addition, Group Audit performs a review.

The lead department Risk Management Kempen is responsible for
measuring and managing all relevant risks within Kempen and reporting
on them. Its focus is on market and operational risks. The department
reports directly to the Board of Kempen. Van Lanschot’s Board of
Managing Directors is represented in the Supervisory Board of Kempen.
The frameworks and standards applicable to Kempen’s operations are set
by Van Lanschot. Kempen has a large degree of autonomy within these
frameworks and subject to these standards. This also applies to the lead
department Risk Management Kempen. The powers of this lead department
are determined by the Policy Risk Committee of Van Lanschot.
Risk Management Kempen reports periodically and as requested to Risk
Management Van Lanschot, in order to safeguard that an overall picture
of all relevant risks is present within Van Lanschot.
The lead department Financial Control is responsible for measuring
and managing the interest rate risk, liquidity risk and available capital,
inclusive of the execution of the capital management policy within
Van Lanschot, and reporting on this. In addition, Financial Control
prepares the mandatory reports for the Dutch Central Bank, such as
those under Basel II.
In order to implement the transition from Basel II to Basel III in a steady
and controlled fashion, the Dutch Central Bank requires that all banks
report on their progress in terms of compliance with the future rules
under Basel III on a six-monthly basis (the so-called reporting for
monitoring purposes). The future rules concern adjusted requirements
for solvency, as well as new requirements for liquidity (introduction of
LCR, i.e. Liquidity Coverage Ratio and NSFR, i.e. Net Stable Funding
Ratio). Within Van Lanschot, this reporting for monitoring purposes is
prepared by Financial Control. In addition, Financial Control bears
responsibility for preparation of the reports on ICAAP and ILAAP.
The Compliance & Supervision department monitors compliance
with internal and external laws and regulations by the Board of Managing
Directors, senior management and employees of Van Lanschot. Within
Van Lanschot, Compliance & Supervision operates independently and
the Head of the Compliance & Supervision department directly reports to
the Chairman of the Board of Managing Directors. In addition, Compliance
& Supervision periodically reports to the Audit & Compliance Committee
of the Supervisory Board. Kempen has its own Compliance department
which reports to the Chairman of the Board of Kempen.
Group Audit reviews the design and effectiveness of the risk organisation
and the execution of the risk and capital management policy. The department
reports on this to the Board of Managing Directors. The policy pursued
by Van Lanschot forms the starting point for the independent review by
Group Audit. Processes, infrastructure, organisation and systems are
thus audited based on the policy pursued, in order to determine whether
the organisation has taken sufficient measures to perform the risk and
capital management policy in an adequate fashion.
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Group Audit also monitors the quality of the implementation, execution
and review of the risk and capital management policy. Kempen has its own
Audit department which reports to the Chairman of the Board of Kempen.
1.2.4 Execution of risk and capital management policy
The commercial departments are responsible for the preparation of
commercial plans. Based on these plans, the current and future risks and the
resulting capital needs are determined. These serve as input for the Asset &
Liability Committee. The decisions of the Asset & Liability Committee are
executed by the Treasury department and the commercial departments.
1.3 External and internal capital adequacy requirements
Since 2008, the Basel II requirements have applied to all banks in the
Netherlands. This comprehensive framework for supervision of banks
comprises three complementary pillars:
– Pillar I: external capital adequacy requirements for credit risk,
market risk and operational risk;
– Pillar II: internal processes relating to risk management and the
calculation of internal capital adequacy requirements, the economic
capital, and the assessment of these processes by the regulator,
referred to as the Supervisory Review;
– Pillar III: disclosure requirements relating to key financial risk
information for external stakeholders.
Pillar III, which deals with the obligation to provide stakeholders with
information on risk, supports the provision on minimum solvency
requirements (Pillar I) and the solvency requirements set by management
(Pillar II). The objective of Pillar III is to bring about an improvement in
the quality of risk management at institutions through the disciplinary
effect of the market. Van Lanschot has opted to include its entire Pillar III
report in its financial statements, which are published once a year. In
exceptional circumstances, due to unusual internal or external factors,
Pillar III reports may be produced on a more frequent basis.

Table 1.3.1.A Minimum external capital
adequacy requirements (Pillar I)

The loan portfolio of Van Lanschot can roughly be split up into two
portfolios, i.e. a retail portfolio with mainly mortgages and a non-retail
portfolio with customised financing solutions.
On 1 July 2010, Van Lanschot switched to the Advanced Internal Rating
Based (A-IRB) approach for the retail loan portfolio. In 2011, the Dutch
Central Bank additionally granted its approval for application of the
F-IRB approach for two non-retail models. The most important approval
concerns the model for commercial property clients. Van Lanschot is
expected to switch the remainder of its non-retail portfolio to the F-IRB
approach in 2012. This would finalise the transition to a more risksensitive Basel II Credit Risk approach. Van Lanschot applies the
Standardised Approach (SA) for operational risk and market risk.
Credit risk is the most important risk category of the Pillar I risks. The
capital adequacy requirement is based on the total loan commitments of
Van Lanschot. The limited amount of market risk results from the risk
policy by virtue of which Van Lanschot only trades for own risk to a very
limited extent. The solvency requirement for operational risk is based on
the average income of the past three years.

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

880,007

100%

940,169

100%

Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk

784,634
12,429
82,944

89%
1%
10%

848,940
11,083
80,146

90%
1%
9%

Table 1.3.1.B Capital requirement for
main types of exposure under credit risk

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

784,634

100%

848,940

100%

Receivables from corporates
Retail receivables
Floor in connection with the partial switch
to IRB*

513,083
101,883

65%
13%

517,779
106,032

62%
12%

56,122
113,546

7%
15%

94,613
130,516

11%
15%

Other

*

1.3.1 External capital adequacy requirements
Under Basel II rules, banks must have sufficient buffer capital to cover
the risks arising from banking operations. Pillar I provides guidelines for
calculating the minimum capital requirment that needs to be held
according to regulators for credit risk, market risk and operational risk.
Under the rules, the capital adequacy requirements relating to these
risks can be calculated in different ways with varying degrees of
sophistication. Banks are free to choose their own method, subject to
certain conditions. The method of calculation chosen for the bank’s risk
management structure is subject to various qualitative conditions. Banks
that switch to a more sophisticated method may not revert back to using
less advanced methods at a later date.

Refer to the notes under 2.7 Additional information under Basel II credit risk.
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Table 1.3.1.C Subsidiaries
F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV
Van Lanschot Bankiers België NV
F. van Lanschot Bankiers (Schweiz) AG
Kempen & Co NV
Van Lanschot Participaties BV
Van Lanschot Bankers (Curacao) NV
Van Lanschot Mezzaninefonds BV
Lesalanda BV

Table 1.3.1.C lists the subsidiaries of Van Lanschot, except for the
names of companies of relatively minor importance. The risks of the
subsidiaries listed above represent 99% of the capital to be maintained
by Van Lanschot under Pillar I.

Total
Credit risk
Concentration risk
Market risk
Operational risk
Interest rate risk
Strategic risk

31/12/2010

100%
100%
100%
94%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
95%
100%
100%
100%
100%

At present, the internal capital adequacy requirement is based on the
requirements of Pillar I, supplemented with a surcharge for other risks.
These are:
– concentration risk in the loan portfolio
– interest rate risk
– strategic or business risk

1.3.2 Internal capital adequacy requirements
The objective of Pillar II is to ensure that the bank has implemented
internal processes that are designed to establish whether the required
capital is in keeping with the risks the bank runs. At Van Lanschot these
processes have been laid down in the ICAAP manual. Among other
things, this manual describes the governance structure, the procedures,
the assumptions and the methods used to determine the required
capital. The ICAAP serves to assess and maintain both the current and
future capital adequacy of Van Lanschot.

Table 1.3.2. Internal capital requirements

31/12/2011

The models and methods applied are in keeping with Van Lanschot’s
complexity and size and show a mix of qualitative and quantitative
aspects of risk management. Diversification effects among the risk
categories are not taken into account. Stress tests are conducted on a
regular basis to check whether Van Lanschot’s internal capital is adequate.
Table 1.3.2 shows the internal capital adequacy requirement for each
type of risk.

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

1,182,539

100%

1,289,519

100%

784,634
74,460
12,429
72,075
181,646
57,295

67%
6%
1%
6%
15%
5%

848,940
78,102
11,083
83,846
206,600
60,948

65%
6%
1%
7%
16%
5%
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1.4 The capital management plan
The capital management policy and its monitoring are laid down in the
ICAAP. The ICAAP serves as a basis for assessing Van Lanschot’s current
and future capital adequacy requirements and maintaining them.
Van Lanschot complies with the minimum external capital adequacy
requirements under Pillar I. For Pillar II purposes Van Lanschot keeps
10% more qualifying capital than required under internal capital
adequacy calculations (the ICAAP capital).
In 2011, the core capital rose from € 1,123 million to € 1,200 million.
In view of our comfortable liquidity and capital position, it was decided
to give investors the opportunity to tender their outstanding perpetuals
for repurchase. In the third quarter, Van Lanschot gave its investors the
choice to convert their perpetual capital securities into senior notes or
cash. The regulator approved this transaction, in part based on this solid
position.
This was an interesting opportunity for investors, since the premium paid
exceeded the market price and in this way illiquid securities could be
converted. Perpetuals will eventually not be included as Tier I capital
under Basel III. The conversion increased the core capital which, in turn,
reduced the Tier I capital from € 1.4 billion at year-end 2010 to € 1.2 billion
at year-end 2011.

When drawing up the qualifying capital, adjustments need to be made
for a number of items that, with the introduction of IFRS, affected the
size and composition of equity. These fall into two groups: goodwill plus
all intangible assets recognised in connection with acquisitions, and the
revaluation of bonds and other equity instruments.
Interests of over 10% in the issued share capital of a financial institution
or credit institution are deducted from the qualifying capital. Half of this
is deducted from the Tier I capital, and the other half from the Tier II
capital. This also applies to participating interests in insurance
companies.
Goodwill included in qualifying capital is exclusive of the goodwill
concerning subsidiaries with activities outside the financial sector
(€ 15.9 million; 2010: € 20.1 million).
Table 1.4.C provides a breakdown of Van Lanschot’s qualifying capital,
and also shows the relationship between the qualifying capital and equity
as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Table 1.4.A Capital adequacy requirements and available capital
Minimum capital adequacy required
Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk
Qualifying capital
of which core capital
of which Tier I capital
of which Lower Tier II capital
Capital ratios
BIS total capital ratio
Tier I ratio
Core Tier I ratio

Table 1.4.B Entities deducted from
qualifying capital

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Change

880,007
784,634
12,429
82,944

940,169
848,940
11,083
80,146

– 60,162
– 64,306
1,346
2,798

1,313,560
1,199,599
1,199,599
113,962

1,638,147
1,123,130
1,398,291
230,517

– 324,587
76,469
– 198,692
– 116,556

11.9%
10.9%
10.9%

13.9%
11.9%
9.6%

– 2.0%
– 1.0%
1.4%

Interest (at year-end 2011)

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

4,684

32,474

4,684
–
–

5,130
23,523
3,821

Total
Van Lanschot Chabot Holding BV
Robein Leven NV
Palladyne

49%
0%
17%
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Table 1.4.C Qualifying capital

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Tier I capital
Issued share capital
Share premium
General reserve
Provisional profit distribution for solvency purposes
Minority interests
Less: Goodwill
Less: Other intangible assets
Less: Deferred purchase prices (securitisation)
Less: Deduction for shortfall IRB
Less: Deduction for negative revaluation reserves

41,017
479,914
924,791
18,175
13,932
– 214,565
– 53,283
– 4,582
– 5,755
– 45

41,017
479,914
856,939
27,964
12,533
– 214,648
– 75,981
– 4,608
–
–

Core Tier I capital

1,199,599

1,123,130

27,250
8,813

141,728
158,786

1,235,662

1,423,644

– 2,342
– 33,721

– 16,237
– 9,116

1,199,599

1,398,291

Tier II capital
Upper Tier II capital
Country-specific supplementary additional own funds
Lower Tier II capital

26,109
5,585
124,085

30,988
3,704
230,517

Original Tier II capital

155,779

265,209

Deduction for equity elements
Deduction for shortfall IRB

– 2,342
– 39,476

– 16,237
– 9,116

Total Tier II capital

113,961

239,856

Total qualifying capital

1,313,560

1,638,147

Reconciliation of qualifying capital with consolidated equity
Add: Undistributed profit attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV
Add: Result for 2011/2010 attributable to minority interests
Add: Goodwill
Add: Other intangible assets
Add: Deferred purchase prices (securitisation)
Less: Total lower Tier II capital
Add: Deduction for equity elements
Add: Deduction for shortfall IRB
Add: Revaluation reserves not forming part of qualifying capital
Add: Other equity elements not forming part of qualifying capital

16,324
8,628
214,565
53,283
4,582
– 124,085
4,684
78,952
– 1,691
– 2,933

28,574
10,172
214,648
75,981
4,608
– 230,517
32,474
18,232
7,003
– 14,427

Total consolidated equity

1,565,869

1,784,895

Innovative instruments with fixed dates (perpetual loans)
Other innovative instruments (perpetual loans)
Original Tier I capital
Deduction for equity elements
Deduction for shortfall IRB
Total Tier I capital
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2 Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that a counterparty cannot fulfil its
obligations to the bank. Van Lanschot’s policy on credit risk revolves
primarily around the counterparty risks associated with lending to
private and corporate clients. Strict selection criteria for new clients and
active credit management for existing clients safeguard the quality of
the loan portfolio.
The lending activities are based on the starting point that they should
support Van Lanschot’s ambition of being the best private bank of the
Netherlands and Belgium. It is assessed on an individual basis whether
the loans are in line with the strategy of Van Lanschot.
Credit risk on positions with governments and financial institutions
arises from the investment activities, international payments and cash
management. The counterparty risk on financial institutions is largely
the result of surplus cash being placed with financial institutions for
short terms.
When determining country limits and limits for financial institutions,
Van Lanschot applies a strict policy. The country limits serve as a cross limit,
meaning that the counterparty risks on financial institutions in one single
country are limited by the extent of the country limit concerned. This is
usually lower than the aggregate of the individual counterparty limits.
2.1 RWA calculation based on IRB approach
Since 2010, Van Lanschot has used an A-IRB method to calculate the Risk
Weighted Assets (RWA) for part of its loan portfolio (retail portfolio).
This concerns three sub portfolios:
– the mortgage portfolio;
– the standard securities-backed loans;
– consumer credits up to € 250,000.
For this portfolio, internal models are used to determine the Probabillity
of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at Default
(EAD) for each product. These parameters are defined based on
statistical models.
The PD models are mostly based on behavioural aspects and the LGD
models on the underlying collateral. For the LGD in the RWA calculation,
a downturn LGD is applied (the expected loss at default in economic
downturn situations). The determination of the EAD is based on the
relevant limit and utilisation.
In addition, segmentation models are used to monitor risk trends and
calculate stress scenarios (both sensitivity and scenario stress tests).
In this process, the impact on the profitability and capital ratios is also
determined.
In 2011, the Dutch Central Bank additionally granted its approval for
application of the F-IRB approach for two non-retail models. It concerns
the following models:
– The commercial property model, which comprises the commercial
property portfolio;
– The holding model, comprising the portfolio of clients with minority
interests and shareholdings.
For these portfolios, internal rating models are used to determine the PD
for each individual client. The EAD and LGD are determined based on
rules and regulations.

The other portfolios are reported based on the standardised approach,
similar to last year.
2.1.1 Safeguarding the quality of internal models
The framework used for the development of the models is the Model
Governance Framework. This is part of the overall Credit Governance
Manual. This framework defines the process of model development and
approval. The method for validation of the models has been laid down in
the Framework Model Validation.
Model development took place based on data from a special purpose
data warehouse. This data warehouse and the development process of all
models have in the meantime been tested and approved by Group Audit.
In addition, an external validator assessed and approved this process.
The segmentation models to assess the risk profile of the retail portfolio
have been in use within Van Lanschot since 2008. On a monthly basis,
the effectiveness of the models is tested. This is done through monthly
back testing of the models and a periodic external validation. The
external validations demonstrated that the models not only perform
well, but also stay stable throughout time, and that the PD estimates are
correct. This led to formal approval of the models by the Dutch Central
Bank in 2010.
Since 2006, Van Lanschot uses rating models to assess the non-retail
portfolio. These models combine statistics and model input based on
expert knowledge. The outcome of these models is reported on each
month and the models are periodically validated by an external party.
In 2011, at various levels, regular constructive consultations were held
with the Dutch Central Bank for the transition of the non-retail portfolio
to F-IRB. This led to approval of the model for commercial property
clients in October 2011 and for the holding model in December 2011.
The other two models (for corporate and private clients) will be submitted
for approval to the Dutch Central Bank in the first half of 2012.
2.1.2 Future developments of internal models
Van Lanschot will gradually migrate to an IRB approach. In 2010, the
RWA calculation of the retail portfolio was based on an A-IRB approach.
In 2011, part of the non-retail portfolio migrated to an F-IRB approach.
The remaining non-retail portfolio is expected to migrate to F-IRB in
2012. This portfolio comprises:
– corporate loans;
– private loans falling outside the retail segmentation.
The RWA of the remaining portfolio not being retail or non-retail
(government, financial institutions, non-profit organisations, short-term
overdrafts and amounts owed to subsidiaries) will still be calculated
based on the SA method after the full transition to IRB.
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2.2 Loans and advances
2.2.1 Credit acceptance
Van Lanschot’s loan approval policy focuses on monitoring and maintaining
a high-quality loan portfolio. The authority to approve loans and loan
reviews is delegated to the Acceptance & Management department. The
authority to approve large loans rests with the Credit Committee, which
consists of representatives of the relevant divisions as well as members
of the Board of Managing Directors. Specific powers to approve loans
fully covered by a securities portfolio have been defined for Kempen.
Limits for financial institutions and countries are determined based on a
number of hard criteria, such as external rating, BIS ratios, capital ratios,
Gross Domestic Product (in case of countries) and the country of origin.
The limits are monitored by the International Division, i.e. a separate
department within Risk Management. In addition, limits can be adjusted
and withdrawn on a daily basis. Because of the financial crisis, this sector
was supervised very intensively and often reported on daily.
2.2.2 Credit management
A high-quality loan portfolio requires strict credit management. Credit
management is conducted at item and portfolio levels. At item level,
explicit attention is paid to unauthorised overdrafts and past due
accounts management. In addition, the quality of the customised loans is
monitored through reviews. The frequency of these reviews may differ
depending on the individual borrower’s risk profile, but takes place at
least once a year. During the review, in addition to the financial analysis,
attention is paid to future developments in the client’s situation and
relevant macro-economic trends.
Deterioration in the risk profile may lead to closer supervision, an
adjusted rating, corrective measures (such as requiring additional
collateral or increasing the frequency of financial reporting), transfer
to the Recovery Section or a combination of these measures.
At portfolio level, the relevant (expected) developments are discussed
in the Policy Risk Committee on a quarterly basis. Any negative trend
identified in the risk profile with respect to a particular client segment
(or a particular sector or type of loan) can lead to the adjustment of the
relevant lending policy. Trends in sectors where a concentration risk is
present are monitored particularly closely.
If the review, payment arrears or external signals point to an increased
risk of discontinuity, the loan is transferred to the Recovery Section.
An estimate is made of the continuity perspective. If the continuity
perspective is doubtful or insufficient, the Recovery Section draws up
an impairment proposal. On the basis of this proposal, the Impairment
Committee sets the final impairment.
When determining whether impairments exist, all clients in default are
assessed individually and included under specific provisions. Previously,
items not individually significant were provided for on a collective basis.
However, thanks to more intensive management and improved systems,
this method was stopped, and all items are now individually provided for.
In addition, a provision is formed for Incurred But Not Reported credit
losses. This is done applying the methods set out.

Individual items

For individual items where an objective indication of impairment exists,
an estimate is made of the future cash flows which are discounted based
on the DCF method using the original discount rate. Assumptions used
are the estimate of the (liquidation) value of the collateral, estimate of
payments to be received, estimate of the timing of these payments and
the discount rate.
Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR)

Loans for which there is no objective indication of impairment are
included in IBNR. IBNR concerns value decreases which have occurred
at reporting date but of which the bank is not yet aware due to an
information time lag. This impairment is calculated based on the Expected
Loss (EL) for a year. This is calculated at client level (non-retail) and
product level (retail) with the PD, EAD and LGD present. In addition, the
confirmation period is estimated. This is the number of quarters during
which an information time lag exists (minimum 0, maximum 4). The
ultimate calculation of the impairment is the product of EL and the
confirmation period. This method is consistent with the Basel II models
and uses historical information.
2.2.3 Investments
Investments at Van Lanschot have a low risk profile, high
creditworthiness and are mainly held for liquidity purposes. Each
investment must therefore be highly tradable on the market and eligible
as collateral.
Decisions concerning investments and allocation to the portfolio are
made by the Asset & Liability Committee. All new positions in the capital
market instruments portfolio should be approved in advance by the
International Division department (country limits) and the Treasury
department (individual limits). New positions in shares and shareholdings
must be approved in advance by the Board of Managing Directors.
New investments in debt instruments of banks should be of a senior
(non-subordinated) level, with a minimum rating requirement of AA
(external credit rating).
Previously, all investments of Van Lanschot were classified as availablefor-sale. In 2011, it was decided to invest the surplus liquidity in Dutch
government bonds, covered bonds or Asset Backed Securities (ABS) with
ratings from AAA to Single A. These investments are put in a separate
portfolio, recognised at fair value with the value changes through proﬁt
or loss. Van Lanschot classified 62% of its investments as available-forsale and 38% as Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit
or loss.
The investments in government-guaranteed debt instruments mainly
concern Dutch government bonds and to a minor extent French, Belgian,
German, Swiss and Canadian government bonds.
Only a limited part of the investments of Van Lanschot concerns shares
with no Fitch rating and has therebeen been classified as Other. The
category Other comprises shares for € 70.2 million (2010: € 88.3 million)
and shareholdings for € 72.2 million (2010: € 63.2 million). The equity
investments mainly concern positions in own equity funds.
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Table 2.2.3.A Investments by type

31/12/2011

Total

31/12/2010

1,360,308

100%

1,319,401

100%

846,172
157,784
212,846
143,506

62%
12%
16%
10%

1,025,505
–
141,109
152,787

78%
0%
11%
11%

Government bonds and governmentguaranteed bonds
Covered bonds
Asset Backed Securities
Other equity instruments

Table 2.2.3.B Investments by external rating
31/12/2011

(most recent Fitch Ratings as known to Van Lanschot)

31/12/2010

Total

1,360,308

100%

1,319,401

100%

AAA
AA
A
Other

1,060,964
154,680
545
144,119

78%
11%
0%
11%

1,021,305
142,780
26
155,290

77%
11%
0%
12%

2.2.4 Securitisation 2006
Van Lanschot has securitised part of the loans to the private sector
secured on commercial property. In this securitisation transaction, called
Lancelot 2006, the beneﬁcial ownership of receivables was transferred
to a separate entity. These receivables were transferred at their face
value, plus a deferred selling price. A positive result within the separate
entity leads to a positive value of the deferred selling price. Van Lanschot
thus maintains a beneﬁcial interest in the Lancelot entity, and has
therefore fully consolidated this entity in its consolidated accounts.

The Lancelot 2006 exposures are given a 0% weighing under the
credit risk Basel II, because the credit risk has been transferred in full.
Van Lanschot bears the first loan losses (principals and interest) of the
securitised loans. If loan losses are suffered, the reserve fund is used first.
Additions to the reserve fund are made through an excess spread. This
amounts to 0.6% per year of outstanding notes; the extent of the reserve
fund at year-end 2011 was € 4.2 million (2010: € 4.2 million). In 2011,
this fund was not used. The fund has been disclosed as a receivable in the
company financial statements and is eliminated in the consolidation process.

The Lancelot 2006 structure comprises a so-called step-up structure.
This implies that, as from January 2012, the company has the right to
early repayment of the bonds. In addition, on this date, the coupon on
the bonds will be subject to an interest step-up. On 12 December 2011,
Van Lanschot announced that it will use the right to exercise the call.
For the ﬁnancing of the loans, Lancelot 2006 has issued ﬁve classes of
debt securities, the speciﬁcations of which are given below. The debt
securities have received a rating from Fitch Ratings and Standard &
Poor’s. In the structure, Van Lanschot acts as pool servicer and default
loan servicer. As a result of the structure set-up, Van Lanschot does not
have all liquidities of the Lancelot company at its disposal.

The carrying amount of the securitised loans, exclusive of accrued
interest, for the Lancelot 2006 securitisation transaction was
€ 297.8 million at year-end 2011 (year-end 2010: € 333.9 million).
Lancelot 2006 is a traditional securitisation. A characteristic of a
traditional securitisation is that the beneficial title to the securitised
receivables is transferred to an entity for securitisation purposes, which
subsequently issues securities. The issued securities lead to a payment
obligation at Lancelot instead of Van Lanschot. In 2011, no losses were
recorded on positions included in the Lancelot 2006 transaction (as in
2010). At 31 December 2011, there were no arrears on these positions
(as in 2010).

Table 2.2.4 Lancelot 2006
Fitch
Ratings

Standard
& Poor’s

Total
Senior Class A
Mezzanine Class B
Mezzanine Class C
Junior Class D
Subordinated Class E

Original
principal

Date of
securitisation

AAA
AA
A
BBB
BB

528,000
21,000
19,500
19,500
12,000

First call
option date

Contractual
date of maturity

Spread

26/01/2012
26/01/2012
26/01/2012
26/01/2012
26/01/2012

01/01/2073
01/01/2073
01/01/2073
01/01/2073
01/01/2073

0.16%
0.26%
0.44%
0.70%
privately
placed

316,361

600,000
AAA
AAA
AA
BBB
B

Principal at
31/12/2011

15 /12/2006
15 /12/2006
15 /12/2006
15 /12/2006
15 /12/2006

244,361
21,000
19,500
19,500
12,000
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2.3 Breakdown of loan portfolio
The credit risk concentration lies with Van Lanschot Netherlands. In
Belgium limited lending occurs, as is also the case at the other foreign
subsidiaries. Lending by Kempen mainly comprises securities-backed
loans; the limits fully depend on the collateral furnished and may change
on a daily basis. Table 2.3.A sets out the breakdown of loans and
advances by the various entities.

Private loans are usually secured by residential property (mortgage loan),
an investment portfolio (securities-backed loan) or privately held
commercial property (property loan). The remainder concerns regular
consumer credits and private customised financing (other loans). For
customised financing, the structure and collateral are determined on an
individual basis. This loan category is solely intended for clients who have
placed substantial funds with Van Lanschot.

In 2011, the category 'Other' for companies and institutions comprises:
Constructions & infrastructure (1.09%), Building materials (1.02%),
Transport & logistics (0.86%), Consumer products non-food (0,81%),
Tourism industry (0.69%), Car industry (0.37%), Technology (0.31%),
Basic materials (0.22%), Media (0.16%), Agriculture & fisheries (0.11%),
Chemicals (0.03%), Oil & Gas (0.02%) and Utilities (0.01%).

New loans are assessed critically to determine whether they are in line
with the strategy of Van Lanschot. Van Lanschot aims to be the best
private bank of the Netherlands and Belgium. Lending should further
this objective, but is not a goal in itself. As a result, during the year 2011,
loans were only granted with the utmost conservatism. As a result, the
size of the loan portfolio decreased.

The total outstanding amount, as included in tables 2.3.B and 2.3.C, is
reduced by impairments of loans. This indicates the total of loans and
advances to the public and private sectors. The impairments are split into
IBNR on the one hand, and specific provisions on the other. IBNR is
included in Past due. Specific provisions are included under Impaired,
both nominal and as a percentage.

2.4 Quality of loan portfolio
In section 2.1, the loan portfolio is divided into retail and non-retail
loans. For retail and non-retail loans, different approaches are used
for the determination of the risk of the portfolio.

All loans of which the interest and/or instalments are not paid in time,
are past due. If a client potentially or actually defaults on its obligations
to the bank, a provision is formed. The loans of the client are then
classified as impaired loans. Unsecured loans are only granted with the
utmost conservatism. For corporate loans, regular collateral is furnished
such as property, receivables, inventories and fixtures and fittings.

Table 2.3.A Breakdown of loan portfolio
by entity (excluding impairments)

Retail portfolio

The quality of the retail portfolio (refer to the description in section 2.1)
is determined based on statistical segmentation models. In these models,
retail loans are classified in the correct risk class, based on specific
characteristics and statistical models.

31/12/2011
Limit

31/12/2010
Utilisation

Limit

Utilisation

Total

15,888,165

14,488,721

17,583,575

15,964,788

Van Lanschot Netherlands
Van Lanschot Belgium
Van Lanschot Other
Kempen

15,262,553
438,609
187,003
variable

13,793,333
358,108
141,411
195,869

16,984,770
436,841
161,964
variable

15,257,869
386,810
115,524
204,585

Table 2.4.A Breakdown of internal ratings of customised financing as a percentage of liability outstanding
Internal rating

Description

Total
T
A1 - A3
B1 - B3
C1 - C3
D1 - D3
E
F1 - F3

Top class
Strong
Good
Adequate
Weak
Very weak
Default

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

100

100

–
–
20
49
24
2
5

–
2
24
48
18
2
6
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Table 2.3.B Loans and advances to the public and private sectors by sector 2011

31/12/2011

% of
the total

Total

Limit

Neither past
due nor
impaired

Past due

Impaired

5.0%

46.7%

4
14,270,431

Total
Companies and institutions
Property
Healthcare
Financial holdings
Services
Retail
Capital assets
Food, beverages and tobacco
Other

13
2
3
5
2
2
1
7

1,881,153
268,220
494,235
618,670
349,545
285,704
170,353
1,014,755

1,908,569
335,504
696,400
758,125
410,735
384,180
213,820
1,393,822

1,720,887
254,395
464,520
569,533
334,807
281,720
170,250
942,611

25,778
1,805
3,113
26,231
485
659
28
35,553

134,488
12,020
26,602
22,906
14,253
3,325
75
36,591

Total companies and institutions

35

5,082,635

6,101,155

4,738,723

93,652

250,260

Private individuals
Mortgages
Securities-backed loan
Property
Other

51
1
5
8

7,350,040
151,886
671,958
1,232,202

7,295,347
542,648
683,446
1,265,569

7,184,706
150,586
651,016
1,058,915

87,198
–
8,079
76,985

78,136
1,300
12,863
96,302

Total private individuals

65

9,406,086

9,787,010

9,045,223

172,262

188,601

13,355

204,935

Past due

Impaired

218,290

Impairments of loans

Table 2.3.C Loans and advances to the public and private sectors by sector 2010

31/12/2010

% of
the total

Total

Limit

Neither past
due nor
impaired

209.
824

15,710,224

Total

4.8%

38.2%

Companies and institutions
Property
Healthcare
Financial holdings
Services
Retail
Capital assets
Food, beverages and tobacco
Other

11
3
4
4
3
2
1
11

1,780,758
448,383
675,622
656,068
417,318
284,649
193,758
1,734,058

1,824,941
539,497
950,060
799,800
491,391
370,702
232,982
1,942,719

1,627,806
421,616
636,507
630,914
353,814
274,867
189,939
1,607,324

40,198
136
8,126
12,444
–
–
8
33,032

112,754
26,631
30,989
12,710
63,504
9,782
3,811
93,702

Total companies and institutions

39

6,190,614

7,152,092

5,742,787

93,944

353,883

Private individuals
Mortgages
Securities-backed loan
Property
Other

48
1
5
7

7,649,904
159,235
847,590
1,117,445

7,737,660
653,963
848,335
1,191,525

7,431,546
157,712
812,750
962,019

67,352
4
29,282
28,710

151,006
1,519
5,558
126,716

Total private individuals

61

9,774,174

10,431,483

9,364,027

125,348

284,799

10,456

244,108

Impairments of loans

254,564
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Van Lanschot has prepared a rating scale for the rating models. At the
top of the rating scale is class T, followed by classes A to F. Combinations
of letters with numbers allow for further differentiation. The same rating
scale is applied to all clients in the segments concerned.

2.5.1 Commercial property
Van Lanschot has a large concentration in commercial property. The bank
has always observed conservative lending standards in this respect.
A commercial property loan is only granted if the client falls within the
scope of Van Lanschot’s strategy (refer to table 2.5.1). The commercial
property portfolio of Van Lanschot comprises € 1.9 billion in property loans
to corporate clients (2010: € 1.8 billion) and € 0.7 billion in property loans
to private clients (2010: € 0.8 billion). At present, the bank has € 147 million
in impaired property loans (2010: € 118 million). For these loans, a provision
of approx. € 58 million (40%) was formed (2010: € 42 million and 36%).

The exposure of the loan portfolio by rating at year-end is represented
in table 2.4.A. The size of the customised portfolio is € 6.2 billion (2010:
€ 7.0 billion). The spread over the ratings was in line with the economic
trends. The economic crisis had a substantial impact on the PD of customised
loans. Nearly the entire customised portfolio was given a rating.

2.5.2 Concentration in individual loans
The 20 largest loans to individual counterparties, not being financial
institutions, total € 874.1 million, compared with a total loan portfolio of
€ 14.3 billion (2010: € 931.5 million compared with a total loan portfolio
of € 15.7 billion).

Table 2.4.B provides insight into the underlying securities of this loan
portfolio. Unsecured loans are only granted with the utmost conservatism.
The category Other securities and unsecured loans mainly comprises
loans for which collateral has been provided, such as corporate property,
receivables, inventories or fixtures and fittings. There are very few
unsecured loans. The majority of collateral is not directly linked to a
specific financing arrangement. In general, collateral can be used for all
current and future amounts owed by a debtor.

2.5.3 Concentration in geographical areas
In accordance with the strategy of Van Lanschot, the majority of the
loans is granted in the Netherlands and Belgium. The geographical
breakdown is based on client locations. A part of the Belgian market is
served from the Dutch network of branches.

Non-retail portfolio

To assess non-retail loans, internally developed rating models are used
in the Netherlands. A client’s rating is a decisive factor in the assessment
and pricing of customised financing. In addition, the rating is used to
increase the insight into the loan portfolio and to monitor its quality.

The average Loan-To-Value (LTV) of mortgages is 89%.
2.5 Concentration in the loan portfolio
The largest concentration of loans concerns the mortgage portfolio.
The credit risk in this portfolio is limited. The largest credit risk and the
actual historic losses can be found in the corporate portfolio. Van Lanschot
aims for a diversified corporate loan portfolio. Van Lanschot has a strong
position in medium-sized family and other businesses and commercial
property. In view of the bank’s nature and size, concentration effects can
be identified.
Van Lanschot actively worked on a reduction of the concentration on
individual counterparties. This resulted in a decrease of the largest
20 limits by 13% during 2011. In 2010, these limits already decreased
by 22%. Within the scope of its risk appetite, Van Lanschot set limits
for concentrations in individual sectors.

2.6 Increased credit risk
Loans involving an increased credit risk are classified into the category
past due or the category impaired. All loans of which the interest and/or
instalments are not paid in time are past due. If a client potentially or
actually defaults on its obligations to the bank, a provision is formed.
The loans of the client are then classified as impaired loans. This evaluation
is performed by the Recovery Section. This department prepares a proposal
for the required impairment, based on the liability outstanding, collateral
available and expected cash flows. The Impairment Committee reviews
these proposals and ultimately determines the impairment in line with
policy.
As soon as there are indications that may suggest a deteriorated continuity
perspective, the Recovery Section is informed. This department will assess
the continuity perspective and, where necessary, will either supervise the
loan or fully take over its treatment. If a loan is past due for more than
90 days, such an analysis is compulsory.
The primary goal of the Recovery Section is to make a client ready for
transfer to accounts with regular status. The bank aims to do so subject
to the matters agreed upon with the client, but restructuring is applied
where necessary. After such restructuring, the loans stay with the
Recovery Section until it has been demonstrated that the restructuring
was successful.

Table 2.4.B Loans and advances to the public and private sectors by collateral
Total
Government and government guarantees
Mortgage collateral
Credit institution guarantees
Securities collateral
Other securities and unsecured loans

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

14,270,431

15,710,224

75,145
8,158,050
51,812
296,989
5,688,435

409,893
8,627,007
52,938
358,098
6,262,288
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Table 2.5.1 Commercial property: breakdown by rating as a percentage of liability outstanding
Internal rating

Description

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

100

100

–
23
54
14
1
8

–
24
53
16
1
6

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

14,270,431

15,710,224

The Netherlands
Belgium
Other

13,443,189
461,524
365,718

14,896,547
466,156
347,521

Total
A1 - A3
B1 - B3
C1 - C3
D1 - D3
E
F 1 – F3

Strong
Good
Adequate
Weak
Very weak
Default

Table 2.5.3 Loans and advances to the public and private sectors
by geographical area

2.6.1 Past due accounts
Van Lanschot defines a receivable as a past due account if the limit has
been exceeded by at least € 5,000 for more than 30 days. A client’s
contrary balances are set off insofar as this has legally been formalised.
The Monitoring Desk monitors the past due accounts and supports the
network of branches in reducing these accounts (refer to table 2.6.1).
If the individual assessment identifies an increased risk, the Recovery
Section will monitor the client concerned, or take over its treatment
from the branch concerned. Table 2.6.1 concerns the loan portfolio.

The loans to that client are then designated as impaired loans. In addition
to mortgage collateral and guarantees provided by governments and
credit institutions, business property, receivables, fixtures and fittings
may serve as collateral. The majority of collateral is not directly linked to
a specific financing arrangement. In general, collateral can be used for all
current and future amounts owed by a debtor.
It is not uncommon that, if the Recovery Section takes over the
monitoring of the client, the credit limit is set at nil, as a result of which
the full outstanding balance qualifies as an overdraft.

Thanks to active management of past due accounts, potential problem
loans are identified at an early stage. If a client potentially or actually
defaults on its obligations to the bank, a provision is formed.

Table 2.6.1 Aging analysis of past
due accounts (excluding impaired loans)

31/12/2011
Balance
outstanding
Excess over limit

31/12/2010
Balance
outstanding
Excess over limit

Total

265,914

41,505

219,292

25,327

30-60 days
60-90 days
>90 days

65,541
36,952
163,421

4,124
3,086
34,295

50,519
37,676
131,097

2,323
5,624
17,380
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2.6.2 Impaired loans
If a client potentially or actually defaults on its obligations to the bank, a
provision is formed. The loan is then designated as impaired. In the past
year, Van Lanschot again felt the negative effects of the economic crisis,
which resulted in a relatively high number of impaired loans.
If a loan is designated as impaired, the Recovery Section will determine
the provision based on the collateral present. These provisions are
determined on an individual basis. The total addition to the provisions
in 2011 was 54 basis points of the average RWA during 2011 (2010:
66 basis points). This addition is partly offset by an increase in the
interest premium charged to clients.

With effect from 2011, Van Lanschot definitively writes off loans as soon
as there is sufficient certainty about the loss (expectations are that no
returns will be generated, all collateral provided has been sold off and/or
the final distribution from the liquidator is still outstanding). Previously,
write-downs were made after the bankruptcy had fully been settled from
a legal perspective, and it was clear for 100% that no proceeds were to
be expected. Since it often takes years before bankruptcies are fully
settled, it was decided to apply write-offs at an earlier stage. If this
change had been implemented in 2010, the estimated amount already
disclosed for write-offs in 2010 would have been approx. € 10 million
higher.
The total amount of impaired loans being past due is € 284 million
(2010: € 332 million).

Table 2.6.2.A Movements in impairments in 2011
Specific

Collective

IBNR

Total

Balance at 1 January
Loans written off
Additions to or release of provision

238,335
– 97,364
63,964

5,773
–
– 5,773

10,456
–
2,899

254,564
– 97,364
61,090

Balance at 31 December

204,935

–

13,355

218,290

As a percentage of RWA

1.98

Table 2.6.2.B Movements in impairments in 2010
Specific

Collective

IBNR

Total

Balance at 1 January
Loans written off
Additions to or release of provision

169,649
– 15,586
84,272

5,431
–
342

8,562
–
1,894

183,642
– 15,586
86,508

Balance at 31 December

238,335

5,773

10,456

254,564

As a percentage of RWA

Table 2.6.2.C Impairments charged to profit or loss
Impairments charged to profit or loss
As a percentage of average RWA

2.17

2011

2010

61,090
0.54

86,508
0.66
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Table 2.6.2.D Provisions on
impaired corporate loan portfolio

Impaired

Provision

%

Impaired

Provision

%

Total

250,260

121,925

48.7

353,883

152,510

43.1

Property
Healthcare
Financial holdings
Services
Retail
Capital assets
Food, beverages and tobacco
Other

134,488
12,020
26,602
22,906
14,253
3,325
75
36,591

54,940
9,730
8,700
12,940
5,200
2,840
75
27,500

40.9
80.9
32.7
56.5
36.5
85.4
100.0
75.2

112,754
26,631
30,989
12,710
63,504
9,782
3,811
93,702

35,786
23,499
7,665
6,678
9,909
5,375
3,811
59,787

31.7
88.2
24.7
52.5
15.6
54.9
100.0
63.8

Table 2.6.2.E Provisions on
impaired loans to private individuals
portfolio

Impaired

31/12/2011
Provision

%

Impaired

31/12/2010
Provision

%

Total

188,601

83,010

44.0

284,799

91,598

32.2

78,136
1,300
12,863
96,302

33,470
340
3,440
45,760

42.8
26.2
26.7
47.5

151,006
1,519
5,558
126,716

27,353
207
6,287
57,751

18.1
13.6
113.1
45.6

Mortgages
Securities-backed loans
Property
Other

31/12/2011

Table 2.6.2.F Provisions by entity

31/12/2010

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Impaired

Provision

Impaired

Provision

Total

438,861

204,935

638,682

244,108

Van Lanschot Netherlands
Van Lanschot Belgium
Kempen
Van Lanschot Other

420,747
18,064
20
30

200,234
4,651
20
30

615,566
20,260
2,778
78

235,338
5,914
2,778
78

100

2.7 Additional information under Basel II SA: credit risk
Since mid 2010, the regulator has given its approval that the solvency
requirements for the retail portfolio be calculated based on our internal
retail models. Two of the non-retail models migrated to F-IRB in 2011, as
apparent from table 2.7.A. The other non-retail portfolios are expected
to be approved by the Dutch Central Bank in the course of 2012.

Credit risk is broken down into four different types of exposure: line
items, contingent items, repo transactions and derivative transactions.
Tables 2.7.C and 2.7.D show the gross and net exposure, risk weighting
and capital adequacy requirement of each type of exposure. The average
risk weighting for each type of exposure is calculated by dividing the risk
weighting by the net exposure.

Van Lanschot uses the A-IRB approach for the calculation of the credit
risk for the retail portfolio. The A-IRB approach is the most risk sensitive
approach of the Basel II credit risk approaches. Under A-IRB, the credit
risk is determined by using internal input for the PD, LGD, EAD and
Maturity (M). Based on these parameters, the risk weighting is calculated.
Furthermore, Van Lanschot uses the F-IRB approach for the calculation
of the credit risk for the non-retail portfolio. Under F-IRB, the credit risk
is determined using internal input for the PD. The LGD and EAD are
imposed by the Dutch Central Bank.

If receivables have been guaranteed by other parties (such as
governments), the gross exposure is included in the relevant exposure
class, while the net exposure is included under the exposure class of the
party that furnished the guarantee (such as Receivables from central
governments and central banks). This is the reason why the net exposure
is higher than the gross exposure.
For more information about the Basel II exposure classes, reference is
made to the glossary.

Table 2.7.A Phased roll-out plan credit risk under Basel II:

2010

2011

2012

Retail
Commercial property companies and financial holding companies
Other companies*

A-IRB
SA
SA
SA

A-IRB
F-IRB
SA
SA

A-IRB
F-IRB
F-IRB
SA

Other

SA = Standardised Approach
F-IRB = Foundation Internal Rating-Based approach (method based on internal models)
A-IRB = Advanced Internal Rating-based approach (advanced method based on internal models)
* Expected transition in 2012 from SA to F-IRB

Table 2.7.B Key parameters in the calculation of the risk weighting
PD = Probability of Default (%)
EAD = Exposure at Default (€)
LGD = Loss Given Default (%)
M = Maturity (t)

The likelihood that a client will fall into default within one year.
The bank’s exposure at the time of the client’s default.
An estimate of the loss for Van Lanschot if the collateral for a loan is seized and executed
or a business is liquidated as part of a foreclosure process.
Expected term to maturity.
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Table 2.7.C Breakdown of credit risk by type of exposure 31/12/2011
Gross
exposure

Net
exposure

Average risk
weighting

Risk weighting

Capital
adequacy
requirement

Total

22,457,403

19,335,288

51%

9,807,936

784,634

On balance sheet items
Off balance sheet items
Repo transactions
Derivative transactions
Floor in connection with partial transition to IRB *

18,736,701
2,389,712
285,000
344,465
701,525

17,584,857
704,934
–
343,972
701,525

48%
63%
0%
48%
100%

8,498,389
443,676
–
164,346
701,525

679,871
35,494
–
13,148
56,121

Table 2.7.D Breakdown of credit risk by type of exposure 31/12/2010

*

Gross
exposure

Net
exposure

Average risk
weighting

Risk weighting

Capital
adequacy
requirement

Total

25,748,332

20,274,691

52%

10,611,756

848,940

On balance sheet items
Off balance sheet items
Repo transactions
Derivative transactions
Floor in connection with partial transition to IRB *

20,340,716
2,690,684
1,167,657
366,612
1,182,663

18,182,480
536,623
11,255
361,670
1,182,663

49%
53%
0%
44%
100%

8,982,834
284,888
2,251
159,120
1,182,663

718,627
22,791
180
12,730
94,612

The capital reduction by virtue of the use of IRB for the retail portfolio exceeds the capital
release upon transition of both the retail and non-retail portfolio. Since the regulator does
not deem such volatility in the solvency ratio desirable, the capital adequacy requirement for
Van Lanschot must amount to at least 92.5% of the Basel II SA requirement. The supplement
to the IRB capital adequacy requirement to bring it up to 92.5% of the SA capital adequacy
requirement is referred to as the floor.
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Table 2.7.E Capital adequacy by exposure class at 31/12/2011
Gross
exposure

Net
exposure

Average risk
weighting

Risk weighting

Capital
adequacy
requirement

22,457,403

19,335,288

51%

9,807,936

784,634

1,885,706

1,885,460

0%

–

–

16,306
4,154

312
4,154

20%
44%

62
1,826

5
146

1,238,410
5,383,220

912,530
3,275,284

21%
99%

194,501
3,234,597

15,560
258,768

165,983
419,259
220,052
75,992
156,999
721,042

162,134
419,259
158,337
72,876
156,999
718,212

75%
35%
143%
145%
20%
89%

121,600
146,741
225,953
105,380
31,400
636,843

9,728
11,739
18,076
8,430
2,512
50,947

10,287,123

7,765,557

61%

4,698,903

375,911

F-IRB exposure classes
Corporates
Equities
Securitisation positions

3,063,410
83,075
175,806

3,008,997
83,075
175,806

106%
253%
7%

3,178,933
210,548
12,829

254,315
16,844
1,026

Total F-IRB

3,322,291

3,267,878

104%

3,402,310

272,185

A-IRB exposure classes
Retail receivables

8,146,464

7,600,328

13%

1,005,198

80,416

Total A-IRB

8,146,464

7,600,328

13%

1,005,198

80,416

701,525

701,525

100%

701,525

56,122

Total
SA exposure classes
Receivables from central governments and central banks
Receivables from administrative bodies and
non-commercial undertakings
Receivables from multilateral development banks
Receivables from financial companies and financial
institutions
Receivables from corporates
Receivables from private individuals and medium-sized
businesses
Receivables secured by real estate property
Past due items
Items belonging to high-risk categories
Positions in covered bonds
Other risk-weighted assets
Total SA

Supplementary capital adequacy requirements
due to partial transition to IRB

The exposures of commercial property companies and financial holding
companies are reported in the F-IRB exposure class Corporates. Under
the standard approach, they were mainly reported in the exposure class
Receivables from corporates.
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Table 2.7.F Capital adequacy by exposure class at 31/12/2010

Total
SA exposure classes
Receivables from central governments and central banks
Receivables from administrative bodies and
non-commercial undertakings
Receivables from multilateral development banks
Receivables from financial companies and financial
institutions
Receivables from corporates
Receivables from private individuals and medium-sized
businesses
Receivables secured by real estate property
Past due items
Items belonging to high-risk categories
Positions in covered bonds
Other risk-weighted assets
Total SA

Gross
exposure

Net
exposure

Average risk
weighting

Risk weighting

Capital
adequacy
requirement

25,748,332

20,274,691

52%

10,611,756

848,940

1,657,299

1,767,191

0%

–

–

163,974
–

47,256
5,286

20%
50%

9,451
2,643

756
211

2,174,804
9,788,974

921,846
6,474,104

22%
100%

199,501
6,472,233

15,960
517,779

193,869
470,905
424,807
104,293
–
734,050

164,814
470,191
275,976
90,574
–
733,711

75%
35%
143%
143%
0%
85%

123,610
164,567
394,643
129,345
–
623,611

9,889
13,165
31,571
10,348
–
49,889

15,712,975

10,950,949

74%

8,119,604
1

649,568

F-IRB exposure classes
Corporates
Equities
Securitisation positions

–
107,093
135,000

–
107,093
135,000

0%
245%
7%

–
262,244
10,017

–
20,980
801

Total F-IRB

242,093

242,093

112%

272,261

21,781

A-IRB exposure classes
Retail receivables

8,610,601

7,898,986

13%

1,037,228

82,978

Total A-IRB

8,610,601

7,898,986

13%

1,037,228

82,978

Supplementary capital adequacy requirements
due to partial transition to IRB

1,182,663

1,182,663

100%

1,182,663

94,613

.795
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A receivable from a financial institution is classified based on the rating
in one of the six credit quality steps. Non-current receivables from
financial institutions with an AA rating are assigned a weighting of 20%
(credit quality step 1). An A rating corresponds to credit quality step 2
and a 50% weighting. A C rating corresponds to credit quality step 6 and
a 150% weighting. Credit quality step 3 is applied to unrated exposures.

Risk weightings of SA exposure classes based on credit assessments by rating
agencies

Van Lanschot uses Fitch Ratings’ assessments. The rating and exposure
class determine the weighting of a certain SA exposure (refer to tables
2.7.G and 2.7.H).

Table 2.7.G Credit quality step by relevant exposure class (%)

Receivables from central governments
and central banks
Receivables from regional and local
governments
Receivables from financial companies
and financial institutions
Current receivables from corporates and
financial companies
Corporates

Step 1

Step 2

Step 3

Step 4

Step 5

Step 6

0

20

50

100

100

150

20

50

100

100

100

150

20

50

50

100

100

150

20
20

20
50

20
100

50
100

50
150

150
150

Step 2

Step 3

Step 4

Step 5

Step 6

F-3
BBB+
BBBBBB

BB+
BBBB

B+
BB

CCC
CC
C
D

Table 2.7.H Fitch Ratings by credit quality step
Step 1
AAA
AA+
AAAA
F-1

F-2
A+
AA

Table 2.7.I SA exposure by risk weighting
31/12/2011
risk weighting

31/12/2010

Gross exposure

Net exposure

Gross exposure

Net exposure

Total

10,287,123

7,765,557

15,712,975

10,950,949

0%
20%
35%
50%
75%
100%
150%

1,892,164
1,414,061
419,259
57,623
183,941
6,097,596
222,479

1,967,309
1,081,404
419,259
42,564
162,134
3,891,668
201,219

1,767,398
2,277,502
470,905
68,436
193,869
10,544,466
390,399

1,877,290
921,750
470,191
54,530
164,814
7,147,501
314,873
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Breakdown of IRB Corporates exposures by probability of default classes 2011

The corporate receivables are divided over ten default classes in the IRB
models (refer to table 2.7.J).

Table 2.7.J Probability of default classes IRB corporates 2011
Average LGD
weighting of
exposure

Average PD
weighting of
exposure

Total
44.50%
44.76%
37.55%
42.93%
43.69%
42.09%
41.76%
43.66%
39.86%
44.32%

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

0.09%
0.17%
0.33%
0.55%
0.84%
1.59%
2.97%
5.43%
11.87%
86.36%

Exposure

Risk weighting
795

Capital
adequacy
requirement

3,008,997

3,178,933

254,315

7,836
88,996
177,632
318,325
420,783
1,262,798
283,285
135,038
50,517
263,787

3,170
46,440
106,020
267,166
433,005
1,500,108
355,424
228,178
104,964
134,458

254
3,715
8,482
21,373
34,640
120,009
28,434
18,254
8,397
10,757

Table 2.7.K IRB equities simple risk weighting method 2011
Gross exposure

Net exposure

Risk weighting

Capital adequacy
requirement

Total

83,075

83,075

210,548

16,843

190%
290%
390%

47,970
13,105
22,000

47,970
13,105
22,000

91,143
38,005
81,400

7,291
3,040
6,512

risk weighting

Table 2.7.L IRB equities simple risk weighting method 2010
Gross exposure

Net exposure

Risk weighting

Capital adequacy
requirement

Total

107,093

107,093

262,245

20,980

190%
290%
390%

65,925

65,925
19,168
22,000

125,258

19,168
22,000

55,587
81,400

10,021
4,447
6,512

risk weighting

Table 2.7.M IRB Securitisations 2011
risk weighting

Gross exposure

Net exposure

Risk weighting

Capital adequacy
requirement

Total

Category

175,806

175,806

12,829

1,026

7 - 10%

A (most senior)

175,806

175,806

12,829

1,026
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Table 2.7.N IRB securitisations 2010
risk weighting

Gross exposure

Net exposure

Risk weighting

Capital adequacy
requirement

Total

Category

135,000

135,000

10,017

801

7 - 10%

A (most senior)

135,000

135,000

10,017

801

Breakdown of IRB Retail exposures by probability of default classes

In the IRB models, the retail receivables are divided over ten default
classes (refer to table 2.7.O en 2.7.P).

Table 2.7.O Probability of default classes IRB retail 2011
Average LGD
weighting of
exposure

Average PD
weighting of
exposure

Total
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

33.50%
11.42%
11.85%
1.20%
27.50%
12.72%
27.50%
33.50%
11.89%
18.42%

0.04%
0.07%
0.13%
0.22%
0.33%
0.63%
2.75%
3.48%
6.10%
100.00%

Exposure

Risk weighting
795

Capital
adequacy
requirement

7,600,328

1,005,198

80,416

44,850
1,597,102
2,609,259
28,025
127,533
1,618,531
90,986
40,971
1,277,535
165,536

2,126
33,410
96,789
153
20,916
197,390
36,498
20,702
586,169
11,045

170
2,673
7,743
12
1,673
15,791
2,920
1,656
46,894
884

Exposure

Risk weighting

Capital
adequacy
requirement

Table 2.7.P Probability of default classes IRB retail 2010
Average LGD
weighting of
exposure

Average PD
weighting of
exposure

Total
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

33.50%
11.47%
11.79%
1.20%
27.50%
12.48%
27.50%
33.50%
11.89%
16.43%

0.04%
0.07%
0.13%
0.22%
0.33%
0.63%
2.75%
3.48%
6.10%
100.00%

795
8,610,601

1,037,228

82,978

30,112
1,504,581
2,925,951
782,857
138,416
1,652,135
102,692
29,098
1,269,263
175,496

1,855
31,830
108,025
159
23,294
199,055
42,400
19,113
582,137
29,360

148
2,546
8,642
13
1,864
15,924
3,392
1,529
46,571
2,349
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Maximum credit risk

Tables 2.7.Q and 2.7.R provide insight into the maximum credit risk to
which Van Lanschot is exposed at the reporting date. The assumptions
used to prepare this breakdown are the exposures designated as credit
risk under Basel II. In these tables, exposures are classified by balance
sheet and off balance sheet items, in order to provide insight into the
maximum credit risk. The differences between the balances as
recognised on the face of the statement of financial position and the
balances disclosed in the column gross exposure have several causes.

The main differences follow from the application of the netting of
balances, the classification of provisions and the deviating consolidated
base on account of regulatory purposes. In addition, goodwill, intangible
assets by virtue of acquisitions and certain investments in financial
institutions lead to a deduction for qualifying capital and thus do not
belong to the gross exposure according to the definition of Basel II. In
addition, financial receivables from trading activities are included under
the market risk.

Table 2.7.Q Maximum credit risk at 31/12/2011

Total

Gross
exposure

Net
exposure

Average risk
weighting

Risk
weighting

Capital
adequacy
requirement

22,457,403

19,335,288

51%

9,807,936

784,634

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable
with central banks
Financial assets held for trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates using the equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Assets of operations held for sale
Other assets

1,154,324
–
527,650

1,153,953
–
524,276

2%
0%
19%

21,485
–
101,677

1,719
–
8,134

515,331
844,911
15,262,838
344,465
43,986
153,423
34,387
4,314
39,209
–
156,328

515,331
844,911
14,117,065
343,972
43,986
153,423
34,387
4,314
39,209
–
154,002

19%
22%
55%
48%
100%
100%
100%
0%
0%
0%
100%

100,161
186,302
7,702,966
164,346
43,986
153,423
34,387
–
–
–
154,002

8,013
14,904
616,237
13,148
3,519
12,274
2,751
–
–
–
12,320

Total assets

19,081,166

17,928,829

48%

8,662,735

693,019

2,389,712
285,000
701,525

704,934
–
701,525

63%
0%
100%

443,676
–
701,525

35,494
–
56,121

3,376,237

1,406,459

81%

1,145,201

91,615

Off balance sheet items
Repo transactions
Floor in connection with the partial switch to IRB
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Table 2.7.R Maximum credit risk at 31/12/2010

Total

Gross
exposure

Net
exposure

Average risk
weighting

Risk
weighting

Capital
adequacy
requirement

25,748,332

20,274,691

52%

10,611,756

848,940

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable
with central banks
Financial assets held for trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates using the equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Assets of operations held for sale
Other assets

412,056
–
1,022,237

411,468
–
592,420

2%
0%
18%

9,851
–
106,955

788
–
8,556

52,267
1,267,055
17,627,871
366,612
69,596
157,663
43,080
2,445
46,456
–
50,521

52,267
1,267,055
15,501,106
361,670
69,596
157,663
43,080
2,445
46,456
–
50,179

168%
14%
53%
44%
100%
100%
100%
0%
0%
0%
100%

87,640
175,794
8,284,327
159,120
69,596
157,663
43,080
–
–
–
50,179

7,011
14,064
662,746
12,730
5,568
12,613
3,446
–
–
–
4,015

Total assets

21,117,859

18,555,405

49%

9,144,205

731,537

2,690,684
757,126
1,182,663

536,623
–
1,182,663

53%
0%
100%

284,888
–
1,182,663

22,791
–
94,612

4,630,473

1,719,286

85%

1,467,551

117,403

Off balance sheet items
Repo transactions
Floor in connection with the partial switch to IRB
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2.8 Additional information under Basel II: counterparty
credit risk
Counterparty credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a transaction
will default before the final settlement of the cash flows relating to the
transaction has taken place. Van Lanschot applies the method that is
based on valuation at replacement cost.
The value of the potential credit exposure is determined based on the
total of the theoretical principals or based on the underlying values of
derivatives contracts, irrespective of whether the current replacement
value is positive or negative. Depending on the type of derivative, the
theoretical principals or underlying values are multiplied by a percentage

ranging from 0% for interest rate contracts with a term to maturity of
one year or shorter to 15% for commodities contracts with a term to
maturity of more than five years.
Settlement risk

Capital is required to be held for financial transactions that are not
settled within five days of the agreed deadline if the difference between
the agreed settlement price and the price at the reporting date could
lead to a loss.
At year-end 2011 and 2010, no financial transactions had to be reported
under the settlement risk.

Table 2.8.A Counterparty credit risk relating to derivative contracts

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Gross replacement cost of derivative contracts (only items with a replacement cost
greater than zero)
Settlement of derivative contracts
Collateral held in connection with derivative contracts
Add-ons for derivative contracts by virtue of potential future credit risk

206,067
– 28
–
137,933

199,193
–
– 4,730
167,207

Net credit equivalent of derivative contracts

343,972

361,670

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

343,972

361,670

Interest rate contracts
Foreign exchange contracts
Equity derivative contracts
Commodities contracts

163,826
97,943
80,976
1,227

163,676
21,305
174,549
2,140

Table 2.8.B Net credit exposure by type of derivative contract

Methods for calculating risk-weighted assets of securitisation positions

The types of securitisation positions at Van Lanschot are shown in
table 2.8.C. The calculation of risk-weighted assets with respect to the
Citadel debt securities is based on the underlying loans. In the case of

Table 2.8.C Type of securitisation

other securitisations, the external assessment by a rating agency
determines the risk weighting. There are no securitisation positions that
require a risk weighting of 1250%. Since 2010, the securitisation
positions have been calculated under IRB.

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Risk weighting

Capital adequacy
requirement

Risk weighting

Capital adequacy
requirement

Total

12,829

1,026

10,017

801

Other investor positions

12,829

1,026

10,017

801
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Guarantees, ﬁnancial collateral and other forms of collateral by exposure class

Guarantees

(credit risk)

This relates to government-guaranteed bonds, guarantees within the
framework of the National Mortgage Guarantee Scheme, guaranteed
credits and other credit-replacing guarantees.

The collateral provided for each exposure class in accordance with Basel II
is shown in table 2.8.D.

Table 2.8.D
Collateral by exposure class

31/12/2011
Guarantees

Financial
collateral

31/12/2010
Other
collateral

Guarantees

Financial
collateral

Other
collateral

127,071

1,867,220

47,506

162,831

3,578,536

1,302

–
479

15,977
–

–
–

–
–

101,202
–

–
–

48,178
58,386

289,025
1,080,966

–
–

76,676
63,852

1,190,882
1,824,101

–
–

17,958
1,095
975
–

829
–
16,778
2,829

–
–
–
–

20,665
–
94
1,544

6
–
67,499
313

–
–
–
–

127,071

1,406,404

–

162,831

3,184,003

–

IRB exposure classes
Retail receivables
Corporates

–
–

289,498
171,318

899
46,607

–
–

394,533
–

1,302
–

Total IRB

–

460,816

47,506

–

394,533

1,302

Total
SA exposure classes
Receivables from administrative bodies and
non-commercial undertakings
Receivables from multilateral development banks
Receivables from financial companies and
financial institutions
Receivables from corporates
Receivables from private individuals and medium
sized businesses
Items belonging to high-risk categories
Past due items
Other risk-weighted assets
Total SA

Financial collateral

Table 2.8.E provides a breakdown of financial collateral that has been
provided insofar as relevant for Basel II. Collateral in the form of cash
includes current account balances available for setoff. These balances
have been netted before being disclosed in the statement of financial

Table 2.8.E Financial collateral

position under the line items Loans and advances to the public and
private sectors and Public and private sector liabilities. The collateral in
the form of securities concerns the categories Due from banks and Loans
and advances to the public and private sectors.

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

1,867,220

3,578,536

Cash
Securities

1,441,232
425,988

2,641,251
937,285
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3 Operational risk
Operational risks are possible losses as a result of inadequate or
defective internal processes and systems, inadequate or incorrect human
actions, or external events and fraud. Within Van Lanschot, the main
classification of the operational incidents is based on the classification by
incident type according to Basel II:
– internal fraud;
– external fraud;
– employment practices and workplace safety;
– product liability and duty of care;
– damage to physical assets;
– business disruption and system failures;
– execution, delivery and process management.
Van Lanschot has set up a broad framework for evaluating, monitoring
and managing operational risks and risks surrounding information
security and business continuity. It comprises the following processes:
– risk identification and classification through risk self-assessments
and security assessments;
– risk measurement through a central incidents database,
communication about critical risk signals (early warnings), scenario
analyses mapping out major potential financial losses;
– risk mitigation, acceptance and monitoring through action tracking
(follow-up of outstanding actions and audit findings);
– risk control through taking out insurance policies, scheduling
periodical risk meetings with designated risk owners. In addition,
this is done by mapping out the status of the bank’s risk appetite,
through crisis management and business continuity management.
In order to protect the bank against major financial losses, Van Lanschot
has taken out insurance policies offering coverage against claims and
losses by virtue of its services. In summary, this concerns combined fraud
and professional liability insurance, managing and supervisory directors’
liability insurance and various other liability insurance and accident
insurance policies.

The responsibility to manage operational risks is assigned as much as
possible to the operating and commercial departments themselves,
i.e. line management (first line of defence). Various programmes and
instruments support line management of the bank in their role as process
owners of operational risks within their own division. Key instruments in
this context are the aforementioned risk self-assessments, security
assessments, action tracking and a central incidents database. Risk
self-assessment is a tool for line managers to systematically identify and
assess risks so that steps can be taken to limit any unacceptable risks that
may arise. Action tracking is used to monitor the risks identified and the
progress of actions taken as a result of ﬁndings of internal and external
regulators, incidents, complaints and other relevant events. Losses
resulting from operational risks are systematically recorded in the
incidents database.
Within the Business Continuity Management process, Business Impact
Analyses are performed, in order to gain insight into the critical
processes, the critical resources required for the continuity of the bank’s
services, and any possible threats. Embedding Business Continuity
Management is a prerequisite for Van Lanschot in order to create
sufficient resilience against the negative effects of calamity. Business
Continuity therefore has a bank-wide approach, comprising standards
and procedures, aimed at safeguarding said critical processes, or at
allowing for a restart within a certain timeframe in case of a calamity.
The objective here is to keep any financial, reputational and/or tangible
damage to a minimum.
The incidents database allows the systematic recording and analysis
of losses resulting from operational risks. This database thus contains
information about losses suffered as a result of operational risks in prior
years. For Van Lanschot (including Kempen), the loss database forms the
foundation of the Operational Risk Management measurement system.
In 2011, 319 incidents with a loss in excess of € 1,000 were recorded in
the database (2010: 339 incidents).
Operational incidents exceeding € 1,000 are broken down by Basel II
category table 3.A.

Table 3.A Basel II category (number of incidents)

2011

2010

Total

319

339

Internal fraud
External fraud (in particular bank card skimming)
Employment practices and workplace safety
Product liability and duty of care
Damage to physical assets
Business disruption and system failures
Execution, delivery and process and management (in particular execution of transactions)

–
68
–
24
3
7
217

39
1
15
1
12
271

–
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The biggest losses were incurred in recording, executing and settling
security trading orders. In the category external fraud, theft and bank
card skimming result in an increase in the loss involved and the number
of incidents. Other fraud incidents hardly took place. The prevention and
management of fraud relating to financial products and services are vital
aspects of our operational risk management. The number of loss incidents
resulting from claims in the field of asset management services (category
product liability and duty of care) increased, but the total amount of
damages in this category declined.

Table 3.B Basel II segments
operational risk

31/12/2011
Beta
coefficient (%)

Corporate Finance
Trading & Sales
Retail Brokerage
Commercial Banking
Retail Banking
Payment & Settlement
Agency Services
Asset Management

Capital adequacy
requirement

Risk weighting

Capital adequacy
requirement

618,974

82,944

599,122

80,146

34,019
29,279
118,795
65,645
249,781
22,520
51,643
47,292

6,123
5,270
14,255
9,847
29,974
4,054
7,746
5,675

29,004
21,727
120,156
80,916
234,308
23,222
46,231
43,558

5,221
3,911
14,419
12,137
28,116
4,180
6,935
5,227

18
18
12
15
12
18
15
12

4 Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss as a result of changes in market variables,
including objective variables such as interest rates, exchange rates and
share prices. Furthermore, there are variables that are not directly
observable, such as volatility and correlations.
The market risk run by Van Lanschot can be divided into two categories,
i.e. on the one hand, the market risk run by virtue of the required
market maintenance and services to clients, which is concentrated at
Van Lanschot itself, and, on the other hand, the market risk by virtue of
the trading activities in the field of institutional securities, which is
concentrated at Kempen.
Three of the methods used at Van Lanschot to calculate and limit market
risks are parametric Value at Risk (VaR), Basepoint value (BPV) and stress
testing.

Table 4.1 VaR trading activities Kempen

Totaal

31/12/2010

Risk weighting

Total

VaR at 31 December
Highest VaR
Lowest VaR
Average VaR

Under Pillar I of Basel II, a solvency requirement
for operational risk
Aantal incidenten
is calculated for the total income from operating activities. Van Lanschot
applies the Standardised Approach. This Standardised Approach
allocates fixed betas to each business segment. The beta coefficient
ranges from 12% to 18%. The risk weighting for operational risk is
based on the average income of the past three years.

4.1 Market risk: Kempen
All trading activities of the bank in the field of institutional securities
have been concentrated at Kempen. In order to allow effective risk
management, an adequate corporate governance structure has been
installed. The risks are managed by using VaR Limits and gross and net
limits. The stress tests, which are performed daily, provide information
on changes in portfolio values in extreme market conditions and hence
complement the VaR calculation.
The VaR for the trading portfolios is computed daily based on a 97.5%
probability interval and a one-day time horizon and based on one year
of historical data.
The continued validity of the assumptions underlying the VaR computation
is regularly tested through back-testing. The VaR on the trading activities
is reported to management on a daily basis.

Interest rate-related
2011
118
392
49
134

2010
86
149
35
76

Share-related
2011
35
505
4
171

2010
161
474
99
267
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4.2 Market risk: Treasury
In addition to the bank’s trading activities in the field of institutional
securities, Van Lanschot also runs market risk by virtue of its treasury
activities. In the market risk reporting process, interest-related products
are analysed. These products are managed based on the basis point value.
The foreign exchange position are managed based on nominal limits.
The exchange rate risk run by Van Lanschot by virtue of the treasury

activities, as well as the interest rate risk of the bank, are reported on
based on the gross nominal position (for exchange rate risk) and basis
points (for interest rate risks). Stress tests are performed for the various
market risks on a weekly basis. When calculating the stress losses,
the maximum price movements occurring in the past are considered.
Furthermore, stress losses are also calculated by virtue of both parallel
and non-parallel shifts of the yield curve.

Table 4.2.A Interest rate risk trading activities Treasury (total gross BPV)
BPV at 31 December
Highest BPV
Lowest BPV
Average BPV

2011

2010

8
69
4
13

11
20
2
8

Table 4.2.B Interest rate risk trading activities Treasury (total gross nominal foreign exchange position)

2011

2010

Position at 31 December
Highest position
Lowest position
Average position

1,748
8,798
184
1,310

2,372
10,739
437
1,897

4.3 Market risk: currency-related instruments
Van Lanschot’s financial position and cash ﬂows are affected by exchange
rate ﬂuctuations to a limited extent. Most of the positions in the
statement of financial position and transactions are denominated in
euros. Van Lanschot ensures that the exchange rate risk is managed
effectively within the limits set. The foreign exchange positions are set
out in table 4.3.A. The foreign exchange position represents all cash,

forward and option positions of the entities belonging to the consolidated
base (converted into € thousand). In table 4.3.B, the capital adequacy
requirement resulting on balance from the net open positions is set out.
The capital adequacy requirement for exchange rate risk is 8% of the net
open positions by currency. This does not apply to the currencies of the
countries of the second phase of the EMU (Denmark, Latvia and Lithuania),
for which the capital adequacy requirement is 1.6% of the net open position.

Table 4.3.A Foreign exchange positions

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

35,713

7,950

Swiss franc
Icelandic krona
US dollar
Pound sterling
Dutch Antillean guilder
Japanese yen
Norwegian krone
Swedish krone
Other

23,646
3,428
3,316
2,022
1,699
1,075
388
– 510
649

– 121
– 53
4,280
125
1,643
1,321
–25
– 18
798

Table 4.3.B Exchange-rate risk

31/12/2011
Risk weighting
Capital adequacy
requirement

31/12/2010
Risk weighting
Capital adequacy
requirement

Total

35,988

2,879

7,950

636

Exchange rate risk

35,988

2,879

7,950

636
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4.4 Market risk: interest rate and share-related instruments
For the calculation of the capital adequacy requirement against the
general risk on debt instruments in the trading portfolio, Van Lanschot
applies the maturity-based approach. The share-related instruments
concern the share instruments included under Financial assets held for
trading (refer to table 4.4).

Table 4.4 Market risk

Weighting and requirements

For all types of market risk, Van Lanschot applies the Standardised
Approach.

31/12/2011
Risk weighting
Capital adequacy
requirement

31/12/2010
Risk weighting
Capital adequacy
requirement

Total

119,375

9,550

130,588

10,447

Market risk interest rate-related instruments
Market risk share-related instruments

18,750
100,625

1,500
8,050

45,963
84,625

3,677
6,770

5 Strategic risk
Strategic risk concerns the risk of lower income due to a change in the
bank’s environment and its activities. It is defined by Van Lanschot as
follows: The existing or future threat to the bank’s result or equity
resulting from not or inadequately anticipating changes in the
environment and/or from taking incorrect strategic decisions. Strategic
risk arises due to changes in prices, margins and/or volumes. It comprises
external influences such as market circumstances, reputation and
regulations and their anticipation by Van Lanschot management.
Van Lanschot makes strategic decisions that are appropriate to its size.
In the current euro crisis, Van Lanschot maintains its solid position and
liquidity profile. Van Lanschot’s liquidity position was very comfortable
in 2011, which had an adverse effect on the interest margin. The liquid
assets of clients were partly placed at the European Central Bank at a low
interest rate. In view of the expectations for 2012, Van Lanschot gives
priority to its solid position and liquidity profile.
The capital adequacy requirement for strategic risk is calculated based
on the volatility of income, taking account of the cost structure. The
strategic risk can be limited by reducing the fluctuations in income and
applying a flexible cost profile. A large part of the risk is determined
externally. Controlling the strategic risk is therefore done through
regular business practices and effective management.
6 Interest rate risk
The interest rate risk reflects the existing or future threat to the bank’s
result or assets of interest rate movements.
Van Lanschot has various methods for managing interest rate risk
including gap analysis, duration analysis and scenario analysis. In this way,
Van Lanschot actively manages its statement of financial position to limit
the potential negative effect of interest rate risk. This could, for instance,
involve adjustments to the ﬁxed-income portfolio or attracting funds
providing the desired spread of interest rate maturities. Derivatives such
as interest rate swaps and interest options are also used to manage
interest rate risks. The bank’s management of the statement of financial
position depends on its expectations for interest rate movements and
the yield curve. Of course this affects the sensitivity of capital and profits
to changes in the ﬁnancial markets.

Van Lanschot applies a specialised asset and liability system for the
management of the interest rate risk and for the preparation of internal
and external reports. The duration analysis, gap analysis, scenario
analysis and VaR are reported to the Asset & Liability Committee on
a monthly basis.
Duration, which is a measure of the sensitivity of equity to interest rate
ﬂuctuations, is a key indicator of interest rate risk. A positive duration
means that the value of equity decreases as soon as interest rates rise.
The duration of equity is determined based on the present value. The fair
value of a line item is determined by the sum of the discounted value of
its future cash flows. The discounted value of equity is determined by
reducing the discounted value of the assets by the discounted value of
the liabilities (refer to table 6.A).
The maximum duration of equity considered to be acceptable by
Van Lanschot is eight years. In view of the current situation on the money
and capital market and the expectation that long-term interest rates will
remain low for the time being, in 2011, the Asset & Liability Committee
worked actively towards a duration, and thus a lower interest rate risk,
of about four to seven years.
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Table 6.A Sensitivity analysis of equity
Duration (in years)
Present value of equity (€ million)

The duration of 5.4 years at 31 December 2011 indicates that the value
of equity would decline by about 5.4% if interest rates rose by 1%.
Each month, the Asset & Liability Committee is informed about the
sensitivity of equity given a sudden parallel shift in the yield curve. This
concerns scenarios with an upward or downward parallel shift in the yield
curve by 100 basis points. In the case of a sudden upward parallel shift in the
yield curve by 100 basis points, equity would decline by about € 121 million
(2010: € 127 million). In the case of a downward parallel shift, equity
would rise by about € 107 million (2010: € 136 million).
In addition to the calculation of the present value of equity, Van Lanschot
also applies scenario analyses to the interest margin. This is based on the
basic scenario for the expected interest margin for 2012. In the case of
an upward parallel shift in the yield curve by 100 basis points, the interest
margin would decline by € 22.8 million compared to this basic scenario.
In the case of an downward parallel shift in the yield curve by 100 basis
points, the interest margin would increase by € 2.9 million compared to
this basic scenario.
Within the scope of interest rate risk management, models are used
to determine the interest rate risk of savings and payment products,
mortgages and money loans, taking account of the contractual and
client-behavioural aspects. Derivative contracts are recognised at face
value, since changes in interest rates relate to the face value instead
of the market value being the valuation policy for these contracts.
Tables 6.B and 6.C show Van Lanschot’s sensitivity to interest rate
movements based on the contractual interest rate maturity of the
respective line items.
Savings and current accounts do not have fixed terms, and the balances
are split into a fully elastic, semi-elastic and non-elastic part.
Van Lanschot determines the percentage of early repayment by product
type based on historical data from the past year, and applies this
percentage for a one-year period. The percentage is revised annually.

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

5.4
2,156

6.5
2,033
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Table 6.B Interest rate maturity schedule at 31/12/2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
and balances withdrawable
with central banks
Financial assets held for
trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated
as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale
investments
Loans and advances to the
public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates
using the equity method
Assets of operations held
for sale
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities held
for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector
liabilities
Financial liabilities designated
as at fair value through
profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Liabilities of operations
held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans
Total liabilities
Gap

Variable

< 3 months

≥ 3 months
< 1 year

≥ 1 year
< 5 years

≥ 5 years

No
cash flow

Total

304,324

850,000

–

–

–

–

1,154,324

–
14,630

29,141
506,221

–
–

–
284

–
–

50,903
23,812

80,044
544,947

–

24,262

10,000

94,588

355,627

30,854

515,331

–

255,000

108,845

75,188

334,576

71,368

844,977

2,199,134
–

3,731,429
9,077,141

1,138,966
437,817

3,428,420
136,840

3,620,809
90,150

151,673
636,091

14,270,431
10,378,039

–

–

–

–

–

43,986

43,986

–
–

–
109,089

–
54,313

–
39,209

–
–

–
544,223

–
746,834

2,518,088

14,582,283

1,749,941

3,774,529

4,401,162

1,552,910

28,578,913

–
41,748

28,785
341,280

–
172

–
14,314

–
–

829
538

29,614
398,052

7,760,991

2,889,557

1,744,342

484,188

216,535

4,518

13,100,131

–
–
–

–
2,764,097
1,031,190

2,000
1,573,584
719,711

–
122,581
482,000

–
88,150
89,541

18,165
629,326
– 605

20,165
5,177,738
2,321,837

–
–
–

–
363,574
2,110

–
84,578
17,998

–
41,532
13,988

–
–
116,790

–
– 4,134
1,878

–
485,550
152,764

7,802,739

7,420,593

4,142,385

1,158,603

511,016

650,515

21,685,851

– 5,284,651

7,161,690

– 2,392,444

2,615,926

3,890,146

902,395

6,893,062
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Table 6.C Interest rate maturity schedule at 31/12/2010

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
and balances withdrawable
with central banks
Financial assets held for
trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated
as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale
investments
Loans and advances to the
public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates
using the equity method
Assets of operations held
for sale
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities held
for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector
liabilities
Financial liabilities designated
as at fair value through
profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Liabilities of operations
held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans
Total liabilities
Gap

Variable

< 3 months

≥ 3 months
< 1 year

≥ 1 year
< 5 years

≥ 5 years

No
cash flow

Total

164,251

250,000

–

–

–

–

414,251

–
36,539

42,054
971,510

–
–

–
334

–
–

62,694
31,690

104,748
1,040,073

–

–

–

–

–

52,267

52,267

–

150,000

219,775

478,816

306,341

112,202

1,267,134

2,349,705
–

4,573,717
5,975,379

894,728
1,778,867

3,276,769
266,671

4,467,047
8,150

148,258
608,363

15,710,224
8,637,430

–

–

–

–

–

42,044

42,044

–
–

–
96,328

747,582
71,349

–
46,456

–
–

–
528,410

747,582
742,543

2,550,495

12,058,988

3,712,301

4,069,046

4,781,538

1,585,928

28,758,296

–
85,092

70,079
853,640

–
1,030

–
5,281

–
–

56
468

70,135
945,511

7,528,497

3,695,967

1,838,452

309,991

169,942

2,801

13,545,650

–
–
–

–
4,753,639
1,305,499

–
1,683,312
32,500

–
250,777
610,695

–
4,650
–

19,157
608,197
– 2,712

19,157
7,300,575
1,945,982

–
–
–

–
385,184
129,526

756,634
102,875
189,141

–
36,489
–

–
–
100,000

–
16,795
3,142

756,634
541,343
421,809

7,613,589

11,193,534

4,603,944

1,213,233

274,592

647,904

25,546,796

– 5,063,094

865,454

– 891,643

2,855,813

4,506,946

938,024

3,211,500
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7 Liquidity risk
The policy and monitoring of Van Lanschot’s liquidity position is set
out in the ILAAP (Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process).
Van Lanschot’s liquidity position is inﬂuenced on a daily basis by
drawings and payments on deposits and current accounts and drawings
and repayments of loans. Management has set limits with respect to the
minimum cash position and the minimum stand-by facilities. In this way
fluctuations are absorbed.

The banking sector has to reinforce its capital and confidence in the
banks is still insufficient. This is expressed in higher liquidity and credit
spreads. The money market interest rates are still very low. The official
rates of the central banks also remained historically low in 2011.

The internal standard for the minimum liquidity position is determined
once a year. The liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by
Risk Management. In the event of a shortfall of the minimum limit Risk
Management immediately informs the responsible member of the Board
of Managing Directors. If the shortfall is not rectified within two working
days, Risk Management submits this position for approval to the responsible
member of the Board of Managing Directors. Furthermore, Asset &
Liability Management reports the movements in the liquidity position
(i.e. minimum, maximum and average positions) to the Asset & Liability
Committee on a monthly basis.

At Van Lanschot, the balance sheet is primarily for the benefit of clients.
As a private bank, the largest part of private financing is funded by funds
entrusted by clients. This is demonstrated by the high funding ratio of
91.8% at year-end 2011.

The liquidity requirements for guarantees and letters of credit issued
are much lower than the amount of the obligation, as it is likely that a
large number of these obligations will eventually not be invoked.
Van Lanschot pursues a liquidity policy under which it consistently
maintains a strong liquidity position. The minimum liquidity position
of the bank is sufficient to absorb any unexpected ﬂuctuations in the
cash position. This minimum position also ensures that Van Lanschot
maintains a liquidity surplus that meets the standards set by the Dutch
Central Bank.
In the autumn of 2011, within the scope of the ICAAP, Van Lanschot
executed the ILAAP for the first time, based on the ILAAP guidelines
of the Dutch Central Bank. Institutions supervised by the Dutch Central
Bank are required to demonstrate, based on their own liquidity planning
and own stress scenarios, the adequacy of their liquidity buffer in the
short term and its continuation in the long term. The Dutch Central
Bank will periodically assess the ILAAP through a Supervisory Review
& Evaluation Process (SREP). The ILAAP was developed in mutual
consultation between the Finance and Treasury departments. In the
meantime, the Dutch Central Bank reviewed the ILAAP and gave a
positive response. In 2012, the ILAAP will be developed further and
adjusted where necessary. The outcome of the liquidity stress test shows
that Van Lanschot is able to cope with any liquidity stress in a market
stress scenario, a bank-specific scenario and a combined scenario. This
outcome thus justifies the conclusion that Van Lanschot is well placed to
withstand liquidity stress based on its current liquidity buffer and
possible funding actions.

Demand for stable funding by Dutch banks is high as a result of which
savings rates rose to an improperly high level. This also resulted in
pressure on the interest margin at Van Lanschot.

Specific attention was paid to diversification, terms to maturity and the
independence of the bank’s funding. On 9 February 2011, Van Lanschot
finalised the Citadel 2011-I transaction. This concerns an RMBS
transaction of € 1.5 billion, extending the liquidity position. In April 2011, a
€ 500 million unsecured loan with a three-year term was raised. In addition,
in April, Van Lanschot issued a Trigger Note of approx. € 65 million with
a three-year term and in May a Floored Floater of approx. € 90 million
with a ten-year term. In addition, in the last quarter, a large part
(€ 89 million) of the perpetual loan was converted into a bond loan with
a seven-year term.
In order to gain insight into a possible increase in liquidity risk,
Van Lanschot uses the liquidity monitor. This monitor provides regular
reports on the developments in ten indicators which may suggest
increased risk for the bank’s liquidity position. If one or more limits are
exceeded, this may trigger the activation of the liquidity contingency
plan. The liquidity monitor is prepared on a weekly basis for the members
of the Board of Managing Directors and the management involved.
The funding ratio indicates the extent to which Van Lanschot finances
its loans and advances by funds entrusted by clients (refer to table 7.A).
A high funding ratio reflects the typical balance sheet position of a
private bank.
Securitisation in 2010

On 2 July 2010, Van Lanschot finalised the RMBS transaction Citadel
2010-I. This concerns securitisation of Dutch home mortgage loans.
The transaction involved an amount of € 1.2 billion. The credit risk was
not transferred. The A1 bonds and a substantial part of the A2 bonds
were placed with a broad group of institutional investors. The sale of
these bonds results in a further diversification of the funding. In this
structure, Van Lanschot acts as pool servicer. Due to the set-up of the
structure, Van Lanschot does not have access to all liquidities of the
Citadel 2010-I entity.

Due to the debt crisis in the eurozone and the absence of a permanent
solution, the confidence in the financial markets deteriorated in 2011.
This translated into sustained, extensive support measures of central
banks and governments.

Table 7.A Funding ratio
Funding ratio

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

91.8%

86.2%
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Citadel 2010-I is a traditional securitisation. A characteristic of a
traditional securitisation is that the beneficial title to the securitised
receivables is transferred to an entity for securitisation purposes, which
subsequently issues securities. The issued securities lead to a payment
obligation at Citadel 2010-I instead of Van Lanschot.

Securitisation in 2011

On 9 February 2011, Van Lanschot finalised the Citadel 2011-I
transaction. The transaction involved an amount of € 1.5 billion and
concerns home mortgages. The credit risk was not transferred.

On 30 July 2010, Van Lanschot finalised the RMBS transaction Citadel
2010-II. The transaction involved an amount of € 1.3 billion and concerns
mortgages. The credit risk was not transferred. Van Lanschot decided
to purchase the debt securities itself. These eligible assets can thus serve
as collateral with the Dutch Central Bank. This transaction was not focused
on reducing capital requirements, but on improving liquidity. In this
structure, Van Lanschot acts as pool servicer. Due to the set-up of the
structure, Van Lanschot does not have access to all liquidities of the
Citadel 2010-II entity.
Citadel 2010-II is a traditional securitisation. A characteristic of a
traditional securitisation is that the beneficial title to the securitised
receivables is transferred to an entity for securitisation purposes, which
subsequently issues securities. The issued securities lead to a payment
obligation at Citadel 2010-II instead of Van Lanschot.

This transaction follows from the calling of the Citadel 2007 and Citadel
2008 transaction on 26 January 2011. These two transactions were
partially absorbed by the Citadel 2011-I transaction. Van Lanschot decided
to purchase the debt securities itself. These eligible assets can thus serve
as collateral with the Dutch Central Bank. In this way, this transaction
supports the bank’s liquidity management. In this structure, Van Lanschot
acts as pool servicer. Due to the set-up of the structure, Van Lanschot
does not have access to all liquidities of the Citadel 2011-I entity.
Citadel 2011-I is a traditional securitisation. A characteristic of a
traditional securitisation is that the beneficial title to the securitised
receivables is transferred to an entity for securitisation purposes, which
subsequently issues securities. The issued securities lead to a payment
obligation at Citadel 2011-I instead of Van Lanschot.
Van Lanschot holds a beneficial interest in the Citadel companies and
has consolidated them in full.

Table 7.B Citadel 2010-I BV
Fitch
Ratings

Standard
& Poor’s

Total
Senior Class A1
Senior Class A2
Mezzanine Class B
Mezzanine Class C
Junior Class D
Subordinated Class E

Original
principal

Date of
securitisation

First call
option date

Contractual
date of maturity

Spread

1,112,616

1,249,400
AAA
AAA
–
BBB
–
–

Principal
31/12/2011

AAA
AAA
AAA
A–
–

247,400
753,350
75,450
129,900
30,900
12,400

02/07/2010
02/07/2010
02/07/2010
02/07/2010
02/07/2010
02/07/2010

119,153
753,350
75,450
129,900
30,900
3,863

26/08/2015
26/08/2015
26/08/2015
26/08/2015
26/08/2015
26/08/2015

26/11/2042
26/11/2042
26/11/2042
26/11/2042
26/11/2042
26/11/2042

1.30%
1.40%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

Standard
& Poor’s

Original
principal

Date of
securitisation

Principal
31/12/2011

First call
option date

Contractual

Spread

date of maturity

26/08/2015
26/08/2015
26/08/2015
26/08/2015
26/08/2015

26/11/2042
26/11/2042
26/11/2042
26/11/2042
26/11/2042

Table 7.C Citadel 2010-II BV
Fitch
Ratings
Total
Senior Class A
Mezzanine Class B
Mezzanine Class C
Junior Class D
Subordinated Class E

1,255,450
AAA
–
BBB
–
–

AAA
AAA
ANR
NR

990,650
84,550
136,700
31,100
12,450

1,144,004
30/07/2010
30/07/2010
30/07/2010
30/07/2010
30/07/2010

888,038
84,550
136,700
31,100
3,616

1.20%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
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Table 7.D Citadel 2011-I
Fitch
Ratings

Standard
& Poor’s

Total
Senior Class A1
Senior Class A2
Mezzanine Class B
Mezzanine Class C
Junior Class D
Subordinated Class E

Original
principal

Date of
securitisation

AAA
AAA
AAA
–
–
–

324,000
801,000
120,000
135,000
120,000
15,000

First call
option date

Contractual
date of maturity

Spread

26/04/2016
26/04/2016
26/04/2016
26/04/2016
26/04/2016
26/04/2016

26/04/2043
26/04/2043
26/04/2043
26/04/2043
26/04/2043
26/04/2043

1.10%
1.40%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%

1,418,308

1,515,000
AAA
AAA
A
–
–
–

Principal
31/12/2011

10/02/2011
10/02/2011
10/02/2011
10/02/2011
10/02/2011
10/02/2011

7.1 List of maturities
Tables 7.1.A and 7.1.B represent the assets and liabilities based
on their remaining contractual terms to maturity at the reporting date.
The aggregate amounts fully reconcile with the values disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In some respects this may
differ from other breakdowns, since the amounts in these tables are
based on cash flows on a non-discounted basis, related to the principal
amounts as well as all future interest payments. The items not leading
to a cash flow, such as discounting, cost amortisation, value changes of
derivatives, own risk margins, etc. have been presented in a separate
column in order to make the reconciliation with the statement of financial
position transparent. The derivatives and items concerning trading
activities largely comprise receivables and payables in the trading portfolio
and, since they are typically held for the short term (up to three months),
they have been included in the column with a term up to three months.
The future interest flows are based on the economic term of the line
items and the interest rates prevailing at the moment of reporting. Major
differences can be identified in the gaps, since the assets comprise many
long-term home mortgage loans, while the liabilities comprise many
short-term deposits.

232,898
801,000
120,000
135,000
120,000
9,410
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Table 7.1.A List of maturities at 31/12/2011
Withdrawable
on demand

< 3 months

≥ 3 months
< 1 year

≥ 1 year
<5 years

≥ 5 years

Sub total

No
cash flow

304,324

850,000

–

–

–

1,154,324

–

1,154,324

–
14,630

80,044
457,830

–
–

–
57,487

–
15,000

80,044
544,947

–
–

80,044
544,947

–

–

–

109,588

374,889

484,477

30,854

515,331

–

167,430

108,845

75,254

484,576

836,105

8,872

844,977

2,011,535
–

368,186
45,029

332,222
59,946

1,135,898
60,286

10,271,033
67,999

14,118,874
233,260

151,557
19,388

14,270,431
252,648

–

–

–

43,986

–

43,986

–

43,986

–
–

–
109,089

–
54,313

–
39,209

–
–

–
202,611

–
544,223

–
746,834

2,330,489

2,077,608

555,326

1,521,708

11,213,497

17,698,628

754,894

18,453,522

–
41,748

29,614
146,279

–
172

–
209,315

–
–

29,614
397,514

–
538

29,614
398,052

7,762,956

2,927,220

1,714,891

476,567

213,979

13,095,613

4,518

13,100,131

–
–
37

–
39,246
393,412

–
55,243
171,561

18,173
103,991
1,057,057

1,992
166,568
700,375

20,165
365,048
2,322,442

–
14,493
– 605

20,165
379,541
2,321,837

–
–
–

–
363,574
2,019

–
84,578
18,089

–
41,532
13,988

–
–
116,790

–
489,684
150,886

–
– 4,134
1,878

–
485,550
152,764

7,804,741

3,901,364

2,044,534

1,920,623

1,199,704

16,870,966

16,688

16,887,654

– 5,474,252

– 1,823,756

– 1,489,208

– 398,915

10,013,793

827,662

738,206

1,565,868

Receivables by virtue of
future interest flows

–

150,644

447,949

2,086,271

6,759,135

9,443,999

–

9,443,999

Liabilities by virtue of
future interest flows

–

37,906

114,295

367,327

165,777

685,305

–

685,305

– 5,474,252

– 1,711,018

– 1,155,554

1,320,029

16,607,151

9,586,356

738,206

10,324,562

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
and balances withdrawable
with central banks
Financial assets held for
trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated
as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale
investments
Loans and advances to the
public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates
using the equity method
Assets of operations
held for sale
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities held
for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector
liabilities
Financial liabilities
designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Liabilities of operations
held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans
Total liabilities
On balance gap

On balance gap inclusive
of future interest flows

Total
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Table 7.1.B List of maturities at 31/12/2011
Withdrawable
on demand

< 3 months

≥ 3 months
< 1 year

≥ 1 year
<5 years

≥ 5 years

Sub total

No
cash flow

Total

164,251

250,000

–

–

–

414,251

–

414,251

–
36,539

104,748
932,767

–
–

–
45,909

–
24,858

104,748
1,040,073

–
–

104,748
1,040,073

–

–

–

–

52,267

52,267

–

52,267

–

68,886

219,775

478,816

456,341

1,223,818

43,316

1,267,134

2,214,882
12

788,551
23,235

252,885
11,938

1,230,101
89,197

11,075,547
56,968

15,561,966
181,350

148,258
22,901

15,710,224
204,251

–

–

–

42,044

–

42,044

–

42,044

–
–

–
96,328

747,582
71,349

–
46,456

–
–

747,582
214,133

–
528,410

747,582
742,543

2,415,684

2,264,515

1,303,529

1,932,523

11,665,981

19,582,232

742,885

20,325,117

–
69,425

70,135
399,306

–
140,172

–
335,968

–
172

70,135
945,043

–
468

70,135
945,511

7,522,248

3,609,972

1,601,515

564,004

245,110

13,542,849

2,801

13,545,650

–
15,750
87

–
22,993
71,544

–
140,304
171,743

–
78,611
641,440

19,157
36,343
1,063,967

19,157
294,001
1,948,781

–
–
– 2,799

19,157
294,001
1,945,982

–
–
–

–
385,184
3,387

756,634
102,875
164,962

–
36,489
33,983

–
–
216,335

756,634
524,548
418,667

–
16,795
3,142

756,634
541,343
421,809

7,607,510

4,562,521

3,078,205

1,690,495

1,581,084

18,519,815

20,407

18,540,222

– 5,191,826

– 2,298,006

– 1,774,676

242,028

10,084,897

1,062,417

722,478

1,784,895

Receivables by virtue of
future interest flows

–

149,692

448,652

2,144,002

7,308,211

10,050,557

–

10,050,557

Liabilities by virtue of
future interest flows

–

41,428

121,379

411,695

233,556

808,058

–

808,058

– 5,191,826

– 2,189,742

– 1,447,403

1,974,335

17,159,552

10,304,916

722,478

11,027,394

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
and balances withdrawable
with central banks
Financial assets held for
trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated
as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale
Investments
Loans and advances to the
public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates
using the equity method
Assets of operations held
for sale
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities held
for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector
liabilities
Financial liabilities
designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Liabilities of operations
held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans
Total liabilities
On balance gap

On balance gap inclusive
of future interest flows
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Tables 7.1.C and 7.1.D show the contingent items based on their remaining
contractual terms to maturity at the reporting date. For each transaction
guaranteed by the bank, the maximum guaranteed amount is included in
the relevant term bucket under which the bank first has the right to
terminate the transaction.

For each obligation by virtue of an irrevocable commitment, the
committed amount is classified in the relevant term bucket under which
the bank first has the right to withdraw the commitment.

Table 7.1.C List of maturities contingent items at 31/12/2011
Withdrawable
on demand

< 3 months

≥ 3 months
< 1 year

≥ 1 year
< 5 years

≥ 5 years

Total

Guarantees
Irrevocable documentary letters
of credit
Other contingent liabilities
Unused credit facilities
Sale and repurchase commitments
Other irrevocable commitments

1,082

54,307

34,679

87,612

112,593

290,273

–
–
11,429
–
–

16,577
8,958
20,003
110,954
–

13,155
–
35,422
–
9,051

–
8,555
6,721
191,355
17,415

–
–
179,208
–
5,969

29,732
17,513
252,783
302,309
32,435

Total contingent items

12,511

210,799

92,307

311,658

297,770

925,045

Table 7.1.D List of maturities contingent items at 31/12/2010
Withdrawable
on demand

< 3 months

≥ 3 months
< 1 year

≥ 1 year
< 5 years

≥ 5 years

Total

Guarantees
Irrevocable documentary letters
of credit
Other contingent liabilities
Unused credit facilities
Sale and repurchase commitments
Other irrevocable commitments

1,417

59,926

36,735

50,076

127,514

275,668

–
120
15,606
–
–

16,451
7,079
50,882
364,912
1,388

31,267
634
28,951
131,280
14,432

387
343
7,573
335,713
8,359

–
–
162,882
–
8,450

48,105
8,176
265,894
831,905
32,629

Total contingent items

17,143

500,638

243,299

402,451

298,846

1,462,377
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7.2 List of maturities
Tables 7.2.A and 7.2B break down the assets and liabilities at reporting
date based on their expected term to maturity up to and including
12 months and after reporting date. Of the home mortgage loans with

a contractual term to maturity of more than 1 year, it is assumed that
about 8% will be repaid before maturity. For money loans, this assumed
repayment before maturity is 10%.

Table 7.2.A List of maturities at 31/12/2011

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances
withdrawable with central banks
Financial assets held for trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates using the equity method
Assets of operations held for sale
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector liabilities
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Liabilities of operations held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans
Total liabilities

≤ 12 months

> 12 months

Sub total

No
cash flow

1,154,324
80,044
472,460

–
–
72,487

1,154,324
80,044
544,947

–
–
–

1,154,324
80,044
544,947

–
276,275
2,711,943
104,975
–
–
163,402

484,477
559,830
11,406,931
128,285
43,986
–
39,209

484,477
836,105
14,118,874
233,260
43,986
–
202,611

30,854
8,872
151,557
19,388
–
–
544,223

515,331
884,977
14,270,431
252,648
43,986
–
746,834

4,963,423

12,735,205

17,698,628

754,894

18,453,522

29,614
188,199
12,405,067

–
209,315
690,546

29,614
397,514
13,095,613

–
538
4,518

29,614
398,052
13,100,131

–
94,489
565,010
–
448,152
20,108

20,165
270,559
1,757,432
–
41,532
130,778

20,165
365,048
2,322,442
–
489,684
150,886

–
14,493
– 605
–
– 4,134
1,878

20,165
379,541
2,321,837
–
485,550
152,764

13,750,639

3,120,327

16,870,966

16,688

16,887,654

Total
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Table 7.2.B List of maturities at 31/12/2010
≤ 12 months

> 12 months

Sub total

No
cash flow

Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances
withdrawable with central banks
Financial assets held for trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates using the equity method
Assets of operations held for sale
Other assets

414,251
104,748
969,306

–
–
70,767

414,251
104,748
1,040,073

–
–
–

414,251
104,748
1,040,073

–
288,661
3,256,318
35,185
–
747,582
167,677

52,267
935,157
12,305,648
146,165
42,044
–
46,456

52,267
1,223,818
15,561,966
181,350
42,044
747,582
214,133

–
43,316
148,258
22,901
–
–
528,410

52,267
1,267,134
15,710,224
204,251
42,044
747,582
742,543

Total assets

5,983,728

13,598,504

19,582,232

742,885

20,325,117

70,135
608,903
12,733,735

–
336,140
809,114

70,135
945,043
13,542,849

–
468
2,801

70,135
945,511
13,545,650

–
179,047
243,374
756,634
488,059
168,349

19,157
114,954
1,705,407
–
36,489
250,318

19,157
294,001
1,948,781
756,634
524,548
418,667

–
–
– 2,799
–
16,795
3,142

19,157
294,001
1,945,982
756,634
541,343
421,809

15,248,236

3,271,579

18,519,815

20,407

18,540,222

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector liabilities
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Liabilities of operations held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans
Total liabilities
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8 Compliance risk
As service providers to the general public, Van Lanschot and its
subsidiaries can only operate properly if every party they deal with has
full conﬁdence in them. Van Lanschot cannot properly perform the
service provision duties unless every stakeholder can place trust in it.
Moral integrity on the part of Van Lanschot and its employees is the
basis for that trust, and statutory regulations provide the framework.
Within this scope, Van Lanschot acts from the permanent underlying
motive to put the client’s interests first. The Compliance & Supervision
department, which reports directly to the Chairman of the Board of
Managing Directors, is responsible for ensuring that the bank’s Board,
senior management and employees comply with regulations and
legislation.
9 Fair value
A portion of the financial instruments is measured at fair value in the
statement of financial position. Tables 9.A and 9.B provide a breakdown
of these instruments into three levels. Level 1: the fair value based on
quoted price for similar instruments; Level 2: the fair value based on
directly observable market inputs; Level 3: the fair value based on inputs
not based on observable market data.
Level 1: Quoted market prices

The fair value of ﬁnancial instruments traded in an active market is based
on the price at the reporting date (market price). The bid price is applied
for ﬁnancial assets and the offer price for ﬁnancial liabilities. Since these
instruments are traded in an active market, their prices adequately reflect
current and frequent market transactions between unrelated parties.
Level 2: Market observables

The fair value of ﬁnancial instruments not traded in an active market
(e.g. over-the-counter derivative ﬁnancial instruments) is established using
cash ﬂow and option valuation models.
On the basis of estimates made, Van Lanschot selects a number of
methods and makes assumptions based on the market conditions
(observable data) at the reporting date. The estimated present value of
future cash ﬂows is used to determine the fair value of the other ﬁnancial
instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the
present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount rate is the
same as the market interest rate at the reporting date for a similar
instrument subject to the same conditions, taking account of securities
furnished under credit support agreements.
The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference
to forward exchange rates at the reporting date.
The assumption is made that the face value (less estimated adjustments)
and fair value of trade receivables and liabilities are similar. The fair value
of ﬁnancial obligations not recognised in the statement of financial
position is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash ﬂows
at the current interest rates for similar ﬁnancial instruments.
Estimates and judgments made are based on historical experience as well
as other factors, including expectations with respect to future events
that could reasonably occur based on current circumstances. Estimates
and judgments are assessed on an ongoing basis.

Level 3: Non-observables

The financial instruments in this category have been assessed on
an individual basis. Their valuation is based on the best estimate of
management by reference to the most recent prices, prices of similar
instruments and, for more than an insignificant part, information not
observable in the market.
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Table 9.A Financial instruments at fair value at 31/12/2011

Assets
Financial assets held for trading
Government paper and governmentguaranteed paper
Debt instruments banks and financial
institutions listed
Debt instruments companies listed
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Shares listed
Shares unlisted

Financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Government paper and governmentguaranteed paper
Covered bonds
Asset-backed securities
Shares

Available-for-sale investments
Debt instruments government paper and
government-guaranteed paper
Debt instruments banks and financial
institutions listed
Debt instruments companies listed
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Debt instruments companies cumprefs
(Shareholdings)
Shares listed
Shares unlisted
Shareholdings

Derivatives (receivables)
Option positions clients
Economic hedges
Derivatives fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives portfolio fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives cash flow hedge accounting
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

Total assets

Quoted market
prices

Market
observables

Non-observables

Total

–

–

–

–

15,096
14,045
–
8,649
–

–
–
–
–
41,897

–
–
–
–
357

15,096
14,045
–
8,649
42,254

37,790

41,897

357

80,044

279,175
157,259
33,682
–

–
–
–
25,627

–
–
–
19,588

279,175
157,259
33,682
45,215

470,116

25,627

19,588

515,331

566,998

–

–

566,998

1,574
39,274
–

–
–
–

–
139,888
–

1,574
179,162
–

–
405
9
–

–
13,108
–
–

34,747
–
11,921
37,053

34,747
13,513
11,930
37,053

608,260

13,108

223,609

844,977

5,268
–
–
–
–
–
238

–
125,122
26,186
330
–
–
95,471

–
–
–
–
–
33
–

5,268
125,122
26,186
330
–
33
95,709

5,506

247,109

33

252,648

1,121,672

327,741

243,587

1,693,000
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Table 9.A Financial instruments at fair value at 31/12/2011 (continued)

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Debt instruments government paper and
government-guaranteed paper
Debt instruments banks listed
Debt instruments companies listed
Shares listed
Shares unlisted

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
(Structured) Notes
Derivatives (liabilities)
Option positions clients
Economic hedges
Derivatives fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives portfolio fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives cash flow hedge accounting
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

Total liabilities

Quoted
market prices

Market
observables

Non-observables

Total

28,632
–
153
826
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
3

28,632
–
153
826
3

29,611

–

3

29,614

–

1,991

18,174

20,165

5,268
–
–
–
–
–
–
130

–
144,330
1,874
85,951
1,966
–
–
138,185

–
–
–
–
–
1,837
–
–

5,268
144,330
1,874
85,951
1,966
1,837
–
138,315

5,398

372,306

1,837

379,541

35,009

374,297

20,014

429,320

129

Table 9.B Financial instruments at fair value at 31/12/2010

Assets
Financial assets held for trading
Government paper and governmentguaranteed paper
Debt instruments banks and financial
institutions listed
Debt instruments companies listed
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Shares listed
Shares unlisted

Financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Government paper and governmentguaranteed paper
Covered bonds
Asset-backed securities
Shares

Available-for-sale investments
Debt instruments government paper and
government-guaranteed paper
Debt instruments banks and financial
institutions listed
Debt instruments companies listed
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Debt instruments companies cumprefs
(Shareholdings)
Shares listed
Shares unlisted
Shareholdings

Derivatives (receivables)
Option positions clients
Economic hedges
Derivatives fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives portfolio fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives cash flow hedge accounting
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

Total assets

Quoted
market prices

Market
observables

Non-observables

Total

14,894

–

–

14,894

1,927
25,232
–
17,716
–

–
–
–
–
43,974

–
–
1
–
1,004

1,927
25,232
1
17,716
44,978

59,769

43,974

1,005

104,748

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
39,305

–
–
–
12,962

–
–
–
52,267

–

39,305

12,962

52,267

1,025,505

–

–

1,025,505

1,026
–
–

–
141,109
–

–
–
274

1,026
141,109
274

–
650
–
–

–
17,053
–
–

30,334
–
18,307
32,876

30,334
17,703
18,307
32,876

1,027,181

158,162

81,791

1,267,134

7,936
–
–
–
–
–
2,162

–
93,694
9,453
1,894
2,324
–
27,243

–
–
–
–
–
169
59,376

7,936
93,694
9,453
1,894
2,324
169
88,781

10,098

134,608

59,545

204,251

1,097,048

376,049

155,303

1,628,400
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Table 9.B Financial instruments at fair value at 31/12/2010 (continued)

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Debt instruments government paper and
government-guaranteed paper
Debt instruments banks listed
Debt instruments companies listed
Shares listed
Shares unlisted

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
(Structured) Notes
Derivatives (liabilities)
Option positions clients
Economic hedges
Derivatives fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives portfolio fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives cash flow hedge accounting
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

Total liabilities

Quoted
market prices

Market
observables

Non-observables

Total

66,244
–
3,835
53
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
3

66,244
–
3,835
53
3

70,132

–

3

70,135

–

–

19,157

19,157

7,936
–
–
–
–
–
–
883

–
103,563
694
67,044
14,405
–
–
24,742

–
–
–
–
–
1,344
3
73,387

7,936
103,563
694
67,044
14,405
1,344
3
99,012

8,819

210,448

74,734

294,001

78,951

210,448

93,894

383,293

The fair values of assets and liabilities measured with reference to
variables not observable in the market are only marginally affected
by changes in assumptions. The positions in ﬁnancial assets and liabilities
at fair value through proﬁt or loss at the reporting date mutually hedge
one another as a result of which changes do not have a material impact
on proﬁt.
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Transfers in ﬁnancial assets or liabilities between levels

Table 9.C Transfers from Level 1 to Level 2
Available-for-sale investments (low trading volume)

Table 9.D Transfers from Level 3 to Level 2
Derivates (receivables) structured products (variables observable in the market)
Derivates (liabilities) structured products (variables observable in the market)

Table 9.E Transfers from Level 2 to Level 3
Debt instruments companies (in absence of a active market)

2011

2010

–

17,053

2011

2010

59,376
73,387

–
–

2011

2010

139,888

–
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Breakdown of movements in ﬁnancial assets and liabilities classiﬁed under Level 3

Tables 9.F and 9.G provide a breakdown of the movements in all financial
assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 items and disclosed at fair value
in the statement of financial position.

Table 9.F Breakdown of movements in financial assets and liabilities classified under Level 3 in 2011
Balance at
1 January

To
statement
of income

To
equity

Purchased

Sold

Transferred

Balance at
31 December

–
1
1,004

–
–1
28

–
–
–

–
–
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–
–
– 809

139,888
–
–

139,888
–
357

Available-for-sale investments
Debt instruments banks and financial institutions
unlisted
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Debt instruments companies cumprefs (Shareholdings)
Shares unlisted
Shareholdings

–
274
30,334
18,307
32,876

–
–
– 1,909
– 13
– 631

–
–
– 1,376
– 3,553
5,241

–
–
8,785
–
1,076

–
– 195
– 1,087
– 2,899
– 1,509

–
– 79
–
79
–

–
–
34,747
11,921
37,053

Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss

12,962

6,258

–

368

–

–

19,588

Derivatives (receivables)
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

169
59,376

– 116
–

–
–

–
–

– 20
–

–
– 59,376

33
–

155,303

3,616

312

10,363

– 6,519

80,512

243,587

3

–

–

–

–

–

3

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss

19,157

– 1,350

–

367

–

–

18,174

Derivatives (liabilities)
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

1,344
3
73,387

493
–
–

–
–
–

–
–3
–

–
–
–

–
–
– 73,387

1,837
–
–

Total financial liabilities Level 3

93,894

– 857

–

364

–

– 73,387

20,014

Total

61,409

4,473

312

9,999

– 6,519

153,899

223,573

Line item

Financial assets held for trading
Debt instruments companies listed
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Shares unlisted

Total financial assets Level 3
Financial liabilities held for trading
Shares unlisted

For 2011, the statement of income discloses income of € 7.6 million
(2010: € 3.1 million) relating to Level 3 items as well as an expense
of € 3.2 million (2010: € 14.7 million) also relating to Level 3 items.
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Table 9.G Breakdown of movements in financial assets and liabilities classified under Level 3 in 2010
Balance at
1 January

To
statement
of income

To
equity

Purchased

Sold

Transferred

Balance at
31 December

–
–
201

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
1
823

–
–
– 20

–
–
–

–
1
1,004

Available-for-sale investments
Debt instruments banks and financial institutions
unlisted
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Debt instruments companies cumprefs (Shareholdings)
Shares unlisted
Shareholdings

288
637
34,778
15,386
47,089

–
–
– 7,038
–
– 1,169

–
– 94
– 181
2,921
– 2,024

–
79
2,775
–
3,315

–
–
–
–
– 594

– 288
– 348
–
–
– 13,741

–
274
30,334
18,307
32,876

Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss

14,525

3,114

–

505

– 5,182

–

12,962

Derivatives (receivables)
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

541
82,259

– 261
–

–
–

–
–

– 111
– 22,883

–
–

169
59,376

195,704

– 5,354

622

7,498

– 28,790

– 14,377

155,303

–

–

–

3

–

–

3

13,334

5,823

–

–

–

–

19,157

Derivatives (liabilities)
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Derivatives structured products

967
11
107,592

377
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–8
– 34,205

–
–
–

1,344
3
73,387

Total financial liabilities Level 3

121,904

6,200

–

3

– 34,213

–

93,894

73,800

– 11,554

622

7,495

5,423

– 14,377

61,409

Line item

Financial assets held for trading
Debt instruments companies listed
Debt instruments companies unlisted
Shares unlisted

Total financial assets Level 3
Financial liabilities held for trading
Shares unlisted
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss

Total

Sensitivity analysis Level 3 items

The impact of changes in Level 3 items at Van Lanschot is restricted to
available-for-sale investments. In 2011, the volume of Level 3 items rose
sharply, which can fully be attributed to the investment in Darts Finance,
due to the absence of an active market.
If the prices of the Available-for-sale investments in Level 3 change by
10%, the fair value would change by € 22.0 million (2010: € 8.2 million).

The investments also held by Van Lanschot as Level 3 items under the
category Available-for-sale investments are mainly investments in private
equity funds. The valuation of private equity funds is determined by the
fund managers and is in accordance with the European Private Equity
and Venture Capital Association (EVCA) guidelines. No alternative
valuations are provided to the shareholders.
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notes to the consolidated statement of financial position
€ thousand

1 Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with central banks

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

1,154,324

414,251

1,422
850,000
194,414
108,488

2,766
250,000
108,622
52,863

2011

2010

Movement

1,154,324

414,251

740,073

Due from banks, available on demand
Due to banks, available on demand

14,630
41,748

44,171
– 69,425

– 29,541
111,173

Due from/to banks available on demand net

56,378

– 25,254

81,632

1,210,702

388,997

821,705

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

80,044

104,748

Debt instruments
Government paper and government-guaranteed paper
Banks and financial institutions listed
Companies listed
Companies unlisted

–
15,096
14,045
–

14,894
1,927
25,232
1

Total debt instruments

29,141

42,054

Equity instruments
Shares listed
Shares unlisted

8,649
42,254

17,716
44,978

Total equity instruments

50,903

62,694

Total
Cash
Withdrawable on demand with central banks
Statutory reserve deposits with central banks
Amounts due from banks

Statutory reserve deposits comprise balances withdrawable with
central banks within the scope of the minimum reserves requirement.
These balances cannot be used in the daily operations of Van Lanschot.

Reconciliation to consolidated statement of cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents

Total

The fair value does not differ materially from the face value.

2 Financial assets held for trading

135

3 Due from banks

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

544,947

1,040,073

Deposits credit institutions
Deposits CSAs
Settlement claims securities transactions
Reverse repo transactions
Loans and advances

283,298
187,464
14,630
29,055
30,500

378,428
106,630
36,539
470,798
47,678

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

544,947

1,040,073

The Netherlands
Belgium
Great Britain
Luxembourg
Switzerland
Other

504,197
4,082
10,201
–
14
26,453

1,005,770
12,132
–
3,000
–
19,171

Geographical

A provision for the deposit guarantee scheme of € 8.1 million (2010:
€ 6.5 million) was deducted from Loans and advances. The fair value of
amounts due from banks does not differ materially from amortised cost.

For the reverse repo transactions disclosed under Due from banks,
€ 29.4 million (2010: € 470.8 million) in collateral has been received.
The collateral fully concerns German government paper.

4 Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

515,331

52,267

Debt instruments
Government paper and government-guaranteed paper
Covered bonds
Asset-backed securities

279,175
157,259
33,682

–
–
–

Total debt instruments

470,116

–

Equity instruments
Shares

45,215

52,267

Total equity instruments

45,215

52,267
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31/12/2011

Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss by rating (most recent Fitch Ratings
as known to Van Lanschot)

31/12/2010
%

%

Total

515,331

100

52,267

100

AAA
AA
A
Other

470,116
–
–
45,215

91
0
0
9

–
–
–
52,267

0
0
0
100

2011

2010

52,267
561,639
– 107,823
9,248
–

359,518
–
–
– 11,835
– 295,416

515,331

52,267

Movements in Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or
loss were as follows
Balance at 1 January
Purchases
Sales
Value changes
Reclassification to assets of operations held for sale
Balance at 31 December

Market to Market portfolio
In 2011, it was decided to invest the surplus liquidity in Dutch
government bonds, covered bonds or RMBSs, with AAA to Single-A
ratings. These investments were put in a separate portfolio, which is
carried at fair value with value changes through profit or loss.
Shares — Fund investments
Van Lanschot has an interest in a company specifically founded to make
investments. It concerns an investment fund in which Van Lanschot holds
a minority interest. Van Lanschot considers this interest as an investment
in a similar entity as a mutual fund or unit trust. The investments in this
fund are managed and evaluated based on fair value. All information
provided by the investment fund to the bank concerns information based
on fair value. As a result, the condition to apply the fair value option is
complied with and the interest is designated as and valued at fair value
through profit or loss.

Shares — Equity Notes
Interests in Egeria NV and Egeria Private Equity Fund II NV are included
under the line item Financial assets designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. The equity linked notes are included at fair value under
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
However, the interests in Egeria NV and Egeria Private Equity Fund II
should be included as part of the investment portfolio as available for
sale, with value changes being recognised through equity. This would
result in a mismatch. In order to restrict this mismatch, Van Lanschot
applies the fair value option. The interests in Egeria and Egeria Private
Equity Fund II are carried at fair value, with the value changes being
recognised through profit or loss.

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total number of pledged stocks

17,220

–

Dutch government bonds

17,220

–

The stocks have been pledges with Kasbank.
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5 Available-for-sale investments

31/12/2011
Fair value

Face value

31/12/2010
Fair value

Face value

Total

844,977

770,319

1,267,134

1,153,853

Debt instruments
Government paper and governmentguaranteed paper
Banks and financial institutions listed
Companies listed
Companies unlisted
Companies cumprefs (Shareholdings)

566,998
1,574
179,162
–
34,747

529,998
1,500
189,274
–
49,547

1,025,505
1,026
141,109
274
30,334

967,891
1,000
150,000
200
34,762

Total debt instruments

782,481

770,319

1,198,248

1,153,853

Equity instruments
Shares listed
Shares unlisted
Shareholdings

13,513
11,930
37,053

17,703
18,307
32,876

Total equity instruments

62,496

68,886

The item debt instruments companies listed also comprises a
shareholding of € 140.0 million (2010: € 141.0 million) in Darts Finance.
Darts Finance only invests in mortgages with a National Mortgage
Guarantee Scheme (Nationale Hypotheek Garantie).

Available-for-sale investments by rating
(most recent Fitch Ratings as known to
Van Lanschot)

The unlisted shares chiefly concern unlisted investment funds.
Available-for-sale investments comprise an interest in Movares.
Van Lanschot holds an interest of more than 20%, but does not have
a controlling interest.

31/12/2011

31/12/2010
%

%

Total

844,977

100

1,267,134

100

AAA
AA
A
Other

590,848
154,680
545
98,904

70
18
0
12

1,021,305
142,780
26
103,023

81
11
0
8
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Movements in available-for-sale investments were as follows
Balance at 1 January
Purchases
Sales
Redemptions
Share premium (discount) debt instruments
Value changes
Impairments
Other changes
Reclassification to associates using the equity method
Reclassification to assets of operations held for sale
Balance at 31 December

2011

2010

1,267,134
674,267
– 1,028,566
– 61,383
– 2,462
– 1,257
– 4,925
2,169
–
–

1,187,481
717,251
– 414,324
– 19,100
–
33,248
– 11,537
– 588
– 13,741
– 211,556

844,977

1,267,134

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total number of pledged stocks

1,858,978

3,623,567

Debt securities Citadel
Dutch government bonds
Government–guaranteed bank bonds
Bonds from securitisation transactions

1,690,573
–
28,405
140,000

3,299,018
285,400
39,149
–

The stocks have been pledged with the Dutch Central Bank, Royal Bank
of Scotland, JP Morgan and Kasbank. Stocks can only be pledged with
the Dutch Central Bank if they are on the European Central Bank’s
eligible list of marketable assets.
With effect from 2011, the pledged stocks are disclosed at market value
instead of face value. The comparative figures have been adjusted for this.
Van Lanschot’s investment portfolio contains the following debt
securities with an AAA rating from securitisation transactions:
– Citadel 2010-I: € 0.3 billion (2010: € 0.2 billion)
– Citadel 2010-II: € 0.7 billion (2010: € 0.9 billion)
– Citadel 2011-I: € 0.9 billion (2010: € 0.0 billion)

Of these debt securities, € 1.7 billion (2010: € 3.3 billion) was pledged
to the Dutch Central Bank. These debt securities are not expressed in
the category of the statement of financial position Available-for-sale
investments since they are eliminated in the consolidation process by
the debt securities issued by Citadel.
This collateral meets the conditions set by the European Central Bank
with respect to the eligibility of debt securities.
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6 Loans and advances to the public and private sectors

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

14,270,431

15,710,224

7,350,052
1,838,904
–
4,788,456
296,989
50,149
164,171
– 218,290

7,648,998
2,113,872
300,000
5,300,202
358,098
80,205
163,413
– 254,564

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

– 218,290

– 254,564

Mortgages
Loans

– 33,504
– 184,786

– 28,957
– 225,607

Total
Mortgage loans
Current accounts
Call loan Dutch central government
Loans
Securities-backed loans and settlement claims
Subordinated loans
Value adjustment fair value hedge accounting
Impairments

Impairments

The fair value of the loans and advances to the public and private
sectors was € 14.1 billion at 31 December 2011 (€ 15.5 billion at
31 December 2010).

Breakdown of mezzanine loans

Mezzanine loans
Mezzanine loans are typically subordinated loans. In the order of priority
of creditors, they rank before the shareholders, but behind all other
creditors. Mezzanine loans are often used to finance leveraged buyouts,
in addition to ordinary loans and equity.

2011

2010

54,676
–
– 20,594
49
576

77,882
1,772
– 19,678
–
– 5,300

34,707

54,676

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

34,707

54,676

Retail
Services
Healthcare
Industry
Food, beverages & tobacco
Wholesale
Other

834
10,150
6,998
5,508
150
167
10,900

3,737
26,198
2,393
8,965
250
333
12,800

Balance at 1 January
From consolidation (FMG)
Repayments
Loans granted
Provisions
Balance at 31 December

Breakdown of mezzanine loans by industry
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7 Derivatives
Derivatives at 31/12/2011

Asset

Liability

Contract
amount

252,648

379,541

10,127,747

Derivatives used for trading purposes
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Option position clients

–
33
5,268

1,837
–
5,268

39,741
33
5,268

Total derivatives used for trading purposes

5,301

7,105

45,042

Derivates used for hedge accounting purposes
Derivatives fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives portfolio fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives cash flow hedge accounting

26,186
330
–

1,874
85,951
1,966

718,090
992,000
100,000

Total derivatives used for hedge accounting purposes

26,516

89,791

1,810,090

Other derivatives
Economic hedges
Derivatives structured products

125,122
95,709

144,330
138,315

7,094,514
1,178,101

Total other derivatives

220,831

282,645

8,272,615

Total

Van Lanschot uses derivatives both for trading and hedging purposes.
The following types of interest rate derivatives occur:
– Interest rate swaps
– Interest options
– Forward Rate Agreement (FRA)
The following types of currency derivatives occur:
– Cross currency swaps
– Currency options
The following types of equity derivatives occur:
– Forwards
– Futures
– Long option positions structured products
Furthermore, inflation swaps occur.

The table above shows both the positive and negative market values
of the derivatives, as well as the notionals.
For hedge accounting purposes, Van Lanschot uses interest rate swaps,
inflation swaps and interest options as hedging instruments.
Due to the continued ineffectiveness, three cash flow hedges were
terminated on 1 January 2011. The special component of equity present
at that time is gradually amortised over the remaining term of the
underlying hedge item.

141

Asset

Liability

Contract
amount

204,251

294,001

9,648,774

Derivatives used for trading purposes
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Option position clients

–
169
7,936

1,344
3
7,936

38,797
172
7,936

Total derivatives used for trading purposes

8,105

9,283

46,905

Derivates used for hedge accounting purposes
Derivatives fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives portfolio fair value hedge accounting
Derivatives cash flow hedge accounting

9,453
1,894
2,324

694
67,044
14,405

252,697
992,000
581,950

Total derivatives used for hedge accounting purposes

13,671

82,143

1,826,647

Other derivatives
Economic hedges
Derivatives structured products

93,694
88,781

103,563
99,012

6,422,362
1,352,860

182,475

202,575

7,775,222

Derivatives at 31/12/2010

Total

Total other derivatives

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Ineffectiveness of derivatives for
hedge accounting purposes

Fair value

Ineffective

Fair value

Ineffective

Total

– 63,275

– 40,118

– 68,472

– 9,862

Fair value hedge accounting model
Portfolio fair value hedge accounting model
Cash flow hedge accounting model

24,312
– 85,621
– 1,966

– 2,399
– 20,703
– 17,016

8,759
– 65,150
– 12,081

894
– 15,211
4,455

Within 1 year

1 to 3 years

3 to 5 years

5 years and longer

Total

1,483

–

–

1,474

Cash inflow
Cash outflow

1,483
–

–
–

–
–

1,474
–

The total ineffectiveness of fair value hedges was € 23.1 million negative
at year-end 2011 (2010: € 14.3 million negative) and comprises € 1.7 million
in negative value changes on account of the hedged instruments (2010:
€ 21.1 million negative) and negative value changes of the hedged items
of € 21.4 million (2010: € 6.8 million positive).

Hedged items cash flow hedge accounting
by term at 31/12/2011
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Hedged items cash flow hedge accounting
by term at 31/12/2010

Within 1 year

1 to 3 years

3 to 5 years

5 years and longer

Total

227

13,326

– 364

1,251

Cash inflow
Cash outflow

227
–

13,326
–

64
428

1,361
110

8 Investments in associates using the equity method
Total
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Goodwill
Impairments
Other

The share of Van Lanschot in the income from operating activities totals
€ 11.7 million (2010: € 7.5 million), the share in the net profit amounts to
€ 2.6 million negative (2010: € 7.8 million positive).

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

43,986

42,044

58,673
104,641
– 27,993
– 98,727
9,729
– 10,757
8,420

51,591
106,346
– 42,215
– 79,537
10,346
– 4,003
– 484

The share of Van Lanschot in the unrecognised losses totals € 7.3 million
for 2011 (2010: € 0.5 million). The accumulated share of Van Lanschot
in the unrecognised losses totals € 8.4 million (2010: € 1.4 million).

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

43,986

42,044

Listed
Unlisted

38,288
5,698

–
42,044

2011

2010

Balance at 1 January
Reclassification to available-for-sale investments
Purchases and contributions
Sales and repayments
Income from associates
Impairments
Other changes

42,044
–
7,164
– 3,341
4,717
– 6,755
157

30,720
– 125
7,670
– 4,949
7,252
– 4,554
6,030

Balance at 31 December

43,986

42,044

Movements were as follows

The accumulated revaluations total € 0.0 million (2010: € 0.0 million).
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9 Property, plant and equipment

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

158,240

161,122

Buildings
IT, operating software and communication equipment
Other assets
Work in progress

135,679
8,174
11,949
2,438

139,559
8,714
11,768
1,081

The fair values of IT, operating software and communication equipment
and other assets do not deviate materially from their carrying amounts.
The fair value of the buildings was € 146.4 million at year-end 2011
(year-end 2010: € 150.7 million).
The carrying amount of buildings not in use amounts to € 14.4 million
(year-end 2010: € 0.0 million).
Property acquired through foreclosures is carried at the lower of cost or
net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in

Movements in property, plant and
equipment 2011

the ordinary course of business less the relevant variable selling costs.
The property acquired through foreclosures is disclosed under Property,
plant and equipment not in own use. The portfolio comprises residential
and commercial property. The carrying amount at 31 December 2011
totalled € 23.0 million (2010: € 17.4 million).
Work in progress concerns current projects for adjustments at the head
office and the branches. No restrictive rights apply to property, plant
and equipment.

Buildings

IT, operating
software and
communication
equipment

Other assets

Work in
progress

Total

Historical cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Disposals
Capitalisation of investment
Impairments
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations held for sale

231,592
10,015
– 5,863
–
– 371
1
–

67,616
3,244
– 6,377
–
– 80
1
–

50,521
3,771
– 2,797
–
–
173
–

1,081
4,539
–
– 3,182
–
–
–

350,810
21,569
– 15,037
– 3,182
– 451
175
–

Balance at 31 December

235,374

64,404

51,668

2,438

353,884

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January
Disposals
Depreciation
Impairments
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations held for sale

92,033
– 2,850
7,705
2,807
–
–

58,902
– 6,369
3,698
–
–1
–

38,753
– 2,998
3,785
–
179
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

189,688
– 12,217
15,188
2,807
178
–

Balance at 31 December

99,695

56,230

39,719

–

195,644

135,679

8,174

11,949

2,438

158,240

Net book value at 31 December
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Movements in property, plant and
equipment 2010

Buildings

IT, operating
software and
communication
equipment

Other assets

Work in
progress

Total

Historical cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Disposals
Capitalisation of investment
Impairments
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations held for sale

241,634
8,813
– 11,756
–
– 926
– 117
– 6,056

73,247
3,219
– 8,109
–
–
– 223
– 518

48,011
3,079
– 1,332
–
–
985
– 222

–
1,419
–
– 338
–
–
–

362,892
16,530
– 21,197
– 338
– 926
645
– 6,796

Balance at 31 December

231,592

67,616

50,521

1,081

350,810

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January
Disposals
Depreciation
Impairments
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations held for sale

86,635
– 2,453
8,002
–
5
–156

62,813
– 7,919
4,225
–
108
– 325

34,487
– 1,116
4,843
–
679
– 140

–
–
–
–
–
–

183,935
– 11,488
17,070
–
792
– 621

Balance at 31 December

92,033

58,902

38,753

–

189,688

139,559

8,714

11,768

1,081

161,122

Net book value at 31 December
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10 Goodwill and other intangible assets

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

318,672

341,499

Goodwill
Work in progress
Other intangible assets

230,446
–
88,226

234,755
1,421
105,323

Movements in goodwill and other
intangible assets 2011

Work in
progress

Goodwill

Client
bases

Thirdparty

Brand
name

Value
of
business
acquired

Application
software

Total

channels

Deposits
and
current
accounts

distribution

Historical cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Withdrawals
Capitalisation of investment
Impairments
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations
held for sale
Balance at 31 December

1,421
149
–
– 1,570
–
–

234,755
–
– 538
–
– 3,771
–

107,893
–
–
–
–
–

5,979
–
–
–
–
–

9,480
–
–
–
–
–

15,330
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

52,088
5,050
–8
–
–
–

426,946
5,199
– 546
– 1,570
– 3,771
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

230,446

107,893

5,979

9,480

15,330

–

57,130

426,258

45,488
11,356
–
–

1,970
463
–
–

5,925
948
–
–

3,066
767
–
–

–
–
–
–

28,998
8,612
–7
–

85,447
22,146
–7
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

56,844

2,433

6,873

3,833

–

37,603

107,586

51,049

3,546

2,607

11,497

–

19,527

318,672

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January
Amortisation
Withdrawals
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations
held for sale
Balance at 31 December
Net book value at 31 December

–

230,446

The investments in application software comprise € 2.4 million in
software developed in-house (2010: € 5.6 million).
The sale of an investment led to a withdrawal of € 0.5 million. In addition,
based on an individual impairment test, a € 3.8 million impairment
charge was applied. These changes in goodwill relate to CGU Other.
For more information, reference is made to note 37.
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Movements in goodwill and other
intangible assets 2010

Historical cost
Balance at 1 January
Additions
Withdrawals
Capitalisation of investment
Impairments
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations
held for sale
Balance at 31 December

Work in
progress

Goodwill

Brand
name

Value
of
business
acquired

Application
software

Total

channels

Deposits
and
current
accounts

Thirdparty
distribution

10,827
2,897
–
– 12,303
–
–

225,676
17,443
– 1,389
–
– 6,892
–

111,663
–
–
–
–
–

5,979
–
–
–
–
–

9,480
–
–
–
–
–

15,330
–
–
–
–
–

17,700
–
–
–
–
–

37,700
14,155
– 66
–
–
299

434,355
34,495
– 1,455
– 12,303
– 6,892
299

–

– 83

– 3,770

–

–

–

– 17,700

–

– 21,553

1,421

234,755

107,893

5,979

9,480

15,330

–

52,088

426,946

34,398
12,038
–
–

1,508
462
–
–

4,977
948
–
–

2,300
766
–
–

1,150
2,950
–
–

22,355
6,688
– 45
–

66,688
23,852
– 45
–

– 948

–

–

–

– 4,100

–

– 5,048

45,488

1,970

5,925

3,066

–

28,998

85,447

62,405

4,009

3,555

12,264

–

23,090

341,499

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January
Amortisation
Withdrawals
Other
Reclassification to assets of operations
held for sale
Balance at 31 December
Net book value at 31 December

Client
bases

1,421

234,755

In 2011, Van Lanschot performed impairment tests on the goodwill
originating from prior-year acquisitions. This goodwill was allocated to
CGUs. The outcome of the impairment tests was that goodwill was not
impaired in 2011.
The recoverable amount of the CGUs is calculated based on the value in
use. In this calculation, cash flow projections by CGU for a 5-year period
are used. These projections are based on the current year and on the
financial estimates used by management to determine objectives. For
the period after the explicit projections, the growth of Van Lanschot has
been set at 4% in a second five-year period. This growth is based on the
current market conditions, with major investments being made in the
quality of the organisation in the first few years, with the aim to be able
to generate higher cash flows in the subsequent period. For the period
after the second five years, the growth of Van Lanschot keeps pace with
the expected long-term market growth of 2.0%. Management has
compared the most important assumptions against market estimates
and expectations.
Cash flow estimates are based on the long-term plan, the strategic plans
and investigations into possible future trends. Events and factors that
might have a significant impact on the estimates include market
expectations, effects of mergers and acquisitions, competitive conditions,
client behaviour and changes in the client base, cost structure, trends in
interest rates and risks, and other circumstances specific to the industry
and sector.

The cash flows have been discounted using a discount rate of 8.7% on
average, which rate reflects the risk-free interest rate, supplemented
with a surcharge for the market risk run by the CGUs.
The deteriorated economic conditions and the uncertainty in the market
translate into lower profit forecasts and a higher cost of equity for the
impairment test performed in 2011. Based on the model used, the
outcome leads to lower recoverable amounts, but not to an impairment.
In addition to the basic scenario, a sensitivity analysis was performed, in
which particular attention was paid to a decrease in net profit, a change
in the pay-out ratio and a further increase in cost of equity. This analysis
demonstrates that a deviation in the actual cost of equity, results and
pay-out ratio compared with the forecasts used in the goodwill
impairment test, could result in an impairment.
For the other intangible assets resulting from acquisitions, a useful life
test is conducted every year. A useful life test determines whether there
are indications of impairment. For the client bases item, the movements
in the number of clients are assessed. For third-party distribution
channels, it is checked whether the relations with these parties still exist.
For the deposits and current account balances item, the trend in the
volumes is assessed. For Brand name, it is determined whether
Van Lanschot will continue to use the brand name in the future.
The useful life tests conducted in 2011 do not give any indication of
further examination being required, nor of impairments.
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The following discount rate was used by CGU:
Discount rate before tax

CGU (%)
Private & Business Banking
Asset Management
Corporate Finance & Securities
Other activities

Allocation of goodwill to CGUs

Balance at

2011

2010

2011

2010

11.1
10.4
9.9
11.1

10.7
10.8
10.2
9.4

8.9
8.4
7.9
8.2

8.5
7.9
7.0
7.9

Additions

Decrease

31/12/2009

Total

Discount rate after tax

Balance at

Additions

Decrease

31/12/2010

Balance at
31/12/2011

225,676

17,443

– 8,364

234,755

–

– 4,309

230,446

82,594
49,292
76,293
17,497

–
–
–
17,443

–
–
–
– 8,364

82,594
49,292
76,293
26,576

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
– 4,309

82,594
49,292
76,293
22,267

Expected amortisation of intangible assets

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

And subsequent years

Expected amortisation of intangible assets

21,636

21,389

12,399

7,752

7,673

17,377

Private & Business Banking
Asset Management
Corporate Finance & Securities
Other

11 Current tax assets

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

4,319

2,604

Tax receivable

4,319

2,604
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12 Deferred tax assets
Movements 2011

Employee
benefits

Discount
loans

Commission

Derivatives

Loss
available
for set-off

Other

Total

1,869

–

923

–

43,304

360

46,456

Withdrawals through profit or loss
Additions through profit or loss
Rate adjustments

–
28
–

–
–
–

– 392
8
–

–
–
–

–
2,233
–

– 112
–
–

– 504
2,269
–

Total through profit or loss

28

–

– 384

–

2,233

– 112

1,765

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

– 9,449
437

–
–

– 9,449
437

1,897

–

539

–

36,525

248

39,209

Employee
benefits

Discount
loans

Commission

Derivatives

Loss
available
for set-off

Other

Total

1,668

2,074

771

470

57,706

801

63,490

Withdrawals through profit or loss
Additions through profit or loss
Rate adjustments

–
222
– 21

–
–
–

– 15
173
–6

– 470
–
–

– 13,533
–
– 869

– 115
28
–6

– 14,133
423
– 902

Total through profit or loss

201

–

152

– 470

– 14,402

– 93

– 14,612

Reclassification of Robein
Adjustments

–
–

– 2,074
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

– 348
–

– 2,422
–

Balance at 31 December

1,869

–

923

–

43,304

360

46,456

Balance at 1 January

Directly from/to equity
Directly from/to statement of income
Balance at 31 December

Movements 2010

Balance at 1 January

Non-valued losses

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Non-valued losses

3,202

2,861

These items do not have an expiry date.
Part of the use of the deferred tax assets depends on future taxable
profits. On 31 December 2011, there were no indications of future
taxable profits not being sufficient.
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13 Assets of operations held for sale

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

–

747,582

Cash and cash equivalents and balances withdrawable with central banks
Due from banks
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and private sectors
Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss
Investments in associates using the equity method
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Current tax assets
Other assets

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

4,461
96,164
211,556
70,986
320,739
125
6,175
16,505
6,410
14,461

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

226,394

190,862

86,735
52,560
67,312
3,134
16,653

70,043
44,861
25,789
3,051
47,118

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total Totaal

29,614

70,135

Debt instruments
Government paper and government-guaranteed paper
Companies listed

28,632
153

66,244
3,835

Total debt instruments

28,785

70,079

Equity instruments
Listed shares
Unlisted shares

826
3

53
3

Total equity instruments

829

56

For more information, reference is made to note 39.

14 Other assets
Total
Interest receivable
Transitory items
Assets by virtue of pension schemes
Inventories
Other

The transitory items category mainly comprises amounts receivable. The
assets by virtue of pension schemes mainly result from recovery payments
made and are fully covered by unrealised actuarial results. The line item
Other comprises other assets, mainly receivables and suspense accounts.
The carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

15 Financial liabilities held for trading
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16 Due to banks

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

398,052

945,511

Special loans European Central Bank
Deposits
Settlement claims securities transactions
Repo transactions
Loans and advances drawn
Value adjustments fair value hedge accounting

–
22,138
12,905
285,000
77,471
538

–
18,962
40,583
759,559
125,939
468

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

398,052

945,511

The Netherlands
Belgium
Great Britain
Germany
Luxembourg
Other

174,422
8,176
160,384
–
35,048
20,022

657,251
12,494
160,000
10,000
60,497
45,269

Geographical

The fair value of amounts Due to banks does not differ materially from
amortised cost. For the repo transactions disclosed under Due to banks,
€ 362.5 million in collateral has been issued. This fully concerns Citadel
notes (2010: € 831.8 million, in particular German and Dutch
government paper and Citadel notes).
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17 Public and private sector liabilities

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

13,100,131

13,545,650

3,863,125
4,883,118
4,350,335
3,553

3,835,678
5,537,558
4,171,736
678

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

13,100,131

13,545,650

The Netherlands
Belgium
Other

10,395,997
1,963,421
740,713

11,143,152
1,738,057
664,441

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

20,165

19,157

(Structured) Notes

20,165

19,157

Total
Savings
Deposits
Other funds entrusted
Value adjustments fair value hedge accounting

Public and private sector liabilities include the non-subordinated loans,
other than loans from credit institutions and not in the form of debt
securities.

Geographical

18 Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss contain
(structured) notes, including Egeria and Index Guarantee Notes. The
calculation of the own credit risk is based on comparable debt securities.
The own credit risk became higher; thus the liability in the reporting year
was € 1.1 million lower (2010: € 0.1 million higher).

The accumulated change in the fair value of Financial liabilities designated
as at fair value through profit or loss which can be allocated to the
changes in the own credit risk totals € 1.7 million (2010: € 0.6 million).
On the maturity date, Van Lanschot has to pay the fair value.
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19 Issued debt securities
Total
Bond loans and notes
Bank and savings bonds
Notes within the scope of securitisation transactions
Floating rate notes
Medium term notes

This item consists of debt instruments and other negotiable debt
securities issued whose rates of interest are either fixed or variable,
such as certificates of deposit and own acceptances, insofar as not
subordinated. In 2012, € 595 million of the debt securities is payable on
demand (2011: € 241 million) based on the following breakdown:
– instruments with a contractual maturity date in 2012: € 100 million
(2011:€ 0 million);
– instruments subject to a trigger with optional maturity date in 2012:
€ 214 million (2011: € 241 million);
– call date of securitised transactions with contractual maturity date
in 2012: € 281 million (2011:€ 0 million).

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

2,321,837

1,945,982

560,912
37
776,460
572,703
411,725

50
37
1,050,492
482,903
412,500

Face value versus carrying amount
The value adjustment of debt securities on account of hedge accounting
is recognised under the line item Issued debt securities.
Face value versus fair value
The fair value of debt securities totals € 2.3 billion (2010: € 1.9 billion).

Face value versus carrying amount of
debt securities at 31/12/2011

Face value

Value adjustment
fair value hedge
accounting

Share premium/
commission

Total

2,322,442

20,462

– 21,067

2,321,837

560,591
37
778,565
570,749
412,500

20,462
–
–
–
–

– 20,141
–
– 2,105
1,954
– 775

560,912
37
776,460
572,703
411,725

Face value versus carrying amount of
debt securities at 31/12/2010

Face value

Value adjustment
fair value hedge
accounting

Share premium/
commission

Total

1,946,028

–

– 46

1,945,982

Bond loans and notes
Bank and savings bonds
Notes in connection with securitisation transactions
Floating rate notes
Medium term notes

50
37
1,050,492
482,949
412,500

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
– 46
–

50
37
1,050,492
482,903
412,500

Bond loans and notes
Bank and savings bonds
Notes in connection with securitisation transactions
Floating rate notes
Medium term notes

Carrying amount

Carrying amount
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20 Provisions
Total
Pension provisions (2010: including early retirement)
Provision for Jubilee benefits scheme
Provision for employee rebates
Other provisions

Van Lanschot has various employee schemes in place under which
participants receive payments or benefits after they retire. These are
a pension scheme and a rebate scheme for mortgage interest rates.
Van Lanschot also has a jubilee benefits scheme. All these schemes are
defined benefit schemes as defined in International Accounting Standard
19 (IAS 19). Since 2005, the bank has fully complied with IAS 19 for its
defined benefit schemes.
The following defined benefit schemes were valued for the purpose of
the 2011 annual figures:
– On 1 January 2012 the pension scheme as administered by Stichting
Pensioenfonds F. Van Lanschot was amended. An average earnings
scheme applies up to a certain threshold, under which scheme
1.875% is accrued for each year of service. Above this threshold,
pension is accrued based on a defined-contribution scheme.
The pensionable base for the average earnings scheme is comprised
of the salary, up to the threshold, minus the state pension offset.
The (capped) salary minus the threshold forms the basis for the
defined-contribution scheme. The provision, as disclosed in the
statement of financial position at year-end 2011, is based on the
assumptions of the scheme as applicable in 2012. The impact of the
transition is set out in the tables below. In 2010, the pension scheme
of Stichting Pensioenfonds F. Van Lanschot was a final salary scheme
under which 1.892% of the pensionable base (salary minus the state
pension offset) was accrued for each year of service and which
was based on a retirement age of 65. The surviving dependants’
pension is insured on a risk basis. In addition to the old age pension,
the scheme provides for a temporary old age pension.

Obligations/assets included in the statement
of financial position by scheme
at 31/12/2011

–

–

–
–

–

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

15,884

16,795

4,599
2,971
3,614
4,700

4,670
4,395
3,154
4,576

At year-end 2011, the early retirement scheme was no longer in
place. It applied to employees who were in service on 1 January
2000 and entitled them to a payment amounting to 75% of their
most recent salary.
Van Lanschot employees are entitled to a mortgage interest rate
rebate and entitlement to this rebate continues beyond the pension
date after active service.
The jubilee payment depends on the years of service.
The pension schemes applied by Van Lanschot Belgium are both
a defined-contribution scheme and a defined benefit scheme.
The latter scheme has a pensionable base of the average basic salary
of the last five years of service. The pension capital is insured with
UKZT (Uitgesteld Kapitaal Zonder Tegenverzekering). The term
insurance is financed with risk premiums.
The pension scheme of Kempen is an average salary scheme under
which 2% of the pensionable base (salary minus the state pension
offset) is accrued for each year of service and which is based on a
retirement age of 65. The surviving dependants’ pension is insured
on a risk basis.

Only within the pension scheme, equity has been invested to fund the
obligations (i.e. funded). The other schemes are unfunded; payments in
any year are made directly by the company. The obligations are
calculated on the basis of the projected unit credit method.
Unrealised gains and losses are amortised, to the extent that they exceed
10% (the threshold) of the benefit obligations or pension plan assets if
higher. Amortisation takes place over the average future years of service
of the active participants.

Pension
scheme

Early retirement
scheme

Employee
rebates

Jubilee benefits
scheme

686,179
701,726

10
–

3,577
–

2,971
–

Surplus/(deficit)
Unrecognised actuarial (gains)/losses

15,547
61,217

– 10
–

– 3,577
– 37

– 2,971
–

Obligation at year-end
Asset at year-end

– 4,589
67,312

– 10
–

– 3,614
–

– 2,971
–

Defined benefit obligations
Fair value of plan assets
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Obligations/assets included in the statement
of financial position by scheme
at 31/12/2010

Pension
scheme

Early retirement
scheme

Employee
rebates

Jubilee benefits
scheme

Defined benefit obligations
Fair value of plan assets

651,132
588,063

118
–

3,828
–

4,395
–

Surplus/(deficit)
Unrecognised actuarial (gains)/losses

– 63,069
73,083

– 118
– 89

– 3,828
674

– 4,395
–

– 4,463
14,477

– 207
–

– 3,154
–

– 4,395
–

Obligation at year-end
Asset at year-end

Movements in the defined benefit obligation for the pension scheme

2011

2010

Benefit obligations at 1 January
Annual costs
Interest costs
Participants’ contribution
Actuarial (gains)/losses
Gross benefits
Transfers
Discontinuation
Changed assumptions
Reclassification to operations held for sale

651,132
19,950
30,682
4,211
13,902
– 13,576
– 272
– 18,951
– 899
–

527,232
14,661
30,423
3,510
19,890
– 12,599
– 3,908
– 25
78,937
– 6,989

Benefit obligations at 31 December

686,179

651,132

2011

2010

118
–
1
–
– 33
–
– 76
–

610
35
24
52
– 505
–
204
– 302

10

118

Movements in the defined benefit obligation for the early retirement scheme
Benefit obligations at 1 January
Annual costs
Interest costs
Actuarial (gains)/losses
Gross benefits
Discontinuation
Changed assumptions
Reclassification to operations held for sale
Benefit obligations at 31 December
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Movements in the defined benefit obligation for employee rebates

2011

2010

Benefit obligations at 1 January
Annual costs
Interest costs
Actuarial (gains)/losses
Gross benefits
Discontinuation
Changed assumptions
Reclassification to operations held for sale

3,828
390
191
–
– 131
–
– 701
–

3,331
359
178
–
– 131
–
91
–

Benefit obligations at 31 December

3,577

3,828

Movements in the defined benefit obligation for the jubilee benefits scheme

2011

2010

4,395
401
206
–
– 191
–
– 1,840
–

4,318
405
204
–
– 375
–
– 157
–

Benefit obligations at 31 December

2,971

4,395

Movements in the fair value of pension plan assets

2011

2010

588,063
29,351
22,211
74,040
2,837
– 13,377
– 99
–
– 1,300
–

550,009
31,131
156
21,634
3,510
– 12,624
– 664
– 75
– 1,090
– 3,924

701,726

588,063

51,562

29,362

Benefit obligations at 1 January
Annual costs
Interest costs
Actuarial (gains)/losses
Gross benefits
Discontinuation
Changed assumptions
Reclassification to operations held for sale

Fair value at 1 January
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial (gains)/losses
Employer’s contribution
Employee’s contribution
Gross benefits
Transferred
Changed assumptions
Costs
Reclassification to operations held for sale
Fair value at 31 December
Actual return on plan assets

The 2011 employer’s contribution comprises recovery payments made
for a total amount of € 52.7 million.
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The annual costs as included in the statement of income by scheme are as follows:

Annual costs of pension scheme included in the statement of income

2011

2010

19,950
30,683
– 29,351
1,300
– 17,082
714
6,970
7,013
–

15,147
30,423
– 30,041
1,090
– 556
461
–
–
– 405

20,197

16,119

2011

2010

Annual costs
Net interest income
Amortisation
Discontinuation, restriction of benefits
Reclassification to operations held for sale

–
2
– 90
–
–

35
24
– 233
52
– 86

Net costs

– 88

– 208

Annual costs of employee rebates scheme included in the statement of income

2011

2010

Annual costs
Net interest income
Amortisation

390
191
10

359
178
20

Net costs

591

557

Annual costs
Net interest income
Expected return
Additional charges
Discontinuation, restriction of benefits
Amortisation
Minimum funding requirement
Assets ceiling
Reclassification to operations held for sale
Net costs

Annual costs of early retirement scheme included in the statement of income
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Annual costs of jubilee benefits scheme included in the statement of income

2011

2010

Annual costs
Net interest income
Amortisation

401
206
– 1,626

405
204
– 157

Net costs

– 1,019

452

Investment categories of pension plan assets of Stichting
Pensioenfonds F. van Lanschot at 31 december 2011
The expected return on investments is the expected long-term return.
The expected return is based on the investment strategy and the
expected return on the different investment categories. Return
expectations have been defined for each investment category based on
assumptions for the long-term risk as well as historical data.

The expected return is the weighted average of the expected return of
each investment category. When determining the expected investment
return, the following strategic mix was used. In addition to this mix, a
Swap overlay applies, covering (together with the mix mentioned below)
100% of the interest rate risk with effect from November 2011 (up to
November 2011: 60%).

Expected investment
allocation

Expected
return

Total (%)

100

4.6

Fixed-income securities
Long duration
Government bonds
Credits
Property

75.0
45.0
17.0
8.0
5.0

4.5
4.1
3.3
4.9
4.8

Shares and absolute return

25.0

6.3

The pension fund invested in the following funds of Van Lanschot or one
of its subsidiaries:
– Kempen Euro Credit Fund
– Kempen Euro High Grade Pool
– Kempen European High Dividend Fund

–
–
–

Kempen European Property Fundamental Index
Kempen Global High Dividend
Kempen Orange Investment Partnership I

The most significant actuarial assumptions made at the reporting date are
as follows:

Assumptions (%)
Actuarial interest rate pension
Actuarial interest rate early retirement
Actuarial interest rate employee rebates
Actuarial interest rate jubilee benefits
Expected return on investments
Price inflation
General salary increase
Career promotions (up to age of 50)
Pension increase/increase in social charges
Retirement age

2011

2010

4.5 - 5.5
n/a
4.4
4.3
4.5 - 6.0
2.0 - 2.5
2.0 - 2.5
1.0 - 1.8
2.0 - 2.5
62 - 65 years

4.6 - 5.5
2.3
4.8
4.7
4.5 - 6.0
2.0 - 2.5
2.0 - 2.5
1.0 - 2.0
2.0 - 2.5
62 - 65 years
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In the calculations at 31 December 2011, the mortality tables as
published by the Association of Actuaries (Prognosetafel 2010-2060)
were used, with empirical mortality rates.

History of movements in pension scheme
gains and losses

2011

2010

2009

2008

Defined benefit obligations
Fair value of plan assets

686,179
701,726

651,132
588,063

527,232
550,009

473,435
484,093

Surplus (deficit)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on obligations
Actuarial gains/(losses) on investments

15,547
– 12,744
21,411

– 63,069
19,890
156

22,777
– 1,595
23,482

10,658
1,547
– 43,769

Pension
obligations

Employee
rebates

Jubilee benefits
scheme

Total

34,720

419

387

Expected employer’s contribution
Expected employees’ contribution

29,466
5,254

419
–

387
–

2011

2010

4,576
–
– 1,431
– 3,236
–
4,790
1

14,880
103
– 2,026
– 4,476
– 6,585
2,666
14

4,700

4,576

Expected contribution for 2012

Other provisions
Balance at 1 January
Recognition in connection with acquisitions
Withdrawal
Release
Reclassification
Additions
Other changes
Balance at 31 December

The reclassification in 2010 chiefly concerned the provision for the
deposit guarantee scheme, which is included under Due from banks.
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21 Current tax liabilities

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

9,271

11,009

Tax payable

9,271

11,009

22 Deferred tax liabilities
Property,
plant and
equipment

Intangible
assets

Derivatives

Investment
portfolio

Employee
benefits

Other

Total

7,635

23,290

– 4,813

2,287

6,447

1,643

36,489

– 1,286

– 4,777

–

–

–

– 158

– 6,221

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

10,381
–

–
–

10,381
–

– 1,286

– 4,777

–

–

10,381

– 158

4,160

Reclassification of Robein
Directly to/from equity

–
–

–
–

–
3,827

–
– 2,944

–
–

–
–

–
883

Balance at 31 December

6,349

18,513

– 986

– 657

16,828

1,485

41,532

Property,
plant and
equipment

Intangible
assets

Derivatives

Investment
portfolio

Employee
benefits

Other

Total

9,010

32,487

– 5,226

498

2,292

2,572

41,633

– 1,225

– 4,543

–

–

–

– 291

– 6,059

–
– 150

–
– 548

–
–

–
–

4,284
– 129

–
–

4,284
– 827

– 1,375

– 5,091

–

–

4,155

– 291

– 2,602

Reclassification of Robein
Directly to/from equity

–
–

– 4,106
–

–
413

– 2,353
4,142

–
–

– 638
–

– 7,097
4,555

Balance at 31 December

7,635

23,290

– 4,813

2,287

6,447

1,643

36,489

Movements 2011

Balance at 1 January
Withdrawals through
profit or loss
Additions through
profit or loss
Rate adjustments
Total through profit
or loss

Movements 2010

Balance at 1 January
Withdrawals through
profit or loss
Additions through
profit or loss
Rate adjustments
Total through profit
or loss

For further details, reference is made to note 38.
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23 Liabilities of operations held for sale

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

–

756,634

Due to banks
Current tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Insurance contracts
Subordinated loans

–
–
–
–
–

2,207
9,456
20,786
714,185
10,000

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total Totaal

418,863

477,050

Interest payable
Other accruals and deferred income
Other liabilities

326,208
55,596
37,059

340,053
58,346
78,651

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

152,764

421,809

Certificates of indebtedness
Other subordinated loans

100,000

362,314

52,764

59,495

For more information, reference is made to note 39.

24 Other liabilities

The line item Other liabilities consists of income received to be
credited to future periods and amounts payable such as accrued
interest, payables, suspense accounts and unsettled items.
The carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

25 Subordinated loans

Amortised cost versus carrying amount
The value adjustment of the subordinated loans used as hedged
items is recognised under the line item Subordinated loans.
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Amortised cost versus carrying amount subordinated loans at
31 December 2011

Amortised
cost

Value adjustment
fair value hedge
accounting

Carrying
amount

150,886

1,878

152,764

–
–
25,000
25,000
50,000
50,886

–
–
–
–
–
1,878

–
–
25,000
25,000
50,000
52,764

Amortised
cost

Value adjustment
fair value hedge
accounting

Carrying
amount

Total

418,667

3,142

421,809

5.75% certificates of indebtedness 2001-2011, maturing on 8 April 2011
1.114% subordinated FRN 2005-2016, maturing on 17 October 2016
4.463% subordinated bond loan 08/33
4.412% subordinated bond loan 08/38
4.361% subordinated bond loan 08/43
Other subordinated loans

161,873
99,432
25,000
25,000
50,000
57,362

1,009
–
–
–
–
2,133

162,882
99,432
25,000
25,000
50,000
59,495

Total
5.75% certificates of indebtedness 2001-2011, maturing on 8 April 2011
1.448% subordinated FRN 2005-2016, maturing on 17 October 2016
4.463% subordinated bond loan 08/33
4.412% subordinated bond loan 08/38
4.361% subordinated bond loan 08/43
Other subordinated loans

The average coupon on the other subordinated loans was
4.94% in 2011.
The fair value of the subordinated loans was € 156.9 million
(2010: € 398.1 million).

Amortised cost versus carrying amount subordinated loans
at 31 December 2010

The average coupon on the other subordinated loans was
4.45% in 2010.
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26 Equity
Total
Issued capital
Treasury shares
Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Currency translation reserve
Reserve cash flow hedges
Retained earnings
Minority interests (perpetual loans)
Other minority interests
Undistributed profit (attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV)
Undistributed profit (attributable to holders of perpetual loans)
Undistributed profit (attributable to other minority interests)

Issued share capital

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

1,565,868

1,784,895

41,017
– 5,837
479,914
24,373
– 1,055
– 2,933
937,267
36,063
13,932
34,499
7,587
1,041

41,017
– 11,018
479,914
37,991
– 1,423
– 14,427
873,084
300,514
12,533
56,538
9,719
453

2011

2010

Numbers

Value
(x € 1,000)

Numbers

Value
(x € 1,000)

Ordinary A shares (nominal value € 1)
Ordinary B shares (nominal value € 1)

34,159,225
6,857,443

34,159
6,858

29,612,456
11,404,212

29,613
11,404

Issued capital

41,016,668

41,017

41,016,668

41,017

Shares in portfolio

93,983,332

93,983

93,983,332

93,983

135,000,000

135,000

135,000,000

135,000

Authorised capital

Movement in issued capital is unchanged.
In 2011, a number of principal shareholders converted part of their interests
held in the form of ordinary B shares into ordinary A shares. Thus, the
composition of the issued capital changed; more ordinary A shares and
fewer ordinary B shares have been issued compared with 31 December
2010. If these principal shareholders convert the other ordinary B shares
held by them in accordance with the announced conversion policy, the
issued share capital will solely comprise ordinary A shares from mid-2013
onwards.

All shares were paid up in cash. Owing to option rights outstanding at
31 December 2011, the number of ordinary shares could increase by
310,979 or 0.8% of the number of outstanding ordinary shares at yearend 2011. Furthermore, during the financial year, the bank conditionally
granted rights to acquire 5,554 depositary receipts for ordinary A shares
for no consideration. The company holds 207,331 depositary receipts for
ordinary A shares to meet the open positions (2010: 197,309).
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2011

2010

Conditional and unconditional
share and option plans

Number

Average exercise
price (€)

Number

Average exercise
price (€)

Unconditional options
Conditional shares

310,979
112,753

64.42
n/a

381,774
142,651

61.35
n/a

Since 2008, option rights have no longer been granted. The managing
directors held a total of 264,935 shares and depositary receipts
for shares in the company at year-end 2011. In addition, they hold
unconditional option rights, which entitle them to purchase 23,230

Movements in
reserves 2011

Share
premium

depositary receipts for ordinary A shares in the company at an average
price of € 51.04 and with an exercise period ending in 2012 at the latest.
Further details on the stock (option) plan for employees and members of
the Board of Managing Directors are provided on page 169 of this report.

Revaluation reserve available-for-sale
investments

equity
instruments

debt
instruments

held
for sale

Currency
translation
reserve

Cash flow
hedge
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

Balance at 1 January
Net changes in fair
value
Realised gains/losses
through profit or loss
Net reversal of impairments
(to statement of financial
position)
Profit appropriation
Dividend
Exercise of options
Reclassification
Other changes

479,914

30,988

5,501

1,502

– 1,423

– 14,427

873,084

1,375,139

–

– 2,643

6,737

– 386

–

– 349

–

3,359

–

– 2,401

– 13,928

– 1,116

–

11,843

–

– 5,602

–
–
–
–
–
–

119
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
368

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
56,538
– 28,673
– 3,446
–
39,764

119
56,538
– 28,673
– 3,446
–
40,132

Balance at 31 December

479,914

26,063

– 1,690

–

– 1,055

– 2,933

937,267

1,437,566

–

– 221

3,583

501

–

– 3,832

–

31

Tax effects

The gain on the perpetual loan bought back totals € 39.5 million and is
disclosed under Other changes. In 2011, the dividend per ordinary share
for 2010 was set at € 0.70.
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Movements in
reserves 2010

Share
premium

Revaluation reserve available-for-sale
investments

Currency
translation
reserve

Cash flow
hedge
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

equity
instruments

debt
investments

held
for sale

315,406

35,916

3,401

–

– 1,759

– 15,265

909,752

1,247,451

–

1,885

29,258

–

–

– 982

–

30,161

Balance at 1 January
Net changes in fair
value
Realised gains/losses
through profit or loss
Net reversal of impairments
(to statement of financial
position)
Profit appropriation
Dividend
Exercise of options
Reclassification
Other changes

–

– 469

– 24,870

–

–

1,820

–

– 23,519

–
–
–
–
–
164,508

1,342
–
–
–
– 7,686
–

–
–
–
–
– 2,288
–

–
–
–
–
1,502
–

–
–
–
–
–
336

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
– 26,069
–
– 6,221
–
– 4,378

1,342
– 26,069
–
– 6,221
– 8,472
160,466

Balance at 31 December

479,914

30,988

5,501

1,502

– 1,423

– 14,427

873,084

1,375,139

–

– 365

– 1,794

–501

–

– 405

–

– 3,065

Tax effects

In 2010, the dividend for 2009 for shareholders of ordinary shares was set at € 0.-.

Nature and purpose of other reserves
Treasury shares
This item includes the cost price of own shares held by Van Lanschot in order
to cover the open option position.
Share premium
This reserve includes amounts paid to Van Lanschot by shareholders
above the nominal value of purchased shares.
Revaluation reserve
This reserve includes movements in the fair value of available-for-sale
investments and associates.
Currency translation reserve
This reserve (which is not available for free distribution) includes
currency translation differences resulting from the valuation of
investments in group companies at the ruling exchange rate insofar
as the currency rate risk is not hedged.

Cash ﬂow hedge reserve
This reserve includes the share in the gain or loss on hedging instruments
in a cash flow hedge that has been ruled to be an effective hedge.
Retained earnings
This reserve includes past profits added to equity and the costs of the
share option plan. In the consolidated accounts, the Statutory reserves
are included in the Other reserves. In the corporate accounts, these are
presented separately. The comparative figures were adjusted accordingly.
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Movements in minority interests 2011

Perpetual
loans

Undistributed
profit
attributable
to holders of
perpetual loans

Other
minority
interests

Undistributed
profit
attributable to
other minority
interests

Total

Balance at 1 January
Repayments on perpetual loans
Change in own position
Profit appropriation
Dividend
Result for the period
Acquisition of interest
Value adjustment

300,514
– 278,937
14,486
–
–
–
–
–

9,719
–
–
–
– 9,719
7,587
–
–

12,533
–
–
–
–
453
946
–

453
–
–
– 453
–
1,041
–
–

323,219
– 278,937
14,486
– 453
– 9,719
9,081
946
–

36,063

7,587

13,932

1,041

58,623

Perpetual
loans

Undistributed
profit
attributable to
holders of
perpetual loans

Other
minority
interests

Undistributed
profit
attributable to
other minority
interests

Total

Balance at 1 January
Change in own position
Profit appropriation
Dividend
Result for the period
Acquisition of interest
Value adjustment

300,761
– 247
–
–
–
–
–

10,376
–
–
– 10,376
9,719
–
–

1,796
–
–
–
– 27
10,788
– 24

– 27
–
27
–
453
–
–

312,906
– 247
27
– 10,376
10,145
10,788
– 24

Balance at 31 December

300,514

9,719

12,533

453

323,219

Balance at 31 December

Movements in minority interests 2010

Minority interests (perpetual loans)
On 29 October 2004, Van Lanschot issued Perpetual Capital Securities
for an amount of € 165 million at an issue price of 100%. The securities
do not have a maturity date, but Van Lanschot reserves the right to
repay the entire loan at face value on each coupon payment date after
ten years. The securities have a variable dividend that is linked to the
effective interest rate on ten-year government bonds at the interest rate
revision date plus a mark-up. The maximum total dividend percentage
is 8%. Dividend is revised every six months. Van Lanschot can postpone
payment on the securities, provided that no payments are made on
ordinary shares and no ordinary shares are repurchased by the company.
The same dividend percentage applies to any deferred payments and
the principal.
On 29 September 2011, Van Lanschot announced an exchange
and tender offer. The bank made the holders of the 2004 Perpetual
Capital Securities a purchase or conversion offer. Holders registered
€ 59.4 million for repurchase in exchange for cash. In addition, holders
offered € 89.4 million for conversion into new senior bonds.

On 14 December 2005, Van Lanschot issued Perpetual Capital Securities
for an amount of € 150 million at an issue price of 100%. The securities
do not have a maturity date, but Van Lanschot reserves the right to repay
the entire loan at face value on each coupon payment date after ten years.
The securities have a fixed dividend of 4.855% in the first ten years;
if the capital securities are not repaid after ten years, the dividend is
linked to the three-month Euribor with a 2.32% mark-up. Van Lanschot
can postpone payment on the securities, provided that no payments
are made on ordinary shares and no ordinary shares are repurchased by
the company. The same dividend percentage applies to any deferred
payments as applicable to the principal.
On 29 September 2011, Van Lanschot announced a tender offer.
The bank made the holders of the 2005 Perpetual Capital Securities a
purchase offer in exchange for a cash payment of 82.5% of the nominal
value. Holders registered on this offer for € 111.3 million.
Other minority interests
Under this line item, the minority interest in entities that are fully
consolidated by Van Lanschot is disclosed.
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27 Contingent liabilities

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

337,518

331,949

Guarantees, etc.
Irrevocable documentary letters of credit
Other

290,273
29,732
17,513

275,668
48,105
8,176

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

587,527

1,130,428

Unused credit facilities
Sale and repurchase commitments
Other

252,783
302,309
32,435

265,894
831,905
32,629

Contingent liabilities consist of all commitments arising from
transactions for which the bank has given a guarantee to third parties.
For several group companies, guarantees have been issued for an amount
of € 275.9 million (2010: € 255.0 million). The date on which these
contingent liabilities will be claimed cannot be predicted.

28 Irrevocable commitments

This item consists of all obligations resulting from irrevocable
commitments that could give rise to the granting of loans.
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notes to the consolidated statement of income
€ thousand

29 Net interest income

2011

2010

1,099,360

912,509

Interest income on cash equivalents
Interest income on banks and private sector
Other interest income

2,874
656,739
101

2,408
669,513
1,134

Interest income on items not recognised at fair value

659,714

673,055

Interest income on available-for-sale investments
Interest income on financial assets held for trading
Interest income on derivatives

28,782
94
410,770

26,652
264
212,538

Total

804,204

576,588

Interest expense on banks and private sector
Interest expense on issued debt securities
Interest expense on subordinated loans
Interest expense on preference shares
Other interest expense

283,388
71,008
9,915
–
224

267,668
37,443
8,979
4,719
114

Interest expense on items not recognised at fair value

364,535

318,923

Interest expense on loans at fair value
Interest expense on derivatives

–
439,669

98
257,567

Interest income
Total

Interest expense

The interest result on loans subject to impairment is € 23.4 million
(2010: € 26.0 million).
The average expected term of the loan portfolio and thus the
amortisation period of the lending commission remained stable in
both 2011 and 2010.
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30 Income from securities and associates

2011

2010

10,944

13,016

16,053
– 13,918
1,916
3,288
3,605

17,974
– 12,793
1,438
–
6,397

2011

2010

Total

230,484

232,189

Securities commission
Management commission
Cash transactions and funds transfer commission
Insurance commission
Trust commission
Commission Corporate Finance
Other commission

57,287
114,585
21,322
431
4,227
24,275
8,357

83,148
96,430
22,455
575
4,064
15,797
9,720

32 Profit on financial transactions

2011

2010

Total

– 239

30,164

– 5,243
12,988
– 40,117
– 613
19,397
– 4,306
17,405
250

10,506
11,421
– 9,862
– 436
20,977
– 1,397
–
– 1,045

Total
Dividend and fees
Movements in value of investments at fair value through profit or loss
Gains on sale of available-for-sale investments in equity instruments
Other gains on sale
Income from associates using the equity method

31 Net commission income

Profit on securities trading
Profit on currency trading
Unrealised gains/losses on derivatives under hedge accounting
Realised/unrealised gains/losses on trading derivatives
Realised gains/losses on available-for-sale debt instruments
Profit on economic hedges
Profit on financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss
Other gains and losses

33 Other income
Total
Sales
Cost of sales

Other income comprises income from non-banking subsidiaries, in particular in the medical sector.

2011

2010

16,041

19,597

157,554
– 141,513

171,479
– 151,882
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34 Staff costs

2011

2010

Total

224,753

236,093

Salaries and wages
Pension costs defined contribution schemes
Pension costs defined benefit schemes
Other exit allowances
Other social security costs
Share-based payments
Other staff costs

169,062
1,796
22,201
39
19,880
2,903
8,872

183,696
1,885
20,662
– 498
19,950
2,048
8,350

An amount of € 3.3 million was added to equity for the share-based
payments (2010: € 1.9 million). Of the pension costs for defined
contribution schemes, € 0.5 million (2010: € 0.4 million) concerns
members of the Board of Managing Directors.

The average number of staff employed in 2011 was 2,390 (2010: 2,384).
Expressed in full-time equivalents, the average number of staff was 2,172
(2010: 2,167), which can be broken down as follows:

Average number of FTEs

2011

2010

Total

2,172

2,167

The Netherlands
Belgium
Other

1,951
138
83

1,937
142
88

Conditional share and option plans have been set up for the Board of
Managing Directors and senior management.

Unconditional options granted to staff and
members of the Board of Managing Directors

2011

2010

Number of
options

Average exercise
price (€)

Number of
options

Balance at 1 January
Options granted
Options exercised
Expired and forfeited options

381,774
–
–
– 70,795

61.35
–
–
47.85

427,570
–
– 15,107
– 30,689

59.48
–
30.14
50.64

Balance at 31 December

310,979

64.42

381,774

61.35

The unconditional options can be exercised twice a year during the
open period after publication of the interim or full-year figures.
In 2011, no option rights were exercised.

Average exercise
price (€)
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Conditional depositary receipts for shares granted to the members
of the Board of Managing Directors

2011

2010

Balance at 1 January
Commitments
Granted
Changes
Expired and forfeited rights

27,679
–
–
–
–

27,679
–
–
–
–

Balance at 31 December

27,679

27,679

2011

2010

114,972
5,554
– 30,992
– 4,460

204,188
56,056
– 79,242
– 66,030

85,074

114,972

Conditional depositary receipts for shares granted to staff and
senior management
Balance at 1 January
Commitments
Granted
Forfeited rights
Balance at 31 December

The fair value is determined based on the volume weighted price for the
day of the depositary receipts for ordinary A shares on the second trading
day after publication of the annual figures of Van Lanschot NV.
The depositary receipts granted in 2011 had a fair value of € 29.43
(2010: € 32.07). Dividend is not taken into account here.
Share-based employee benefits:
Management Investment Plan (MIP)
Under the terms of the Kempen MIP, selected employees purchase
ordinary B shares indirectly held in Kempen’s share capital. Kempen
issued these ordinary B shares to Coöperatie MIP, a cooperative society
in which nearly all membership rights are owned by Stichting MIP, which
issues depositary receipts to selected employees in exchange for
payment of the issue price. The depositary receipts grant participants
the indirect right of beneficial ownership of the underlying B shares.
Any dividends that Kempen pays on the ordinary B shares are distributed
to Coöperatie MIP, which in turn distributes the dividends to the
members of Stichting MIP and Van Lanschot.
Stichting MIP transfers this dividend to the participants once a year.
The issue price of the depositary receipts is financed by the individual
participants themselves, who are not offered or provided with any
financial support by Van Lanschot or Kempen for this purpose.
Stichting MIP may require that a participant sells his or her depositary
receipts to an individual or entity it has designated in the event that the
participant’s employment contract is terminated or the participant is
declared bankrupt or is granted extension of payment, or in the event
that Stichting MIP makes a request to this effect. A discount on the
transaction price of the depositary receipts may apply when a participant
transfers depositary receipts, and this condition is taken into account
while the participant continues to perform work.

This discount is applied to ensure the participants have a long-term
commitment to Kempen or its subsidiaries.
In the event that no such long-term commitment materialises, the
proceeds to be received by the departing participant are reduced by
applying a discount to the underlying issue price of the depositary
receipts.
Coöperatie MIP has granted Van Lanschot a call option to acquire all
the outstanding B shares. This call option may be exercised at any time
during a three-month period starting on 1 January of every fifth year
following the implementation of the MIP, for the first time on 1 January
2016. Van Lanschot may only exercise the option in the event of
unforeseen circumstances that are beyond the control of the participants
and Kempen or Van Lanschot. The call option is therefore to be
considered a deferred settlement alternative.
In 2011, F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV transferred 1,607,000 membership
rights to Stichting MIP for the issue of depositary receipts for shares
to Kempen & Co NV employees. The sale price of these receipts was
€ 1,000 and represents the fair value of the receipts at the moment
of transfer.
At 31 December 2011, 12,395 depositary receipts were in issue,
corresponding to 83% of the total number of underlying depositary
receipts available for issue under the Kempen MIP. The remaining
depositary receipts (17%) are currently held by F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV
and are available for the future issue of depositary receipts by the
Stichting. Stichting MIP expects to issue depositary receipts to selected
Kempen employees representing at most 7.5% of Kempen’s total share
capital.
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35 Other administrative expenses

2011

2010

164,697

167,147

20,458
9,955
17,180
66,965
2,546
8,701
38,892

22,794
11,452
15,516
66,504
2,357
12,049
36,475

Fees external auditor

2011

2010

Total

2,230

1,929

Fee for audit of financial statements
Fee for other audit services
Fee for tax services
Other fees

1,843
236
147
4

1,273
72
148
436

36 Depreciation and amortisation

2011

2010

37,006

36,653

7,705

7,902

3,698
8,612
13,534
3,457

4,126
6,688
13,532
4,405

2011

2010

Total

79,394

102,458

Loans and advances to the private sector
Available-for-sale investments
Other financial assets and associates
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill and intangible assets

61,090
4,519
6,755
3,259
3,771

86,508
11,014
4,554
382
–

Total
Accommodation expenses
Marketing and communication
Office expenses
IT expenses
External auditor
Consultancy fees
Other administrative expenses

The consultancy fees related for, among other things, advisory services
(business consultancy, tax) and the implementation and maintenance of
software and hardware.
The fees paid to the external auditor (and its network of offices) can be
broken down as follows:

Total
Buildings
IT, software and communication equipment
Application software
Intangible assets by virtue of acquisitions
Other depreciation and amortisation

37 Impairments
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Impairments represent the balance of the required impairments and the
release of such impairments.
The line item Available-for-sale investments comprises the required
impairments, resulting from the fact that the fair value of the investments
concerned is significantly or permanently below cost, as laid down in the
relevant policy.

The line item Property, plant and equipment comprises the required
impairments resulting from the fact that the expected net realisable
value of a number of decommissioned office buildings and property
acquired through foreclosures is below the carrying amount.
The impairment on the line item Goodwill and intangible assets concerns
the unrealised goodwill of the non-strategic investments.

The line item Other financial assets and associates concerns the
required impairments of associates using the equity method.

38 Income tax

2011

2010

Operating profit before tax from continuing operations
Profit before tax from discontinued operations

46,536
2,802

88,536
3,765

Total gross result

49,338

92,301

Prevailing tax rate in the Netherlands
Expected tax

25.0%
12,335

25.5%
23,537

Tax on continuing operations
Tax on discontinued operations

6,211
–

22,943
2,648

Total

6,211

25,591

– 3,564
– 5,161
–
–
2,388
1,288
200
– 114
– 91
– 840
– 230

– 678
– 5,783
1,112
217
5,620
777
264
333
387
– 74
– 121

– 6,124

2,054

Increase/decrease in tax payable due to
Tax-free interest
Tax-free income from securities and associates
Tax-free profit on financial transactions
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
Non-deductible impairments
Non-deductible expenses
Non-deductible losses
Adjustments to taxes of prior years
Impact of foreign tax rate differences
Changes in deferred taxes
Other changes

This item consists of the tax expense for the financial year on the profit
on ordinary activities disclosed in the statement of income. Tax relief
facilities are taken into account in determining the tax expense. The tax
burden differs from the standard tax rate owing to the equity holding
exemption in particular.
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Important components of income tax

2011

2010

Total

6,211

25,591

4,457
– 91
– 1,765
4,160
– 550

12,861
387
14,612
– 2,602
333

2011

2010

Total

39,209

46,456

Employee benefits
Commission
Losses available for set-off
Other

1,897
539
36,524
249

1,869
923
43,304
360

2011

2010

Total

41,532

36,489

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Employee benefits
Derivatives
Investment portfolio
Other

6,349
18,513
16,828
– 986
– 657
1,485

7,635
23,290
6,447
– 4,813
2,287
1,643

Standard income tax
(Income)/expense by virtue of foreign tax rate differences
(Income)/expense by virtue of changes in deferred tax assets
(Income)/expense by virtue of changes in deferred tax liabilities
(Income)/expense by virtue of prior-year adjustments

(12)
(22)

The breakdown by components of the deferred tax assets
and liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities
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39 Discontinued operations

2011

2010

Income from operating activities
Interest income
Income from securities and associates
Commission
Profit on financial transactions
Net insurance premium revenue
Investment results for risk of policyholders
Other income

10,047
– 3,716
492
1,740
50,086
9,811
–

16,495
–
–
–
96,387
23,310
16,531

Total income from operating activities

68,460

152,723

Expenses
Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Underwriting expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments

2,290
864
61,454
208
– 1,200

5,123
2,763
129,663
3,973
7,436

Total expenses

63,616

148,958

Operating profit before tax

4,844

3,765

Income tax

2,042

2,648

Net profit

2,802

1,117

0.06

0.03

Earnings per ordinary share (from discontinued operations, in €)

The line item Discontinued operations includes the results of operations
designated as held for sale. This includes mainly the results of Robein
Leven NV. On 28 June 2011, Van Lanschot no longer had a controlling
interest in this company. For this reason, its results have no longer been
included since this date.

The results for the year of Robein totalled € 6.1 million. Since these
results are attributable to the new shareholder, this was included
as a loss on sale under the line item Income from securities and
associates.
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40 Earnings per ordinary share

2011

2010

Net profit from continuing operations
Interest on perpetual loan
Minority interests

43,127
– 7,587
– 1,041

66,710
– 9,719
– 453

Profit attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV

34,499

56,538

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
Earnings per ordinary share (€)
Dividend per ordinary share (€)

40,870,488
0.84
0.40

38,366,748
1.47
0.70

To calculate earnings per ordinary share, the number of ordinary shares
consists solely of the weighted average number of shares outstanding.
The treasury shares held by the company are not included in the number
of shares outstanding.

41 Diluted earnings per ordinary share

The interest expense on the perpetual loan is lower due to the
conversion into bonds in October 2011.

2011

2010

Profit attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV

34,499

56,538

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
Potential shares

40,870,488
126,511

38,366,748
115,378

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding fully diluted
Diluted earnings per ordinary share (€)

40,996,999
0.84

38,482,126
1.47

Diluted earnings per ordinary share are calculated in a manner similar to
earnings per ordinary share, taking into account the number of potential
shares that could lead to dilution. Diluted earnings per ordinary share are
based on the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be

in issue upon conversion into ordinary shares of all potential ordinary
shares that will lead to dilution. Options can lead to dilution if this would
entail shares being issued at a price lower than the average price of the
ordinary shares during the period.
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42 Earnings per ordinary share from continuing operations

2011

2010

Net profit from continuing operations
Interest on perpetual loan
Minority interests

40,325
– 7,587
– 1,041

65,593
– 9,719
– 453

Profit attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV

31,697

55,421

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
Earnings per ordinary share (€)

40,870,488
0.78

38,366,748
1.44

2011

2010

31,697

55,421

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
Potential ordinary shares

40,870,488
126,511

38,366,748
115,378

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding fully diluted
Diluted earnings per ordinary share (€)

40,996,999
0.77

38,482,126
1.44

To calculate earnings per ordinary share, the number of ordinary shares
consists solely of the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding. The treasury shares held by the company are not included in
the number of shares outstanding.

43 Diluted earnings per ordinary share from continuing operations
Profit attributable to shareholders of Van Lanschot NV

Diluted earnings per ordinary share are calculated in a manner similar to
earnings per ordinary share, taking into account the number of potential
shares that could lead to dilution. Diluted earnings per share are based
on the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be in

issue upon conversion into ordinary shares of all potential ordinary
shares that will lead to dilution. Options can lead to dilution if this would
entail shares being issued at a price lower than the average price of the
ordinary shares during the period.
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associates acquired and sold in 2011

Robein Leven NV
On 10 December 2010, Van Lanschot announced that it had reached
agreement about the sale of the shares in Robein Leven NV. Finalisation
of this sale was dependent on approval of the Dutch Central Bank,
which was granted in 2011.
The results of Robein Leven NV are included in the segment Other
activities.
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consolidated statement of financial position by accounting policy
at 31 december 2011
€ thousand

For
trading
purposes

At fair
value
through
profit
or loss

Held to
maturity

Availablefor-sale

Financial
assets or
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Derivatives
for hedge
accounting

Total

Totaal
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances
withdrawable with central banks
Financial assets held for trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and
private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates using the equity
method
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Assets of operations held for sale
Other assets

–
80,044
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

1,154,324
–
544,947

–
–
–

1,154,324
80,044
544,947

–
–

515,331
–

–
–

–
844,977

–
–

–
–

515,331
844,977

–
5,301

–
220,831

–
–

–
–

14,270,431
–

–
26,516

14,270,431
252,648

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

43,986
–
–
–
–

–
4,319
39,209
–
226,394

–
–
–
–
–

43,986
4,319
39,209
–
226,394

Total financial assets
Non-financial assets

85,345

736,162

–

888,963

16,239,624

26,516

17,976,610
476,912

Total assets

85,345

736,162

–

888,963

16,239,624

26,516

18,453,522

29,614
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
398,052
13,100,131

–
–
–

29,614
398,052
13,100,131

–
7,105
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

20,165
282,645
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
2,321,837
15,884
9,271
41,532
–
418,863
152,764

–
89,791
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

20,165
379,541
2,321,837
15,884
9,271
41,532
–
418,863
152,764

Total financial liabilities
Non-financial liabilities

36,719

302,810

–

–

16,458,334

89,791

16,887,654
1,565,868

Total equity and liabilities

36,719

302,810

–

–

16,458,334

89,791

18,453,522

Equity and liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector liabilities
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Provisions
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Liabilities of operations held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans
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consolidated statement of financial position by accounting policy
at 31 december 2010
€ thousand

For
trading
purposes

At fair
value
through
profit
or loss

Held to
maturity

Availablefor-sale

Financial
assets or
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Derivatives
for hedge
accounting

Total

Totaal
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents and balances
withdrawable with central banks
Financial assets held for trading
Due from banks
Financial assets designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Loans and advances to the public and
private sectors
Derivatives (receivables)
Investments in associates using the equity
method
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Assets of operations held for sale
Other assets

–
104,748
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

414,251
–
1,040,073

–
–

414,251
104,748
1,040,073

–
–

52,267
–

–
–

–
1,267,134

–
–

–
–

52,267
1,267,134

–
8,105

–
182,475

–
–

–
–

15,710,224
–

–
13,671

15,710,224
204,251

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

42,044
–
–
747,582
–

–
2,604
46,456
–
190,862

–
–
–
–
–

42,044
2,604
46,456
747,582
190,862

Total financial assets
Non-financial assets

112,853

234,742

–

2,056,760

17,404,470

13,671

19,822,496
502,621

Total assets

112,853

234,742

–

2,056,760

17,404,470

13,671

20,325,117

70,135
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
945,511
13,545,650

–
–
–

70,135
945,511
13,545,650

–
9,283
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

19,157
202,575
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
756,634
–
–

–
–
1,945,982
16,795
11,009
36,489
–
477,050
421,809

–
82,143
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

19,157
294,001
1,945,982
16,795
11,009
36,489
756,634
477,050
421,809

Total financial liabilities
Non-financial liabilities

79,418

221,732

–

756,634

17,400,295

82,143

18,540,222
1,784,895

Total equity and liabilities

79,418

221,732

–

756,634

17,400,295

82,143

20,325,117

Equity and liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Due to banks
Public and private sector liabilities
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivatives (liabilities)
Issued debt securities
Provisions
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Liabilities of operations held for sale
Other liabilities
Subordinated loans

–
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remuneration of the board of managing directors and supervisory board

The amounts set out in the column Value of options and depositary
receipts for shares in the table below relate to the options and depositary
receipts for ordinary A shares granted conditionally in the year 2009. The
trend in the earnings per ordinary share (an average growth of 10% per
year over a 3-year period) determines whether they become unconditional.
In 2011, none of the shares became unconditional. Under IFRS,

an accrual should be made for the depositary receipts for shares that
were granted conditionally; this accrual is disclosed under Staff costs.
For the amounts received in 2011 and other details, reference is made
to the section on the Remuneration policy for members of the Board of
Managing Directors, page 62 of the annual report.

Remuneration of the Board of Managing Directors in 2011

Total
Mr Deckers
Mr Huisman
Mr Korthout
Mr Sevinga

Salary

Pension
contributions *

Variable
pay in
cash

Compensation

Total
remuneration
in cash

Value of
options and
depositary
receipts for
shares

Value of
options and
depositary
receipts for
shares

Total

1,925

468

–

–

2,393

–

339

2,732

650
425
425
425

168
100
100
100

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

818
525
525
525

–
–
–
–

229
–
–
110

1,047
525
525
635

Remuneration of the Board of Managing Directors in 2010

Total
Mr Deckers
Mr Huisman (from 1 February 2010)
Mr Korthout (from 1 October 2010)
Mr Sevinga

Salary

Pension
contributions *

Variable
pay in
cash

Compensation**

Total
remuneration
in cash

Value of
options and
depositary
receipts for
shares

Value of
options and
depositary
receipts for
shares

Total

1,571

385

593

641

3,190

593

339

4,122

650
390
106
425

168
92
25
100

258
160
–
175

–
–
641
–

1,076
642
772
700

258
160
–
175

229
–
–
110

1,563
802
772
985

*

The pension premium concerns the premium of a defined contribution scheme.

**

Certain matters were agreed upon with Mr Korthout when he took up employment
with Van Lanschot, which will be honoured. This means that Mr Korthout receives a
contractually agreed-upon compensation of € 300,000 for lost variable pay allocated
to him by his previous employer by virtue of his variable pay for 2010. In addition, in
October 2010, Mr Korthout was paid an amount of € 340,793 as compensation for lost
variable pay allocated to him by his previous employer for prior years and which would
have vested on or after 31 December 2010. Mr Korthout has used half of this amount to
purchase depositary receipts for ordinary A shares in Van Lanschot. This compensation
arrangement was explained to the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on
27 October 2010.
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Options for depositary receipts for shares 2011

Options granted unconditionally

Exercise price
in euros

Balance at 1
January

Expired
options

Options
exercised

Balance at
31 December

Expiration

51.04

23,230

–

–

23,230

in 2012

Mr Deckers

The options granted unconditionally can be exercised twice a year
during the open period after publication of the interim and full-year
figures.

In addition to the options for depositary receipts for shares in
Van Lanschot, the members of the Board of Managing Directors also
own shares and depositary receipts for shares.

Options for depositary receipts for shares
Granted conditionally (maximum)

year

number

value in
thousands
of euros

year

number

value in
thousands
of euros

year of
expiry

exercise
price
in euros

2005
2006
2007

25,068
12,377
16,561

234
234
234

2008
2009
2010

23,230
forfeited
forfeited

217
–
–

2012
n/a
n/a

51.04

Totaal

Mr Deckers

Granted unconditionally

.691.896
Mr SevingaTo

2007

8,611

122

2010

forfeited
–

–
3.092.081

n/a

Depositary receipts for shares
Granted conditionally (maximum)

Granted unconditionally

year

number

value in
thousands
of euros

year

number

value in
thousands
of euros

lock-up
period until

Mr Deckers

2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009

25,000
4,592
3,187
3,563
10,378
18,702

1,000
234
234
234
688
688

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

25,000
4,255
forfeited
forfeited
forfeited

1,000
217
–
–
–

2012
2013
n/a
n/a
n/a

Mr SevingaTotaal pasl passiva

2007
2008
2009

1,853
4,981
8,977

122
330
330

2010
2011
2012

forfeited
forfeited

–
–

n/a
n/a

Totaal

.092.081
–
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Number of depositary receipts for shares held by the members of the Board of Managing Directors in 2011
Balance
at 1 January

Purchases

Sales

Balance at
31 December

Total

241,617

23,318

–

264,935

Mr Deckers
Mr Huisman
Mr Korthout
Mr Sevinga

55,355
–
5,700
180,562

8,091
5,025
4,712
5,490

–
–
–
–

63,446
5,025
10,412
186,052

Number of conditional depositary receipts for shares held by the members of the Board of Managing Directors in 2011
Balance
at 1 January

Commitments

Expired

Granted

Balance at
31 December

Total

27,679

–

–

–

27,679

Mr Deckers
Mr Sevinga

18,702
8,977

–
–

–
–

–
–

18,702
8,977

In 2011, no conditional depositary receipts for shares were awarded to
the members of the Board of Managing Directors (2010: none) and to
senior management (2010: none).
The following loans and advances have been granted to members of the
Board of Managing Directors:

Loans and advances to members of the Board of Managing Directors at 31 December 2011
Interest

Term

–
–
–
–
–
–

3.60%
3.25%
variable
5.23%
6.15%
variable

30
30
5
3
30
30

Mortgage
Mortgage
DRSs Van Lanschot/options
DRSs Van Lanschot/options
Securities-based loan
Securities-based loan

1,700
700

–
–

3.75%
variable

30
30

Mortgage
Mortgage

463
500

–
–

variable
3.50%

30
30

Mortgage
Mortgage

1,320

–

variable

30

Mortgage

Balance at
31 December

Repayment

8,140

–

974
976
400
572
350
185

Mr Huisman

Mr Korthout

Total
Mr Deckers

Mr Sevinga

Comments
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Loans and advances to members of the Board of Managing Directors at 31 December 2010
Interest

Term

–
–
–
–
–
–

3.60%
3.25%
variable
5.23%
6.15%
variable

30
30
5
3
30
30

Mortgage
Mortgage
DRSs Van Lanschot/options
DRSs Van Lanschot/options
Securities-based loan
Securities-based loan

1,700
700

–
–

3.75%
variable

30
30

Mortgage
Mortgage

463
500

–
–

variable
3.50%

30
30

Mortgage
Mortgage

1,320

–

variable

30

Mortgage

Balance at
31 December

Repayment

8,140

–

974
976
400
572
350
185

Mr Huisman

Mr Korthout

Total
Mr Deckers

Mr Sevinga

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board
Total
Mr de Swaan
Mr Streppel
Mr Duron
Ms Kersten (from 11 May 2011)
Mr van Lanschot
Ms Lodder
Mr de Monchy (until 11 May 2011)
Mr Slippens

Comments

2011

2010

439

435

74
71
63
35
60
56
22
58

74
71
63
–
60
56
53
58

Loans and advances to members of the Supervisory Board at 31 December 2011
Balance at
31 December

Repayment

Total

521

72

Mr van Lanschot
Ms Lodder

71
450

72
–

Interest

Term

3.85%
4.20%

7
30

Comments

Loan
Mortgage
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Loans and advances to members of the Supervisory Board at 31 December 2010
Balance at
31 December

Repayment

Total

593

71

Mr van Lanschot
Ms Lodder

143
450

71
–

Loans and advances to members of the Supervisory Board are granted
at arm’s length. The company and its subsidiaries only grant personal
loans, guarantees and such to members of the Supervisory Board within
the scope of normal operations and at the conditions as laid down in the
financial services regulations for directors of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV
and subject to approval of the Supervisory Board. Loans are not remitted.

Interest

Term

3.85%
4.20%

7
30

Comments

Loan
Mortgage
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related parties

The consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated
statement of income include the subsidiaries mentioned below,
excluding those of relatively minor significance.

Subsidiaries (%)
F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV
Van Lanschot Bankiers België NV
F. van Lanschot Bankiers (Schweiz) AG
Kempen & Co NV
Van Lanschot Participaties BV
Van Lanschot Bankiers (Curacao) NV
Van Lanschot Mezzaninefonds BV
Lesalanda BV

Entities in which Van Lanschot has significant influence (%)
Lancelot 2006 BV
Citadel 2010-I BV
Citadel 2010-II BV
Citadel 2011-I BV

Affiliated parties
Stichting Pensioenfonds F. van Lanschot

2011

2010

100
100
100
94
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
95
100
100
100
100

2011

2010

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
–

2011

2010

Income

Expenses

Income

Expenses

–

119

13

649

Parties with significant influence in Van Lanschot
On 13 May 2011, Stichting Administratiekantoor van gewone aandelen A
Van Lanschot reported a 75.44% interest in Van Lanschot. This interest
solely comprised ordinary A shares on the date of notification.
On 6 May 2011, Delta Lloyd reported a 30.35% interest in Van Lanschot.
This interest comprised depositary receipts for ordinary A shares on the
date of notification.
On 31 December 2011, Stichting Friesland Bank reported a 23.17% interest
in Van Lanschot. This interest comprised both ordinary B shares and
depositary receipts for ordinary A shares on the date of notification.
On 3 February 2010, APG Algemene Pensioen Groep NV reported a 12.06%
interest in Van Lanschot. On this same day, Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP
reported an indirect interest of 12.06% (through APG Algemene Pensioen
Groep) in Van Lanschot. These interests comprised ordinary B shares,
preference A shares and depositary receipts for ordinary A shares on the
date of notification.
On 31 December 2008, LDDM Holding reported an 11.25% interest in
Van Lanschot. This interest comprised both ordinary B shares and depositary
receipts for ordinary A shares on the date of notification.
On 1 November 2006, SNS Reaal reported a 7.43% interest in Van Lanschot,
which interest solely comprised depositary receipts for ordinary A shares
on the date of notification.

Kempen MIP
Before the Kempen MIP was implemented in 2010, all Kempen shares were
held by F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV. These shares were converted into
ordinary A shares following the implementation of the Kempen MIP. At
the same time, within the scope of this implementation, Kempen issued
1,658,671 new ordinary B shares to Coöperatie MIP in exchange for the
payment of a total purchase price of € 15.0 million. These B shares were
issued in addition to the A shares, all of which are held by F. van Lanschot
Bankiers NV.
Coöperatie MIP has two members – Stichting MIP and F. van Lanschot
Bankiers NV – which hold the membership rights issued by Coöperatie
MIP. Van Lanschot’s membership originates from legal requirements, and
its initial financial contribution to Coöperatie MIP amounted to € 100.
Stichting MIP issued depositary receipts for its membership right in
Coöperatie MIP to selected Kempen employees who accepted this offer,
and these depositary receipts were distributed proportionally based on
the total number of depositary receipts acquired. The total purchase
price was € 15.0 million.
This sum was payable to Coöperatie MIP for the purchase of ordinary B
shares issued by Kempen. As long as Kempen staff do not subscribe for
all the depositary receipts available for issue, the contribution payable
by Van Lanschot to Coöperatie MIP comprises the surplus membership
rights that have not yet been acquired by MIP Stichting plus the financial
contribution payable by Van Lanschot in accordance with legal
requirements.
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The surplus membership rights will be offered to the (potential)
participants in the next bidding rounds, by effectively reducing
Van Lanschot’s membership interest in exchange for payment by
Stichting MIP of the pro rata financial contribution originally paid
by Van Lanschot. Stichting MIP and Van Lanschot are members of
Coöperatie MIP, which holds all ordinary B shares issued by Kempen.

Both Stichting MIP and Coöperatie MIP were set up specifically for the
Kempen MIP.
Joint ventures in which Van Lanschot is a venturer
Van Lanschot does not have any joint ventures.

Number of depositary receipts issued
Value of membership rights, pre-financed by Van Lanschot (€ thousand)
Contribution of Van Lanschot, based on legal requirements (€)

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

12,395
2,605
100

10,788
4,212
100

Related parties in 2011
Income

Expenses

Amounts receivable

Amounts payable

Parties with a shareholding in Van Lanschot of
at least 5%
Stichting Administratiekantoor van gewone
aandelen A Van Lanschot
Delta Lloyd
Friesland Bank
Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP
LDDM Holding
SNS Reaal

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
119
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

11
–
–
1,932
–
–

Associates
Ducatus
Kempen MIP

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

1,233
–
–
612
–
47
172
–
–
–
–
–
–

1
16
–
1,500
–
5
2
–
–
–
–
–
26

9,499
–
–
16,580
–
–
2,171
–
–
–
–
–
–

491
437
–
123
–
1,585
–
–
–
–
–
–
1,132

Shareholdings in which Van Lanschot is
a participant
Credit Yard
DBS Business Solutions
DORC
Exploitatiemaatschappij Riemersma
Gerco
Heijmans
Main Actuera
Main Entertainment
Marfo Food Group Holding
Newion
Ploeger Oxbo Group
Tecnotion
Van Lanschot Chabot

The loans to related parties were granted at market conditions, and
collateral was provided for the loans. Van Lanschot issued guarantees for
related parties for an amount of € 0.6 million. Impairments recognised in
the value of receivables from related parties were € 5.0 million.
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Related parties in 2010
Amounts payable

Income

Expenses

Amounts receivable

Parties with a shareholding in Van Lanschot of
at least 5%
Stichting Administratiekantoor van
gewone aandelen A Van Lanschot
Delta Lloyd
Friesland Bank
Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP
LDDM Holding
SNS Reaal

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
975
7
297
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
13

33
10,000
–
3,864
35
–

Associates
Ducatus
Kempen MIP

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

467
108
–
760
–
440
–
87
–
–
–
–

12
23
–
2
–
5
1
7
–
–
–
60

13,895
–
–
17,881
–
–
–
1,724
–
–
–
5,727

11
–
–
349
–
1,881
–
374
–
–
–
6,082

Shareholdings in which Van Lanschot is
a participant
Credit Yard
DBS Business Solutions
DORC
Exploitatiemaatschappij Riemersma
Gerco
Heijmans
Instituut voor Ziekenhuis Financiering
Main Actuera
Main Entertainment
Newion
Tecnotion
Van Lanschot Chabot
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non-current liabilities

Lease and rental agreements
Van Lanschot has included the following operating lease payments in
the statement of income under Other administrative expenses.

Lease and rental agreements

2011

2010

Total

20,796

19,827

Minimum lease payments
Contingent rent

13,553
7,243

12,434
7,393

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

Total

60,755

64,632

< 1 year
≥ 1 year < 5 years
≥ 5 years

16,578
40,556
3,621

15,500
44,131
5,001

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

44.6

50.3

Expected lease payments
Car lease costs
Computer lease costs
Lease costs for copying equipment

8.5
6.8
0.8

7.5
6.3
0.5

Other future liabilities

0.1

–

Van Lanschot expects to include the following minimum payments concerning
contractually agreed-upon lease and rental agreements in the years to come.

Expected payments for lease and rental agreements

Future liabilities (€ million)
Contingent rent
Rent for buildings (including service costs as well as rent for parking spaces)
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Other non-current liabilities
Outsourcing of facility services

An outsourcing contract was concluded for facility services. Under this
contract, Van Lanschot transferred about 27 types of facility services
inclusive of their management. The most important services concern
filing, security, maintenance of buildings and installations, catering,
mail services (internal and external mail dispatch) and office supplies.
Van Lanschot committed itself for the period up to 2013 inclusive for an
amount of € 21.1 million. The outsourcing contract can be terminated
by Van Lanschot with observance of a 3-month notice period. The exit
fee depends on the remaining term to maturity of the contract.
Outsourcing of IT activities

In 2010, after renegotiations, Van Lanschot concluded a new IT
outsourcing contract for the management and maintenance of the
IT infrastructures. Under this contract, Van Lanschot committed itself
for the period up to 2016 inclusive for an amount of € 93.8 million.
On 1 November 2010, Van Lanschot outsourced the management and
maintenance of the telecom/network activities to another sourcing
partner. Under this contract, Van Lanschot committed itself for the
period up to 2016 inclusive for an amount of € 31.6 million.
For the management, maintenance and development of all software
applications in use within the bank, Van Lanschot committed itself, after
renegotiations in 2010, for the period up to 2016 inclusive for an amount
of € 68.3 million.
In view of the long contract terms, the sourcing partners have structured
their organisation based on the commitment concluded. Early termination
of the contracts could in principle lead to additional costs. The shorter the
term to maturity of the contracts, the lower the additional costs will be.
Kempen MIP call option

Coöperatie MIP has granted Van Lanschot a call option to acquire all
the outstanding B shares. This call option may be exercised at any time
during a three-month period starting on 1 January of every fifth year
following the implementation of the MIP, for the first time on 1 January
2016. Van Lanschot may only exercise the option in the event of unforeseen
circumstances that are beyond the control of the participants and
Kempen or Van Lanschot. Therefore, the execution of the call option
is designated as a deferred settlement alternative. At year-end 2011,
the fair value of this option was nil (2010: nil).
Other contingent liabilities
Pension obligations

In 2011, an extension of the 2009 recovery plan was agreed upon in
view of the result of the deficient funding ratio of the pension fund. The
extended recovery plan provides for two conditional recovery payments
a maximum of € 8.9 million each at year end 2012 and 2013. These payments
depend on the actual coverage ratios at year-end 2012 and 2013.
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segment information

The segmentation basis is determined based on operating segments
since Van Lanschot’s risks and rates of return are affected predominantly
by differences in the products and services produced. Van Lanschot’s
activities are divided into four operating segments. In addition,
information is reported geographically based on where the business
segment is located. Intra-segment transactions are conducted based
on commercial conditions and market circumstances (at arm’s length).
Private & Business Banking
Van Lanschot offers high-income or high net-worth private individuals
a broad range of products in the private banking market. Van Lanschot
mainly focuses on medium-sized businesses in the corporate market,
with a special interest in family businesses. A spin-off to private banking
activities is crucial in this respect.
Asset Management
The asset management services focus on high net-worth private
individuals, institutions and the in-house funds.
Corporate Finance & Securities
The activities in the field of Corporate Finance & Securities focus on
a specific target group. This often concerns separate assignments for
which one-off fees and commission are received.
Other Activities
This comprises the other activities in the field of interest rate, market
and liquidity risk management and proceeds income and/or expenses
that cannot be allocated to other segments.
With effect from the first half of 2011, income and expenses from the
segment Other Activities were re-allocated to the segments Private &
Business Banking, Asset Management and Corporate Finance & Securities.
This mainly concerns the costs of head-office departments and intangible
asset amortisation. Furthermore, the associate Van Lanschot Participaties
was transferred from the segment Private & Business Banking to the
segment Other Activities. The comparative figures have been restated
accordingly.
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Operating segments 2011
€ million

Private &
Business Banking

Asset
Management

Corporate Finance
& Securities

Other
Activities

Total

Statement of income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Income from securities and associates
Commission income
Commission expense
Net commission income
Profit on financial transactions
Other income

979.8
610.7
369.1
1.2
138.7
5.1
133.6
10.4
–

–
–
–
–
49.3
– 0.4
49.7
– 0.1
–

3.3
–
3.3
– 0.6
48.9
1.6
47.3
– 3.5
–

116.3
193.5
– 77.2
10.3
0.1
0.2
– 0.1
– 7.0
16.0

1,099.4
804.2
295.2
10.9
237.0
6.5
230.5
– 0.2
16.0

Total income from operating activities

514.3

49.6

46.5

– 58.0

552.4

Of which income from other segments

18.3

– 11.5

5.8

– 12.6

–

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments

161.2
138.9
25.8
67.6

25.5
9.5
4.6
–

26.0
10.0
5.9
1.2

12.1
6.3
0.7
10.6

224.8
164.7
37.0
79.4

Total expenses

393.5

39.6

43.1

29.7

505.9

Operating profit before tax
Income tax

120.8
27.8

10.0
3.4

3.4
0.9

– 87.7
– 25.9

46.5
6.2

93.0

6.6

2.5

– 61.8

40.3

–

–

–

2.8

2.8

93.0

6.6

2.5

– 59.0

43.1

14,763.9
–
14,151.7
12.2

90.3
–
117.5
0.1

410.8
–
125.6
0.5

3,188.5
44.0
2,492.9
9.2

18,453.5
44.0
16,887.7
22.0

Net profit from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net profit

Statement of financial position
Total assets
Of which investments using the equity method
Total liabilities
Investments
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Operating segments 2010
€ million

Private &
Business Banking

Assetmanagement

Corporate Finance
& Securities

Other
Activities

Total

Statement of income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Income from securities and associates
Commission income
Commission expense
Net commission income
Profit on financial transactions
Other income

843.1
452.4
390.7
– 0.8
135.7
4.2
131.5
9.9
–

0.3
–
0.3
– 0.3
49.9
0.1
49.8
0.2
–

2.9
–
2.9
– 0.3
51.3
1.6
49.7
7.4
–

66.2
124.2
– 58.0
14.4
1.3
0.1
1.2
12.7
19.6

912.5
576.6
335.9
13.0
238.2
6.0
232.2
30.2
19.6

Total income from operating activities

531.3

50.0

59.7

– 10.1

630.9

Of which income from other segments

– 2.9

– 3.6

8.4

– 1.9

–

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments

168.8
135.2
25.6
85.4

25.4
9.8
4.4
–

29.4
12.2
5.8
1.9

12.5
9.9
0.9
15.2

236.1
167.1
36.7
102.5

Total expenses

415.0

39.6

49.3

38.5

542.4

Operating profit before tax
Income tax

116.3
29.5

10.4
3.4

10.4
0.6

– 48.6
– 10.6

88.5
22.9

86.8

7.0

9.8

– 38.0

65.6

–

–

–

1.1

1.1

86.8

7.0

9.8

– 36.9

66.7

17,338.0
–
14,643.1
16.2

84.6
–
279.8
– 0.1

369.3
–
142.9
– 0.1

2,533.2
42.0
3,474.4
22.4

20,325.1
42.0
18,540.2
38.4

Net profit from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net profit

Statement of financial position
Total assets
Of which investments using the equity method
Total liabilities
Investments
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Geographical segments 2011
€ million

The Netherlands

Belgium

1,022.7
756.5
266.2
10.9
205.7
4.4
201.3
– 1.5
16.0

64.3
43.0
21.3
–
18.0
1.8
16.2
0.2
–

12.4
4.7
7.7
–
13.3
0.3
13.0
1.1
–

1,099.4
804.2
295.2
10.9
237.0
6.5
230.5
– 0.2
16.0

Total income from operating activities

492.9

37.7

21.8

552.4

Of which income from other segments

– 11.0

11.0

–

–

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments

197.4
151.2
33.4
77.2

16.3
8.7
2.3
2.2

11.1
4.8
1.3
–

224.8
164.7
37.0
79.4

Total expenses

459.2

29.5

17.2

505.9

Operating profit before tax
Income tax

33.7
3.5

8.2
2.8

4.6
– 0.1

46.5
6.2

Net profit from continuing operations

30.2

5.4

4.7

40.3

2.8

–

–

2.8

33.0

5.4

4.7

43.1

15,491.8
44.0
14,125.7
20.8

2,278.9
–
2,210.5
0.7

682.8
–
551.5
0.5

18,453.5
44.0
16,887.7
22.0

Statement of income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Income from securities and associates
Commission income
Commission expense
Net commission income
Profit on financial transactions
Other income

Discontinued operations
Net profit

Statement of financial position
Total assets
Of which investments using the equity method
Total liabilities
Investments

Other

Total
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Geographical segments 2010
€ million

The Netherlands

Belgium

Statement of income
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Income from securities and associates
Commission income
Commission expense
Net commission income
Profit on financial transactions
Other income

852.3
544.4
307.9
13.0
208.4
4.4
204.0
28.7
19.6

48.8
28.2
20.6
–
16.6
1.2
15.4
0.3
–

11.4
4.0
7.4
–
13.2
0.4
12.8
1.2
–

912.5
576.6
335.9
13.0
238.2
6.0
232.2
30.2
19.6

Total income from operating activities

573.2

36.3

21.4

630.9

Of which income from other segments

– 12.2

12.2

–

–

Staff costs
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments

208.1
152.9
33.3
99.6

16.4
8.4
2.0
2.9

11.6
5.8
1.4
–

236.1
167.1
36.7
102.5

Total expenses

493.9

29.7

18.8

542.4

Operating profit before tax
Income tax

79.3
21.0

6.6
1.8

2.6
0.1

88.5
22.9

Net profit from continuing operations

58.3

4.8

2.5

65.6

1.1

–

–

1.1

59.4

4.8

2.5

66.7

17,659.4
42.0
16,062.0
35.6

2,081.7
–
2,019.1
2.4

584.0
–
459.1
0.4

20,325.1
42.0
18,540.2
38.4

Discontinued operations
Net profit

Statement of financial position
Total assets
Of which investments using the equity method
Total liabilities
Investments

Other

Total
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subsequent events

30 January 2012: Van Lanschot announces restructuring
programme
In response to the continued uncertain economic conditions and
the changing earnings model in the financial sector, Van Lanschot
is implementing a programme that will deliver a structural cost reduction
of € 60 million per year from 2015 onwards (basis 2012). The measures
will also result in a 10-15% workforce reduction in the same period. Part
of these jobs will be eliminated through attrition, but forced lay-offs
cannot be ruled out.
Van Lanschot expects that the restructuring expenses for the
programme will amount to € 25 million; these expenses will be
recognised in the next few years.
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company statement of financial position at 31 december 2011
€ thousand

Assets

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

113,260
1,393,961
92

143,552
1,318,118
79

Total assets

1,507,313

1,461,749

Liabilities

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

68
1,507,245

73
1,461,676

1,507,313

1,461,749

2011

2010

34,272
227

65,350
– 8,812

34,499

56,538

Due from banks
Investments in associates

(a)

Other assets

(c)

(b)

Current liabilities

(d)

Equity

(e)

Total equity and liabilities

company statement of income for 2011
€ thousand

Statement of income
Income from associates
Other results

(f)
(g)

Net profit

The letter beside each item refers to the relevant note to the company
financial statements.

accounting policies for the company financial statements
The company financial statements of Van Lanschot NV are prepared
in accordance with the statutory provisions of Section 402, Part 9,
Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code. In this process, the company
availed itself of the facility offered by Section 362(8), Book 2, of the
Netherlands Civil Code to use the same accounting policies (including
those for the presentation of financial instruments as equity or debt)
as used in the consolidated financial statements.
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notes to the company financial statements
€ thousand

a Due from banks
This item includes the receivables from associates available on demand.

b Investments in associates
The consolidated associate, F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV, is carried at
net asset value. The share of profit of this associates recognised in the
statement of income under Income from associates.

Balance at 1 January
Revaluations
Income from associates
Balance at 31 December

Further information on the revaluations can be found in the note on
the revaluation reserve in the consolidated financial statements.

c Other assets
This item consists of items that cannot be included under any other
heading. This relates primarily to share plans, interest and income tax to
be settled with associates.

d Current liabilities
This item includes the payroll tax payable.

2011

2010

1,318,118
41,571
34,272

1,257,521
– 4,753
65,350

1,393,961

1,318,118
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e Equity
Total
Issued share capital
Treasury shares
Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Statutory reserves
Currency translation reserve
Special component of equity
Other reserves
Undistributed profit

For the movements in equity, reference is made to note 26 of the
consolidated financial statements.

f Income from associates
This item includes the net profit attributable to shareholders.

g Other results
This item chiefly comprises the interest income on the current account
balance. In 2010, this included the expense for the preference shares and
the costs of the conversion of the preference shares into ordinary shares
(€ 9.1 million).

Remuneration of the members of the Board of Managing
Directors and Supervisory Board
For the remuneration of the members of the Board of Managing Directors
and the Supervisory Board, reference is made to the consolidated financial
statements.
’s-Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands, 8 March 2012

Supervisory Board
– Tom de Swaan, Chairman
– Jos Streppel, Deputy Chairman
– Willy Duron
– Heleen Kersten
– Godfried van Lanschot
– Truze Lodder
– Abel Slippens
Board of Managing Directors
– Floris Deckers, Chairman
– Arjan Huisman
– Constant Korthout
– Ieko Sevinga

31/12/2011

31/12/2010

1,507,245

1,461,676

41,017
– 5,837
479,914
24,373
14,056
– 1,055
– 2,933
923,211
34,499

41,017
– 11,018
479,914
37,991
3,704
– 1,423
– 14,427
869,380
56,538
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independent auditor’s report
To: the shareholders, the Supervisory Board and the Board of Managing Directors of Van Lanschot NV
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2011 of
Van Lanschot NV, ‘s-Hertogenbosch. The financial statements include
the consolidated financial statements and the company financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011,
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising
a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information. The company financial statements comprise the company
balance sheet as at 31 December 2011, the company profit and loss
account for the year then ended and the notes, comprising a summary
of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of these financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part
9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and for the preparation of the
management board report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore management is responsible for such
internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch
law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. This requires that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion with respect to the consolidated financial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of Van Lanschot NV as at 31 December 2011,
and of its result and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the
European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Opinion with respect to the company financial statements
In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of Van Lanschot NV as at 31 December 2011 and
of its result for the year then ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2:393 sub 5 at e and f of
the Dutch Civil Code, we have no deficiencies to report as a result of our
examination whether the management board report , to the extent we
can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of this
Code, and whether the information as required under Section 2:392
sub 1 at b-h has been annexed. Further we report that the management
board report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the financial
statements as required by Section 2:391 sub 4 of the Dutch Civil Code.
Amsterdam, 7 March 2012

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP

signed by M.A. van Loo
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profit appropriation

Provisions of the articles of association governing
profit appropriation
Profit is appropriated in accordance with Article 32 of the Articles of
Association. This article states that the dividend on preference C shares*
must first be paid from the distributable profit (Article 32(1)). The Board
of Managing Directors, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, shall
then determine which portion of the profit remaining after the dividend
distribution on preference C shares is to be taken to the reserves (Article
32(3)).
The portion of the profit remaining after the distribution on preference
C shares and said transfer to the reserves is at the disposal of the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders, on the understanding that no further
distributions shall be made on the preference C shares.
If a loss was suffered in a financial year which could not be covered by
a reserve or in any other way, no profit distributions will be made until
such loss has been made good (Article 32(5)).
The Board of Managing Directors may decide that a dividend distribution
on ordinary A shares and ordinary B shares shall be made in full or in part in
the form of shares or depositary receipts rather than in cash. This decision
is subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board (Article 32 (8)).
If the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders approves of the dividend
proposal as included in these financial statements, the profit
appropriation will be as follows:

Profit appropriation (€ thousand)

2011

2010

Total

34,499

56,538

Addition to reserves (withdrawal)
Dividend on ordinary A and B shares

18,175
16,324

27,964
28,574

The dividend on the preference shares is classified as interest under IFRS.
In 2010, an amount of € 4.7 million was recognised as an interest charge
(see note 29) and the preference shares were converted into ordinary shares.

*

No preference C shares are outstanding.
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stichting administratiekantoor van gewone aandelen a van lanschot

In accordance with the provisions of Article 12 of the trust conditions
of Stichting Administratiekantoor van gewone aandelen A Van Lanschot
(the trust ofﬁce) as drawn up on 16 May 2006, we hereby report on
our activities in 2011.
The Board met on four occasions in the reporting year. In its meeting of
January, the Board discussed the general developments at Van Lanschot
as well as the composition of the trust office’s Board. In 2011, two
vacancies occurred on the Board due to the retirement by rotation of
Mr O.L.O. de Witt Wijnen and Mr A.L.M. Nelissen. Mr Nelissen was
eligible for re-election. In view of the maximum term of office (12 years)
for members of the Board of the trust office, Mr de Witt Wijnen was
not eligible for re-election. This is in accordance with the Corporate
Governance Code, best practice provision IV 2.3. Mr de Witt Wijnen
had been a member of the Board of the trust office since 1999 and was
subsequently not eligible for re-election. The Board explained its intention
to reappoint Mr Nelissen and to appoint Mr J. Meijer Timmerman
Thijssen as the successor of Mr de Witt Wijnen in the meeting of holders
of depositary receipts on 1 March 2011. The Board also gave the
meeting of holders of depositary receipts the opportunity to make a
recommendation to fill the vacancies on the Board. The holders of
depositary receipts for shares did not make a recommendation.
Consultation of the holders of depositary receipts showed that the
holders supported the Board’s intention to appoint Mr Nelissen and
Mr Meijer Timmerman Thijssen as members of the Board for a threeyear period. The minutes of this meeting of the holders of depositary
receipts for shares are available for inspection on the corporate website.

practice at several listed companies with depositary receipts for shares.
The next meeting of holders of depositary receipts will be held in
mid-November 2012.
The current members of the Board of the Trust Office are:
H.G. van Everdingen, Chairman
F.C.W. Briët
J.M. Meijer Timmerman Thijssen
A.L.M. Nelissen
The Chairman of the Board received remuneration of € 10,000 excluding
VAT from the trust office in 2011; the other Board members received
remuneration of € 7,500 excluding VAT. The other expenses incurred
by the trust office amounted to € 6,226 in 2011 and concern in particular
accounting costs.
On 31 December 2011, the trust ofﬁce held 34,159,225 ordinary A
shares with a nominal value of € 1 each for which depositary receipts
representing the same nominal value have been issued.
The administrative activities in connection with the meetings of holders
of depositary receipts and the meetings of the General Meeting of
Shareholders are conducted by ANT Trust & Corporate Services NV
in Amsterdam.
The trust ofﬁce is a legal entity which is independent from Van Lanschot,
as referred to in Article 5:71 (1) (d) of the Financial Supervision Act.

In its meeting of April, the Board reappointed Mr Nelissen and appointed
Mr Meijer Timmerman Thijssen for a period of three years. In this meeting,
the Board also discussed the 2010 annual figures of Van Lanschot. In
addition, it discussed how to exercise the voting rights attaching to the
shares in the Company held by the trust office at the General Meeting of
Shareholders. The Board subsequently attended the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders of Van Lanschot on 11 May 2011. Representatives of 64%
of the outstanding depositary receipts registered for attendance at the
General Meeting of Shareholders. When signing the attendance list,
the holders of depositary receipts received a proxy from the trust office
in order to exercise their voting right. The trust office itself exercised
voting rights attaching to depositary receipts for shares of holders who
did not attend the General Meeting of Shareholders. After careful
consideration, the Board decided to vote in favour of the items on the
agenda put to the vote.

The Board

In the meeting of September, among other subjects the 2011 half-year
figures of Van Lanschot were discussed. In addition, the timing of the
meeting of holders of depositary receipts was discussed. The Board
believes that the meeting of the holders of depositary receipts should
not be held shortly before the General Meeting of Shareholders.
The meeting of the holders of depositary receipts is not intended as
a pre-meeting of the General Meeting of Shareholders. The General
Meeting of Shareholders should foster a discussion between the Board
of Managing Directors and the Supervisory Board on the one hand and
the holders of depositary receipts and shareholders on the other. It is
undesirable to have a meeting shortly before this meeting, where Board
members of the trust office sit at the board table and have no information
available to discuss the course of affairs at the Company. The meeting of
the holders of depositary receipts should be seen separately from the
General Meeting of Shareholders. The Board therefore decided to
schedule the meeting of the holders of depositary receipts in the autumn
(mid November) instead of March from now on. This is already common

Stichting Administratiekantoor van gewone aandelen A Van Lanschot

’s-Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands, 24 January 2012

Information on the Board members
Mr van Everdingen is a former partner of Nauta Dutilh NV
Mr Briët is former Chairman of the Board of De Goudse NV
Mr Meijer Timmerman Thijssen is a consultant of Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer
Mr Nelissen is a former member of the Board of Management
of Dura Vermeer Groep NV.
The Board of the trust office can be contacted through the Company’s
office:

c/o Van Lanschot NV
Attn. Secretariat to Board of Managing Directors
P.O. Box 1021
5200 HC ’s-Hertogenbosch
The Netherlands
Telephone +31 73 548 32 75
Fax +31 73 548 35 20
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stichting preferente aandelen c van lanschot

The Stichting Preferente aandelen C Van Lanschot (the Stichting), which
has its seat in ’s-Hertogenbosch, was founded on 28 December 1999.
A call-option agreement was signed by the Stichting and Van Lanschot,
granting the Stichting the right to acquire preference C shares worth up
to 100% of the value of Van Lanschot’s share capital in issue before the
exercise of the call option. Upon Van Lanschot’s issue of the preference C
shares, the Stichting must pay up at least 25% of the nominal value of
said shares upon their acquisition. The Stichting has a credit facility with
RBS in order to meet its payment commitment on the shares. Van Lanschot
believes that the period during which preference C shares are
outstanding should not take longer than necessary. In connection with
this, the period within which Van Lanschot tables a motion at the
General Meeting of Shareholders proposing the redemption of the
preference C shares is at most one year.
The Board appoints its own board members.
The current members of the Board of the Stichting are:
Mr. A.A.M. Deterink, Chairman
F.H.J. Boons
H.P.M. Kivits
P.J.J.M. Swinkels
The Board of the Stichting met on one occasion, in June 2011. During
the meeting, in addition to the general course of affairs at Van Lanschot,
the Board discussed the annual ﬁgures for 2010, the bank’s long-term
strategy and the priorities of Van Lanschot in 2011 and 2012.
Furthermore, the composition of the Board was discussed, due to the
announced resignation of Mr Pennings. Mr Pennings was appointed
member of the Board upon the incorporation of the Stichting in 1999.
The Board appointed Mr Kivits in June as his successor on the Board of
the Stichting.
The Chairman of the Board received remuneration of € 10,000 excluding
VAT from the Stichting in 2011; the other Board members received
remuneration of € 7,500 excluding VAT. The other costs incurred by
the Stichting, mainly charges incurred in relation to its stand-by credit
facility, amounted to € 35,389 in 2011.
The Stichting is a legal entity which is independent from Van Lanschot,
as referred to in Article 5:71 (1) (d) of the Financial Supervision Act.
The Board
’s-Hertogenbosch, the Netherlands, 28 February 2012

Information on the Board members
Mr Deterink is an attorney and a partner at Deterink NV attorneys and
civil-law notaries
Mr Boons is a former President of the Board of Directors of Vado Beheer BV
Mr Kivits is CEO of Stage Entertainment
Mr Swinkels is a former Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bavaria NV
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overview of general managers and members of the employees’ council

General Managers of F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV
Hubèr Agterberg
Erik Bongaerts
Mark Buitenhuis
Marc Elsinghorst
Bart Horsten
Hans Jacobs
Ernst Jansen
Gertjan Langelaan
Eelco Luxwolda
Frans Mannaerts
Nieke Martens
Wim Meiss
Rob van Oostveen
Rob Schot
Chris van Straeten
Gerrit Verlodt

Members of the Employees’ Council of F. van Lanschot
Bankiers NV
Rob Labadie, Chairman
Elien Meijer, Deputy Chairperson
Eugène van Bouwdijk Bastiaanse, Secretary
Johan Bok
Jos Hardy
Bianca Koman
Walther Kuppens
Frank Plasmans
Suzanne Wevers
Manfred de Witte

Board of Kempen & Co NV
John Hak, Chairman
Michel van de Coevering
Paul Gerla
Joof Verhees

Member of the Employees’ Council of Kempen & Co NV
Wilse Graveland, Chairman
Vincent Willink, Deputy Chairman
Carla Honnebier, Secretary
Tom Becker
Daniëlle Bernhard-Koeberg
Joost de Graaf
Angelique Hoevenberg
Bart Serto
Nic Tesser

Executive Committee of Van Lanschot Bankiers België NV
Gerrit Verlodt, Chairman
Jurgen Coenegrachts
Paul Timmermans

Members of the Employees’ Council of Van Lanschot Belgium
Gerrit Verlodt
Paul Timmermans

Nicolette van Os, Official Secretary

Christian Elleboudt
Paul Hofmans
Anne Michiels
André Vanhulle
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principal subsidiaries
F. van Lanschot Bankiers NV
’s-Hertogenbosch
The Netherlands
Telephone +31 73 548 35 48
www.vanlanschot.nl
Kempen & Co NV
Amsterdam
The Netherlands
Telephone +31 20 348 80 00
www.kempen.nl
Van Lanschot Bankiers België NV
Antwerp
Belgium
Telephone +32 3 286 78 00
www.vanlanschot.be
Van Lanschot Bankiers (Curacao) NV
Willemstad
Curacao, Netherlands Antilles
Telephone +599 9 737 10 11
Van Lanschot Bankiers (Luxembourg) SA
Mamer
Luxembourg
Telephone +352 3 19 91 11
www.vanlanschot.lu
F. van Lanschot Bankiers (Schweiz) AG
Zurich
Switzerland
Telephone +41 43 377 11 11
Geneva
Switzerland
Telephone +41 22 731 61 11
F. van Lanschot Trust Company BV
Utrecht
The Netherlands
Telephone +31 30 659 92 00
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branch offices in the netherlands and belgium

The Netherlands

Belgium

Alkmaar
Telephone +31 72 527 42 42
www.vanlanschot.nl/alkmaar

’s-Hertogenbosch
Telephone +31 73 548 35 48
www.vanlanschot.nl/denbosch

Almere
Telephone +31 36 548 27 00
www.vanlanschot.nl/almere

Hilversum
Telephone +31 35 625 66 66
www.vanlanschot.nl/hilversum

Amersfoort
Telephone +31 33 422 53 00
www.vanlanschot.nl/amersfoort

Leiden
Telephone +31 71 524 41 44
www.vanlanschot.nl/leiden

Amsterdam
Telephone +31 20 570 50 00
www.vanlanschot.nl/amsterdam

Maastricht
Telephone +31 43 350 76 00
www.vanlanschot.nl/maastricht

Apeldoorn
Telephone +31 55 582 55 82
www.vanlanschot.nl/apeldoorn

Nijmegen
Telephone +31 24 329 73 29
www.vanlanschot.nl/nijmegen

Arnhem
Telephone +31 26 384 64 44
www.vanlanschot.nl/arnhem

Roosendaal
Telephone +31 165 53 12 00
www.vanlanschot.nl/roosendaal

Breda
Telephone +31 76 526 61 23
www.vanlanschot.nl/breda
Dordrecht
Telephone +31 78 632 14 14
www.vanlanschot.nl/dordrecht
Eindhoven
Telephone +31 40 265 71 00
www.vanlanschot.nl/eindhoven

Rotterdam
Telephone +31 10 440 20 20
www.vanlanschot.nl/rotterdam
The Hague
Telephone +31 70 361 16 11
www.vanlanschot.nl/denhaag
Tilburg
Telephone +31 13 595 60 60
www.vanlanschot.nl/tilburg

Enschede
Telephone +31 53 480 11 11
www.vanlanschot.nl/enschede

Utrecht
Telephone +31 30 659 99 99
www.vanlanschot.nl/utrecht

Goes
Telephone +31 113 22 43 43
www.vanlanschot.nl/goes

Wassenaar
Telephone +31 70 512 40 40
www.vanlanschot.nl/wassenaar

Gouda
Telephone +31 182 58 75 87
www.vanlanschot.nl/gouda

Zeist
Telephone +31 30 693 44 44
www.vanlanschot.nl/zeist

Groningen
Telephone +31 50 369 24 00
www.vanlanschot.nl/groningen

Zoetermeer
Telephone +31 79 371 65 65
www.vanlanschot.nl/zoetermeer

Haarlem
Telephone +31 23 515 58 55
www.vanlanschot.nl/haarlem

Zwolle
Telephone +31 38 425 49 49
www.vanlanschot.nl/zwolle

Head ofﬁce
Antwerp
Telephone +32 3 286 78 00
www.vanlanschot.be
Brussels
Telephone +32 2 531 14 00
Ghent
Telephone +32 9 244 73 20
Hasselt
Telephone +32 11 85 89 30
Kortrijk
Telephone +32 56 24 50 50
Lanaken
Telephone +32 89 71 03 00
Turnhout (Vosselaar)
Telephone +32 14 44 36 50
Wealth structuring
Antwerp
Telephone +32 3 244 12 09
Institutional Clients
Antwerp
Telephone +32 3 286 78 65
Van Lanschot Insurance
Antwerp
Telephone +32 3 286 69 02
Fiduciairy management
Kortrijk
Telephone +32 56 24 50 96
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ten-year record

2011*

2010 *

2009 *

2008

Results (€ thousand)
Income from operating activities

539,243

613,257

568,468

493,596

Operating expenses

412,294

422,286

428,803

422,118

Impairments

78,348

102,458

176,043

50,290

Operating profit before tax

48,601

88,514

– 36,378

21,188

Net profit (group profit)

41,879

65,734

– 14,841

30,091

Equity attributable to shareholders

1,505,997

1,461,780

1,239,297

1,226,347

Public and private sector liabilities

13,100,131

13,545,650

13,380,188

15,318,420

Loans and advances to the public and private sectors

14,277,967

15,710,224

16,941,112

17,072,490

Total assets

18,430,268

19,590,138

20,568,376

20,691,896

Number of ordinary shares at year-end
(exclusive of treasury shares)

40,809,337

40,819,359

34,888,086

34,838,673

Average number of ordinary shares

40,870,488

38,366,748

34,869,875

34,772,039

Earnings per ordinary share based on average
number of ordinary shares (€)

0.81

1.45

– 0.72

0.55

Dividend per ordinary share (€)

0.40

0.70

–

0.28

Efficiency ratio (%)

76.5

68.9

75.4

85.5

2.9

5.5

– 2.7

1.5

BIS total capital ratio (%)

11.9

14.2

11.9

12.5

Tier I ratio (%)

10.9

12.1

9.8

10.0

Core Tier I ratio (%)

10.9

9.6

6.6

6.7

Statement of financial position (€ thousand)

Key figures

Return on average Core Tier I capital (%) 3

*

In order to allow an adequate comparison of Van Lanschot's core activities, the figures in this ten-year record are adjusted for non-strategic investments.

**

With effect from 2003, equity is based on the statement of financial position before profit appropriation. Comparative figures and return on equity have been restated accordingly.

1

The figures differ from the financial statements in which Van Lanschot Assurantiën Holding BV (currently Van Lanschot Chabot Holding BV) is accounted for under discontinued operations.

2

The numbers of ordinary shares and the earnings per ordinary share for 2002 have been restated.

3

The figures for 2002 to 2008 represent Return on average equity (%).

4

The figures have been prepared in accordance with IFRS with effect from 2005. The 2004 figures have been restated accordingly.

5

The BIS ratios at 31 December 2007 have been restated in line with Basel II for comparative purposes.

207

2007

2006

647,996

534,326

414,746

2003 **

2005

2004

2002

1

485,847

403,878

378,329

377,904

307,380

1

278,448

260,681

217,250

227,636

71

2,873

1

16,874

16,584

15,133

15,205

233,179

224,073

1

190,525

126,613

145,946

135,063

215,369

184,488

1

152,398

100,780

106,664

97,576

1,366,721

1,044,828

962,156

857,128

692,557

634,778

14,596,804

11,412,890

11,458,834

11,047,826

7,906,245

8,047,908

16,006,235

14,746,139

13,540,856

12,686,489

9,037,581

8,696,610

21,718,834

18,739,275

17,971,611

16,577,779

11,578,366

11,288,864

34,472,735

31,951,227

31,733,381

31,936,876

28,211,640

28,193,928

2

34,421,945

31,887,561

31,878,821

28,658,530

28,202,094

28,311,626

2

5.94

5.48

4.65

3.40

3.66

3.33

2

3.00

2.75

2.50

2.11

1.83

1.63

64.0

57.5

57.3

64.5

4

57.4

60.2

16.9

17.4

16.3

13.1

4

16.1

15.7

11.6

5

13.7

13.5

11.8

12.6

12.7

8.9

5

10.0

9.4

9.2

8.7

8.4

6.6

5

7.3

6.7

–

–

–
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glossary

Advanced Internal Ratings Based approach (A-IRB)

Cash ﬂow hedges (hedge accounting)

The most advanced credit risk measurement technique. With this
method, the bank is allowed to develop its own models; based on
direct or indirect observables, in order to estimate parameters for
the calculation of risk-weighed assets.

Van Lanschot has issued a number of debt securities with a
variable interest rate based on a long-term interest rate (interest
is for instance based on the 10-year interest rate and is re-priced
every six months). In order to cover part of the risk on such debt
securities, swaps are concluded. These swaps are included in
a one-on-one relation in a hedge accounting relation. Upon
conclusion of these swaps, the margin between the long-term
variable interest and the short-term variable interest is ﬁxed. This
means that on balance Van Lanschot pays the variable interest
plus a ﬁxed mark-up. These swaps have the same term and in
general the same interest characteristics as the issued debt
securities; as a result, the ineffectiveness within a hedge relation
is minor.

Amortised cost

The amount for which financial assets or liabilities are initially
recognised minus instalment, plus or minus the accumulated
depreciation/amortisation using the effective interest rate
method for the difference between the original amount and the
amount on maturity date, and minus impairments or amounts
not received.
Assets under discretionary management

Assets entrusted by clients to Van Lanschot under a management
contract, irrespective of whether these assets are held in funds,
deposits or cash, inclusive of structured products such as Index
Guarantee Contracts.

Core Tier I capital

Also referred to as the core capital. The bank’s core Tier I capital
respresents share capital, share premium and other reserves,
adjusted for certain deductions set by the regulator, such as
goodwill.

Assets under management

Assets deposited with Van Lanschot by business relations for
custody. These assets comprise on the one hand Assets under
discretionary management and on the other hand Assets under
non-discretionary management.

Core Tier I ratio

The Core Tier I capital of the bank as a percentage of riskweighted assets.
Credit derivatives

The advised assets under the agreement concluded, for which the
investment consultant of Van Lanschot advises the client on the
investment policy, irrespective of whether these assets are held in
funds.

Credit default swaps, for which variable interest payments,
linked to Euribor, are exchanged with credit guarantees vis-a-vis a
third party. The counterparty is required to pay if the third party
cannot meet its payment obligations. The specific events which
are followed by payments are recorded in the contract.

Basel II

Credit risk

The new framework drawn up by the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision which sets minimum capital requirements for banks.

The risk that funds lent are not, not fully or not timely repaid.
This also includes the settlement risk, i.e. the risk that
counterparties do not fulfil their obligations in connection with,
for instance, securities transactions.

Assets under non-discretionary management

Basel III

The new framework drawn up by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision which provides a stricter definition of capital
and introduces several new ratios and buffers to be complied with
by banks. The period for transition from Basel II to Basel III is five
years and commences in January 2013.

Credit Support Annex (CSA)

An agreement forming part of an ISDA contract and serves to
exchange collateral provided as security for obligations resulting
from derivatives.

Basepoint Value (BPV)

Cross currency swap

A method to measure the interest rate risk and indicates how
much profit or loss is generated in case of a parallel shift in the
yield curve of one basis point.

A currency swap in which the principal and interest payments
denominated in a certain currency are exchanged for the principal
and interest payments denominated in another currency during
a fixed term.

BIS total capital ratio

The percentage of a bank’s capital adequacy calculated by
dividing qualifying capital by the risk-weighted assets as defined
by the Bank for International Settlements (BIS).
Carried interest arrangement

A carried interest arrangement relates primarily to private
equity fund managers who are given the opportunity to obtain
an interest in an acquisition or other company. This interest is
financed by means of a subordinated loan or cumulative preference
shares that do not share in the surplus profit. The manager holds
the ordinary shares and does share in the surplus profit.

Currency option

A currency option grants the buyer the right, but not the
obligation, to buy or sell a quantity of a certain currency at a
pre-determined exchange rate during or at the end of a predetermined period. The currency option constitutes an obligation
for the seller. The currency options of Van Lanschot mainly relate
to transactions for clients for which offsetting transactions are
realised on the market.
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Deﬁned beneﬁt scheme

Exposure class under Basel II A-IRB: Retail receivables

A pension scheme other than a defined contribution scheme.

This exposure class comprises receivables modelled in the retail
models. At Van Lanschot, this includes the mortgage portfolio,
the portfolio with securities-backed loans and consumer credits
up to € 250,000.

Deﬁned contribution scheme

A scheme in which the company makes agreed contributions to
a separate entity (a fund) for the purpose of insuring pension
rights. In such schemes, the company is not obliged, either legally
or effectively, to pay additional contributions if the fund does
not have enough assets to cover all of its current and future
obligations.
Depositary Receipt for Share (DRS)

Represents a share, but its holder does not have a voting right
in the meeting of shareholders.

Exposure class under Basel II F-IRB: Corporates

This exposure class comprises receivables from corporates
modelled in the non-retail models. At Van Lanschot, this type of
exposure comprises the portfolio with commercial property
clients and the portfolio with holding clients. In addition, models
for private loan accounts and corporate loan accounts are being
developed.
Exposure class under Basel II F-IRB: Equities

Derivative

A financial instrument whose value has been derived from the
value of another financial instrument,an index or other variables.
Van Lanschot holds both derivatives whose size (face value),
conditions and price are determined between Van Lanschot and
the counterparties (OTC derivatives), as well as standardised
derivatives negotiable on organised markets.
Discounted Cash Flow method (DCF)

A method to value an investment by estimating future cash flows,
taking account of the time value of money.

This exposure class comprises positions in equities and
subordinated loans granted, provided that they do not form a
deduction from capital. Van Lanschot applies the standardised
approach with set risk weights.
Exposure class under Basel II F-IRB: Securitisation positions

This exposure class comprises the investor positions due to
securitisations. Van Lanschot uses the ratings-based method.
Under the ratings-based method, the risk weighting is calculated
based on an external credit assessment. All receivables concern
senior tranches and have such a good credit assessment that, under
the credit quality step system, a risk weighting of 7% may be applied.

Duration of equity

This represents the interest sensitivity of equity and it indicates
the effect of a 1% parallel shift in the interest curve.
EBIT

Earnings Before Interest and Tax.

Exposure class under Basel II SA: Administrative bodies and
non-commercial undertakings

This exposure class comprises receivables from administrative
bodies and non-commercial undertakings. Such receivables are
assigned a risk weighting of 100% unless they are established in
the Netherlands (20% weighting) or a state guarantee is available.

EBITDA

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation.

Exposure class under Basel II SA: Items belonging to high-risk
categories

Economic hedges

This exposure class primarily consists of venture capital investments.
These items are assigned a risk weighting of 150%.

Derivatives to manage risks without applying hedge accounting.
Economic hedges are carried at fair value and at Van Lanschot
mostly concern interest rate derivates.
Effective interest method

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated cash flows over the life of the financial instrument or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.

Exposure class under Basel II SA: Other risk-weighted assets

This exposure class consists mainly of property, plant and
equipment, prepayments and accrued income, and shares
available for sale.
Exposure class under Basel II SA: Past due items

Expected loss (EL)

This exposure class comprises receivables to which the standardised
method is applied and which are past due for more than 90 days
and where the overdraft exceeds € 5,000. The risk weighting is
150% or 100%, depending on the size of the relevant provision.
If the relevant provision corresponds to less than 20% of the
unsecured portion of the receivable, the risk weighting of 150%
has to be applied.

The expected loss on loans, determined based on the formula
EL=PD*EAD*LGD.

Exposure class under Basel II SA: Positions in covered bonds

Efﬁciency ratio

Operating expenses as a percentage of income from operating
activities.

Exposure at Default (EAD)

The bank’s exposure at the time of the clients default.

This exposure class comprises bonds backed by securities.
Such receivables are assigned a risk weighting from 10 to 100%,
depending on the risk weighting of the financial enterprise issuing
this bond.
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Exposure class under Basel II SA: Receivables from central
governments and central banks

This exposure class comprises receivables from central
governments and central banks for which a credit assessment
is available from a designated rating agency. These receivables
have a risk weighting which is derived from the credit quality step
corresponding to the relevant assessment. At Van Lanschot, this
type of exposure consists primarily of Dutch government bonds,
balances withdrawable on demand with central banks and
exposures for which a state guarantee is available.
Exposure class under Basel II SA: Receivables from corporates

This exposure class comprises receivables from corporates owed
to our group companies and non-retail receivables, insofar as not
covered by the commercial property and holding model, which
are expected to transfer to F-IRB exposure class Corporates in
2012. These items are assigned a risk weighting of 100%.
Exposure class under Basel II SA: Receivables from ﬁnancial
companies and ﬁnancial institutions

This exposure class comprises receivables from and debt securities
issued by banking counterparties. Almost all of these receivables
have a short term, and such a good credit assessment that, under
the credit quality step system, a risk weighting of 20% may be applied.
If no credit assessment is available, the risk weighting is 50%.
Exposure class under Basel II SA: Receivables from
multilateral development banks

This exposure class comprises receivables from multilateral
development banks. Almost all of these receivables have such a
good credit assessment that, under the credit quality step system,
a risk weighting of 20% may be applied.

Fiduciary management

Services in which assets are held on behalf of individuals, trusts,
pension companies and other institutions, acting in the capacity
of trustee or another fiduciary role. Such assets are not considered
assets of Van Lanschot and are therefore not disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.
Forward Rate Agreement (FRA)

An agreement between two parties, a buyer and a seller. They
agree to settle in the future the difference between an interest
rate level set in advance and an interest rate level set in the future.
The agreement has a predetermined term. A buyer of a FRA fixes
the interest for a certain term in the future.
Forwards

Contractual obligations to purchase or sell goods or financial
instruments at a future date at a pre-determined price. Forward
contracts are customised contracts which are traded on the OTC
market.
Foundation Internal Ratings Based approach (F-IRB)

An advanced approach to calculate the credit risk. Under this
method, the bank is allowed to develop own models, based on
direct or indirect observations, to estimate the parameters for
the calculation of risk-weighted assets. In this method, the LGD
must be included as per prescribed values (in contrast with
A-IRB under which the institution calculates its own LGD).
Funding ratio

Represents the ratio between public and private sector liabilities
and total loans and advances (excluding bank borrowing and lending).
Futures

Exposure class under Basel II SA: Receivables from private
individuals and medium-sized businesses

This exposure class comprises receivables owed to subsidiaries
by private individuals and medium-sized businesses not backed
by securities or home mortgages. These receivables are assigned
a risk weighting of 75%. At Van Lanschot this mainly includes
receivables owed to group companies by private individuals.
Exposure class under Basel II SA: Receivables secured by real
estate property

This exposure class comprises receivables whose amounts are
smaller or equal to 75% of the value of the real estate property,
insofar as not included in a retail model. Such receivables are
assigned a risk weighting of 35%.
Fair value hedges (hedge accounting)

A fair value hedge comprises one or more swaps concluded to
cover the changes in fair value resulting from changes in interest
rates of in particular debt securities. The hedge relations are
generally exact hedges. Debt securities with a fixed rate and term
are offset by a swap with exactly the same term and fixed interest
rate in a hedge accounting model.

Contractual obligations to purchase or sell goods or financial
instruments at a future date at a predetermined price. Futures
are standardised contracts which can be traded on organised
markets. Stock exchanges act as intermediaries and require daily
settlement in cash and the deposit of collateral. Van Lanschot has
in particular a number of futures on share indices in its accounts,
partly for own use and partly for clients for which offsetting
transactions are realised on the market.
Gross exposure

The gross exposure is the value at which the receivable is
disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position, with
an exception for derivatives. For derivatives, the gross exposure is
calculated based on an add-on percentage of the nominal value
(fixed percentages in accordance with the Financial Supervision
Act) and the positive replacement value of the derivative.
Hedge

Protection of a financial position against interest rate risks
inparticular by means of a financial instrument (usually a
derivative).
Impaired loans

All loans of which the interest and/or instalments are not paid in
time, are past due. If a client potentially or actually defaults on its
obligations to the bank, a provision is formed. The loans to the
client are then designated as impaired loans.
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Impairments

Leverage Ratio Basel III (LR)

Amount charged to the result for possible losses on doubtful
debts or uncollectible loans and advances or because an
impairment test has shown that the (intangible) asset has to be
valued lower, because the fair value is lower than the carrying
amount or because the fair value of available-for-sale investments
is lower than cost.

This is one of the new ratios under Basel III. The LR represents the
ratio between total assets plus contingent items and the Basel III
Tier I capital.

Index Guarantee Contracts (IGCs)

Van Lanschot Index Guarantee Contracts are receivables in
the name of Van Lanschot whose value movements and final
payments depend on the level of the underlying value, for
instance an index. On the maturity date, the final payment is
at least equal to the guaranteed value.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

This is one of the new ratios under Basel III. The LCR represents
the ratio between highly liquid assets and the balance of cash
outflows and cash inflows over the next 30 calendar days.
Liquidity risk

The risk that the bank has insufficient liquid assets available to
meet current liabilities in the short term.
Loss Given Default (LGD)

Innovative Tier I instruments

Equity elements other than paid-up share capital and reserves
that are taken into account when determining Tier I capital
(core capital).

An estimate of the loss for Van Lanschot if the collateral for a
loan is seized and executed or a business is liquidated as part of
a foreclosure process.
Market risk

Interest rate option

An interest rate option is an agreement between a buyer and
a seller, under which the seller guarantees the buyer a cap or
floor interest rate for a certain term.

The risk that the value of a financial position changes as a result
of stock exchange price, foreign exchange and/or interest rate
movements.
Net exposure

Interest rate risk

The risk that the profit and equity are impacted by changes
in interest rates, in particular in case of an intentional or
unintentional mismatch in the terms of funds lent on the one
hand and funds borrowed on the other.
Interest rate swap

A contract in which two parties exchange interest payments
during a pre-agreed term and principal amount. The face value
itself is not exchanged. All swaps in the records of Van Lanschot
are OTC derivatives. An interest rate swap requires the exchange
of a fixed cash flow and a variable cash flow in the same currency.
The variable cash flow is determined based on a benchmark
interest rate (usually Euribor). In addition, Van Lanschot has a
number of swaps in its accounts, where variable cash flows are
exchanged for cash flows for which the 10-year swap interest
rate is determined every six months.
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)

Strategies and procedures designed for the bank’s continuous
assessment whether the amount, composition and distribution
of equity still reconcile with the size and nature of its current
and potential future risks.

The bank’s exposure at the time of a debtor’s default. This is also
referred to as the exposure at default (EAD).
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)

This is one of the new ratios under Basel III. The NSFR represents
the available stable funding sources and the required amount of
stable funding.
Operational risk

The risk of direct or indirect losses as a result of inadequate or
defective internal processes and systems, of inadequate or
defective human acts, or external events.
Option position clients

It is not possible for clients to purchase or sell share options
directly on the stock exchange. Van Lanschot purchases or sells
the options to clients and realises the offsetting transaction on
the stock exchange. These receivables and payables are disclosed
under Derivatives.
Perpetual loan

Van Lanschot has issued perpetuals which, under Basel II, count
as Tier I qualifying capital when determining capital adequacy.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Portfolio fair value hedges (hedge accounting)

Accounting and reporting standards drawn up by the International
Accounting Standards Board. These standards have been adopted
by the EU which has determined that they must be applied by all
listed companies in the EU from the financial year 2005.

A portfolio fair value hedge comprises one or more caps jointly
concluded in order to cover the interest rate risk of a portfolio of
fixed-interest mortgages. Both the swaps and the mortgages are
divided into term buckets. The fair value of these mortgages is
mainly affected by the interest rate level, similar to the valuation
of caps. Minor differences in terms and interest rates may cause
some ineffectiveness within the term buckets.

Leverage

The leverage represents the ratio between total assets and equity
attributable to shareholders.
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A portfolio fair value hedge may also comprise one or more caps
(interest rate option) jointly concluded in order to cover the
interest rate risk of a portfolio of mortgages with an embedded
cap. The fair value of these guaranteed mortgages is affected by
the interest rate level, similar to the valuation of caps concluded
by Van Lanschot. The guaranteed mortgages are divided into
term buckets and within these term buckets the expected early
repayment of mortgages is taken into account. Since the actual
early repayment differs from the expected repayment, the strike
rates of the guaranteed mortgages are not exactly the same as
the strike rates of the caps purchased by Van Lanschot and the
guaranteed mortgages are not always divided equally over the
term bucket, minor ineffectiveness occurs within the various
portfolios.
Probability of Default (PD)

The likelihood that a loan will fall into default within one year.

Structured product

Structured products are a kind of synthetic investment instruments
specially created to meet specific needs that cannot be met from
the standardised financial instruments available in the markets.
Tier I ratio

The ratio between total Tier I capital and risk-weighted assets.
Total Tier I capital

Total Tier I capital of the bank includes share capital, share
premium, other reserves and perpetual loans, adjusted for certain
deductions set by the regulator, such as goodwill and shortfall.
Total Tier II capital

Also referred to as supplementary or secondary capital.
The total Tier II capital comprises the revaluation reserves and
certain subordinated loans, adjusted for certain deductions set
by the regulator, such as shortfall.

Qualifying capital

The total of Tier I capital and Tier II capital.

Value at Risk (VaR)

Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC)

Statistical analysis of historical market developments and
volatility in order to estimate the probability of a loss on a
portfolio exceeding a certain amount.

The riskweighted return compared with the BIS capital adequacy
requirements. This ratio provides insight into the profitability of
the operating activities.
Risk-weighted assets (RWA)

The assets of a financial institution after being adjusted by a
weighting factor, as determined by the regulators, that reflects
the relative risk attached to the relevant assets. Risk-weighted
assets are used to calculate the minimum amount of capital
that has to be held.
Shortfall

The difference between the calculated expected loss (EL) and
the provision formed for a loan for which the capital adequacy
requirement is calculated as per the IRB method.
If the calculated EL exceeds the provision formed, the difference
must be deducted from the qualifying capital. Under Basel II, the
shortfall is deducted from Tier I capital for 50% and from Tier II
capital for 50%. Under Basel III, the entire shortfall is deducted
from core capital.
Solvency

The bank’s buffer capital expressed as a percentage of riskweighed assets.
Standardised Approach (SA)

A method used under Basel II to measure a bank’s operational,
market and credit risk. This method is based on a standardised
approach, in which the risk weighting of an item is prescribed
by the regulator.
Strategic risk

The existing or future threat to the bank’s result or equity
resulting from not or inadequately anticipating changes in the
environment and/or from taking incorrect strategic decisions.

Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC)

A measure of the average cost of a company’s capital whereby a
weighting is given to the cost of debt and equity capital.
Wft (Financial Supervision Act)

This Act provides for the full-scope supervision of the financial
industry in the Netherlands. It came into effect on 1 January
2007 and replaces eight existing supervisory laws, such as the
Financial Services Act (Wfd).
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Zeeland (1923)
oil on hardboard
panel dimensions 35.5 cm x 54.5 cm

‘Zeeland’ and
the artist Lou Loeber
Lou Loeber (1894-1983) grew up in the village of Blaricum in the
Gooi region of the Netherlands. She lived with her family in a
house in the grounds of Jagtlust, the country home owned by her
maternal grandparents, the Landrés. The affluent, intellectual
environment in which she was raised was extremely musical and
artistic. At school, she came into contact with the Vereniging
Internationale Broederschap (International Brotherhood Society),
an idealistic residential community based in Blaricum. She became
increasingly involved with the socialist movement during her
studies at Amsterdam’s Rijksacademie, a place where she felt she
did not fit in as her teachers were much more conservative than
the artistic community she had known back home.
In 1919, her interest in Piet Mondriaan, ‘The Style’ (the Dutch
artistic movement) and cubism was awakened by the painter and
author Toon Verhoef. Loeber felt that art could play a key role in
creating a socialist society, and in 1925 she joined the Dutch Social
Democratic Workers’ Party and the Dutch Socialist Artists’ Circle.
One of the goals of this Circle was to ‘educate’ the masses
through art. Since totally abstract art was incomprehensible to
the masses, Loeber rejected the idea of taking abstraction as far
as Mondriaan did. Instead, she believed that paintings needed to
have recognisable themes. Her painting ‘Zeeland’ illustrates this
belief well, and it is also a good example of Loeber’s fascination
with colour, which played a key role in the development of abstract
art and particularly within ‘The Style’.
The painting has been in Van Lanschot’s art collection since 2002
and is currently on display at its branch office in Goes.

